
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Planning and Transportation Committee 

 
Date: TUESDAY, 26 APRIL 2022 

Time: 10.30 am 

Venue: LIVERY HALL - GUILDHALL 
PLEASE NOTE THAT COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP IS SUBJECT TO FORMAL 
APPROVAL AT THE MEETING OF THE COURT OF COMMON COUNIL ON 
THURSDAY, 21 APRIL 2022 

 
Members: Deputy Randall Anderson 

Brendan Barns 
Alexander Barr 
Emily Benn 
Ian Bishop-Laggett 
Deputy Keith Bottomley 
Deputy Michael Cassidy 
John Edwards 
Anthony David Fitzpatrick 
Deputy John Fletcher 
Deputy Marianne Fredericks 
Martha Grekos 
Jaspreet Hodgson 
Deputy Shravan Joshi 
Alderman Alastair King DL 
Deputy Edward Lord 
Natasha Maria Cabrera Lloyd-Owen 
Alderman Ian Luder 

Antony Manchester 
Alderman Bronek Masojada 
Andrew Mayer 
Deputy Brian Mooney 
Deputy Alastair Moss 
Deborah Oliver 
Deputy Graham Packham 
Deputy Susan Pearson 
Judith Pleasance 
Deputy Henry Pollard 
Ian Seaton 
Alethea Silk 
Luis Felipe Tilleria 
Shailendra  Umradia 
William Upton QC 
Alderman Sir David Wootton) 
 

 
Enquiries: Gemma Stokley 

gemma.stokley@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
 

Accessing the virtual public meeting 
Members of the public can observe this virtual public meeting at the below link: 

https://youtu.be/Yxvkxd4z7I4 
A recording of the public meeting will be available via the above link following the end of the public 
meeting for up to one municipal year. Please note: Online meeting recordings do not constitute the 
formal minutes of the meeting; minutes are written and are available on the City of London 
Corporation’s website. Recordings may be edited, at the discretion of the proper officer, to remove 
any inappropriate material. 
LUNCH WILL BE SERVED IN THE GUILDHALL CLUB AT THE RISING OF THE COMMITTEE 

John Barradell 
Town Clerk and Chief Executive 

Public Document Pack

https://youtu.be/Yxvkxd4z7I4


2 
 

AGENDA 
 

NB: Certain matters for information have been marked * and will be taken without 
discussion, unless the Committee Clerk has been informed that a Member has 

questions or comments prior to the start of the meeting. These information items 
have been collated in a supplementary agenda pack and circulated separately 

 
Part 1 - Public Agenda 

 
1. APOLOGIES 

 
 

2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN RESPECT OF 
ITEMS ON THE AGENDA 

 
 

3. ORDER OF THE COURT OF COMMON COUNCIL 
 To receive the order of the Court of Common Council appointing the Committee dated 

21 April 2022.  
 

 For Information 
 TO FOLLOW 

 
4. ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN 
 To elect a Chairman in accordance with Standing Order No. 29. 

 
 For Decision 
  

 
5. ELECTION OF DEPUTY CHAIRMAN 
 To elect a Deputy Chairman in accordance with Standing Order No. 30. 

 
 For Decision 
  

 
6. APPOINTMENT OF SUB-COMMITTEES 
 Report of the Town Clerk. 

 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 5 - 10) 

 
7. MINUTES 
 To agree the public minutes and summary of the meeting held on 22 February 2022. 

 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 11 - 22) 

 
 
 
 



3 
 

8. 15 MINORIES, 57-60 & 62 ALDGATE HIGHSTREET AND 1 LITTLE SOMERSET 
STREET LONDON EC3 

 Report of the Chief Planning Officer and Development Director. 
 

 For Decision 
 (Pages 23 - 208) 

 
9. PLANNING ADVICE NOTE: PREVENTING SUICIDES IN HIGH RISE BUILDINGS 

AND STRUCTURES 
 Report of the Director of the Environment Department.  

 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 209 - 228) 

 
10. BUILDING CONTROL CHARGES REPORT 2022/23 
 Report of the District Surveyor. 

 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 229 - 272) 

 
11. *PUBLIC MINUTES OF THE LOCAL PLAN SUB-COMMITTEE 
 To receive the draft public minutes of the meeting of the Local Plan Sub-Committee 

held on 31 January 2022.  
 

 For Information 
  

 
12. *PUBLIC MINUTES OF THE STREETS & WALKWAYS SUB-COMMITTEE 
 To receive the draft public minutes and non-public summary of the meeting of the 

Streets & Walkways Sub-Committee held on 15 February 2022.  
 

 For Information 
  

 
13. *OUTSTANDING ITEMS 
 Report of the Town Clerk. 

 
 For Information 
  

 
14. *PUBLIC LIFT REPORT 
 Report of the City Surveyor.  

 
 For Information 
  

 
15. *DELEGATED DECISIONS OF THE CHIEF PLANNING OFFICER AND 

DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR 
 Report of the Chief Planning Officer and Development Director. 

 
 For Information 



4 
 

  
 

16. *VALID PLANNING APPLICATIONS RECEIVED BY DEPARTMENT OF THE 
BUILT ENVIRONMENT 

 Report of the Chief Planning Officer and Development Director. 
 

 For Information 
  

 
17. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE COMMITTEE 

 
 

18. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT 
 
 

19. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 
 MOTION – That under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public 

be excluded from the meeting for the following items on the grounds that they involve 
the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part I of the Schedule 12A of 
the Local Government Act. 
 

 For Decision 
  

Part 2 - Non-public Agenda 
 
20. *NON-PUBLIC MINUTES OF THE STREETS & WALKWAYS SUB-COMMITTEE 
 To receive the draft non-public minutes of the meeting of the Streets & Walkways 

Sub-Committee held on 15 February 2022.  
 

 For Information 
  

 
21. NON-PUBLIC QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE 

COMMITTEE 
 
 

22. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT AND 
WHICH THE COMMITTEE AGREES SHOULD BE CONSIDERED WHILST THE 
PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED 

 
 

Any drawings and details of materials submitted for approval will be available for 
inspection by Members in the Livery Hall from Approximately 9:30 a.m. 

 



Committee(s) 
Planning and Transportation Committee 

Dated: 
26/04/2022 

Subject: 
Appointment of Sub Committees 

Public 
 

Which outcomes in the City Corporation’s Corporate Plan does 
this proposal aim to impact directly?  

3, 8 & 10 

Does this proposal require extra revenue and/or capital 
spending? 

N 

If so, how much? N/A 

What is the source of Funding? N/A 

Has this Funding Source been agreed with the Chamberlain’s 
Department? 

N/A 

Report of:  
The Town Clerk 

For Decision 

Report author(s):  
Gemma Stokley, Principal Governance and Member Services 
Manager 

 
Summary 

 
The purpose of this report is to ask Members to consider the appointment of the 
Planning and Transportation Committee’s Sub-committees and working party, and to 
approve their respective compositions and terms of reference. 
 
The Planning and Transportation Committee appoints two sub-committees and one 
working party as follows:- 
 

• Streets and Walkways Sub Committee 

• Local Plan Sub Committee 

• Local Plan Working Party (membership to be the same as the Local Plan Sub 
Committee.) 

 
For ease, details of the composition and terms of reference of the Sub-committees 
and working party are set out in full in Appendix A. 
 
Recommendation(s) 
It is recommended that:- 
 

a) The Committee appoints the Streets and Walkways Sub-Committee for the 
ensuing year and approves its terms of reference detailed at Appendix A to this 
report; and 
 

b) The Committee appoints the Local Plans Sub-Committee and the Local Plans 
Working Party for the ensuing year and approves the terms of reference 
detailed at Appendix A to this report. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 6



Main Report 
 
Current Position 
 
1. This report considers the appointment, terms of reference and composition of 

the Planning and Transportation Committee’s sub-committees and working 
party.   

 
2. Each of the Committee’s proposed sub-committees and working party are 

considered in turn below. Details of their terms of reference and proposed 
composition are set out in Appendix A of this report.  

 

Streets and Walkways Sub-Committee 
 
3. The Sub-Committee was originally formed in 2004 and has acted fairly 

independently of the Grand Committee since then.  The Terms of Reference 
have always included responsibility for such things as traffic engineering and 
management, street scene enhancements, the Riverside Walkway, and road 
safety matters.   

 
4. It should be noted that the Sub-Committee continues to have power to act in 

those matters, in order to avoid potentially delaying projects by requiring the 
Grand Committee’s approval as well, when they often involve tight timescales in 
terms of completion or use external funding.   

 
5. Expressions of interest are sought from seven Members of the Planning and 

Transportation Committee who wish to serve on this Sub Committee. 
 
6. The Sub Committee meets every 5-6 weeks and has met six times since it was 

last appointed in April 2021. 
 

Chairman and Deputy Chairman of the Sub-Committee 
 

7. The Sub-Committee elects its own Chairman and Deputy Chairman at its first 
meeting following the first meeting of the new Grand Committee which in this 
case will be on 3 May 2022.   
 

8. The Committee is therefore requested to agree the membership and the Terms 
of Reference of the Streets and Walkways Sub Committee for the ensuing year, 
(at Appendix A), with power to act. 

 
 
Local Plans Sub-Committee  
 
9. The Committee first appointed this Sub Committee in October 2004 with the 

specific task of considering the Local Development Framework (LDF), which 
replaced the Unitary Development Plan as the spatial planning strategy for the 
City. It was later agreed that this Sub-Committee would also be suitable for 
considering details of the traffic-related Local Implementation Plan (LIP) as well. 

Page 6



Its Terms of Reference are simply to consider those types of documents in detail 
and make recommendations to the Grand Committee. 

 

10. Expressions of interest are sought from five Members of the Committee who 
wish to serve on this Sub Committee.  

 
11. The Committee also agreed in September 2005 to appoint a Working Party to 

consider the LDF in more detail, when necessary.  Those meetings usually take 
place in tandem with those of the existing Sub Committee, and they share the 
same membership, except the Working Party also includes two officers:  the 
Town Clerk or his representative and the Director of the Built Environment or his 
representative.   

 
12. This Sub Committee and Working Party meet when necessary to progress the 

Local Plan or LIP.  The Sub-Committee has met once since it was last appointed 
in April 2021. Membership of the Sub-Committee presents the opportunity to be 
involved in the early stages of deciding the many policies upon which the City’s 
entire planning strategy is based.    

 
13. The Committee is requested to agree for the ensuing year the membership of 

the Sub Committee that considers the City’s Local Plan and Local 
Implementation Plan, which will be the same for the Working Party.  

 
  
Appendices 
 
Appendix A – composition and terms of reference of the Planning and Transportation 
Committee’s sub-committees and working party. 

 

Background Papers: 

Appointment of Sub Committees, Working Parties and Representatives on Other 
Committees – Report 2 May 2014  

 

 

Contact: 
Gemma Stokley 
Principal Governance and Member Services Manager, Town Clerk’s Department 
E: gemma.stokley@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
 
 

Page 7

mailto:gemma.stokley@cityoflondon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 8



Appendix A 

 (A) Streets and Walkways Sub-Committee 
 

Composition 
 

1. The Streets and Walkways Sub-Committee comprises –  
 

a) The Chairman and Deputy Chairman of the Grand Committee along with 
seven other Members;  

b) Together with four ex-officio Members representing the Finance, Police and 
Open Spaces, City Gardens and West Ham Park and Port Health and 
Environmental Services Committees. 
 

2. The 2021/22 Membership comprised the following Members –  
 

Deputy Alastair Moss (Chair of the Grand Committee and 
Sub Committee) 

Oliver Sells QC (Deputy Chairman of the Grand Committee) 

Randall Anderson 

Peter Bennett 

Marianne Fredericks 

Sheriff Christopher Hayward  

Deputy Jamie Ingham Clark 

Shravan Joshi 

William Upton QC 

Graham Packham (ex-officio, Police Authority Board) 

Deputy Edward Lord (ex-officio, Port Health and 
Environmental Services Committee) 

Barbara Newman (ex-officio, Open Spaces Committee) 

Paul Martinelli (ex-officio, Finance Committee)  
 

Terms of Reference 
 

3. 

 

The Sub-Committee is responsible for:- 

(a) traffic engineering and management, maintenance of the City’s streets, and the 
agreement of schemes affecting the City’s Highways and Walkways (such as 
street scene enhancement, traffic schemes, pedestrian facilities, special events 
on the public highway and authorising Traffic Orders) in accordance with the 
policies and strategies of the Grand Committee; 

(b) all general matters relating to road safety; 

(c) the provision, maintenance and repair of bridges, subways and footbridges, 
other than the five City river bridges; 

(d) public lighting, including street lighting; 

(e)  day-to-day administration of the Grand Committee’s car parks  

Page 9



(f) all matters relating to the Riverside Walkway, except for adjacent open spaces; 
and 

(g) to be responsible for advising the Grand Committee on:- 

(i) progress in implementing the Grand Committee’s plans, policies and 
strategies relating to the City’s Highways and Walkways;  and 

(ii) the design of and strategy for providing signposts in the City 

(h)  Those matters of significance will be referred to the Grand Committee to seek 
concurrence.  

 
(B) Local Plans Sub-Committee 
 

Composition 
 
4. The 2021/22 Membership comprised the following Members –  

 

Deputy Alastair Moss (Chair of the Grand Committee and Sub 
Committee) 

Oliver Sells QC (Deputy Chairman of the Grand Committee) 

Randall Anderson 

John Edwards 

Shravan Joshi 

Oliver Lodge 

Graham Packham 

William Upton QC 

Christopher Hill (ex-officio, Port Health and Environmental 
Services Committee) 

Christopher Hayward (ex-officio, Policy and Resources 
Committee) 

 
 

Terms of Reference 
 

5. The Committee first appointed a Sub-Committee in October 2004 with the 
specific task of considering the Local Development Framework (LDF), which 
replaced the Unitary Development Plan as the spatial planning strategy for the 
City. It was later agreed that this Sub-Committee would also be suitable for 
considering details of the traffic-related Local Implementation Plan (LIP) as 
well. Its Terms of Reference are simply to consider those types of documents 
in detail and make recommendations to the Grand Committee. 

 

 
 

 

Page 10



PLANNING AND TRANSPORTATION COMMITTEE 
 

Tuesday, 22 February 2022  
 

Minutes of the meeting of the Planning and Transportation Committee held at 
the Guildhall EC2 at 10.30 am 

 
Present 
 
Members: 
Deputy Alastair Moss (Chair) 
Oliver Sells QC (Deputy Chairman) 
Douglas Barrow 
Peter Bennett 
Mark Bostock 
Deputy Peter Dunphy 
John Edwards 
Marianne Fredericks 
Graeme Harrower 
Deputy Jamie Ingham Clark 
 

Alderman Alastair King DL 
Alderwoman Susan Langley 
Alderman Bronek Masojada 
Deputy Barbara Newman 
Graham Packham 
Susan Pearson 
Judith Pleasance 
James de Sausmarez 
Alderman Sir David Wootton 
 

 
Officers: 
Gemma Stokley - Town Clerk's Department 

Shani Annand-Baron - Media Officer 

James Gibson - Technology Support Officer 

Aqib Hussain - Technology Support Partner 

Fleur Francis - Comptroller and City Solicitor 

Andrew Coke - City Surveyor’s Department 

Gwyn Richards - Chief Planning Officer and Development Director 

David Horkan - Department of the Built Environment 

Ian Hughes - Department of the Built Environment 

Peter Shadbolt - Department of the Built Environment 

Bruce McVean - Department of the Built Environment 

Simon Glynn - Department of the Built Environment 

Elisabeth Hannah - Department of the Built Environment 

Gordon Roy - Department of the Built Environment 

Samantha Tharme - Department of the Built Environment 

Neel Devlia - Department of the Built Environment 

Emmanuel Ojugo - Department of the Built Environment 

Amrith Sehmi - Department of the Built Environment 

Dom Strickland - Department of the Built Environment 

 
 

1. APOLOGIES  
Apologies for absence were received from Randall Anderson, John Fletcher, 
Tracey Graham, Christopher Hayward, Deputy Tom Hoffman, Shravan Joshi, 

Page 11

Agenda Item 7



Oliver Lodge, Deputy Edward Lord, Andrew Mayer and Deputy Brian Mooney 
(Chief Commoner).  
 

2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN 
RESPECT OF ITEMS ON THE AGENDA  
There were no declarations.  
 

3. MINUTES  
The Committee considered the public minutes of the meeting held on 1 
February 2022 and approved them as a correct record. 
 
MATTERS ARISING 
Moor Lane (page 6) – A Member made reference to a further briefing note 
circulated to the Committee yesterday evening and the fact that this raised 
several important issues for Members. He went on to state that the proposals 
set out within the briefing paper were clearly contrary to planning policy in that 
they allowed for a number of security bollards to be located on the eastern side 
of the street rather than within the demise of 21 Moorfields. He highlighted that 
this would have a consequent negative, cumulative impact upon the Moor Lane 
greening plan. The Member recognised that, whilst the proposal was still to be 
finalised, it was clearly a poor substitute for the original plan, and featured 
some design proposals that were, in his view, entirely inappropriate for this 
location adjacent to the Barbican Conservation Area. He highlighted that the 
proposed introduction of seating here was also a concern to many and 
questioned how the Chair now intended to handle this matter.  
 
The Chair highlighted that Officers were keen to hear Members’ views on the 
merits of the proposal and encouraged all those who wished to comment on 
this to do so by contacting Officers directly.  
 
61-65 Holborn Viaduct, London EC1A 2FD (page 8) – A Member highlighted 
that, when this application was considered at the last meeting, a number of 
health and safety concerns regarding fire and smoke moving from one window 
to another due to the design of the building had been raised.  She noted that 
this matter was to be resolved following the granting of planning consent but 
reiterated that she was uncomfortable with this approach, particularly 
considering the amount of funds that the City Corporation was dedicating to 
ensuring that its own housing stock was as safe as possible in terms of fire and 
smoke. She went on to question whether the Committee could be made aware 
when this matter was resolved. The Chair asked that the Member liaise directly 
with Officers on this matter.  
 

4. THAIVES INN HOUSE, 3-4 HOLBORN CIRCUS, LONDON EC1N 2HA  
The Committee considered a report of the Chief Planning Officer and 
Development Director regarding Thaives Inn House, 3-4 Holborn Circus, 
London EC1N 2HA – specifically making a group Tree Preservation Order 
(TPOs) on the London Plane Trees (Planatus x acerifolia) situated on the public 
highway on St Andrew Street, in front of Thaives Inn House.  
 

Page 12



A Member noted that the Officer report stated that these two trees which were 
75 years old hold a significant role in the townscape form of Holborn Circus, 
frame an important view of Grade I listed church of St Andrew Holborn, are in 
fair to good health with a life expectancy in excess of 40 years, have high 
amenity value and, as mature trees, play a significant part in climate change 
resilience. As a result, the report logically went on to recommend the making of 
a Tree Preservation Order (TPO) in respect of them. The Member went on to 
report, however that this appeared to be too good to be true and revealed that a 
planning application was made by TIH Ltd in October 2021 for the demolition of 
Thaives Inn House and its replacement by a larger office building. The new 
development entailed the adjacent highway being stopped up meaning that its 
ownership would be transferred from the City Corporation to the developer and 
that the two trees concerned, that stand on highway owned by the Corporation 
would be removed. He went on to remark that, it was not the Corporation’s 
proposal to make the TPO to protect the trees against the development and 
that the arboricultural report submitted as part of the planning application noted 
that the City’s planning officers had already agreed to these trees being moved 
as long as alternative greening was provided. It could therefore be expected 
that Officers would bring a report to this Committee later this year with a 
recommendation to this effect. This recommendation could be rejected by the 
Committee with Members refusing the application due to the removal of the 
trees. However, the Member predicted that this would not be the case given 
that the Committee had historically approved the majority of applications before 
it regarding major office developments. Secondly, he reported that a search on 
the Land Registry site, revealed that the freehold owner is the City of London 
Corporation, and commented that this Committee had tended to approve 
applications where the Corporation had a financial interest. The Member 
concluded that the Committee were therefore in the curious position of being 
asked to make a TPO in respect of trees that the Corporation’s Officers will 
recommend be removed and that this Committee will likely approve. Even if the 
TPO were approved, the Member explained that the approval of a planning 
application that entails their removal would trump this. The Member therefore 
questioned why this order was being proposed and noted that the report stated 
that if these trees were the subject of a TPO the City could insist on their 
replacement should they be lost. The Member highlighted that he had asked 
Officers via email why their replacement could not simply be made a condition 
for the approval of the application without a TPO being made and had been told 
that this was possible. He had gone on to ask as to the relevance of the 
possibility of a change of ownership of the application site referenced in 
paragraph 30 of the report. He questioned whether, if this change of ownership 
were to happen before planning permission was granted and a new owner 
refused to accept a condition to replace the trees with alternative greening, 
Officers could recommend refusal of the application because of the amenity 
value of the existing trees. The answer to this was that they could but Officers 
did express concern that the new owner could appeal against a refusal and cite 
the absence of a TPO in connection with the dispute about the amenity value of 
trees but had also said that ‘notwithstanding any absence of a TPO, the tree 
amenity argument would still be considered material, although the making of a 
TPO arguably reinforces and recognises the amenity value’. The Member 
stressed that, whatever the outcome of the planning process, the Corporation 

Page 13



could simply refuse to stop up the highway if the new owner would not provide 
alternative greening. The Member concluded by suggesting that the Officers’ 
limited justification for proposing this TPO may reflect the fact that it did not 
originate from them but from the Deputy Chairman of this Committee. He 
questioned whether the Deputy Chairman could therefore outline what he 
hoped to achieve by this. He also commented that it would be interesting to see 
whether other members who voted in favour of the TPO would also vote in 
favour of the planning application that involved the removal of the trees that 
were proposed to be removed by it later this year. 
 
The Chair thanked the Member for his contribution but suggested that his 
reference to the planning application was not relevant to this application and 
that he therefore considered this to be out of order in accordance with Standing 
Order 37(1).  
 
The Deputy Chairman confirmed that he had initiated this process, partly in his 
capacity as Chairman of Open Spaces, where he had a clear interest in all 
matters concerning trees in the City and on City land. He underlined that he 
had a genuine interest in protecting and preserving them and had viewed these 
particular trees some time ago now and formed the view that they did not meet 
the criteria for removal (e.g., that they were not dead, diseased or dying). He 
now asked that the Committee consider this and come to a decision on the 
matter.  
 
The Member responded to state that he considered it appropriate to refer to the 
application given that it was also heavily referenced within this report and that 
the TPO could only be understood in the context of this.   
 
Another Member referred to paragraph 30 of the report and the fact that there 
was some flexibility around the removal of these trees in the event of proper 
replacement in an appropriate way. He asked if Officers could comment further 
on this and whether they could provide some assurances that this would be 
done in such a way that would balance the need for the City to evolve with the 
protection of trees and green/open spaces. The Chief Planning Officer 
responded to report that in discussions on this application Officers had made it 
clear that, if these trees were proposed to be removed, then the applicant 
would need to balance this against a very substantial greening/tree planting 
element to mitigate this. It was confirmed that discussions were still ongoing 
and that no recommendation on this had yet been formalised given that the 
application was still out for consultation. Members were, however, assured that 
the maturity and future height of any replacement trees would be a material 
consideration.  
 
RESOLVED – That: 
 

i)      A group Tree Preservation Order in respect of two London Plane 
trees (numbered T1 and T2 on the attached plan) be made, as a 
public benefit would follow from the serving of the Order. 
 

Page 14



ii)      The Comptroller and City Solicitor be instructed to serve a copy of the 
Order on persons interested in the land affected by the Orders in 
accordance with Regulation 5(1) of the Town and Country Planning 
(Tree Preservations) (England) Regulations 2012.  

 
5. CUSTOM HOUSE - LOWER THAMES STREET, LONDON, EC3R 6EE  

The Committee considered a report of the Chief Planning Officer and 
Development Director relative to Custom House, Lower Thames Street, 
London, EC3R 6EE – specifically, confirmation of a Tree Preservation Order 
(TPO) on the thirteen Plane Trees (Platanus x hispanica) situated along the 
southern boundary of Custom House adjacent to the River Thames. 
 
RESOLVED – That the Custom House Lower Thames Street (2021) Tree 
Preservation Order be confirmed without modification.  
 

6. BARBICAN PODIUM WORKS - GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS  
The Committee considered a joint report of the Town Clerk and the Comptroller 
and City Solicitor regarding governance arrangements for the Barbican Podium 
Works.  
 
A Member commented that he understood the logic of this report but 
highlighted that the last report from the Policy and Resources Committee to the 
Court of Common Council on governance arrangements commented on the 
‘disaggregated’ way in which the Barbican Estate is managed with different 
departments/Committees responsible for things such as walkways, signage, 
repairs and cleansing and how this equated to a short-fall in the overall vision 
for the management of the estate. He therefore questioned whether the Policy 
and Resources Committee was the correct Committee to take responsibility for 
this.  
 
The Comptroller and City Solicitor commented that other options appeared to 
be limited and that there was no obvious place for these responsibilities to fall 
in order to allow this Committee to take forward a decision on the planning 
application.  
 
RESOLVED – That the Planning and Transportation Committee recommend to 
the Court of Common Council that the functions of Planning and Transportation 
Committee as walkway authority and under Part II of the City of London 
(Various Powers) Act 1967 in connection with the promotion of the Barbican 
Podium Works (but not the diversion, alteration, revocation or declaration of 
any City Walkway) be delegated to Policy and Resources Committee for the 
duration of the Barbican Podium project.  
 

7. CLIMATE ACTION STRATEGY: SQUARE MILE AND RESILIENCE 
PROJECTS UPDATE  
The Committee received a report of the Executive Director, Environment, 
regarding the Climate Action Strategy and updating Members on progress 
towards achieving Square Mile and Resilience Projects.  
 

Page 15



A Member referred to the historic building energy retrofit challenge highlighted 
within the report and commented that this in fact involved two challenges – the 
technical challenge as well as an enforcement challenge. He underlined that he 
felt that this was a very commendable initiative but questioned how the City 
might meet the enforcement challenge going forward. The Chief Planning 
Officer and Development Director responded to say that it was correct that, in 
terms of planning controls, it was only in the case of listed buildings that 
Officers could insist upon certain things.   
 
Another Member welcomed the report but added that she felt that it was vague 
in some areas. She highlighted that the Climate Action Strategy was adopted in 
2020, almost 18 months ago, and stressed that the Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD) was needed now. The timetable set out here suggested that 
the draft SPD would only be consulted upon later this year which seemed to be 
rather slow progress. The Member highlighted the importance of this matter 
and underlined that there were still no agreed metrics or benchmarks in place 
against which to evaluate planning applications. She reported that Officers had 
kindly shared with her a document entitled ‘City of London Local Monitoring 
Paper for Sustainable Development and Climate Change’ which was dated 
April 2020. She praised the document but also highlighted that this was now 
almost two years old and questioned whether this could therefore be updated 
and reproduced. She asked if the existing document could be shared with all 
members on this Committee. She underlined the need for urgent target dates 
and a clear programme, particularly around the SPD. Finally, the Member 
questioned who the City Workstream Manager is and stated that she felt that 
this was a very useful appointment and that the postholder should be invited to 
meet the Committee in due course.  
 
The Chair stated that he was grateful to those Members who had engaged with 
this and underlined that he felt that the majority of applications received by the 
Committee did now focus on whole-life carbon. He went on to agree with the 
last speaker in terms of the need to now codify this. 
 
The Chief Planning Officer and Development Director stated that Officers would 
look to accelerate the drafting of the SPD for Committee approval and aim for 
the May meeting to bring this forward. In terms of the Climate Change Officer, 
he reported that he would be happy to pass on details of the postholder to the 
Member and for her to meet with him directly to discuss his remit. He went on 
to report that the document referred to by the Member was currently being 
updated and that it was hoped that this would be complete within the next two 
months.  
 
A Member was pleased to note that the appendix to the report made reference 
to permeable paving and resin and grain. He noted that this was also put 
forward as an option for use in Moor Gardens. He underlined, however, that the 
City’s Public Realm Manual prohibited the use of anything other than granite 
and questioned when this might be revised or brought back to this Committee 
for consideration.  
 

Page 16



Officers responded that it was still their intention to review the Public Realm 
Manual and considering what this needed to look like in terms of Climate Action 
and the agenda around this going forward. It was clarified that some permeable 
materials were already used and that it was never the intention for surfaces to 
be entirely impermeable due to the need for things such as water run-off and 
soak away.  
 
A Member questioned whether it might be possible for the Committee to hold a 
further, informal discussion on this important area of work after the March 
elections. She stressed that discussions around the updating of the Public 
Realm Manual were particularly important, noting that there had been many 
technological advancements in recent years in terms of road surfaces. Officers 
assured the Committee that discussions around this were already taking place 
within the Climate Action Group. It was also reported that the City were due to 
consider a new term contract for highway maintenance and so it was felt that 
the timing was right to consider all of these matters in the round. Members were 
also informed that Officers regularly looked at supply chains and material 
sources and were considering trialling certain new materials including recycled 
materials which was a rapidly developing area of interest.  
 
RESOLVED – That Members note the update on progress towards achieving 
Square Mile and Climate Resilience projects under the Climate Action Strategy 
that fall within the remit of this Committee.  
 

8. TRANSPORT STRATEGY UPDATE: QUARTER 3 2021/22  
The Committee received a report of the Executive Director Environment 
updating Members on progress with delivering the City of London Transport 
Strategy during Quarter 3 of 2021/22 (October – December 2021). 
 
A Member noted that the report made reference to the Beech Street Zero 
Emission Experiment and requested an update from Officers on this. Officers 
reported that this had been discussed at the last meeting of the Streets and 
Walkways Sub-Committee and that local Ward Members would soon be 
receiving a written update on the experiment. They went on to report that they 
had taken the decision to delay the consultation that was originally planned for 
the end of 2021 due to the reintroduction of COVID restrictions at this time. It 
was now envisaged that a new round of consultation would commence 
immediately after the City-wide elections before the matter was brought back to 
the Committee for a decision as to next steps in July 2022.  
 
RESOLVED – That Members note the report.  
 

9. BUSINESS PLAN 21/22 - Q3  
The Committee received a report of the Executive Director, Environment setting 
out the progress made during Q3 of the 2021/22 Departmental Business Plan.  
 
A Member referred to the dashboard and mention of 41 fatal casualties and 
serious injuries on the City’s street. She stated that this number was concerning 
and asked for further detail on this. Officers responded to clarify that this was 

Page 17



an annual figure and was therefore for the last full year. The Member stated 
that it would be useful to clarify this in writing in future reports. 
 
Another Member commented that it was useful to have infographics presented 
to the Committee but stated that these should also provide information as to 
how figures compared with previous years and present trends.  
 
In terms of resources, another Member referred to the restructuring of the 
Department under the Target Operating Model and questioned if, when this 
was finalised, it could be brought back to this Committee for information. She 
added that it would also be helpful for the Director to address Members of this 
Committee as to departmental resources and her vision for the department 
going forward.  
 
RESOLVED – That Members note the report and appendices. 
 

10. DEPARTMENT OF THE BUILT ENVIRONMENT RISK MANAGEMENT - 
QUARTERLY REPORT  
The Committee received a report of the Executive Director, Environment 
providing Members with assurance that risk management procedures in place 
within the Department of the Built Environment are satisfactory and that they 
meet the requirements of the corporate Risk Management Framework.  
 
RESOLVED – That Members note the report and the actions taken in the 
Department of the Built Environment to monitor and manage effectively risks 
arising from the department’s operations. 
 

11. OUTSTANDING ITEMS  
The Committee received a report of the Town Clerk setting out its list of 
Outstanding Actions.  
 
RECEIVED.  
 

12. DELEGATED DECISIONS OF THE CHIEF PLANNING OFFICER AND 
DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR  
The Committee received a report of the Chief Planning Officer and 
Development Director detailing development and advertisement applications 
determined by the Chief Planning Officer and Development Director or those so 
authorised under their delegated powers since the report to the last meeting. 
 
RESOLVED – That the report be noted.  
 

13. VALID PLANNING APPLICATIONS RECEIVED BY DEPARTMENT OF THE 
BUILT ENVIRONMENT  
The Committee received a report of the Chief Planning Officer and 
Development Director detailing development applications received by the 
Department of the Built Environment since the report to the last meeting.  
 
RESOLVED – That the report be noted.  
 

Page 18



14. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE 
COMMITTEE  
DBE Users Panel 
A Member commented that she was surprised that this Committee had not 
been made aware of the existence of this Panel or its remit previously. She also 
stressed that information on the Panel and how to become a member was 
lacking on the City’s Planning Portal pages. She reminded the Committee that 
she had therefore raised questions on this at previous meetings and thanked 
the Chief Planning Officer for having subsequently provided her with the 
necessary information and copies of recent minutes of Panel meetings.  
 
The Member went on to state that it was very clear from looking at the original 
minutes of the first Panel meeting that it was quite defined in terms of ensuring 
that this forum was involved in developing the service, a means by which 
stakeholders could make input to and participate in the development of the 
services provided, a mechanism to obtain constructive and informal input 
through various users and planning services and feedback . However, minutes 
from Panel meetings held over the past two years appeared to make it clear 
that the remit of this group had morphed into something entirely different. She 
felt that it did not appear to be properly constituted and neither was it clear as to 
how people could join the Panel membership. In fact, it appeared that the Chair 
was reaching out to developers to ask that they join. The Member went on to 
state that it was clear that these meetings also took up a lot of Officer time with 
at least seven senior Officers in attendance. It seemed that Officers presented 
applications to the Panel as opposed to seeking their feedback as was the case 
previously. The Member was of the view that this Panel were, in some 
instances, better informed of the workings of the Department than this 
Committee.  
 
The Member concluded by stating that she felt that now was an appropriate 
time to revisit this Panel, its purpose and stressed the need for greater 
transparency here. In terms of services and feedback, she suggested that it 
would be much easier to survey all that actually used the services. The Member 
questioned whether the Chair agreed that the DBE Users’ Panel should be 
replaced as a means of the DBE obtaining user feedback with questionnaires 
that can be sent regularly to all users, in view of the fact that the Panel meets 
infrequently, does not represent all users and had recently acted outside its 
remit. 
 
The Chair clarified that the Panel had been established under the City’s 
Statement of Community Involvement in 2016 which was agreed and adopted 
by this Committee. The Chief Planning Officer reported that he had been 
present on the Panel for other ten years now and stated that he personally 
found it a very useful forum in which to share ideas and to inform what was 
happening. He agreed that the Panel had struggled in terms of being 
representative and inclusive and that those in day-to-day contact with the 
service such as agents and developers were in the majority. It was highlighted 
that residents were also represented on the Panel. The Chief Planning Officer 
went on to agree that now would be an appropriate time to fundamentally 
review the Panel and look again at how best to engage with all stakeholders 

Page 19



given that DBE no longer existed as a department with a new, wider 
Environment Department with a wider remit now established. He reported that 
work on this was already being undertaken at present and that a key element of 
this would be a review of the Statement of Community Involvement. It was 
hoped that Officers would be in a position to report back to Committee on this in 
Autumn 2022 as to future options around receiving feedback about how 
engagement with various stakeholders could be improved. It was confirmed 
that there were no future meetings of the DBE Users Panel scheduled at 
present because of this more fundamental review taking place in the 
background.  
 
The Chair added that he and the Deputy Chairman had also had extensive 
meetings with the Chief Planning Officer and various stakeholders in recent 
months and were therefore very aware of their views on the planning service. 
This would also be fed into the review process.  
 
Another Member spoke to request that any future iteration of the Panel also 
include the major associations representing City residents such as the Barbican 
Association and the Golden Lane Estate Residents Association (GLERA) 
amongst its membership.  
 
Another Member questioned why a survey that had been thoughtfully 
constructed and could be shared with all service users, including residents, 
would not be a better way of getting feedback than a Panel. He questioned 
whether this could be discussed further by the Committee in April. The Chief 
Planning Officer responded to state that a survey of this sort may be one of 
many ways to engage with users going forward and highlighted that surveys 
had been successfully used in the past. He reiterated that there was a more 
fundamental review of the Statement of Community Involvement being 
undertaken at present and that all options, including the use of surveys, could 
be explored as part of this work. The Chair also cautioned that surveys could 
be quite constrained in terms of the questions posed. Another Member stated 
that it was equally important to consider the target audience for such surveys. 
Other Members mentioned that the response rate on such surveys could also 
be disappointingly low. 
 
With reference to the creation of the new, larger Environment Department, a 
Member stated that he hoped that the Statement of Community Involvement 
would not be amended to include the wider remit of the entire Department but 
would instead continue to focus on the core services overseen by this 
Committee. The Chief Planning Officer concurred with the need for focus but 
stated that this would ultimately be a decision for the Committee to take in due 
course. The Chair added that Statement of Community Involvement was a 
statutory process and needed to focus upon building control. Members were 
informed that this was a legal obligation and that there was also a legal 
obligation for the document to be reviewed periodically.  
 
A Member stressed the need for clarity as to the objective here. If feedback on 
services was key then, in terms of being cost effective and reaching as wide an 
audience as possible, a survey would seem to be the best option. Consultation 

Page 20



on projects such as Bank Junction were also usually survey based. If, however, 
the objective was to get to know stakeholders better, then a different approach 
might be needed. At present, it seemed that the two had morphed under the 
existing Users Panel. The Member went on to state that there was already a 
City Property Association which met regularly and fed into the services and 
Officers. Membership of this was open to all in the City who was a landowner or 
owned property which was what the current users Panel also seemed to be 
very ‘top heavy’ on. The Member also agreed that a further discussion on the 
objective here would be welcome at the next meeting of this Committee – what 
information was being sought, which organisations were the City currently 
working with and would a survey be a far easier and more effective means of 
gaining feedback from those using the service. 
 

15. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT  
Public Lift Report 
The Committee received a late, separately circulated public lift report of the City 
Surveyor. 
 
A Member referred to the lift and two escalators at London Wall West which 
were important access points to the Museum of London and the Barbican 
Estate/podium, and which had been out of service for some time now causing 
considerable disruption. He questioned what would be done to rectify this. He 
also went on to refer to the cleansing of these areas, suggesting that both 
required a deep clean.  
 
Officers spoke to assure the Committee that the City Surveyor, as part of their 
reactive budget, accounted for a cleaning of the lift shaft and escalators and 
intended to now liaise with colleagues in the Environment Department about 
the cleaning of the walkways. Officers went on to state that, although the 
escalator was due to be brought back into service tomorrow (following an 
engineering inspection for health and safety reasons) there would also be 
substantial funding for the refurbishment of both the up and down escalators as 
part of the City Surveyor’s 2022-23 CWP Programme.  
 
The Chair thanked Officers for this update and stated that he was pleased to 
hear that these works were to be expedited. He added that he hoped that the 
cleansing of this area would be ongoing.  
 
RECEIVED  
 
Departing Members 
Members took the opportunity to thank those who would not be standing in the 
forthcoming City-wide elections next month for their contributions on the 
Committee.  
 
The Deputy Chairman also took the opportunity to thank the Chair for his 
leadership given that he would be standing down from the role after three years 
at the next meeting of the Committee. 
 

Page 21



Thanks were also given to the Deputy Chairman for his work on both the grand 
Committee and its Streets and Walkways Sub-Committee. 
 
Special thanks were also given to Barbra Newman as the Committee’s longest 
serving Member and a past Chairman.  
 
The Town Clerk reported that there would be an opportunity to offer formal 
thanks to those departing/standing down at the next meeting of the Committee 
in April.  

 
 
The meeting closed at 11.37 am 
 
 
 

 

Chair 
 
 
 
Contact Officer: Gemma Stokley 
gemma.stokley@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
 

Page 22



 
 

Committee: Date: 

Planning and Transportation 26 April 2022 

Subject: 
15 Minories, 57-60 & 62 Aldgate High Street And 1 Little 
Somerset Street London EC3    

Demolition of existing structures, and erection of a mixed 
use office building, including ground floor flexible 
retail/cafe/commercial uses (Class E) and a public house 
(sui generis) (35,672 sqm GEA). 

Public 

Ward: Tower For Decision 

Registered No: 16/00406/FULMAJ Registered on:  
7 July 2016 

Conservation Area:                      Listed Building: No 

Summary 
The application site occupies land bounded by Aldgate High Street to the 
north, the Aldgate Bus Station to the west, Little Somerset Street to the east 
and 16 Minories to the south. 

It comprises: 62 Aldgate High Street, 57-60 Aldgate High Street, the Still and 
Star Public House, part of the site formerly occupied by 15 Minories (now 
demolished), an area of open space and the northernmost part of Little 
Somerset Street. 

In 2014 planning permission was granted for office development on the site, 
as part of a wider scheme that included the change of use of 16 Minories to a 
hotel and the erection of a new residential building to the south. The hotel 
opened in 2021 and the residential building has been constructed to shell and 
core. Construction has not begun on the office element of the scheme. 

In July 2016 an application was submitted which related solely to the office 
element of the 2014 scheme.  It revised the design of the office building 
following the applicant's acquisition of 58-60 Aldgate High Street and the Still 
and Star Public House.  As part of this proposal all buildings on the site would 
be demolished.  A new office development was proposed with retail space at 
ground floor level alongside a new, reimagined version of the Still and Star 
public house.  Members resolved to grant planning permission for the scheme 
in December 2020 (herein referred to as the RTG scheme). The planning 
permission has not been issued for the RTG scheme. 

The applicant seeks further revisions to the RTG scheme which are the 
subject of this report.  The revisions seek to improve: the quality of the 

Page 23

Agenda Item 8



 
 

proposed public realm, scheme buildability, the environmental and 
sustainability credentials of the development and the ability of the 
development to respond to post pandemic occupier needs.  Furthermore, the 
amendments seek to address concerns from the adjoining occupier at 55 - 56 
Aldgate High Street over the design of the party wall and its impact on future 
development potential.  Alterations would be made to the massing, the 
structural configuration of the building, landscaping and public realm and the 
environmental performance of the development.  Notwithstanding the 
revisions, the scheme still maintains the overarching design principles of the 
RTG scheme and would comprise office development, with retail use at 
ground floor level adjacent to a re-imagined Still and Star public house.    

Eight letters of objection have been received in conjunction with the revisions.  
The concerns relate to the design of the proposal, the loss of the Still and Star 
public house, the need for more office space in the City and the amount of 
embodied carbon that the development would generate.  The London and 
Middlesex Archaeological Society have raised concerns over the loss of the 
Still and Star and the alteration of Little Somerset Street.  The London 
Borough of Tower Hamlets have expressed concerns about the impact of the 
scheme on relevant LVMF views.   

A conditional letter of support has been submitted from the owners of 55 - 56 
Aldgate High Street.  The owners of the adjoining site welcome the approach 
of the applicant’s project team and support the revisions to the scheme 
providing that the amendments to the eastern flank are permanently secured 
for the life of the development via condition and through the S.106 agreement.   

The representations that were considered in conjunction with the RTG 
scheme are also a consideration where they have not been withdrawn or 
superseded.  

It is considered that the revised scheme would achieve the regeneration of an 
underutilised site in a pivotal location off Aldgate High Street.  The proposal 
would deliver office space with logical floor plates, a new social and cultural 
facility for the City through the provision of a uniquely reimagined historic pub 
and an improved contribution to the townscape forming a bookend to the 
smaller Aldgate High Street frontages. 

The proposed quantum of office floorspace is welcomed and would contribute 
to the City's role as a leading centre for business and employment in line with 
the London Plan and the Local Plan.  The retail floorspace would enliven the 
area and would provide facilities for neighbouring communities.  The 
pedestrian routes and public realm improvements would enhance the area.  
The scheme would align with the aspirations for the Aldgate area as set out in 
the Local Plan. 

When the RTG scheme was considered by Members in December 2020 the 
Still and Star public house was an Asset of Community value.  The Asset of 
Community Value designation lasts for five years.  As such this status expired 
on the 15th December 2021.  To date there has been no request to renew or 

Page 24



 
 

amend the listing and therefore the Still and Star's Asset of Community Value 
status has now ceased.  

The proposal would involve the total loss of a non-designated heritage asset 
in the form of the existing Still and Star public house. This would be contrary 
to policies CS12 and DM12.1 of the Local Plan which seek to sustain and 
enhance the City's heritage assets. In applying the NPPF paragraph 203 
balancing exercise, which relates to non-designated assets, this loss would be 
decisively outweighed by the benefits of the scheme including the provision of 
a newly reimagined Still and Star public house that would embody elements of 
the significance of the existing pub in an exemplary manner. 

Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 
1990 has been applied and great weight has been given to the need to the 
need to preserve the setting of the surrounding listed buildings St Botolph's 
Church (Grade I listed), Aldgate School (Grade II* listed), 48 and 49 Aldgate 
High Street (Grade II listed), 47 Aldgate High Street (Grade II* listed) and 46 
Aldgate High Street (Grade II* listed). It is not considered that the proposal 
would detract from the significance of the settings of the relevant listed 
buildings and their special architectural and historic interest would be 
preserved. 

The proposed scheme would not harm the setting, integrity or authenticity of 
the Tower of London World Heritage site in accordance with policy HC2 of the 
London Plan, policy CS12 of the Local Plan 2015 and policy S11 of the 
emerging City Plan 2036.  

The proposal would not harm the characteristics of composition of the 
strategic LVMF Townscape View 25A.1-3 (Queen's Walk), or that of a 
landmark element, and would preserve the viewer's ability to recognise and 
appreciate the Strategically Important Landmark, the Tower of London World 
Heritage Site, in accordance with London Plan policy HC4 and Local Plan 
policy CS13 (1).  

The proposal would preserve views of St Botolph's Church, a Skyline Feature, 
and the Tower of London World Heritage Site, a City Landmark, in 
accordance with Local Plan Policy CS12 (2) and associated guidance in the 
Protected Views SPD.  

Through the revisions to the scheme the applicant has enhanced the 
environmental performance of the building.  As such an 'excellent' BREEAM 
rating is now being targeted compared to a 'very good' rating under the RTG 
scheme. Subject to conditions requiring wind mitigation the proposal would 
have an acceptable impact on the microclimate around the site and the 
quantum of proposed greening is welcomed and policy compliant. 

The transport impacts of the proposal are considered to be acceptable.  The 
proposal would result in the loss of some public highway but this would be 
offset by the provision of attractive and logical new pedestrian routes and 
through the provision of enhanced public realm. 

Page 25



 
 

The proposal would result in some daylight and sunlight transgressions to 
surrounding residential dwellings.  However, taking into account BRE 
Guidance, the nature of the results (including some low existing daylight 
values), the site's location within a dense urban environment and the type of 
some of the residential accommodation, it is not considered that the proposal 
would result in an unacceptable impact on the existing properties and would 
not reduce the daylight to nearby dwellings to unacceptable levels such that it 
would warrant a refusal of planning permission.   

The concerns raised under the RTG scheme by the owner of 55/56 Aldgate 
High Street regarding the design of the party wall of the office development 
prejudicing development potential of the adjoining site, have been addressed 
by the proposed design revisions.  The mitigation measures include pushing 
the eastern flank closer to 55-56 Aldgate High Street, amending the north 
eastern façade to provide a fire rated construction and obscuring the windows 
in the eastern flank that sit directly above the adjoining terrace.  An 
assessment has also been made as to the daylight/sunlight impacts of this 
revised office development on the proposed residential scheme currently 
pending consideration at 55/56 Aldgate High Street in order to ensure that this 
development would not prejudice the development of the adjacent site at 
55/56 Aldgate High Street.  Conditions and S.106 clauses are recommended 
to secure the revisions to the party wall. 

Overall it is considered that the proposal represents high quality commercial 
led development that would have a positive impact on the Aldgate area. 

It is almost always the case that where major development proposals come 
forward in the City there is at least some degree of non-compliance with 
planning policies, and in arriving at a decision it is necessary to assess all the 
policies and proposals in the plan and to come to a view as to whether in the 
light of the whole plan the proposal does or does not accord with it.  

In this case, the proposal complies with the majority of development plan 
policies including those which relate to the provision of office development in 
the City, high quality accessible public realm and sustainable development, 
but is not compliant with elements of the policies regarding the conservation 
and enhancement of the City's heritage assets.  National Planning Practice 
Guidance advises that conflicts between development plan policies adopted at 
the same time must be considered in the light of all material considerations 
including local priorities and needs, as guided by the NPPF. Officers consider 
that overall, the proposal accords with the development plan as a whole and 
that other material considerations also indicate that planning permission 
should be granted as set out in the recommendation and the schedules 
attached. Subject to the recommendations of this report it is recommended 
that planning permission be granted. 

 

 

Page 26



 
 

Recommendation 
 

(1) That planning permission be granted for the above proposal in accordance 
with the details set out in the attached schedule subject to:  

(a)  planning obligations and other agreements being entered into under 
Section 106 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 and Section 278 of 
the Highway Act 1980 in respect of those matters set out in the report, the 
decision notice not to be issued until the Section 106 obligations have been 
executed;  

(b)  That you agree in principle that the land affected by the proposal which 
is currently public highway and land over which the public have right of 
access (between Aldgate and Little Somerset Street that would be built 
upon if the development was implemented) may be stopped up to enable 
the development to proceed and, upon receipt of the formal application, 
officers be instructed to proceed with arrangements for advertising and 
making of a Stopping-up Order for the various areas under the delegation 
arrangements approved by the Court of Common Council.  

(c)  That you agree to delegate authority to officers and the Comptroller 
and City Solicitor to declare new highway or city walkway through the 
development in accordance with the principal reservations, limitations and 
conditions set out in this report.  

(d)  That your Officers be delegated to negotiate and execute obligations in 
respect of those matters set out in "Planning Obligations" under Section 
106 and any necessary agreements under Section 278 of the Highway Act 
1980.  

(e)  An application to vary planning conditions attached to consent 
reference 15/01067/FULL being first submitted and approved. 

  

Page 27



 
 

 

  

Page 28



 
 

Photographs 

 
Existing: Looking west along Aldgate High Street from the corner of Whitechapel High 
Street and St Botolph Street 

 
Proposed revised scheme: Looking west along Aldgate High Street from the corner of 
Whitechapel High Street and St Botolph Street 

Page 29



 
 

 

Existing: Looking east along Aldgate High Street 

 

Proposed revised scheme: Looking east along Aldgate High Street 

Page 30



 
 

Background: Resolution to grant scheme, approved by Members at the 15 
December 2020 Planning and Transportation Committee 

 

Looking west along Aldgate High Street from the corner of Whitechapel High Street 
and St Botolph Street 

 

Looking east along Aldgate High Street 

Page 31



Main Report 

Site and Surroundings 

1. The site occupies land bounded by Aldgate High Street to the north, the
Aldgate Bus Station to the west, Little Somerset Street and 55-56
Aldgate High Street to the east and the 16 Minories hotel site to the
south. It comprises:

(i) 62 Aldgate High Street (256 sq.m) – a four storey building fronting
Aldgate High Street that occupies a narrow street plot of possibly
medieval origin. The front façade is thought to date from the 19th
century with the exposed flank and rear elevations dating from the
20th century. The building is in retail use at ground floor level with
offices above (Class E).

(ii) Rennie House at 57-60 Aldgate High Street (692 sq.m) – a five
storey building fronting Aldgate High Street with retail use at
ground floor level and offices above (Class E). Incorporated within
the ground floor of the building is pedestrian access to Little
Somerset Street off Aldgate High Street.

(iii) The Still and Star public house (sui generis, 179 sq.m), 1 Little
Somerset Street – A three storey building immediately to the
south of Rennie House. It dates from the 19th century with some
later alterations. The building is vacant.

(iv) Part of the site formerly occupied by 15 Minories (now
demolished) - 15 Minories was demolished in 2015 in association
with the approved hotel, office and residential scheme at 15/16
Minories to the immediate south of the site, granted planning
permission on 30 June 2014 (app.no. 13/01055/FULMAJ and as
amended by planning permission dated 19 August 2016 app.no.
15/01067/FULL).

(v) An area of open space – privately owned space at the north west
corner of the site fronting onto Aldgate High Street with informal
seating, planters and a bronze sculpture (‘Ridirich’ by Keith
McCarter). The space also provides a pedestrian link across the
site to Little Somerset Street.

(vi) The northernmost part of Little Somerset Street.

2. The surrounding area is of mixed use and character. The closest
Conservation Areas in the City are Tower Conservation Area to the
south and Lloyds Avenue to the west.

Page 32



 
 

3. Notable listed buildings in the vicinity are St Botolph’s Church built in 
1741-4 (Grade I listed), Aldgate School (1908, Grade II* listed), 48 and 
49 Aldgate High Street (1803, Grade II listed), 47 Aldgate High Street 
(Grade II* listed) and 46 Aldgate High Street (mid C17, Grade II* listed). 

4. With the exception of the listed buildings, the buildings along Aldgate 
High Street and the north part of Mansell Street comprise C19th and 
20th commercial buildings which increase in scale towards the larger 
buildings along Fenchurch Street and Leadenhall Street. To the south of 
the site is the Guinness Court, Mansell Street Estate comprising 192 
residential units accommodated in 8 storey linear red brick residential 
blocks and the hotel and residential scheme referred to above which is 
currently being implemented. 

5. The site is well connected to public transport with the Aldgate bus station 
adjacent to the site, the entrance to Aldgate Underground Station directly 
to the north west of the site and Aldgate East, Fenchurch Street and 
Tower Gateway stations in close proximity. The Circle and District Line 
railway lines run immediately below parts of the site which has structural 
implications for the proposed development. 

6. In terms of area designations, the site is within the Central Activities 
Zone as defined by the London Plan 2021. It is within the Aldgate Key 
City Place Area as defined by the adopted Local Plan 2015 and is within 
the Aldgate, Tower and Portsoken Key Area of Change as defined by 
the emerging City Plan 2036. 

Relevant Planning History 
7. In 2007 the City resolved to grant planning permission, subject to the 

completion of a S106 agreement, for the redevelopment at 62 & 73-78 
Aldgate High Street, 1-12 & 15-16 Minories and land bounded by Little 
Somerset Street & Guinness Court to provide four buildings 
incorporating offices with a publicly accessible sky deck; retail and 
community use; a new entrance to Aldgate Underground Station; a 
temporary bus station including associated facilities followed by a 
permanent bus station including associated facilities, basement parking, 
servicing, storage and associated plant; a new covered publicly 
accessible open space, hard and soft landscaping and all necessary 
enabling works (total floorspace 134,557sq.m, 24 storeys plus 
basements/115.53m AOD, ). This site included part of the current 
application site and the Aldgate Bus Station. The S106 agreement 
associated with this scheme was not completed and therefore planning 
permission was not granted. 

8. On the 30th June 2014 planning permission was granted (following 
completion of the related s.106 agreement), for the demolition of 15 
Minories and 62 Aldgate High Street and redevelopment to provide an 
office building with retail use (18,537sq.m); extension, recladding and 
change of use of 16 Minories from offices to a hotel, restaurant and 
community use (17,367sq.m.); erection of a new residential building 
providing 87 units (7829sq.m.) and re-landscaping of open space and 
public realm improvements (ref. 13/01055/FULMAJ, herein referred to as 

Page 33



 
 

the 2014 scheme).  The permission was subsequently amended under 
section 73 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) 
(ref.15/01067/FULL) on the 19th August 2016 to enable changes to the 
residential element of the scheme (herein referred to as the 2016 
scheme).  

9. Works have been carried out to implement the 2016 scheme.  The hotel 
has recently opened, and the residential element has been completed to 
shell and core.  Work has not commenced on the office development.  
An application is currently under consideration (submitted on 31st March 
2021 ref. 21/00271/FULMAJ) to retain the development given failure to 
comply with planning conditions and to enable the residential, hotel and 
office elements of the scheme to be delivered and occupied separately.  
(Details of the site separation and phasing would need to be 
satisfactorily resolved before planning permission could be granted for 
this development, hence recommendation (e).  This is given that the 
proposed office development would need to fulfil original intentions 
regarding the provision and maintenance of shared open space and a 
shared servicing arrangement as secured by the 2016 scheme).   

10. In July 2016 an application was submitted which related solely to the 
office element of the 2014 scheme.  The design of the office building 
was revised following the applicant's acquisition of 58 - 60 Aldgate High 
Street and the Still and Star Public House.  As part of this proposal all 
buildings on the site would be demolished.  A new office building was 
proposed which when compared to the office element of the 2014 
scheme, would extend eastwards resulting in the provision of more 
logical floorplates.  Retail use was proposed at ground floor level.  The 
design approach to the upper levels followed that of the 2014 scheme.  

11.  This scheme initially attracted significant objection primarily on design 
grounds and concerns over the loss of the Still and Star public house.  
The Still and Star was designated as an Asset of Community Value 
(ACV) by the City Corporation on the 15 December 2016 following an 
application from the Campaign for Real Ale (CAMRA).  It was concluded 
that the public house was, or was recently used to further community 
benefit. 

12.  The applicant subsequently revised the 2016 scheme to incorporate a 
new public house fronting Aldgate High Street.  The design of the new 
public house was inspired by that of the existing Still and Star and re-
invented the pub in a contemporary manner. 

13. Members of the Planning and Transportation Committee resolved to 
grant the scheme on the 15 December 2020 (herein referred to as the 
RTG (resolution to grant) scheme).  The S.106 agreement has not been 
completed and planning permission has not been issued.   

 
 
 
 

Page 34



 
 

Proposal 
14. Planning permission is now sought for a revised version of the RTG 

scheme (to clarify the revisions have been submitted under application 
reference 16/00406/FULMAJ given that planning permission had not 
been issued.  A new standalone application has not been submitted to 
cover the revised scheme.  As such, approval of this revised scheme 
would supersede the RTG scheme).  The revisions seek to improve: the 
quality of the proposed public realm, scheme buildability, the 
environmental and sustainability credentials of the development and the 
ability of the development to respond to post pandemic occupier needs.   

15. Notwithstanding the revisions, the scheme still maintains the overarching 
design principles of the RTG scheme whereby: 

• All existing buildings on the site would be demolished. 
• An office building would be delivered that follows the architectural 

language of the RTG scheme with the upper facades comprising 
glazing overclad with a layer of vertical mullions overlain by 
interlocking brise soleil aluminium fins. 

• The base of the building would comprise a striking structure that 
would encompass the main office entrance with associated lobby 
café fronting Aldgate High Street and retail fronting the adjacent 
hotel development to the south and the bus station to the west. 

• A new public house would be provided across basement, ground 
and first floor level fronting onto Aldgate High Street, with strong 
historical and architectural references back to the Still and Star.  

• The basement of the office building would connect directly to the 
basement box which has been constructed to link to the adjacent 
hotel and residential development to the south, to provide the 
shared servicing access, refuse collection and disabled car parking 
facilities.  This arrangement was agreed and provided for under the 
2016 scheme.  The basement box is accessed off Little Somerset 
Street. 

• Pedestrian routes are provided within the arcaded structure around 
the base of the building.  A re-aligned and widened Harrow Alley 
would be provided on the east side of the site in order to provide a 
more direct north south route from Aldgate High Street to Little 
Somerset Street and vice versa.  A new east west route and 
amenity area would be provided between the south facing elevation 
of the development and the adjacent hotel building.   

 
 
 
 
 

Page 35



 
 

16. The scheme would be revised through: 

• Small alteration of the red line boundary to include thin strips of 
vacant land to the west and south. 

• Addition of two new levels (one office level and one plant level) plus 
the insertion of a mezzanine above the ground floor level in order to 
accommodate a back of house area. 

• Reduction in the building height of level 11 to the north west to omit 
visibility from LVMF Protected Vista 25A.3. 

• Terracing of the upper floors (level 10 upwards) to provide outdoor 
amenity space for the office occupiers (636 sqm).  

• Addition of a third basement level to optimise the extent of plant to 
be located below ground and to provide space to accommodate 
additional cycle parking. 

• Minor amendments to the massing to incorporate articulation to the 
facades. 

• Revisions to the design of the east facing façade (movement of the 
eastern flank closer to 55-56 Aldgate High Street, provision of a fire 
rated construction and introduction of obscured windows) in order 
to address objections previously raised by the occupiers of 55-56 
Aldgate High Street. 

• Alteration of the structural arrangements for the building (change to 
a ‘hanging’ structure which is needed to avoid columns landing 
between the underground tunnels beneath the site as per the RTG 
scheme), resulting in the need for fewer columns landing at ground 
floor level.  This combined with a smaller ground floor footprint of 
the office building, increases the amount of public realm that 
pedestrians can use around the base of the building by 83 sqm 
when compared to the RTG scheme (including planters the total 
increase in public realm would be 230 sqm when compared to the 
RTG scheme).  

• Incorporation of a new landscaping scheme for the public realm 
and terraces which would increase the urban greening factor to 
0.36 when compared to 0.35 in the RTG scheme. 

• Internal alterations to rotate the core and structural grid alignment.  
This would result in a reconfiguration and reduction in the quantum 
of proposed retail space (402 sqm under the revised proposal and 
597 sqm under the RTG scheme). 

• Improvements to the environmental performance of the building, 
including the provision of openable windows for natural ventilation. 

   

Page 36



 
 

17.  To summarise, the table below provides an overview of the office 
building that was consented as part of the 2016 scheme (ref 
15/01067/FULL), the RTG scheme and the revised scheme. 

 

 Consented 
Office Building 
(2014) 
 

RTG scheme Revised 
scheme 

Total 
Floor Area 
(GIA) 

18,060 sq.m 28,690 sq.m 33,285 sq.m 

Number 
of Storeys 

Basement, ground 
and 12 upper storeys 

Two basement 
levels, ground and 
12  upper storeys 

Three basement 
levels, ground, 
mezzanine, 13 
upper storeys plus 
one plant level 
 

Uses Office (17,492 
sq.m, Class B1) 
and Retail (568 
sq.m Class A1) 

Office (27,824 sq.m, 
Class B1), Retail 
(866 sq.m Class A1, 
A3 and A4 includes 
269 sqm for the Still 
and Star) 

Office (32,613 
sq.m), Retail (402 
sq.m) (Class E), 
public house 
replacement (269 
sq.m) (sui generis)  
  

Height 67 m (AOD) 68.65 m (AOD) 80.14 m (AOD) 

Consultation 
18. The applicants have submitted a Statement of Community Involvement 

which outlines their engagement with stakeholders prior to the 
submission of the revisions to the RTG scheme.  Activities undertaken 
as part of the consultation process include (these activities supplement 
the consultation process that was carried out prior to the submission of 
the RTG scheme): 

- One to one meetings – Stakeholders were identified and offered 
briefings on the scheme.  No briefings were requested. 

- Direct Mail to Neighbours – Letters were delivered to approximately 410 
residential and business addresses. 

- Print Advertising – An advert was published in the Docklands and East 
London Advertiser on Thursday 21 October 2021.  The paper has a 
circulation of approximately 7,000. 

- Public Webinar – A public webinar was organised to present the revised 
scheme to stakeholders and allow any questions to be taken.  The 
webinar was hosted on Zoom and took place on Thursday 28 October 
2021 at 6 pm.  It was attended by three people and representatives from 

Page 37



 
 

the project team.  The webinar was recorded and distributed to local 
residents and stakeholders. 

- Contact Centre- Throughout the consultation process, a dedicated 
telephone number and e-mail were promoted to ensure that 
stakeholders and neighbours could ask questions and provide feedback 
on the project.  3 enquiries were received. 

19. Key themes emerging from the consultation process included:  
- The project and construction timeline – a key issue was how construction 

would be managed.  The applicant’s team provided information in 
respect of this to the relevant queries. 

- Construction communications – Local residents were keen for an 
existing community liaison group (the group has been operational since 
the 2016 application was submitted) to extend its remit and cover 
construction of the 60 Aldgate site.  The applicant provided reassurance 
that this was their intent. 

- Webinar recording distribution – Requests for made for the recording of 
the webinar.  This was distributed to all stakeholders and interested 
parties.  

20. Following receipt of the revisions the application has been advertised on 
site and in the press and consultation letters have been sent to 
surrounding residential occupiers and all those that made 
representations in respect of the RTG scheme.  Further rounds of 
publicity and consultation was carried out on the 17th March 2022 and 
8th April 2022 in response to additional information received by the 
applicant. 

21. Copies of all received letters and emails making representations in 
respect of the revised application are attached in full and appended to 
this report.  Eight letters of objection have been received in response to 
the two rounds of City consultation.  A summary of the objections 
received in conjunction with the revised scheme, and the consultation 
responses is set out in the tables below. 

22. One letter of conditional support has been received from the owners of 
55- 56 Aldgate High Street.  The owners of the adjoining site welcome 
the approach of the applicant’s project team and support the revisions to 
the scheme providing that the amendments to the eastern flank are 
permanently secured for the life of the development via condition and 
through the S.106 agreement.  The amendments include pushing the 
eastern flank of the proposed office building closer to 55-56 Aldgate High 
Street to reduce wind and maintenance issues, amending the north 
eastern façade to provide a fire rated construction from level 05 to 13 
and obscuring the windows to the eastern flank that sit directly adjacent 
and above the adjoining terrace flank.  The adjoining owners request 
that conditions and S.106 clauses are secured relating to the design, 
maintenance, cleaning and restriction of the insertion of clear glazing 
into the flank façade of the new office building.  Furthermore, they 
request that the demolition and construction works are discussed with 

Page 38



 
 

them prior to commencement and should not impede access to the 
adjoining site. The requested details would be secured by condition (3, 
18, 46 and 47) and the S.106 agreement. 

23. The views of other City of London departments have been considered in 
the preparation of this redevelopment scheme and some detailed 
matters remain to be dealt with under conditions and the Section 106 
agreement. 
Consultation Response 
CAMRA 
(Campaign for 
Real Ale) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Officer 
Comments 

A lot of additional information has been submitted.  Do 
the proposals materially affect the design, size and 
provision of the replacement Still and Star pub as 
previously commented on.  If the answer is no and the 
plans for the new pub remain in size, scale and design 
then CAMRA has no further comment to make (this is 
over and above the previous comments of the East 
London and City Branch of CAMRA on the RTG 
scheme whereby CAMRA would not object provided 
that the pub was re-provided as part of the scheme). 
 
Officers confirmed to CAMRA that the revised 
proposals would not impact on the re-provision of the 
Still and Star public house.   

Thames Water 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Officer 
Comments 

Thames Water have some capacity concerns which 
has led to the request for conditions being applied to 
this permission.  For clean and foul water, there is an 
inability of the existing water networks to 
accommodate this development.  The developer 
should engage with Thames Water to enable an 
impact study and modelling to be undertaken. 
 
The applicant has approached Thames Water to 
discuss the above.  They will engage in a pre-
application process with Thames Water to work 
through the issues.  

Transport for 
London 
(Infrastructure 
protection) 
 
 

The applicant is in communication with London 
Underground engineers regarding the development.  
Subject to the applicant fulfilling their obligations to 
London Underground and Transport for London then 
there is no objection to the proposal.  

Transport for 
London (City 
Planning) 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• The site is on Aldgate High Street which forms 
part of the Strategic Road Network (SRN).  TfL 
has a duty to ensure that development does 
not have an adverse impact on the SRN.   

• The footway and carriageway on Aldgate High 
Street must not be blocked during 
construction.   

• In accordance with London Plan policy T4 part 
E, the cumulative impacts of development on 

Page 39



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Officer 
comments 

public transport and the road network capacity 
including walking and cycling, as well as 
associated effect on public health should be 
considered and mitigated. 

• The proposed additional long and short stay 
cycle parking provided to accommodate 
additional floorspace are in line with London 
Plan policy. 

• The alterations to the ground floor design and 
the space around the building to increase the 
public realm are in line with London Plan Policy 
T2 (Healthy Streets).  To maintain good 
accessibility and permeability, footways should 
be a 2m minimum width to comply with TfL’s 
Chapter 11.2 (Footway Zones) Streetscape 
Guidance. 

• Public access should be secured over the new 
public realm area by planning obligation or 
legal agreement, 

• An Infrastructure Protection Agreement (IPA) 
should be secured for the proposed 
development, meaning an agreement on 
London Buses Ltd (LBL)'s usual asset 
protection terms to protect existing and future 
Bus infrastructure, assets and operations in 
the vicinity.   
 

• The applicant has been advised of TfL’s 
comments particularly with regard to the SRN 
and Infrastructure Protection Agreement. 

 
• The walking routes around the building would 

range in width from 3.2 to 5 metres.  Public 
access would be secured over the new routes 
via the section 106 agreement. 

London and 
Middlesex 
Archaeological 
Society 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Concern over the loss of the historic significance of 
the Still and Star public house, a listed asset of 
community value and loss of Little Somerset Street, a 
historic thoroughfare first mentioned in 1722. 
 
The Still and Star is a unique example of a ‘slum pub’.  
The proposed scheme fails to address the nature of 
the pub’s historic significance and would not mitigate 
the harm caused by its destruction.  The overhang of 
the proposed office building would dominate the new 
pub resulting in a loss of perspective. 
 
Little Somerset Street is a small urban alleyway 
characterised by its width and environment.  The 
proposal as presented would replace this with a wide 

Page 40



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Officer 
Comments 

plaza losing all perspective of the original 
thoroughfare.   
 
The application should be rejected in favour of the 
consented scheme 13/01055/FULMAJ which retains 
the Still and Star. 
 
The loss of the Still and Star and Little Somerset 
Street are addressed in the heritage and the Still and 
Star sections of this report. 

London Borough 
Tower Hamlets 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Officer 
Comments 

The Council has previously set out its concerns 
regarding the impact on the Tower of London World 
Heritage Site. 
 
It is noted from the submitted TVIA that the proposed 
design changes mean that the scheme is less visible 
in LVMF 25A.3 than under the previously proposed 
scheme. This is welcome. 
 
However, it is also appears to be the case that the 
visibility of the proposal has increased in LVMF 25A.1. 
This is an incremental impact on a highly sensitive 
receptor. 
 
The Council reiterates its serious concerns regarding 
development lying behind the Tower of London WHS 
and respectfully does not support this element of the 
proposal, impacting LVMF 25A.1. 
 
The impacts of the proposal on LVMF views and the 
Tower of London World Heritage site are set out in the 
heritage sections of this report. 

London Borough 
Southwark 

No comment. 

Lead Local 
Flood Authority 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Officer 
Comments 

The revisions have been reviewed and do not 
materially impact on the drainage strategy that was 
submitted in 2016.  Therefore, the LLFA continues to 
recommend the conditions that were recommended in 
2016. 
 
It should be noted that the LLFA’s consent following 
detailed design of the drainage strategy is predicated 
on Thames Water being satisfied with the proposed 
discharge rates and that alterations may be required 
to secure this. 
 
The drainage conditions have been included in the 
recommendations and the applicant is in discussion 
with Thames Water. 

Page 41



 
 

City of London 
Access Officer 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Officer 
Comments 

The comprehensive Access Statement is welcomed.   
- Consideration should be given to alternative 
entrance arrangements as revolving doors can be 
inaccessible. 
- The single pass door should be nearer the entrance 
doors. 
- External outward opening doors would require 
hazard protection unless its sole use is not for fire 
escape. 
- Some internal doors are too narrow and should have 
a minimum clear width of 800 mm. 
- The provision of the wheelchair accessible WC and 
facilities in basement -1 is welcomed.  However, there 
are concerns about the length of the step free access 
between these facilities and the passenger lifts and 
drying room. 
- Any door to a cycle parking area should be 
automated with push button or pressure pad. 
- 5% of cycle parking spaces would be suitable for 
larger cycles which welcomed.  Notwithstanding, 
there is concern that the spaces would not cater for 
the broad range of larger cycles, such as tricycles, 
handcycles and recumbent cycles. 
- The size of the terraces is constrained and lack 
wheelchair manoeuvring space.  It is however, noted 
that details of the terraces will be developed including 
circulation, manoeuvring spaces and seating. 
- Bold surface patterns can be disorientating or 
misleading for people who are blind or partially 
sighted and people with sensory/neurological 
processing difficulties.  There is therefore concern 
about the concentric paving design particularly on 
Harrow Alley. 
- The Still and Star entrance on Harrow Alley opens 
outwards and no hazard protection is proposed.  It 
also creates a pinch point with the proposed 
landscaping. 
- In the RTG scheme pedestrians could move along 
Little Somerset Street and Harrow Alley without 
needing to pass through the defensive line and enter 
the shared space.  Whereas with the amended design 
pedestrians would need to navigate through the 
numerous bollards and rock boulders to travel across 
the shared space which is less pedestrian friendly. 
 
The applicant has confirmed that the matters raised 
will be addressed at detailed design stage.  Details of 
a revised entrance arrangement, movement of the 
pass door, accessible cycle parking spaces, 

Page 42



 
 

landscaping, HVM measures and terraces would be 
required by condition. 

City of London 
Environmental 
Health 
 
Officer 
Comments 

No objection subject to conditions. 
 
 
 
The conditions have been included in the 
recommendations.   

 

Representations (Objections (8)) Number of 
objections 

Office floor space 
• The revised plans make the floor space even 

larger. 
• Is more generic office space needed at this time 

(post Covid). 
 
Officer comments: The demand for office space in the 
City is covered in the Economic Development and Office 
Use sections of this report. 

3 

Loss of the Still and Star and adjoining part of Little 
Somerset Street 

• The development entails the loss of historic Little 
Somerset Street and Still and Star Public House 
(an Asset of Community Value in 2016) which is 
unacceptable.  The Still and Star Public House is 
a place of continuity within the City of London’s 
history and it offers a traditional London public 
house built to a human scale.  It is a unique 
record of the working class history of the area.  
Portsoken, as its name implies (a ‘Soke’ is an 
area of jurisdiction outside of the main 
boundaries) is ‘without’ the old City wall, and 
historically was an area of the more noxious 
trades, such as butchery.  The pub, and the 
adjoining alleyway, are a reminder of the history 
of this part of the City and they should be 
incorporated into the proposed design. 

 
Officer Comments: The loss of the Still and Star pub and 
part of Little Somerset Street are covered in the heritage 
and Still and Star sections of this report. 
 

6 

Design 
• The proposed building offers nothing in the way 

of aesthetics. 
 

Officer comments: The design credentials of the 
proposal are assessed in the design section of this report. 

1 

Page 43



 
 

Embodied Carbon 
• Does London need this office floorspace and the 

amount of embodied carbon that it would take to 
build it. 

 
Officer comments:  The carbon impacts of the proposal 
are set out in the sustainability section of this report. 

1 

 
RTG Scheme Consultation  
24. Representations were submitted in conjunction with the RTG scheme 

that still need to be given consideration in relation to the revised scheme 
given the majority have not been withdrawn or superseded (details of the 
representations are listed in Appendix A of this report.  Copies of the 
representations are available to view at 
https://democracy.cityoflondon.gov.uk/mgChooseDocPack.aspx?ID=205
97.  

25. The first round of Local Planning Authority consultation in respect of the 
RTG scheme was carried out in 2016 (at that time the demolition of the 
Still and Star pub was proposed, and it was not being replaced).  270 
objections were received, a summary of which is set out in the table 
below. 

26.   
Grounds of Objection Number of 

Objections 

The loss of the Still and Star:  
The loss of the Still and Star Public House would detract 
from the City’s heritage. It is a unique surviving remnant 
of Aldgate and London’s history.  
 
Such a historic building should be retained and 
incorporated into the design of the scheme.  
 
The commercial interests of the City should be weighed 
against the loss of this historic pub and its setting on 
Little Somerset Street.  
 
The George Tavern in Stepney was saved and the Still 
and Star should be too – it is an important part of 
British/London life and culture. It is of social value to the 
community.  
 
The pub is a tourist attraction that should be retained. 

221 

Page 44



 
 

 
Officer comments: The loss of the Still and Star is 
covered in the Heritage and Still and Star sections of this 
report. 

Alterations to Little Somerset Street:  
Little Somerset Street is a valuable part of the historic 
pattern of alleyways that have been in the City of 
London for hundreds of years. It is an integral part of the 
terrace of buildings on Aldgate High Street. To lose Little 
Somerset Street would detract from the heritage of 
Aldgate. 
 
Officer comments:  The alterations to Little Somerset 
Street are covered in the design and heritage sections 
of the report. 

5 

Design of the scheme:  
The proposed building is out of character with the scale 
of the area. It is another bland glass box of which there 
are too many across London. 
 
The existing paved area outside the pub gives good 
balance to the built-up area and is amenity space. 
Building over it would overshadow the road, increase 
wind speeds and block a useful pedestrian route used 
to access Aldgate Station from Mansel Street.  
 
The area is a nice mix of original buildings and new 
builds. Projects such as this risk destroying the balance 
and removing the character of the area and its link to the 
past. There are too many office blocks in the area and 
the existing buildings should be retained. The history of 
Aldgate should be preserved.  
 
The proposal would have archaeological implications. 
 
The new alleyway would be a dark tunnel.  
 
This ancient part of London does not have the capacity 
to accommodate this development in terms of increases 
in the number of people and traffic. 
 
Homes are needed and not more offices.  

94 

Page 45



 
 

 
The amount of stopping up results in a reduction of the 
public realm. 
 
Officer comments: The matters raised are covered in 
the Design and Heritage, Archaeology, Wind 
Microclimate, Stopping Up, Public Realm and Office 
sections of the report.  

27. An additional round of public consultation was carried out in early 2019 
following the revisions to the design of the scheme to incorporate a new 
Still and Star public house.  A further 42 objections were submitted in 
addition to one neutral representation and one letter of support. 

28. 33 of the letters of objection were concerned about the impact of the 
proposal on the Still and Star public house which can be summarised as 
follows:  

- Casting and moving is not the same as preserving. This iteration is not 
an improvement on the previous.  
- The proposal could be re-designed to incorporate the pub.  
- The ACV status should not be ignored. The existing pub could be viable 
if it were next to the proposed office building. 

29. 15 of the letters of objection referenced design matters, which can be 
summarised as follows:  

- Demolishing the buildings would detract from the heritage of Aldgate and 
compromise the setting of the grade II* listed Hoop and Grapes public 
house.  
- The scheme would detract from the City’s valuable street pattern. 

30. The letter of support states that the proposals would improve the visual 
amenity of the area and give the Still and Star a new viable life. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 46



 
 

31. The following consultee responses that were submitted in conjunction 
with the RTG scheme are also relevant given they have not been 
withdrawn of superseded by further representation: 

Consultee  
Comments 

Environment 
Agency 

Need not be consulted on the application and 
therefore have no comments. 

The Victorian 
Society 

The Still and Star is a non-designated heritage asset 
and its demolition is a material consideration. 
 
The ‘Still’ indicates that alcohol was original brewed 
on site and the ‘Star’ derives from the Star of David 
presumably a nod to the Great Synagogue of London 
that prior to the Blitz was located on Dukes Place and 
the large Jewish population in the area at the time. 
 
The building is unique in the City of London and it is 
unlikely that there are any other pubs of this sort left 
which makes its survival all the more remarkable. 
 
Little Somerset Street would also be lost by the 
proposal. Formerly known as Harrow Alley, it has 
followed its current path since the eighteenth century 
and is an exceptionally important piece of urban 
grain.  
 
The block facing onto Aldgate High Street in front of 
the Still & Star was known as ‘Butcher’s Row’. 
Historically the pub doubled as a butcher’s shop.  
The pub and Harrow Alley are documented in historic 
literature. The pub and alley are a tremendous 
microcosm of London’s social history of surviving 
historic fabric. The pub and historic street pattern of 
high significance and their loss is not outweighed by 
the benefits of a corporate office building.  
 
The inclusion of a replacement building for the Still 
and Star is a concession to the acknowledged value 
of the current Still and Star and the loss that would 
result from its demolition. Replacement would not 
address the nature of the pub’s significance as a 

Page 47



 
 

building or mitigate the harm that will be caused by 
destruction.  
 
The setting of numerous listed buildings needs to be 
considered including 45-48 Aldgate High Street. 
Their setting would be harmed by the proposed office 
block. 

City Heritage 
Society 

- The Still and Star should be retained.  
- The buildings on Aldgate High Street form a group 
in scale with the important grade II* listed Hoop and 
Grapes.  
- The scale of the proposed building is out of 
sympathy with the range of buildings between the 
junction with Mansell Street and Minories. 

Historic 
Royal 
Palaces 

Confirmed no comments to make on the application. 

32. The objections raised to the RTG scheme are addressed in the Design 
and Heritage and Still and Star sections of this report. 

Policy Context 
33. The development plan consists of the London Plan 2021 (adopted since 

the consideration of the RTG scheme) and the City of London Local Plan 
2015. The London Plan and Local Plan policies that are most relevant to 
the consideration of this case are set out in Appendix B to this report. 

34. The City of London has prepared a draft plan, the City Plan 2036, which 
was published for Regulation 19 consultation in early 2021. Onward 
progress of the Plan has been temporarily paused to enable further 
refinement, but it remains a material consideration in the determination 
of applications (although not part of the development plan) alongside the 
adopted 2015 City of London Local Plan and the London Plan 2021. The 
Draft City Plan policies that are most relevant to the consideration of this 
case are set out in Appendix B to this report. 

35. Government Guidance is contained in the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) July 2021 and the Planning Practice Guidance 
(PPG) which is amended from time to time. 

36. The Historic England Good Practice Advice notes, including Note 3 The 
Setting of Heritage Assets and Note 2 Managing Significance in 
Decision-Taking in the Historic Environment. 

 

Page 48



 
 

37. There is relevant GLA supplementary planning guidance and other 
policy in respect of: Accessible London: Achieving an Inclusive 
Environment SPG (GLA, October 2014), Control of Dust and Emissions 
during Construction and Demolition SPG (GLA, September 2014), 
Sustainable Design and Construction (GLA, September 2014), Social 
Infrastructure GLA May 2015) Culture and Night-Time Economy SPG 
(GLA, November 2017), London Environment Strategy (GLA, May 
2018), London View Management Framework SPG (GLA, March 2012), 
Cultural Strategy (GLA, 2018); Mayoral CIL 2 Charging Schedule (April 
2019), Central Activities Zone (GLA March 2016), Shaping 
Neighbourhoods: Character and Context (GLA June 2014); London 
Planning Statement SPG (May 2014); Town Centres SPG (July 2014); 
Mayor’s Transport Strategy (2018) and the Culture 2016 strategy. 

38. Relevant City Corporation Guidance and SPDs comprises Air Quality 
SPD (CoL, July 2017), Archaeology and Development Guidance SPD 
(CoL, July 2017), City Lighting Strategy (CoL, October 2018) City 
Transport Strategy (CoL, May 2019), City Waste Strategy 2013-2020 
(CoL, January 2014), Protected Views SPD (CoL, January 2012), City of 
London’s Wind Microclimate Guidelines (CoL, 2019), City of London’s 
Thermal Comfort Guidelines (CoL, 2020), Planning Obligations SPD 
(CoL, May 2021), Open Space Strategy (CoL, 2016), Office Use (CoL, 
2015), City Public Realm (CoL, 2016), Cultural Strategy 2018 – 2022 
(CoL, 2018) and relevant Conservation Area Summaries. 

Considerations 
Relevant Statutory Duties 
39. The Corporation, in determining the planning application has the 

following main statutory duties to perform:-  

• to have regard to the provisions of the development plan, so far as 
material to the application, local finance considerations so far as 
material to the application, and to any other material considerations. 
(Section 70 Town & Country Planning Act 1990);  

• to determine the application in accordance with the development plan 
unless other material considerations indicate otherwise. (Section 
38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004). 

40. In considering whether to grant planning permission for development 
which affects a listed building or its setting, the Corporation must have 
special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting 
or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it 
possesses. (S66 (1) Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990). This duty must be given considerable weight and importance 
when weighing any harm to the setting of a listed building in the balance 
with other material considerations.  

 

Page 49



 
 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF 2021) 
41. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states at paragraph 2 

that “Planning Law requires that applications for planning permission 
must be determined in accordance with the development plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise”. 

42. The NPPF states at paragraph 8 that achieving sustainable development 
has three overarching objectives, being economic, social, and 
environmental. 

43. Paragraph 10 of the NPPF states that “at the heart of the Framework is a 
presumption in favour of sustainable development. That presumption is 
set out at paragraph 11. For decision-taking this means: 

(a) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date 
development plan without delay; or 

(b) where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies 
which are most important for determining the application are out-of-
date, granting permission unless: 

(i) the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or 
assets of particular importance provides a clear reason for 
refusing the development proposed; or 

(ii) any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the 
policies in this Framework taken as a whole. 

44. Paragraph 48 states that local planning authorities may give weight to 
relevant policies in emerging plans according to:  

(a) the stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced its 
preparation the greater the weight that may be given); 

(b) the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies 
(the less significant the unresolved objections, the greater the weight 
that may be given); and 

(c) the degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan 
to this Framework (the closer the policies in the emerging plan to the 
policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be given). 

45. Paragraph 81 states that decisions should help create the conditions in 
which businesses can invest, expand, and adapt. Significant weight 
should be placed on the need to support economic growth and 
productivity, taking into account both local business needs and wider 
opportunities for development. 

46. Chapter 8 of the NPPF seeks to promote healthy, inclusive, and safe 
places.  Paragraph 92 states that planning decisions should aim to 
achieve healthy, inclusive, and safe places which promote social 

Page 50



 
 

interaction, are safe and accessible and enable and support healthy 
lifestyles. 

47. Chapter 9 of the NPPF seeks to promote sustainable transport. 
Paragraph 105 states that “Significant development should be focused 
on locations which are or can be made sustainable, through limiting the 
need to travel and offering a genuine choice of transport modes. This 
can help to reduce congestion and emissions, and improve air quality 
and public health”. 

48. Paragraph 112 states that applications for development should give 
priority first to pedestrian and cycle movements and second to facilitating 
access to high quality public transport; it should address the needs of 
people with disabilities and reduced mobility in relation to all modes of 
transport; it should create places that are safe, secure and attractive and 
which minimise the scope for conflicts between pedestrians, cyclists and 
vehicles; it should allow for the efficient delivery of goods and access by 
service and emergency vehicles.  

49. Paragraph 113 states that “All developments that will generate 
significant amounts of movement should be required to provide a travel 
plan, and the application should be supported by a transport statement 
or transport assessment so that the likely impacts of the proposal can be 
assessed”. 

50. Chapter 12 of the NPPF seeks to achieve well designed places. 
51. Paragraph 126 advises that “The creation of high quality, beautiful and 

sustainable buildings and places is fundamental to what the planning 
and development process should achieve. Good design is a key aspect 
of sustainable development, creates better places in which to live and 
work and helps make development acceptable to communities.” 

52. Paragraph 130 sets out how good design should be achieved including 
ensuring developments function well and add to the overall quality of the 
area, not just for the short term but over the lifetime of the development, 
are visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and 
appropriate and effective landscaping, are sympathetic to local character 
and history, including the surrounding built environment and landscape 
setting, while not preventing or discouraging appropriate innovation or 
change (such as increased densities), establish or maintain a strong 
sense of place, using the arrangement of streets, spaces, building types 
and materials to create attractive, welcoming and distinctive places to 
live, work and visit; optimise the potential of the site to accommodate 
and sustain an appropriate amount and mix of development (including 
green and other public space) and create places that are safe, inclusive 
and accessible and which promote health and wellbeing. 

53. Chapter 14 of the NPPF relates to meeting the challenge of climate 
change. Paragraph 152 states that the planning system should support 
the transition to a low carbon future in a changing climate. It should help 
to; shape places in ways that contribute to radical reductions in 
greenhouse gas emissions, minimise vulnerability and improve 

Page 51



 
 

resilience; encourage the reuse of existing resources, including 
conversion of existing buildings. 

54. Paragraph 154 states that new developments should avoid increased 
vulnerability to the range of impacts arising from climate change. When 
new development is brought forward in areas which are vulnerable, care 
should be taken to ensure that risks can be managed through suitable 
adaptation measures. 

55. Chapter 16 of the NPPF relates to conserving and enhancing the historic 
environment. 

56. Paragraph 195 of the NPPF advises that Local planning authorities 
should identify and assess the particular significance of any heritage 
asset that may be affected by a proposal (including by development 
affecting the setting of a heritage asset) taking account of the available 
evidence and any necessary expertise. They should take this into 
account when considering the impact of a proposal on a heritage asset, 
to avoid or minimise any conflict between the heritage asset’s 
conservation and any aspect of the proposal. 

57. Paragraph 197 of the NPPF advises, “In determining applications, local 
planning authorities should take account of: 

(a) the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of 
heritage assets and putting them to viable uses consistent with their 
conservation; 

(b) the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can 
make to sustainable communities including their economic vitality; 
and 

(c) the desirability of new development making a positive contribution 
to local character and distinctiveness.”  

58. Paragraph 199 of the NPPF advises “When considering the impact of a 
proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage 
asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation (and the 
more important the asset, the greater the weight should be). This is 
irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, 
total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance.  

59. Paragraph 200 states that any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a 
designated heritage asset (from its alteration or destruction, or from 
development within its setting), should require clear and convincing 
justification. Substantial harm to or loss of: 

(a) grade II listed buildings, or grade II registered parks or gardens, 
should be exceptional; 

(b) assets of the highest significance, notably scheduled monuments, 
protected wreck sites, registered battlefields, grade I and II* listed 
buildings, grade I and II* registered parks and gardens, and World 
Heritage Sites, should be wholly exceptional. 
 

Page 52



 
 

60. Paragraph 202 of the NPPF states “Where a development proposal will 
lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated 
heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits 
of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable 
use”. When carrying out that balancing exercise in a case where there is 
harm to the significance of a listed building, considerable importance and 
weight should be given to the desirability of preserving the building or its 
setting. 

61. Paragraph 203 of the NPPF states “The effect of an application on the 
significance of a non-designated heritage asset should be taken into 
account in determining the application. In weighing applications that 
directly or indirectly affect non-designated heritage assets, a balanced 
judgement will be required having regard to the scale of any harm or loss 
and the significance of the heritage asset”. 

Considerations in this case 
62. In considering this planning application account must be taken of the 

statutory and policy framework, the documentation accompanying the 
application, and the views of both statutory and non-statutory 
consultees. 

63. The principal over-arching issues in considering this application are: 

• The extent to which the amended proposal 
complies with the relevant policies of the 
Development Plan. 

• The extent to which the proposals comply with 
Government      guidance (NPPF). 

• The application of considerable weight and 
importance to the need to have regard to the 
desirability of preserving the setting of listed buildings 
in the vicinity. 

The principal site specific issues in considering this application are: 

• Economic development and the provision 
of office accommodation, including the 
provision of office accommodation in 
Aldgate 

• The impact of the proposal in retail terms 

• Considerations around the demolition and replacement 
of the Still and Star public house, including change to 
the Asset of Community Value status 

• The proposal’s cultural offer 

• The acceptability of the scheme in design and heritage 
terms including design of the office, pub and public 
realm, the loss of the Still and Star pub as a non-
designated heritage asset, impact on listed buildings, 

Page 53



 
 

the Tower of London World Heritage site and strategic 
views. 

• The impact of the proposal on any archaeology beneath the site 
• The accessibility and inclusivity of the development 

• The impact of the proposal in highway and transportation terms 

• The impact of the proposal in environmental 
and sustainability terms 

• Whether the development would be air 
quality neutral 

• The environmental impacts of the proposal including daylight 
sunlight, wind, thermal comfort, solar glare and light pollution 

• Whether the development would result in noise and disturbance 

• Assurance that fire safety has been embedded in the design of the 
scheme 

• The outcome of the Health Impact Assessment 

• Duties under the Public Sector Equality Duty (section 149 of the 
Equality Act 2010)  

• Assessment of the impact of the revised scheme on 55/56 Aldgate 
High Street  

• The requirement for financial contributions 

Economic Development and Office Use 

64. The National Planning Policy Framework places significant weight on 
ensuring that the planning system supports sustainable economic 
growth, creating jobs and prosperity. 

65. The City of London, as one of the world's leading international financial 
and business centres, contributes significantly to the national economy 
and to London’s status as a ‘World City’. Rankings such as the Global 
Financial Centres Index (Z/Yen Group) and the Cities of Opportunities 
series (PwC) consistently score London as the world’s leading financial 
centre, alongside New York. The City is a leading driver of the London 
and national economies, generating £69 billion in economic output (as 
measured by Gross Value Added), equivalent to 15% of London’s output 
and 4% of total UK output. The City is a significant and growing centre of 
employment, providing employment for over 540,000 people. 

66. The City is the home of many of the world’s leading markets. It has world 
class banking, insurance and maritime industries supported by world 
class legal, accountancy and other professional services and a growing 
cluster of technology, media and telecommunications (TMT) businesses. 
These office-based economic activities have clustered in or near the City 
to benefit from the economies of scale and in recognition that physical 
proximity to business customers and rivals can provide a significant 
competitive advantage. 

Page 54



 
 

67. Alongside changes in the mix of businesses operating in the City, the 
City’s workspaces are becoming more flexible and able to respond to 
changing occupier needs. Offices are increasingly being managed in a 
way which encourages flexible and collaborative working and provides a 
greater range of complementary facilities to meet workforce needs. 
There is increasing demand for smaller floor plates and tenant spaces, 
reflecting this trend and the fact that a majority of businesses in the City 
are classed as Small and Medium Sized Enterprises (SMEs). The 
London Recharged: Our Vision for London in 2025 report sets out the 
need to develop London’s office stock (including the development of 
hyper flexible office spaces) to support and motivate small and larger 
businesses alike to re-enter and flourish in the City. 

68. The National Planning Policy Framework establishes a presumption in 
favour of sustainable development and advises that significant weight 
should be placed on the need to support economic growth and 
productivity, taking into account both local business needs and wider 
opportunities for development. It also states that planning decisions 
should recognise and address the specific locational requirements of 
different sectors. 

69. The City lies wholly within London’s Central Activity Zone (CAZ) where 
the London Plan promotes further economic and employment growth. 
The GLA projects (GLA 2017 London Labour Market Projections and 
2017 London Office Policy Review), that City of London employment will 
grow by 116,000 from 2016 to 2036, of which approximately 103,000 
employees are estimated to be office based. London’s rapidly growing 
population will create the demand for more employment and for the 
space required to accommodate it. 

70. The London Plan 2021 strongly supports the renewal of office sites 
within the CAZ to meet long term demand for offices and support 
London’s continuing function as a World City. The Plan recognises the 
City of London as a strategic priority and stresses the need ‘to sustain 
and enhance it as a strategically important, globally-oriented financial 
and business services centre’ (policy SD4). CAZ policy and wider 
London Plan policy acknowledge the need to sustain the City’s cluster of 
economic activity and provide for exemptions from mixed use 
development in the City in order to achieve this aim. 

71. The London Plan projects future employment growth across London, 
projecting an increase in City employment. Further office floorspace 
would be required in the City to deliver this scale of growth and 
contribute to the maintenance of London’s World City Status. 

72. London Plan policy E1 supports the improvement of the quality, flexibility 
and adaptability of office space of different sizes. 

73. Strategic Objective 1 in the City of London Local Plan 2015 is to 
maintain the City’s position as the world’s leading international financial 
and business centre. Policy CS1 aims to increase the City’s office 
floorspace by 1,150,000sq.m gross during the period 2011-2026, to 
provide for an expected growth in workforce of 55,000. The Local Plan, 

Page 55



 
 

policy DM1.2 further encourages the provision of large office schemes, 
while DM1.3 encourages the provision of space suitable for SMEs. The 
Local Plan recognises the benefits that can accrue from a concentration 
of economic activity and seeks to strengthen the cluster of office activity. 

74. The draft City Plan 2036 policy S4 (Offices) states that the City will 
facilitate significant growth in office development through increasing 
stock by a minimum of 2,000,000sqm during the period 2016-2036. This 
floorspace should be adaptable and flexible. Policy OF1 (Office 
Development) requires offices to be of an outstanding design and an 
exemplar of sustainability. 

75. Despite the short-term uncertainty about the pace and scale of future 
growth in the City following the immediate impact of Covid-19, the longer 
term geographical, economic, and social fundamentals underpinning 
demand remain in place, and it is expected that the City will continue to 
be an attractive and sustainable meeting place where people and 
businesses come together for creative innovation. Local Plan and draft 
City Plan 2036 policies seek to facilitate a healthy and inclusive City, 
new ways of working, improvements in public realm, urban greening, 
and a radical transformation of the City’s streets in accordance with 
these expectations.  

76. The scheme meets the aims of policies in the Intend to Publish London 
Plan, CS1, DM1.2 and DM1.3 of the Local Plan 2015 and S4 of the 
emerging City Plan 2036 in delivering growth in both office floorspace 
and employment. The current application provides for an additional 
increase in floorspace and employment in line with the aspirations for the 
CAZ and the requirements of the Local Plan and the emerging City Plan. 
The proposed development would result in an additional 32,613 sqm of 
high quality, flexible Class E office floorspace (a 4,789 sqm increase on 
the RTG scheme) for the City thus contributing to its attractiveness as a 
world leading international financial and professional services centre. 

77. The office space has been designed to be flexible and adaptable through 
the provision of a central core with limited internal columns.  The design 
would lend itself being either open plan office space, cellular offices or 
meetings rooms.  Up to two tenants could be accommodated per floor 
plate.   

78. The site is also within the Aldgate Key City Place as defined by the Local 
Plan 2015 (policy S8) and it is within the Aldgate, Tower and Portsoken 
Key Area of Change in the emerging City Plan 2036 (policy S20). 

79. The Local Plan 2015 states that although there is significant potential for 
development in the Aldgate area environmental concerns including traffic 
levels, pollution and a lack of street level activity mean that the area is 
not as attractive for new business and investment as other areas of the 
City. The City Corporation aims to regenerate Aldgate by developing it 
into a vibrant, safe and distinctive office location, whilst remaining a 
sustainable place in which to live work and learn. 

80. Improvements have taken place in the area during the plan period 
including the removal of the Aldgate Gyratory and the provision of new 

Page 56



 
 

public space. The emerging City Plan acknowledges commencement of 
the hotel development adjacent to the application site. 

81. While there are a mix of uses in the Aldgate area, the Local Plan 2015 
acknowledges the predominant land use is good quality, recently built or 
refurbished office stock dating from the 1960s to the 1990s. The plan 
states that the Aldgate area is capable of accommodating large- scale 
office development that can provide space for company headquarters or 
support business function. Policies CS8 of the Local Plan 2015 and 
policy S20 of the emerging City Plan 2036 seek to promote the Aldgate 
area as an attractive office location to assist in its regeneration. 

82. The proposed scheme would accord with the provisions of policy CS8 of 
the Local Plan 2015 and policy S20 of the emerging City Plan 2036 in 
terms of providing office led commercial development that has the 
potential to contribute towards regenerating and enhancing the Aldgate 
area. 

Retail Uses  
83. The existing site provides 248 sq.m of retail space across three units.  

Aldgate High Street is defined as a Retail Link within the Local Plan 
2015. 

84. The Retail Links can provide a link between the Principal Shopping 
Centres (PSCs), a link between PSCs and transport nodes or form 
convenient local centres. Policy CS20 (Retailing) of the Local Plan 2015 
seeks to enhance Retail Links and policy DM20.2 (Retail Links) 
encourages retail provision and resists the loss of retail frontage and 
floorspace within the Retail Links. A mix of shops and other retail uses 
are encouraged along the Links, ensuring that the function of the Link is 
not adversely affected. Policy S8 (Aldgate) seeks to encourage local 
retail facilities in the Aldgate Area to meet the needs of local residents. 

85. The emerging City Plan 2036 similarly seeks to encourage the provision 
of retail facilities in the Aldgate Area (policy S20 Aldgate, Tower and 
Portsoken). The Aldgate High Street Retail Link has been carried 
through to the City Plan with policies RE2 (retail links) and S5 (retailing) 
setting out aspirations for the Retail Links that are consistent with the 
Local Plan. 

86. The existing retail units would be replaced with 402 sq.m of retail 
floorspace (Class E) (a 195 sqm reduction in retail space compared to 
the RTG scheme).  The retail space would be provided across two retail 
units that would be located in the southern half of the ground floor and 
through the provision of a flexible retail offer within the lobby of the 
offices. Three retail units and the retail lobby offer were proposed in the 
RTG scheme. Although the café would be within the lobby, it would be 
accessible to members of the public.  While there would be a reduction 
in the provision of retail space in the current proposal compared to the 
RTG scheme, the proposal would represent an uplift in retail provision of 
154 sqm when compared to the current site circumstances. 

Page 57



 
 

87. The office and lobby cafe entrance would face onto Aldgate High Street. 
The frontage of the replacement Public House would follow the building 
line of the adjacent building to the east, 55 to 56 Aldgate High Street. 
The frontage of the office building including its main entrance would be 
set back behind the vaulted arcade. 

88. Overall, the proposed 159 sq.m uplift in retail floorspace alongside the 
provision of a public house is welcomed in order to provide facilities for 
local people and enhance the function and vibrancy of the Aldgate High 
Street retail link in accordance with the Local Plan and the emerging City 
Plan 2036. 

 
The Still and Star Public House  

89. As per the RTG scheme it is proposed that the existing Still and Star 
public house would be demolished and replaced with a new and re-
imagined public house (the design of the Still and Star would remain as 
per that proposed under the RTG scheme).  This section of the report 
covers the implications of the loss of the Still and Star pub in land use 
terms and in terms of the Asset of Community Value status.  
Consideration is given to the loss of the Still and Star as a non-
designated heritage asset in the design and heritage sections of the 
report. 

90. Policy HC7 (Protecting public houses) of the London Plan states that 
planning decisions should protect public houses where they have a 
heritage, economic, social or cultural value to local communities. It 
further states that proposals for new public houses should be supported 
where they would stimulate mixed use development, taking into account 
potential negative impacts. 

91. In the supporting text to policy CV1 (Protection of Existing Visitor, Arts 
and Cultural Facilities) of the emerging City Plan 2036, it states that 
“There are many cultural facilities that are unique to the City and 
maintain an historic or cultural association with the Square Mile. Special 
consideration needs to be given to the protection of these facilities to 
maintain the City’s unique cultural heritage. Examples of such facilities 
include City Livery Halls, public houses which have a heritage, cultural, 
economic or social value to local communities…”. Policy CV1 states that 
the City Corporation will resist the loss of existing visitor, arts, heritage 
and cultural facilities, unless replacement facilities of at least equivalent 
quality are provided on-site or within the vicinity which meet the needs of 
the City’s communities. 

92. The text further states that the City Corporation has published guidelines 
for determining nominations for Assets of Community Value in the City of 
London, which include local criteria to assess the role of public houses in 
furthering social wellbeing or social interest. 

93. Part 5 Chapter 3 of the Localism Act 2011 introduced provisions for the 
designation of certain buildings or land as Assets of Community Value 
(ACV). Detailed regulations, the Assets of Community Value (England) 

Page 58



 
 

Regulations, were published in 2012 and non-statutory guidance issued 
by the Government in the same year. 

94. The Still and Star was closed on the 2nd October 2017 and has been 
vacant and not operated as a public house since. It was listed as an 
Asset of Community Value by the City Corporation on 15th December 
2016 following an application from the Campaign for Real Ale (CAMRA). 
The City Corporation concluded that the Still and Star public house 
performs a social function that furthers the social interests of the City’s 
community.  The ACV application was made following the initial 
submission of the RTG planning application, which originally resulted in 
the loss of the Still and Star.  

95. The ACV designation lasts for five years.  As such the ACV listing in 
respect of the Still and Star expired on the 15th December 2021.  To 
date there has been no request to renew or amend the listing and 
therefore the Still and Star’s ACV status has now ceased. 

96. Notwithstanding, that the Still and Star public house is no longer listed as 
an ACV, the design of the Still and Star remains as per the RTG 
scheme.  The new public house would occupy 269 sq.m of proposed 
floorspace (compared to 179 sq.m floorspace as existing).  

97. The provision of an additional 90 sq.m of floor space for the public house 
is welcomed. The proposed Still and Star would more than double the 
amount of front of house space that would be provided when compared 
to the existing thus the application scheme would provide more space to 
socialise and utilise. Siting the pub directly onto Aldgate High Street 
would increase its visual prominence, result in a longer extent of pub 
frontage compared with the existing and it would add vibrancy to the 
street scene and would therefore have a positive impact on the Aldgate 
High Street Retail link. 

98. As per the RTG scheme, the new public house would draw on the 
existing in that it is proposed that it would be called the Still and Star. 
The retention of the name would be welcomed. Details of the existing 
façades of the Still and Star would be scanned and replicated for that of 
the new Still and Star. It is proposed that a 3m tall concrete plaque 
would be installed on the west facing elevation of the new Still and Star 
and it would be etched to depict Gustave Dore’s image of “Harrow Alley, 
Houndsditch” from 1872 which shows an image of Harrow Alley at that 
time. There is an aspiration that the pub could be used as a gin distillery 
which would draw on the historical origins of the ‘Still’ element of the 
existing public house (further details with regard to the meaning of ‘Still’ 
are set out in the design and heritage section of this report). 

99. It is considered that the provision of a re-imagined Still and Star would 
result in a new social, community and cultural facility on the site 
alongside office development that would contribute towards regenerating 
the area and would accord with policy HC7 of the London Plan and 
policy CV1 of the emerging City Plan 2036. Furthermore, it should be 
noted that CAMRA (original applicants for the Asset of Community Value 
Status) do not wish to object to this revised scheme providing that the 

Page 59



 
 

Still and Star would be re-provided as per the RTG scheme.  Conditions 
are recommended to secure the details of the proposed Still and Star.   

Cultural Offer  
100. Adopted Local Plan policy CS11 seeks to provide, support, and further 

develop a wide range of cultural facilities and events in the City. Policy 
S6 of the draft City Plan 2036 seeks to enhance cultural experiences 
and access to a range of arts and heritage. The policy requires 
developers to submit Cultural Plans for major development outlining how 
it will contribute to the enrichment and enhancement of the City’s 
inclusive cultural offer. These should set out how the development will 
contribute towards enriching and enhancing the City’s cultural offer for 
example by incorporating cultural activities or displays in ground floor 
spaces; facilitating public access and providing exhibitions/interpretation 
boards in relation to matters of historic interest; providing permanent or 
temporary space for creative enterprises; and incorporating public art 
either within the design of the building or as freestanding structures. 

101. In accordance with policy S6 of the emerging Local Plan an updated 
Cultural Plan has been submitted in conjunction with the revised 
scheme. 

102. As part of the cultural offer the Ridirich Sculpture that is currently located 
on the site would be restored and relocated to a revised position 
adjacent to the hotel development.  Its relocation would be secured 
through the S.106 agreement. 

103. The re-imagining and re-interpretation of the historic Still and Star public 
house still forms part of the revised development’s cultural offer.  The 
revised office design would offer enhanced visibility of the pub following 
removal of structural office columns that landed at ground floor level in 
the RTG scheme.  Removal of the columns would enable the pub to 
appear more prominent in the street scene. 

104. The revised scheme still includes the intention to embed a 3m tall 
concrete plaque with the Harrow Alley etching of Gustave Dore in 
Harrow Alley, in the west facing elevation of the new Still and Star public 
house.  Further details of which would be secured by condition.  

105. The proposed Cultural Plan and its intended actions are welcomed and 
would be secured by condition and through the S106 agreement to 
ensure that the benefits are delivered in accordance with policy CS11 of 
the Local Plan.  

Design 
Site location and context 
106. The site of the proposed development is located on the eastern fringe of 

the City. 
107. The surrounding area is of mixed use and character and the setting to 

the north is dominated by the newly landscaped Aldgate Square and the 
Aldgate Bus Station. Notable buildings on Aldgate High Street are the 

Page 60



 
 

grade I listed St Botolph’s Church built in 1741-4 nearly opposite the site; 
to the west of the church, across Dukes Place, is the grade II* listed 
Aldgate School (formerly Sir John Cass School, built 1908). To the east 
of the church is the entrance to Aldgate Underground Station. On the 
south side of Aldgate High Street, to the east of the site, are a group of 
listed buildings: Nos. 46 and 47, two mid-C17th houses listed grade II*, 
one of which is the Hoop and Grapes public house, and Nos. 48 and 49, 
a two bay Georgian house circa 1803 and listed at grade II. Otherwise, 
the buildings in the locality comprise C19 and C20 commercial buildings 
which increase in scale towards Fenchurch Street and Leadenhall 
Street. Little Somerset Street has a historic street alignment onto which 
the C19 Still and Star Public House fronts.  

Existing buildings 
108. On Aldgate High Street, Rennie House is a post-war building of brick 

frontage with metal-framed windows and a broad stone fascia above 
modern shopfronts. The westernmost side of the façade incorporates a 
way through to Little Somerset Street. The building is considered 
unexceptional intrinsically. Its frontage to Aldgate High Street makes a 
minor contribution to the low-rise terraced townscape here. 

109. 62 Aldgate High Street is a four-storey building occupying a narrow 
street plot of possibly medieval origin; the front façade is thought to date 
from the 19th century with later exposed flank and rear elevations, 
possibly reconstructed over the railway tunnel. The building is 
considered unexceptional intrinsically. Its frontage to Aldgate High Street 
makes a minor contribution to the low-rise terraced townscape here. 

Development Design 
110. The proposed development would require the demolition of all the 

existing buildings upon the site for a large new office block over a ground 
floor arcade and a new Still and Star public house. The Circle and 
District lines of the London Underground railway run immediately below 
parts of the site and have dictated the structural engineering of the main 
office building and the layout of the ground floor public realm. The 
proposed development would be conspicuously innovative in 
architectural terms and would provide a unique new tranche of public 
realm in this presently disjointed part of the City’s townscape.  

Main office building 
111. At 13 storeys high (80.135m including ground floor, roof plant and lift 

overrun), the proposal is similar in scale to other recent developments in 
the Aldgate area which are constrained by the Backdrop Assessment 
Area of the Protected Vista from City Hall to the Tower of London. These 
include Aldgate House (62m high) and the St Botolph Building (78m 
high). The hotel adjacent to St Botolph Church is 54m high (necessarily 
lower given its proximity to the grade I listed church). The height, bulk 
and massing of the proposed office building is considered appropriate in 
this townscape and wider setting context.  

112. The development would be substantially higher than other, lower-scaled 
buildings on the south side of Aldgate High Street. Given the nature of 

Page 61



 
 

the site it is considered that a building of this scale at this location can be 
justified. In particular, the sprawl of the bus station contributes little to the 
townscape and has a detrimental impact on the setting of the modestly 
scaled buildings to its west and east. The proposed office building would 
visually frame this open area and bookend the smaller Aldgate High 
Street frontages with an innovative architectural backdrop. The massing 
would constitute the optimal use of a limited land resource in line with 
policies CS10 (2) of the Local Plan and D1 of the London Plan.  

113. Strikingly, the glazed façades of the building would be overclad with a 
layer of vertical mullions overlain in turn by interlocking brise soleil 
aluminium fins. These would impart a dynamic quality and vibrancy to 
the elevations. The interplay between the two layers would create a 
‘moire’ effect and an impression of sinuous movement, especially in 
oblique views of the building. The effect would be intensified by the 
subtle variation of the colour of the fins. Behind them, the glazing would 
incorporate openable panels, except to the north-east section of party 
wall with Nos. 55-56 Aldgate High Street, where fire-rated opaque 
glazing would be provided to address party wall issues. However, this 
difference in glazing would not be appreciable from the public realm.  

114. To Aldgate High Street, an irregular ground plane of curves would be 
created by the ingenious resolution of the site’s structural constraints by 
‘hanging’ the building from cantilevered columns arising from positions in 
the middle and the south of the site. At ground floor level, a series of 
scoop-like indentations would create a dynamic, vaulted arcade free of 
columns to the northern half of the site and with only a few to the south. 
This arcade would encompass the whole building, with space most 
generously provided around the northern half of the building and in the 
realigned Harrow Alley to the north and east. Recalling the 
slaughterhouses once characterising this area, the vaulted arcade would 
be finished in curved and red-stained timber slats and would stand 
between 3.4m and 6.8m high with an average height of 5.7 m, ensuring 
the whole does not appear constrained or oppressive. The ground floor 
level of the building would be contained within curving glass walls and 
would incorporate the main entrance to the building and a large retail 
unit to the south.   

115. The proposed materiality and design details of the proposed office 
building are of a very high quality and the intricacies of this would be 
secured through condition.  

116. A generous walkway (between 3 and 9m wide) would be provided to the 
west of the arcade, adjoining the Bus Station. The combination of 
external walkway and arcade would significantly improve pedestrian 
movement across the site, especially on the key north-south route 
between Aldgate and the residential estate on Mansell Street. To the 
eastern side of the arcade, a retained, realigned Harrow Alley would 
pass between the office arcade and the new Still and Star public house. 
The latter would enliven the north-eastern corner of the site, while further 
retail uses would activate the building’s ground floor frontages to the 
south, in line with policies DM10.1 (4) of the Local Plan and S8 / D3 of 

Page 62



 
 

the London Plan. The outline public realm treatment has been designed 
in accordance with the City’s Public Realm SPD and associated 
technical guidance and details will be secured via condition. This outline 
treatment optimises greening, boundary treatments and security 
infrastructure and aligns with policies DM 10.1 (9) of the Local Plan and 
S8 and D3 of the London Plan.  

117. The building’s roof levels would echo the dramatic red arcade at the 
base. New terraces, sinuously curved, would be disposed about levels 
10 to 13, They would provide external amenity space accessed from the 
offices at those levels and would incorporate extensive urban greening. 
The architectural elements of these terraces would be finished in red 
fritted glass and red metalwork balustrades. In views of the building this 
would be a similarly eye-catching element to the ground floor, creating a 
characterful roofscape enclosed by the swooping curves of the moire 
façade. The roofscape is a considered response which satisfactorily 
integrates plant and servicing, in line with policies DM 10.1 (8) of the 
Local Plan and S8/D3 of the London Plan.  

Heritage 
The Still and Star Public House – Non-designated Heritage Asset (Direct 
Impact) 

Harrow Alley – Non-designated Heritage Asset (Direct Impact) 

118. The Still and Star Public House is a modest, early-mid C19 public house. 
The building possesses undoubted interest as an example of its type, 
both as a ‘slum pub’ – a drinking establishment of domestic scale 
probably converted from a house – and as representing the social 
character and drinking culture of this period. Gin-drinking was rife and 
the ‘Still’ of the pub’s name refers to a lost gin distillery within the pub. 
The building’s exterior brick walls survive in reasonable condition, with 
features such as blind brick window niches on the north elevation and 
original window openings to the west elevation. Although the building 
has been heavily altered it is considered to be a non-designated heritage 
asset. 

119. The values comprising the heritage significance of the Still and Star are 
deemed:  
Architectural/Artistic: the building is of a modest scale and materiality 
which illustrates its early nineteenth century origins as a ‘slum pub’ and 
with later external alterations such as the early twentieth century ground 
floor frontage which illustrate a common trend in pub development; its 
alignment and relationship to Little Somerset Street reveal the lost 
intricacy of the historic streetscape in this location.  
Historic: The Still and Star is a rare survival of the ‘slum pub’ and 
therefore is representative of the lower-class social conditions of late 
Georgian and Victorian London; furthermore, it appears in numerous 
historic sources including Gustav Dore’s engravings of London.  

Page 63



 
 

Archaeological: limited evidential value as a result of the building’s 
extensive alteration. 

120. The existing building is framed immediately to the south and west by a 
route now called Little Somerset Street but formerly known as Harrow 
Alley, originally a narrow way amongst slaughterhouses and now last 
remnant of the tight-knit urban grain which characterised this locality. It is 
discernible on historic maps from 1799 onwards, although its form and 
alignment have slightly changed over time. The distinctive kink of Harrow 
Alley remains but the buildings now lining it bear a very different 
relationship to the public house. As a historic route, Harrow Alley is 
considered to be a non-designated heritage asset.  
 
Impact 

121. The proposals would require the demolition of the Still and Star and the 
realignment of the original form of Harrow Alley as preserved in Little 
Somerset Street. A new Still and Star Public House would be provided 
on a new site fronting Aldgate High Street, under the with a rerouted 
Harrow Alley provided in between it and the main office building.  

122. It is considered that the architectural merit of this proposal is comparable 
to the significance of the non-designated heritage asset in its present 
form. Although a rare survival of its kind, the existing public house’s 
integrity has been compromised by extensive alterations. Its setting has 
been severely compromised by redevelopment. These proposals would 
reimagine this ‘slum pub’ and its alleyway setting but would do so in a 
strikingly contemporary idiom. 

123. The new Still and Star public house would be located on the site’s north-
east corner with a slender, tapering floorplan shaped by the structural 
constraints of the tunnels below and evoke the kind of intimate floor plan 
common to many historic public houses. Within, a new gin distillery 
would re-establish the lost still of the existing building. The new public 
house would feature an interior spatially akin to that of a traditional public 
house but with a vibrant, contemporary scheme of decoration. 

124. The principal west façade of the existing Still and Star would be 
replicated in the new facade, fronting Aldgate High Street. It would nestle 
under the crimson arcade and incorporate a planted roof terrace 
accessed from the office building. Each of the facades of the existing 
public house would be replicated in concrete casts and a sequence of 
them would form the long western elevation of the new public house, 
incorporating new punched window openings and artwork. Reimagined 
like this, the new public house would at once perpetuate the memory of 
the original building and be something entirely new. 

125. The new Still and Star would be doubly innovative: as a resurrection of 
the original public house and, more broadly, a reimagining of the London 
‘slum pub’ as a typology. Few precedents exist elsewhere in London for 
this element of the scheme. It would introduce a point of unique 
architectural interest to this part of the City; moreover, the existing 

Page 64



 
 

building’s contribution to the vibrancy of this part of the City would be 
perpetuated.  

126. Harrow Alley would be relocated a little way to the east to run between 
the new public house and the proposed office reception, joining the 
remaining stretch of Little Somerset Street further to the south. Its 
relationship with the new public house would convincingly echo the 
existing relationship between these two non-designated heritage assets. 

127. The loss of the existing public house would conflict with Local Plan 
policies CS12 and DM12.1 which seek to sustain and enhance heritage 
assets, their settings and significance. NPPF para 203 requires local 
authorities to take into account the impact of an application on the 
significance of a non-designated heritage asset. Para 203 further 
requires a local authority to make a balanced judgement in respect of the 
harm or loss of a non-designated heritage asset. It is considered that the 
loss of the existing Still and Star public house and the architectural and 
historic significance it embodies, though regrettable, would be 
compensated for by the provision of the new Still and Star public house 
and the cumulative benefits accruing from this mixed-use development.  

128. Furthermore, it is considered that the relocation of Harrow Alley in a 
more linear form adjacent to the new Still and Star public house amounts 
to an alteration to, rather than loss of, this non-designated heritage 
asset. The alleyway has undergone subtle changes in form and 
alignment throughout its history. The proposals would echo the original 
configuration of and relationship between these two non-designated 
heritage assets sufficiently to mitigate against the loss of its existing 
alignment; furthermore, it would re-introduce a sense of enclosure and 
would more strongly define the form of the route. It is considered that the 
proposals would therefore have a neutral impact on the significance of 
the non-designated heritage asset.  

 
Designated Heritage Assets (Indirect Impacts) 

St Botolph Aldgate – grade I  
Significance and contribution of setting 

129. Church of 1744, of stock brick with classical stone detailing and a 
distinctive obelisk tower. The church possesses high architectural 
significance as an exemplar of Georgian neoclassical ecclesiastical 
design that is relatively rare in the City. It possesses high historic 
significance through its associations with George Dance the Elder, Clerk 
of the City’s Works and designer of the Mansion House and with J.F. 
Bentley, the Victorian ecclesiastical architect of Westminster Roman 
Catholic Cathedral who designed internal alterations to the church. 
Ultimately a medieval foundation, there is further historic significance 
through the church’s associations, through its role as a public place of 
worship, with past City communities and prominent City figures with 
connections to it such as Sir John Cass. 

Page 65



 
 

130. The churchyard, grade II listed gates and associated drinking fountain 
and police call box all contribute positively to the building’s setting and 
architectural and historic significance. The church’s architectural 
significance is further supported by the open space of Aldgate Square to 
the west and the sympathetic relationship it has, in scale and materials, 
with the Aldgate School. To the south, unlisted historic buildings framing 
the junction of Minories and Aldgate High Street make a moderate 
contribution to the church’s architectural and historic significance by 
illustrating the sort of historic townscape from which it emerged and over 
which it presided for much of its existence. The church’s setting is 
otherwise characterised by modern commercial buildings of medium 
scale to the north and north-east.  
 
Impact  

131. The proposed development would be a prominent new element in the 
background of the church when viewed from the north-west and west. 
From the corner of Duke’s Place, the proposed development would 
appear directly behind the tower though not approaching the base of the 
spire. In these views, the background of the church is already dominated 
by the adjacent hotel, which similarly intersects with the body of the 
tower; the proposed development would engage with the other side of 
the body of the tower. The architectural detailing of the body of the tower 
is relatively simple and, unlike a spire, does not depend on a clear sky 
backdrop to be perceived and appreciated. The proposed development 
would not encroach on the spire above, which would remain seen 
against clear sky in this view. Consequently it is not considered that the 
proposed development would be harmful to the significance of the 
church, merely that it would result in change to the church’s setting.  

132. From the south half of Aldgate Square, the proposed development would 
form a new element within the background of the church, albeit further 
away; the same relationship would be visible in longer views from 
Fenchurch S/Leadenhall St junction. In these views, the proposed 
development would be perceived as being set away from the church, 
further east along Aldgate High Street on the other side of the street, 
amongst other modern developments of comparable scale. Accordingly, 
it is not considered that the proposed development would be harmful to 
the architectural significance of the church, merely that it would result in 
change to the church’s setting.  

133. There are long views of the church looking NW from Mansell Street/Little 
Somerset Street. In these views, the upper tower and spire are glimpsed 
fleetingly against clear sky, an isolated ‘moment’ in which the church is 
seen holding its own in the context of the City Cluster. Although these 
views would be lost to the bulk of the proposed development, they are 
the exactly the sort of glimpsed, experiential views which are closed off 
by some developments and opened up by others, characteristic of the 
intense and constant change of a densely developed urban heart such 
as the City. Accordingly, the loss of these more distant views is not 

Page 66



 
 

considered to be harmful to the significance or setting of the listed 
building. It is considered its setting would be preserved. 
 
No. 46 Aldgate High Street – grade II*  
Significance and contribution of setting 

134. House, now offices, late seventeenth century with much alteration, 
including modern extensions to the east and south. The diminutive scale 
of the frontage to Aldgate High Street and its detailing exemplify a ‘type 
of building once common in London but now very rare’ (official List 
Entry). This characteristic is shared with the Hoop and Grapes 
immediately to the west. A historic roof form survives to Aldgate High 
Street, but not to the rest of the building. The building possesses a high 
level of architectural significance as a rare survivor of a late seventeenth 
century building, with its age and character still clearly discernible in the 
narrow frontage, though somewhat blurred by the modern extensions to 
the east of the building. The building possesses further archaeological 
significance for the evidence it provides of urban historic timber frame 
construction, now very rare in a City context.  

135. The listed buildings at Nos. 46 – 49 Aldgate High Street form a 
complimentary group. This immediate setting makes a high contribution 
to the architectural significance of the listed building by framing it with 
historic buildings of similar scale, plot widths and detailing in the case of 
No. 47. This is best appreciated in views looking west at the group from 
the junction of Mansell Street and Aldgate High Street. Immediately to 
the west of them, beyond the gap site, are a group of slightly higher 
unlisted buildings with broadly complimentary plot widths, materials and 
some complimentary detailing, culminating in Rennie House and No. 62 
which are part of the application site. This wider, low-rise terrace setting 
makes a moderate contribution to the architectural significance of the 
listed building by illustrating the sort of granular townscape of individually 
different but broadly consistent buildings in which it was originally 
erected and in which it has stood for its entire existence – and, in the 
broader swathe of building ages and levels of alteration, the ever-
changing nature of this kind of townscape in the City. This is best 
appreciated in views looking west from the junction of Mansell Street and 
Aldgate High Street and in views looking east from outside Aldgate 
Underground Station.  

136. Views of the return and rear of the building from Mansell Street make a 
neutral contribution to significance as these elements of the building are 
modern extensions. Otherwise, the building is surrounded by larger 
modern buildings which make a neutral contribution to its significance.  
 
Impact  

137. The proposed development would result in the demolition of the two 
buildings at the end of the terrace, Rennie House and No. 62, and their 
replacement with the new Still and Star public house and the new office 
building. The location of the proposed development at the end of the 

Page 67



 
 

terrace, between it and the bus station, means that it would be perceived 
at a comfortable remove from the listed building, over forty metres away. 
In views of the listed building looking west, the new office building would 
appear as a prominent new bookend to the terrace with the curving 
moire façade creating a serenely modern architectural backdrop for the 
existing low-rise terrace, enlivened by the charismatic scarlet treatment 
of the ground floor arcade and roof terraces. The office building would 
rise above the roof of the listed building, but the roofscape here has 
been compromised through modern alteration and, in any case, was 
never conceived to be dependent on a clear sky setting to be fully 
appreciated. The smaller, more traditionally-scaled frontage of the new 
Still and Star public house would be perceived as the end of the terrace 
and would complement the individually varying but broadly cohesive 
scale of the wider low-rise terrace against which the listed building is 
currently seen. The listed building already possesses a modern urban 
context, seen against larger modern buildings in other views. In the key 
view west, the distance of the proposed development from the listed 
building and the introduction of the Still and Star public house would 
mean that the impression of a granular, evolutionary townscape in the 
wider low-rise terrace setting would be maintained. Accordingly, the 
listed building would experience change in its setting, but this would not 
be harmful to its significance. It is considered its setting would be 
preserved. 
 
Hoop and Grapes Public House (No. 47) – grade II*  
Significance and contribution of setting 

138. House and offices, late seventeenth century with subsequent alteration. 
A wine merchants’ from at least 1803 and a public house from at least 
1887. The diminutive scale of the frontage to Aldgate High Street and its 
detailing exemplify a ‘type of building once common in London but now 
very rare’ (official List Entry). This characteristic is shared with the 
neighbouring No. 46. The Hoop and Grapes has been less altered than 
its neighbour, though subject to extensive late twentieth century 
refurbishment, and its historic plan and roof form survive. The building 
possesses a high level of architectural significance as a rare survivor of 
a late seventeenth century building, with its age and character still 
clearly discernible in the narrow frontage and roof form. The building 
holds a moderate level of historic significance through its function, from 
at least 1887, as a public house and subsequent associations with past 
City communities. The building possesses further archaeological 
significance for the evidence it provides of urban timber frame 
construction, now very rare in a City context. 

139. The listed buildings at Nos. 46 – 49 Aldgate High Street form a 
complimentary group. This immediate setting makes a high contribution 
to the architectural significance of the listed building by framing it with 
historic buildings of similar scale, plot widths and detailing in the case of 
neighbouring No. 46. This is best appreciated in views looking west at 
the group from the junction of Mansell Street and Aldgate High Street. 

Page 68



 
 

Immediately to the west of them, beyond the gap site, are a group of 
slightly higher unlisted buildings with broadly complimentary plot widths, 
materials and some complimentary detailing, culminating in Rennie 
House and No. 62 which are part of the application site. This wider, low-
rise terrace setting makes a moderate contribution to the architectural 
significance of the listed building by illustrating the sort of granular 
townscape of individually different but broadly consistent buildings in 
which it was originally erected and in which it has stood for its entire 
existence – and, in the broader swathe of building ages and levels of 
alteration, the ever-changing nature of this kind of townscape in the City. 
This is best appreciated in views looking west from the junction of 
Mansell Street and Aldgate High Street and in views looking east from 
outside Aldgate Underground Station.  
 
Impact  

140. The proposed development would result in the demolition of the two 
buildings at the end of the terrace, Rennie House and No. 62, and their 
replacement with the new Still and Star public house and the new office 
building. The location of the proposed development at the end of the 
terrace, between it and the bus station, means that it would be perceived 
at a comfortable remove from the listed building, over thirty metres away. 
In views of the listed building looking west, the new office building would 
appear as a prominent new bookend to the terrace with the curving 
moire façade creating a serenely modern architectural backdrop for the 
existing low-rise terrace, enlivened by the charismatic scarlet treatment 
of the ground floor arcade and roof terraces. The office building would 
rise above the roof of the listed building, but the building’s roofscape was 
never conceived to be dependent on a clear sky setting to be fully 
appreciated. The smaller, more traditionally-scaled frontage of the new 
Still and Star public house would be perceived as the end of the terrace 
and would complement the individually varying but broadly cohesive 
scale of the wider low-rise terrace against which the listed building is 
currently seen. The listed building already possesses a modern urban 
context, seen against larger modern buildings in other views. In the key 
view west, the distance of the proposed development from the listed 
building and the introduction of the Still and Star public house would 
mean that the impression of a granular, evolutionary townscape in the 
wider low-rise terrace setting would be maintained. Accordingly, the 
listed building would experience change in its setting, but this would not 
be harmful to its significance. It is considered its setting would be 
preserved. 
 
Nos. 48 and 49 Aldgate High Street – grade II  
Significance and contribution of setting 

141. House and shop, mid-eighteenth century with subsequent alteration. The 
building possesses a moderate degree of architectural significance as a 
characteristic example of a slender Georgian brickwork frontage 
incorporating details typical of the period.  

Page 69



 
 

142. The listed buildings at Nos. 46 – 49 Aldgate High Street form a 
complimentary group. This immediate setting makes a high contribution 
to the architectural significance of the listed building by framing it to the 
east with historic buildings of similar scale and plot widths. This is best 
appreciated in views looking west at the group from the junction of 
Mansell Street and Aldgate High Street. Immediately to the west of them, 
beyond the gap site, are a group of slightly higher unlisted buildings with 
broadly complimentary plot widths, materials and some complimentary 
detailing, culminating in Rennie House and No. 62 which are part of the 
application site. This wider, low-rise terrace setting makes a moderate 
contribution to the architectural significance of the listed building by 
illustrating the sort of granular townscape of individually different but 
broadly consistent buildings in which it was originally erected and in 
which it has stood for its entire existence – and, in the broader swathe of 
building ages and levels of alteration, the ever-changing nature of this 
kind of townscape in the City. This is best appreciated in views looking 
west from the junction of Mansell Street and Aldgate High Street and in 
views looking east from outside Aldgate Underground Station.  
 
Impact  

143. The proposed development would result in the demolition of the two 
buildings at the end of the terrace, Rennie House and No. 62, and their 
replacement with the new Still and Star public house and the new office 
building. The location of the proposed development at the end of the 
terrace, between it and the bus station, means that it would be perceived 
at a comfortable remove from the listed building, over thirty metres away. 
In views of the listed building looking west, the new office building would 
appear as a prominent new bookend to the terrace with curving moire 
façade creating a serenely modern architectural backdrop for the 
existing low-rise terrace, enlivened by the charismatic scarlet treatment 
of the ground floor arcade and roof terraces. The office building would 
rise above the roof of the listed building, but the roofscape here has 
been compromised through modern alteration and, in any case, was 
never conceived to be dependent on a clear sky setting to be fully 
appreciated. The smaller, more traditionally-scaled frontage of the new 
Still and Star public house would be perceived as the end of the terrace 
and would complement the individually varying but broadly cohesive 
scale of the wider low-rise terrace against which the listed building is 
currently seen. The listed building already possesses a modern urban 
context, seen against larger modern buildings in other views. In the key 
view west, the distance of the proposed development from the listed 
building and the introduction of the Still and Star public house would 
mean that the impression of a granular, evolutionary townscape in the 
wider low-rise terrace setting would be maintained. Accordingly, the 
listed building would experience change in its setting, but this would not 
be harmful to its significance. It is considered its setting would be 
preserved. 

 

Page 70



 
 

Other listed buildings 
144. Around St Botolph’s church are two grade II listed structures: the 

churchyard gates and gate piers and a City of London police call box. 
These form a group with the church and make a positive contribution to 
its significance. The churchyard gates are of the early nineteenth century 
and holds a moderate degree of architectural significance, while the 
police call box dates to the early twentieth century and holds a moderate 
degree of historic significance.  

145. These heritage assets are visible in views of the application site from 
Fenchurch Street/Leadenhall Street junction and the south side of 
Aldgate Square. In these views, the proposed development would be 
perceived as being set away from the assets, on the other side of the 
street, amongst other modern developments of comparable scale. 
Accordingly, it is not considered that the proposed development would 
be harmful to the significance of these assets, merely that it would result 
in change to their settings. 

146. The scheme would not harm the setting of the grade II* listed Aldgate 
School, which lies some distance away. Its setting would be preserved. 

Setting of the Tower of London World Heritage Site and the London View 
Management Framework 

LVMF 25A.1-3 – Townscape View, Queen’s Walk 

147. This view is identified in the ToL WHS Management Plan (7.3.22) as the 
most iconic view of the Tower. The focus of the view is the ToL, which is 
the Strategically Important Landmark in the Protected Vista from 25A.1, 
the Landmark Viewing Corridor of which is focused on the White Tower. 
This focal point is a Protected Silhouette between the three assessment 
points 25A.1-3. The Monument and Tower Bridge are also identified as 
landmarks in these views. The LVMF recognises the juxtaposition of built 
elements from a variety of eras as an aspect of the view (para 413). The 
Tower of London World Heritage Site Local Setting Study identifies three 
relevant views on the south riverbank of the Thames which coincide with 
the three LVMF Assessment Points. 

148. The Protected Vista and Protected Silhouette would remain unaffected 
by the proposed scheme.  

149. Given the pre-eminence of the River Thames in the foreground, and the 
openness of the ToL ensemble defining its north bank, the ToL and 
White Tower would remain the dominant feature towering above these 
immediate surroundings. From the three Assessment Points nearly all of 
the scheme would be concealed by existing buildings. From Assessment 
Points 25A.1 and 25A.2, very limited parts of the upper storeys of the 
proposed office building would be visible. However, in these long views 
they would be only glimpsed against (and be lower than) the rooflines of 
other existing, modern buildings in the background of the view. From 
Assessment Point 25A.3, the proposed building would be entirely 
concealed behind the Protected Silhouette and the intervening 
development of St Clare House on Minories. In the kinetic experience 

Page 71



 
 

moving west to east through the assessment points, the upper parts of 
the scheme would be glimpsed as part of the existing backdrop of 
modern development to the west of the Tol, before disappearing entirely 
behind the Protected Silhouette.  

150. The London Borough of Tower Hamlets have objected to the revised 
scheme because of the way its increase in height would make the 
scheme more visible in the view from assessment point 25A.1. However, 
the proposed scheme would still be lower than the existing modern 
buildings in the background and would not extend modern development 
any closer to the Protected Silhouette in this view. It is considered that 
the proposed scheme would only be glimpsed from 25A.1 and 25A.2 
within the existing zone of modern development which is visible to the 
west of the Protected Silhouette in the background of these views.  

151. Accordingly, it is considered that the proposed scheme would respect 
the setting of the Tower and not dominate it, in accordance with the 
LVMF visual management guidance at paras 414-415. The proposal 
would preserve the relevant attributes of OUV and those associated 
components. The proposal would not affect the foreground/midground of 
the views or the close relationship with the River Thames, the principal 
setting from this iconic view (LVMF paras 416-417). It is considered that 
the proposed scheme would not compromise the Protected Vista, the 
Protected Silhouette or views of the Tower of London. The proposed 
scheme would not undermine the composition and characteristics of the 
view or those landmark elements. The observer would continue to 
recognise and appreciate the Tower of London as the Strategically 
Important Landmark, set away from the City and not lost in it.  
 
LVMF 10A.1 – Tower Bridge, North Bastion (River Prospect) 

152. This is also identified as a Representative View in the Local Setting 
Study (View 9), whilst the impact here is also representative of the 
impact from Approach 14 (Tower Bridge).  

153. The LVMF SPG states that this location enables the fine details and the 
layers of history of the Tower of London to be readily understood. The 
LVMF states that such understanding and appreciation is enhanced by 
the free sky space around the White Tower, and that where it has been 
compromised its visual dominance has been devalued. It also states that 
the middle ground includes the varies elements of the City, rising behind 
the Tower, which includes prominent tall buildings of the late twentieth 
and early twenty-first centuries, and earlier periods such as the spires of 
City churches and the Monument. It is also noted that the lantern and 
upper dome of St Paul’s Cathedral can be seen, while other prominent 
buildings or structures in the background include the Cannon Street 
Station towers, BT Tower, Centre Point and the Tate Modern (para 182). 
The Local Setting Study describes how this viewpoint allows for an 
appreciate of specific elements of the OUV including its landmark siting, 
its defensive location and relationship to the City.  

Page 72



 
 

154. The visual management guidance in the LVMF SPG states that the ToL 
should not be dominated by new development close to it (para 183) and 
focuses particularly on the relationship between the ToL and the City 
Cluster (paras 186-7). It says that development should not breach the 
skyline of the four towers of the White Tower or its castellations, and that 
some visual separation should be retained between the upper parts of 
the White Tower and the emerging cluster of tall buildings in the City.  

155. At the eastern extremity of the River Prospect, the roofline of the 
proposed scheme would be glimpsed beside other modern development 
above the eastern parts of the ToL. It would not be close to the White 
Tower and would not dominate it. The location of the site to the east 
rather than the west of the River Prospect means that the visual 
separation of the upper parts of the White Tower and the City Cluster 
would be maintained. The observer would continue to recognise and 
appreciate the Tower of London and its landmark siting, defensive 
position and relationship to the City of London, all in accordance with the 
visual management guidance.  

156. Overall, the scheme would be generally concealed from views of the 
Tower of London World Heritage Site from Tower Bridge and the south 
bank of the Thames. In this respect, the scheme would not harm and 
would preserve the setting and Outstanding Universal Value of the World 
Heritage Site. 

City Landmarks and Skyline Features 
157. Policy CS13 (2) seeks to protect and enhance views of City Landmarks 

and Skyline features as identified in the Protected Views SPD. The 
proposed scheme would be visible in views of the Tower of London (City 
Landmark) and St Botolph Aldgate (City Church with a Skyline 
Presence). The proposed scheme would be a high quality, modern 
architectural backdrop to these two heritage assets, complementing their 
silhouettes instead of undermining their presence on the skyline.  

Design, Heritage and Strategic Views Conclusion 
158. The proposal is considered to constitute high quality architecture and 

urban design that has been sensitively designed to address the 
constraints of the site. It is considered that it would accord with the 
design and broadly accord with the heritage-related policies of the 
London Plan (D3, D4, D5, HC1, G5), Local Plan 2015 (CS10, DM10.1, 
CS12, DM12.1) and the emerging City Plan 2036 (S8, DE2, DE3, DE4, 
DE6, HE1).   

159. The impact of the loss of the Still and Star public house as a non-
designated heritage asset would conflict with policies CS12 and DM21.1 
of the Local Plan. However, it is considered that this would be sufficiently 
mitigated by the provision of a reimagined London public house in 
accordance with paragraph 203 of the NPPF.  

160. It is considered that the rerouting of Harrow Alley alongside the new Still 
and Star public house would appropriately echo and reimagine the 
existing relationship it has with the existing public house. As such the 
alterations to, rather than the loss of, Harrow Alley are considered to be 

Page 73



 
 

in accordance with DM12.1 and would have a neutral impact on the 
significance of the non-designated heritage asset.  

161. For the purposes of section 66 of the Town Planning (Listed Buildings 
and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, considerable importance and weight 
have been given to the desirability of preserving the setting of 
surrounding listed buildings. It is considered that the settings of the 
relevant listed buildings would be preserved by the proposed scheme.  

162. The proposed scheme would not harm and would preserve the setting, 
integrity or authenticity of the Tower of London World Heritage site in 
accordance with policy HC2 of the London Plan, policy CS12 of the 
Local Plan 2015 and policy S11 of the emerging City Plan 2036.  

163. The proposal would not harm the characteristics of composition of the 
strategic LVMF Townscape View 25A.1-3 (Queen’s Walk), or that of a 
landmark element, and would preserve the viewer’s ability to recognise 
and appreciate the Strategically Important Landmark, the ToL WHS, in 
accordance with London Plan policy HC4 and Local Plan policy CS13 
(1).  

164. The proposal would preserve views of St Botolph’s Church, a Skyline 
Feature, and the ToL WHS, a City Landmark, in accordance with Local 
Plan Policy CS12 (2) and associated guidance in the Protected Views 
SPD.  

Archaeology  
165. The site is an area of archaeological potential, to the east of the Roman 

city wall, to the south of the main road out of Aldgate, and within the 
Eastern Roman Cemetery.  Almost all investigations in the area have 
recorded Roman remains, including many burials.  Evidence of post-
medieval developments has also been widely found, in the form of cellar 
walls and floors, pits and drains.  

166. The potential for archaeological remains is high, however, their potential 
survival is low due to the ‘cut and cover’ London Underground Line 
tunnel in the north part of the site. The south and central part of the site 
was redeveloped in the 1970s, and recent investigations confirm no 
survival in this area. Elsewhere there is potential that archaeological 
remains survive, but the level of survival is uncertain.  

167. The proposed development entails the demolition of all the existing 
buildings on the site; including 62 Aldgate High Street and 1 Little 
Somerset Street (Still and Star Public House), both of early/mid-19th 
century date, and the construction of a multi-storey office building.  The 
southern half of the proposed building would have a two-storey 
basement with piled foundations. The northern half would overlie the 
existing London Underground Line and a main sewer; no basement is 
proposed, and the building would be cantilevered over the tunnel and 
sewer, supported by large diameter piles. 

168. The proposed development would have an impact on archaeological 
remains within the site, except where archaeological remains are known 
to have previously been removed. The revisions to the scheme include 

Page 74



 
 

alterations to basements and foundations which raise no new 
archaeological issues. 

169. Conditions are recommended to cover a programme of archaeological 
work, foundation design and building recording.  

Access  
170. The scheme is supported by a comprehensive Access Report by David 

Bonnett Associates. Detailed consideration has been given to access 
issues in the design of the scheme line with polices D5 of the London 
Plan, DM10.8 of the Local Plan and S8 of the emerging City. 

171. As set out in the consultation section of the report the City’s Access 
Officer has queried matters relating to landscaping design and materials, 
terraces, door widths and the location of the pass door.  Further details 
of the matters raised will be required by condition and addressed at 
detailed design stage. 

Transport and Highways 
Cycling  
172. London Plan policy T5 requires cycle parking be provided at least in 

accordance with the minimum requirements published in the plan. Policy 
T5 requires cycle parking to be designed and laid out in accordance with 
guidance contained in the London Cycling Design Standards and that 
developments should cater for larger cycles, including adapted cycles for 
disabled people. 

173. The proposed cycle parking provision has been increased in line with the 
increase in floorspace when compared to the RTG scheme.  The London 
Plan requires 448 long stay cycle parking spaces, based on 1 space per 
75sqm of office floor space. The applicant is proposing policy compliant 
long stay cycle parking in the form of 448 spaces.  

174. The long stay cycle parking would be accessed via cycle lifts located on 
the ground floor of the office building, at the Little Somerset Street 
frontage. 

175. The London Plan requires 56 short stay cycle parking spaces as part of 
the revised scheme. The applicant is proposing 56 short stay cycle 
parking spaces on the public realm around the site.  The scheme is 
therefore policy compliant in respect of short stay cycle parking. 

176. 5% of the cycle parking spaces are accessible for adapted cycles and 
this arrangement will be secured by planning condition (in line with 
London Plan Policy T5 cycling B, with the London Cycling Design 
Standards 8.2.1, and the emerging City Plan 6.3.24). 

177. To complement the cycle parking, the revised proposals includes 40 
showers and 400 lockers. The locker provision is in accordance with the 
London Plan policy, paragraph 10.5.7, which recommends a minimum of 
2 lockers per 3 long-stay spaces. The shower provision is slightly below 
(9 showers) London Plan policy, paragraph 10.5.7 requirement, which is 

Page 75



 
 

at least 1 shower per 10 long-stay spaces. This is considered to be 
acceptable given the basement constraints.  

178. The applicant will be responsible for promoting the use of the cycle 
parking spaces and as such will be required by planning condition to 
produce a Cycling Promotion Plan, which is a cycling focused Travel 
Plan. It will be submitted to the City for approval in line with London Plan 
policy T4 and paragraph 10.4.3. 

Car Parking 
179. Local Plan 2015 Policy DM16.5 – 1 and Draft City Plan 2036 policy VT3 

– 1 require development in the City to be car-free except for designated 
Blue Badge spaces. 

180. As per the RTG scheme the proposed development would be car free 
except for 11 blue badge car parking spaces, which is the overall 
provision for the office, residential and hotel parts of this development 
approved in the 2016 scheme. The 11 blue badge spaces are split 
between the office, residential and hotel - 4 of the blue badge spaces are 
to be dedicated as residential spaces. Therefore, a total of 7 blue badge 
spaces would be shared between the proposed office development and 
the consented hotel. This is as existing in the previous permission and 
as the design of the basement has not changed, the proposed 
arrangement is acceptable. 

Servicing and Deliveries 
181. Policy DM16.5 of the Local Plan and draft City Plan 2036 Policy VT2 – 1 

require developments to be designed to allow for on-site servicing. 
Policy VT2 – 2 requires major commercial development to provide for 
freight consolidation. Policy VT2 – 4 requires delivery to and servicing of 
new developments to take place outside peak hours (7am – 10am, 12pm 
– 2pm and 4pm – 7pm on weekdays) and requires justification where 
deliveries within peak hours are considered necessary. 

182. The proposed servicing arrangements would remain as per the RTG 
scheme.  The servicing of the building would take place off-street in the 
basement. The dedicated servicing space for the office development is 
part of a shared servicing area for the wider hotel, residential and office 
development that was approved under the 2016 scheme (access to the 
basement servicing area would be secured through the S.106 
agreement). The servicing area is accessed via a ramp from Little 
Somerset Street. Vehicles would be able to enter and exit the servicing 
area in forward gear. 

183. The servicing area would accommodate 2 vehicles up to 10m in size, 
these 2 dedicated loading bays are for the exclusive use of the office 
and associated retail land uses. 

184. Off-site consolidation of deliveries would be used and as such the 
number of vehicles arriving at the site would be capped at 35 per day.  
This would be secured through the Section 106 agreement.  

Page 76



 
 

185. Waste collection for the office building would take place in the same way 
as all other servicing vehicles and would be included in the daily cap of 
35 vehicles. 

186. The Still and Star pub would also be serviced from within the basement. 
187. There is an existing condition for the site in respect of the 2016 

permission which states: “No servicing of any of the premises hereby 
permitted shall be carried out between the hours of 23:00 on one day 
and 07:00 on the following day from Monday to Saturday and between 
23:00 on Saturday and 07:00 on the following Monday and on Bank 
Holidays. Servicing includes the loading and unloading of goods from 
vehicles and putting rubbish outside the building.” These servicing 
restrictions would remain in place due to the proximity of the site and the 
hotel to residential premises. 

188. The development should be accompanied by a delivery and servicing 
plan (DSP), and this would be secured through the s.106 agreement. 

Public Transport 
189. The site has the highest level of public transport provision with a public 

transport accessibility level (PTAL) of 6B. 
190. The site is located close to Aldgate, Aldgate East, Liverpool Street and 

Tower Hill underground stations. The site is located close to the DLR 
and national rail services at Liverpool Street and Fenchurch Street. The 
site is close to several bus routes running on Aldgate High Street. 

Pedestrian Comfort 
191. Some pedestrian comfort analysis has been carried out to account for 

the uplift in floorspace which demonstrates that the areas along Aldgate 
High Street would achieve a PCL of A+ during the AM and PM peak 
periods.  As per the RTG scheme it is considered that the footways 
around the site have sufficient capacity to accommodate pedestrian 
movements comfortably.   

192. Footway widths around the east, west and southern sides of the 
development would range from  3.2 m to 4.5 m enabling generous 
north/south and east/west walking routes that tie in with the wider 
redevelopment of the area secured under the 2014 planning permission. 

193. The submitted Transport Assessment indicates that the overall increase 
in trips across all modes would have a minimal impact on the 
surrounding highway and public transport network capacities.   

Public Realm and highway implications 
194. As set out above the public realm and permeability around the site would 

be improved as a result of the development. 
195. In this revised scheme the design concept at the end of the Little 

Somerset Street is still proposed to be a shared amenity space that is 
less dominated by vehicles. Vehicles turning into Little Somerset Street 
would not risk collision with the building due to the carefully placed street 
furniture, which would be designed by the City of London in agreement 

Page 77



 
 

with the applicant.  This would need to be wholly funded by the 
developer and secured by agreement. 

196. The arcade on the route from Aldgate High Street to Little Somerset 
Street would be at a height above 5.7m and this would be dedicated as 
public highway.  The arcade at the front of the building, along its 
northern edge adjacent to Aldgate High Street and the arcade on the 
south eastern side of the building would have a height below 5.7 m.  In 
the revised proposal it has been agreed by the applicant to dedicate 
these arcaded areas as public highway subject to further discussions 
with the City’s transportation team. 

197. The new pedestrian route may require Hostile Vehicle Measures, which 
would need to be sensitively designed within street furniture where 
possible. The final HVM design and its full funding by the developer 
would be agreed by planning condition and in collaboration with the City 
of London through a Section 278 agreement. 

198. Undersailing is not usually accepted under public highway at a depth of 
less than 1.2m to facilitate utilities in the public highway. Due to the 
constraints of the site, the connection to the existing basement, and the 
proximity to underground rail lines, the basement is proposed at a height 
less than 1.2m below the public highway as per the RTG scheme. The 
undersail will need to go through Technical Approval with the City of 
London’s District Surveyor, and receive sign off by the highway 
department, but in principle due to the constraints of the site, the 
undersail would be acceptable. 

Stopping Up 
199. Due to the amended configuration of the ground floor area, the proposed 

stopping up arrangements would be revised when compared to the RTG 
scheme.  It is proposed that a minimum of 472 sqm of public highway 
would need to be stopped up.   

200. Under the RTG scheme it was considered that the existing open space 
fronting Aldgate High Street would need to be stopped up (total stopping 
up required under the RTG scheme was 636.8 sqm).  This is land jointly 
owned by the applicant and TfL, which was considered to have become 
public highway as a result of long and uninterrupted use.  The applicant 
has undertaken further investigation as to the status of this area and has 
had discussions with the City’s transportation team.  There is a 
possibility that the area could be permissive path.  Furthermore, it is not 
shown as public highway on the City’s mapping system.   

201. Following ongoing investigation, should the area in question be deemed 
to be permissive path then the stopping up for the revised scheme would 
be 472 sqm.  Should it be concluded that the area is public highway then 
the total stopping up for the revised scheme would be 699 sqm.  This 
extent of stopping up would be largely comparable to the RTG and 2014 
schemes.  All be it the proposed scheme would dedicate more public 
highway and provide an increase in public realm as set out in the 
following paragraphs. 

Page 78



 
 

202. To balance the stopping up new and enhanced public routes and public 
realm would be provided, a minimum of 300 sqm would be dedicated as 
public highway.  This would include the route linking Aldgate High Street 
to Little Somerset Street.  The applicant would be agreeable to 
dedicating a further 184 sqm of area as public highway but this would be 
subject to agreement from the City’s transportation team given the 
additional areas would not meet the City’s highway requirements i.e. the 
height of the routes at certain points would be below 5.7 m.   

203. The revised scheme would provide an uplift in public realm of 83 sqm 
and 203 sqm when taking into consideration proposed ground level 
planters when compared to the RTG scheme. 

204. Numerous swept path analysis have been conducted to ensure the 
stopping up will not impact negatively on large vehicles that want to use 
the redesigned Little Somerset Street, and we are satisfied that the 
proposals for Little Somerset Street would enhance the environment for 
people walking and cycling and would not detrimentally impact the use of 
the street for drivers. 

205. As was the case with the RTG scheme, the proposed stopping up and 
reconfiguration of Little Somerset Street would make turning for vehicles 
tighter than the existing arrangement. However successful access and 
manoeuvres for all vehicles has been demonstrated by swept path 
analysis. Further, the applicant does not expect many vehicles larger 
than a 7.5t box van to service the adjoining buildings using Little 
Somerset Street given their previous traffic counts and traffic monitoring 
surveys and this assessment is agreed. Given the data produced by the 
traffic counts and the swept path analysis the proposed changes to Little 
Somerset Street, including tightening of the carriageway, is not 
considered a concern for the scheme, and are considered a benefit of 
the scheme, and will be fully funded by the developer as part of a 
Section 278 agreement. 

206. The Stopping Up would be subject to the statutory consultation process. 
Should the stopping up order raise objections which, the applicant 
cannot resolve, your committee would need to consider any outstanding 
objections and decide whether or not to make the Stopping Up Order. 

207. The Court has authorised the Town Clerk to make stopping up orders 
that are not opposed, and he has delegated this authority to the Director 
of the Built Environment. Opposed stopping up orders are, however, 
reported to your Committee to determine. 

Section 278 Agreement 
208. As per the RTG scheme the applicant has agreed to enter into a section 

278 agreement which would need to be secured in the S.106 
Agreement. The Section 278 agreement would include, but would not be 
limited to works to the footway and carriageway on Little Somerset 
Street, works to the footway on Aldgate High Street, the provision of a 
new pedestrian route between Aldgate High Street and Little Somerset 
Street, the dedication of the new pedestrian routes, appropriate HVM, 
and other works to complement the scheme. The Section 278 works 

Page 79



 
 

would extend south on Little Somerset Street to include improvements 
past the service entrance for the development. 

209. There is a separate agreement with TfL to provide a new crossing on 
Mansell Street to improve the pedestrian crossing facilities in the area. 

210. The Section 278 works would be in line with the 10 Healthy Streets 
indicators, the City of London Transport Strategy and City of London’s 
Public Realm vision. This would be secured through the Section 106 
agreement. 

Construction Logistics Plan  
211. The submission of a deconstruction logistics plan and construction 

logistics plan will be secured by condition. The logistics arrangements 
will be developed in consultation with the City’s Highways Licensing and 
Traffic Management teams to minimise the disruption to neighbouring 
occupiers and other highway users. 

Transport and Highways conclusion 
212. The proposal would promote active travel through the provision of cycle 

parking and would deliver benefit by consolidating freight and providing 
public realm improvements. The proposal would accord with the relevant 
transportation related policies including London Plan policies T5 cycle 
parking, T6 car parking, T7 deliveries, servicing and construction, and 
D11 Safety, security, and resilience to emergency.  It accords with the 
Local Plan 2015 Policies DM3.2 and DM16.5, and the draft City Plan 
2036 Policies AT1 – 5, SA3, VT2, and VT3.  As per the RTG scheme the 
proposed stopping up would be offset by the dedication of new areas of 
public highway and enhancements in the public realm. 

Environmental Sustainability  
Circular Economy  
213. London Plan Policy SI7 (‘Reducing waste and supporting the circular 

economy’) sets out a series of circular economy principles that major 
development proposals are expected to follow.  Emerging City Plan 2036 
Policy S16 sets out the City’s support for Circular Economy principles.  

214. The submitted Draft Circular Economy Statement describes the strategic 
approach to incorporating circularity principles and actions according to 
the GLA Circular Economy Guidance.  

215. The existing buildings on site cannot be retained for the proposed 
development. The area available to construct the basement levels is 
heavily constrained by the London Underground tunnels passing across 
the site to the north. The existing single storey basement occupies an 
area that would be needed to construct the two basement levels for the 
required plant. The scale and form of the existing buildings or 
superstructures on site would not be able to be designed into the 
proposed new form and scale of the development, and their demolition is 
required in order to remove the basement.  

Page 80



 
 

216. The proposed development intends to follow best practice principles in 
the design and construction with the overarching aims of reducing 
material usage, minimising waste, and embedding longevity, flexibility, 
adaptability and demountability. These include: 

• A sustainable procurement plan to guide material selections, including 
those that are responsibly sourced and of low carbon impact 

• A site waste management plan with on-site waste facilities sized to 
accommodate predicted waste streams from the development 

• Comparative analyses of different structural design options 
• Reduction of material use, e.g. 20% savings in steel consumption 

through design development 
• Designing in flexibility in use. 

217. Details are contained in the submitted Circular Economy Statement and 
their confirmation will be secured by condition in an update to be 
submitted after the detailed design phases. This assessment will be 
required to demonstrate that the relevant targets set out in the GLA 
Circular Economy Guidance can be and have been met. 

218. A post-completion update in line with the Mayor’s guidance on Circular 
Economy Assessments to confirm that high aspirations have been 
achieved is also requested by condition.  

Operational Energy use and C02 emissions 
219. The Energy Statement accompanying the planning application 

demonstrates that the development has been designed to achieve an 
overall 39.1% reduction in regulated carbon emissions compared with a 
Building Regulations compliant building, based on SAP 10 carbon 
factors as required by the GLA. The strategy includes both the office 
floorspace and the new public house. 

220. The proposed energy demand reduction strategy would reduce the 
building’s operational carbon emissions by 8.4% compared to a Building 
Regulations compliant building.  

221. Overheating is addressed by incorporating high levels of insulation, 
supported by mechanical ventilation and cooling systems operated by 
Air Source Heat Pumps and fan coil units. Ventilation heat recovery 
would further reduce energy demand. Optimised glazing to solid ratios, 
shading fins and urban greening would reduce solar gain and heat loss.  

222. There is currently no available district heating network close enough to 
the site. The opportunity to connect to this or another future district 
heating network has been incorporated into the proposed development 
and would be secured by condition. 

223. Renewable energy technologies are proposed in form of Air Source Heat 
Pumps for space heating. In addition, a Photovoltaic Panel array with an 
area of 387 sqm  would be installed on the roof. These technologies 

Page 81



 
 

would contribute carbon emissions savings of 30.7% compared to a 
Building Regulations compliant building. 

224. Carbon emission savings from unregulated energy uses (e.g. from 
appliances/cooking) that are not considered under the Building 
Regulations would be encouraged through measures such as energy 
efficient appliances and equipment, controls, high efficiency vertical 
transportation, promoting the use of stairs and good management 
practice. 

225. The site-wide energy strategy would comply with the minimum London 
Plan carbon emission reduction target for major new development.  

BREEAM 
226. A BREEAM New Construction 2018 pre-assessment has been prepared. 

The proposed development targets an “excellent” rating.  This is an 
improvement on the RTG scheme which would have achieved a “very 
good” rating under the 2018 BREEAM assessment. 

227. The assumptions made as part of the pre-assessment indicate that the 
proposals can meet all the mandatory level requirements for the targeted 
rating including a score of ≥70%.  The pre-assessment indicates a score 
of 75.1% and aims to achieve a high number of credits in the CoL’s 
priority categories of Energy, Water, Pollution and Materials. In 
particular, further credits can typically be achieved in the Materials 
category. 

228. The BREEAM pre-assessment results comply with Local Plan Policy 
CS15 and draft City Plan 2036 Policy DE1. A post construction BREEAM 
assessment is requested by condition. 

Whole Life-Cycle carbon emissions    
229. London Plan Policy SI 2 (Minimising greenhouse gas emissions) 

requires applicants for development proposals referable to the Mayor 
(and encouraging the same for all major development proposals as is 
the case in this instance given that the scheme is non referable) to 
submit a Whole Life-Cycle Carbon assessment against each life-cycle 
module, relating to the product sourcing stage, construction stage, the 
building in use stage and the end-of-life stage. The assessment captures 
a building’s operational carbon emissions from both regulated and 
unregulated energy use, as well as its embodied carbon emissions, and 
it takes into account potential carbon emissions benefits from the reuse 
or recycling of components after the end of the building’s life. The 
assessment is therefore closely related to the Circular Economy 
assessment that sets out the contribution of the reuse and recycling of 
existing building materials on site and of such potentials of the proposed 
building materials, as well as the longevity, flexibility and adaptability of 
the proposed design on the Whole Life-Cycle Carbon emissions of the 
building. The Whole Life-Cycle Carbon assessment is therefore an 
important tool to achieve the Mayor’s net-carbon city target. 

230. The submitted Whole Life-Cycle carbon strategy focusses on reducing 
material consumption in the planned sub and superstructure through a 

Page 82



 
 

hung steel structure and the use of cement replacements and recycled 
content in the façade materials. The applicants will consider further 
opportunities to reduce carbon emissions during the ongoing design 
development by maximising, recycled content, and in the product 
specification.  A further detailed Whole Life Cycle Carbon assessment is 
required by condition prior to commencement of any works. 

231. The estimated Whole Life-Cycle carbon emissions are shown in the 
table below in context of current industry benchmarks. 

232. Embodied carbon emissions relating to the life-cycle modules of 
development (ref. GLA’s draft Whole Life-Cycle Carbon Assessments 
Guidance, page 9): 

Scope 
Proposed 
Redevelopment 

Benchmark Benchmark 
Source 

RICS 
Components 

kgCO2/m2 kgCO2/m2  

A1-A5 
 
784 

1000 GLA 
Standard 

600 GLA 
Aspirational 

600 LETI 2020 
Design 

350 LETI 2030 
Design 

A–C 
(excluding B6-
B7) 

 
 
 
1158 
 

1500 GLA 
Standard 

1400 RIBA 
Business as 
Usual 

1180 RIBA 2021 
Good 

970 RIBA 2025 

900 GLA 
Aspirational 

750 RIBA 2030 

Page 83



 
 

A-C 
(including B6-
B7) 

 
1884 

  

233. Over the proposed building’s whole life-cycle, the embodied carbon 
emissions calculations at planning stage show that the development 
could achieve a level between the GLA’s Standard and Aspirational 
Benchmark. In addition, the future grid decarbonisation would reduce the 
operational carbon emissions from 66% to 39% as a proportion of the 
Whole Life-Cycle carbon. It is anticipated that during the detailed design 
stage further improvements can be achieved, and a detailed Whole Life-
Cycle carbon assessment incorporating improvements that can be 
achieved through the detailed design stage, and a confirmation of the 
post-construction results have been requested by conditions. 

Urban Greening and Biodiversity  
234. Local Plan Policy DM19.2 promotes Urban Greening and Biodiversity, 

DM 10.2 (Design of green roofs and walls) and 10.3 (Roof gardens and 
terraces) encourages high quality roof gardens and terraces.  

235. The proposed ecology and urban greening strategy is aimed at not only 
providing wildlife habitats but also enhancing surface water 
management, health and wellbeing, and reducing urban heat island 
effects. The proposed building would introduce green roofs, green walls 
(through climbers), landscaped terraces and ground level planting as 
well as overall approx. 60 new trees. 

236. Details of the quality and maintenance of the proposed urban greening 
are required by condition.  

237. The Urban Greening Factor (UGF) for this application has been 
calculated at 0.36 (CoL methodology) based on the information 
provided, which exceeds the City’s draft Local Plan UGF target of 0.3 for 
commercial development and is a marginal improvement on the RTG’s 
UGF (0.35). 

238. Biodiversity features are proposed including ten bird boxes, two insect 
hotels and four ecological features (drilled logs, rocks and log piles) on 
the biodiverse roof.  Biodiversity area based habitats include green 
walls, green roof and planters at ground level.  Further details of the 
measures would be required by condition.   

239. The proposed greening and biodiversity measures are considered to 
accord with policies DM19.2, DM10.2 and DM10.3 of the Local Plan.  

Climate Change Resilience 

Water resources 

240. The internal water consumption of the proposed development will be 
significantly reduced through the use of water efficient fixtures and 
fittings as well as a leak detection system. 

Page 84



 
 

241. Rainwater harvesting systems will be incorporated into the scheme to 
serve the irrigation systems and non-potable supplies to the Landlords 
WC’s. Due to spatial constraints within the basement footprint, the 
rainwater harvesting systems will be provided with a backup potable 
domestic water supply to ensure continuous operation of the irrigation 
and non-potable systems during dry periods. 

Flooding 

242. To reduce surface water run-off, the development would incorporate a 
combination of intensive and extensive green roofs on the terraces. The 
rainwater harvesting system would contribute to reducing rainwater run-
off. 

243. A Thames Water combined sewer located close to the site would provide 
unrestricted discharge of surface water. 

Heat Stress 

244. The sustainability and energy statement outlines measures to prevent 
overheating by including natural ventilation openings combined with 
mechanical ventilation, optimised glazing to solid ratio, façade integrated 
solar shading fins and exoskeleton and urban greening to cool the 
facades. These measures will reduce the need for carbon intensive air 
conditioning and will help to make the building resilient to higher 
temperatures and urban heat island effects. 

Natural Capital and Pest & Diseases 

245. The proposed development will incorporate green infrastructure and 
enhance biodiversity by creating opportunities for a variation of 
landscaping, planting types and habitats, as well as green roofs and 
terraces. The soil types and plant species would be selected to avoid 
pest and diseases. The details of the landscape planting will be 
important in ensuring that the plants and habitats created are resilient to 
hotter dryer summers, warmer wetter winter, more extreme weather 
events and pests and diseases. 

246. Overall, this development includes a range of measures which will 
improve its resilience to climate change. Details of these measures will 
determine how effectively the building performs in coming decades, and 
conditions are attached to seek more detailed modelling and planting 
plans against the UK Climate Projections UKCP18 to 2080. 

Sustainability Conclusion 
247. The City of London Climate Action Strategy supports the delivery of a 

net zero, climate resilient City. The agreed actions most relevant to the 
planning process relate to the development of a renewable energy 
strategy in the Square Mile, to the consideration of embedding carbon 
analysis, circular economy principles and climate resilience measures 
into development proposals and to the promotion of the importance of 

Page 85



 
 

green spaces and urban greening as natural carbon sinks, and their 
contribution to biodiversity and overall wellbeing. 

248. The proposed development, by way of its central location within London, 
its opportunities for providing a positive and healthy work/life 
environment, and its environmental credentials, would positively 
contribute to the economic, social and environmental sustainability of the 
City of London. The proposed sustainability strategy overall meets 
current London Plan policies as well as Local Plan policies, and it targets 
an “excellent” BREEAM assessment rating.  

249. The proposals indicate that Whole Life-Cycle Carbon emissions can be 
significantly reduced, improving on the GLA’s standard benchmark. 
Circular Economy principles can be positively applied to achieve a long 
term, robust, low carbon, flexible and adaptable development. The 
building design responds well to climate change resilience by reducing 
solar gain, incorporating natural ventilation, water saving measures and 
various opportunities for urban greening and biodiversity, while low 
energy technologies would be employed to reduce operational carbon 
emissions in line with London Plan requirements. 

Air Quality  
250. Local Plan 2015 policy CS15 seeks to ensure that developments 

positively address air quality. Policy DE1 of the draft City Plan 2036 
states that London Plan carbon emissions and air quality requirements 
should be met on sites and policy HL2 requires all developments to be at 
least Air Quality Neutral, developers will be expected to install non- 
combustion energy technology where available, construction and 
deconstruction must minimise air quality impacts and all combustion 
flues should terminate above the roof height of the tallest part of the 
development. The requirements to positively address air quality and be 
air quality neutral are supported by policy SI of the London Plan. 

251. The submitted air quality assessment shows that the transport and 
building-related emissions associated with the proposed development 
are below the relevant benchmarks. As such, the proposed development 
would comply with the requirement that all new developments in London 
should be at least air quality neutral. 

252. The construction works would have the potential to create dust and it 
may be necessary to implement mitigation measures. A condition is 
recommended that requires the submission of a Scheme of Protective 
works to be submitted prior to the commencement of development. 

Environmental Impact of Proposals on Surrounding Area 
253. Local Plan policy DM10.1 requires the design of development and 

materials used should ensure that unacceptable wind impacts at street 
level and in the public realm be avoided, and to avoid intrusive solar 
glare effects and to minimise light pollution. Policy DM10.7 is to resist 
development which will noticeably reduce daylight and sunlight to nearby 
dwellings and open spaces. Draft City Plan 2036 Strategic Policy S8 and 

Page 86



 
 

Policy DE2 requires developments to optimise microclimatic conditions 
addressing solar glare, daylight and sunlight, wind conditions and 
thermal comfort. Policy CS10 of the Local Plan seeks to ensure that 
buildings are designed to be appropriate to the amenities of surrounding 
buildings.   

Daylight and Sunlight 

Assessment Context 

254. Officers consider that the applicant has completed a comprehensive 
daylight and sunlight assessment of the potential impact of the revised 
scheme to surrounding residential buildings and open spaces having 
regard to the recommendations in BRE Report 209, Site Layout Planning 
for Daylight and Sunlight: A guide to good practice (second edition, 
2011). 

255. Policy D6(d) of the London Plan states that the design of development 
should provide sufficient daylight and sunlight to new and surrounding 
housing that is appropriate for its context whilst avoiding overheating, 
minimising overshadowing, and maximising the usability of outdoor 
amenity space. 

256. Regarding the Local Plan, policy DM10.7 seeks to resist development 
that would reduce noticeably the daylight and sunlight available to 
nearby dwellings and open spaces to unacceptable levels, taking 
account of the Building Research Establishment’s (BRE) guidelines.  
The BRE guidance acknowledges that ideal daylight and sunlight 
conditions may not be practicable in densely developed city-centre 
locations.  Policy DM12.3 of the Local Plan states that proposals should 
seek to protect daylighting and sun lighting levels to adjacent residential 
accommodation. 

257. Paragraph 3.10.41 of the Local Plan and Policy HS3 of the Draft City 
Plan 2036 state that when considering proposed changes to existing 
lighting levels, the City Corporation will take into account the cumulative 
effect of development proposals.   

258. The BRE guidelines set out the following methodologies for assessing 
the impact of development on the daylight to existing dwellings: 

Daylight to windows: Vertical Sky Component (VSC): a measure of the 
amount of sky visible from a centre point of a window. The VSC test is the 
main test used to assess the impact of a development on neighbouring 
properties. A window that achieves 27% or more is considered to provide 
good levels of light, but if with the proposed development in place the 
figure is both less than 27% and reduced by 20% or more from the existing 
level (0.8 times the existing value), the loss would be noticeable.  

Daylight Distribution: No Sky Line (NSL): The distribution of daylight within 
a room is measured by the no sky line, which separates the areas of the 

Page 87



 
 

room (usually measured in sq. ft) at a working height (usually 0.85m) that 
do and do not have a direct view of the sky. The BRE guidelines states 
that if with the proposed development in place the level of daylight 
distribution in a room is reduced by 20% or more from the existing level 
(0.8 times the existing value), the loss would be noticeable. The BRE 
advises that this measurement should be used to assess daylight within 
living rooms, dining rooms and kitchens; bedrooms should also be 
analysed although they are considered less important. 

259. The BRE Guide recommends compliance with both the VSC and NSL 
guidelines. 

260. In the BRE guidelines, sunlight levels are calculated for all main living 
rooms in dwellings if they have a window facing within 90 degrees of due 
south. Kitchens and bedrooms are considered less important although 
care should be taken not to block too much sun. The BRE guidance 
explains that sunlight availability may be adversely affected if the centre 
of the window:  

• Receives less than 25% of annual probable sunlight hours (APSH), or 
less than 5% APSH between 21 September and 21 March; and  

• Receives less than 0.8 times its former sunlight hours (as result of a 
proposed development) during either period; and  

• Has a reduction in sunlight hours received over the whole year greater 
than 4% of annual probable sunlight hours. 

261. To clarify, all three of the above criteria need to be met for there to be a 
noticeable reduction in the sunlight that can be received (at the centre of 
the window that has been assessed).  

262. The BRE guidelines advises that if the available sunlight hours are both 
less than 25% ASPH annually and 5% APSH in winter and less than 0.8 
times their former value, either over the whole year or just in the winter 
months (21 September to 21 March) then the occupants of the existing 
building would notice the loss of sunlight; if the overall/absolute annual 
loss of sunlight is greater than 4% of APSH, the room may appear colder 
and less pleasant.  

Assessment Approach 
263. The applicant has provided the following three assessment scenarios in 

conjunction with the revised scheme: 
- The proposed scenario – existing site conditions vs. the proposed 

scheme; 

- The comparison scenario – the RTG scheme vs. the revised scheme; 

- The cumulative scenario – existing site condition vs the revised scheme 
and the development that is currently pending consideration at 55 – 56 
Aldgate High Street (app ref. 21/00313/FULMAJ). 

Page 88



 
 

264. In undertaking assessments a judgement is made as to the level of 
impact on affected windows and rooms.  Where there is a less than 20% 
change (in VSC, NSL or APSH) the effect is judged to not be noticeable.  
Between 20 – 30% it is judged to be minor adverse, 30 – 40% moderate 
adverse and over 40% major adverse.  All these figures will be impacted 
by factors such as existing levels of daylight and sunlight and on- site 
conditions.  The judgements that arise from these percentages are 
drawn from approaches to environmental impact assessment and have 
become part of an industry standard utilised by Daylight and Sunlight 
specialists (all be it this application is not an environmental impact 
assessment case).  It is for the Local Planning Authority to decide 
whether any losses result in a reduction in amenity which is or is not 
acceptable. 

265. It should be noted that where there are existing low levels of daylight in 
the baseline figures any change in measured levels can be described in 
two ways to give a more complete picture.  These are: 

- Percentage change (e.g. 10% reduced to 8% = 20% reduction); and 

- Actual/Absolute change (10% reduced to 8% = 2% change) 

Properties and Areas Assessed 
266. The following properties and amenity areas have been included within 

the assessment: 
- 1 – 143 Guinness Court (residential) 

- Iveagh Court (residential) 

- 47 Aldgate High Street (residential) 

- 73 – 75 Aldgate High Street (residential) 

- 55-56 Aldgate High Street/3 Little Somerset Street (existing scenario and 
scenario currently proposed under application ref. 21/00313/FULMAJ -  
Demolition of existing building at 55-56 Aldgate High Street and erection 
of replacement ground plus 13-storey mixed-use building comprising; 287 
sqm (GIA) of office floorspace (Use Class E) at basement, ground and 
first floor levels; 41no. residential units (Class C3); office terrace at first 
floor level; residential balconies, landscaping and cycle parking, and 
associated works.) 

- 53 – 54 Aldgate High Street (residential) 

- 48 – 49 Aldgate High Street (residential) 

- 140 Minories (residential) 

- Amenity space adjacent to Guinness Court (existing scenario) 

- Amenity space to be delivered as part of application ref. adjacent to the 
hotel development, residential development and Guinness Court 

Page 89



 
 

- Aldgate Square 

- Gardens of St Botolph Without Aldgate 

267. The applicant is aware that 150 Minories contains residential units, 
however they do not face the development site and therefore have not 
been included in the analysis. 

268. The following properties adhere to the numerical values set out within 
the BRE Guidelines.  It is considered that there would therefore be no 
noticeable reductions in daylight and sunlight to them and they are not 
discussed further: 

- 140 Minories 

- Iveagh Court 

- 53 – 54 Aldgate High Street (with the exception of the cumulative 
scenario) 

- 48 – 49 Aldgate High Street  

Daylight and Sunlight Assessment to Residential Properties 

1 – 43 Guinness Court 

269. 1 – 43 Guinness Court are residential properties to the southeast of the 
site.    

VSC Analysis 
270. The VSC analysis for existing site conditions versus the revised 

development, show that of the 293 tested windows 279 (95%) would be 
BRE compliant.   

271. 14 windows show transgressions from the BRE Guidelines.  The 
transgressions can be categorised as follows: 10 between 20 – 30% 
(minor adverse), 1 between 30 – 40% (moderate adverse) and 3 over 
40% (major adverse).   

272. Of the minor adverse impacts six windows would maintain VSCs in the 
mid teens (13.2% to 17.5% serving 3 bedrooms, 2 living rooms, 1 
kitchen).  The applicant has cited examples of developments in London 
including the Whitechapel Estate appeal and Monmouth House where 
VSCs in the mid teens have been ruled as acceptable for inner city high 
density environments recognising that the 27% BRE daylight target is 
derived from a low density suburban housing model.   

273. Of the remaining windows that transgress (excluding the six minor 
adverse transgressions referred to the in the paragraph above), all 
demonstrate very low existing levels of light (3% or below, serving living 
rooms) therefore any slight changes to light levels would give high 
percentage losses.  The absolute VSC reductions for the three major 
adverse impacts would be between 1.1% and 1.8%, for the moderate 
adverse impact it would be 0.8% and for the remaining four minor 
adverse impacts it would be between 0.3% and 0.6%.  These actual 

Page 90



 
 

percentages changes are so low that they would be unlikely to result in 
perceptible changes to daylight. 

274. Furthermore, ten of the 14 windows that experience transgressions (two 
of the major adverse, one moderate adverse and seven minor adverse) 
would serve rooms with a BRE compliant NSL. 

275. When comparing the VSC results for the RTG scheme and the revised 
scheme, they have the same impact on the windows that transgress with 
very low existing light levels (i.e. the three major adverse impacts, one 
moderate adverse impact and the four minor adverse impacts).  The 
revised scheme has slightly higher daylight losses (absolute changes 
between 0.4% and 0.6%) than the RTG scheme on six of the windows 
that experience minor adverse transgressions, all be it not to a material 
degree.  Furthermore, these are the windows that would maintain VSCs 
around the mid-teens even as a result of the revised proposal as set out 
above. 

NSL Analysis 
276. When considering the NSL analysis, 252 out of the 256 tested rooms 

show compliance to the suggested values within the BRE Guidelines.  Of 
the four rooms that show transgressions, two show transgressions 
between 20 – 30% (minor adverse, two bedrooms) and two show 
transgressions between 30 – 40% (moderate adverse, one living room 
and one bedroom).  Three out of the four rooms that would experience 
transgressions are bedrooms, which the BRE guidance considers as 
being less important than kitchens, living rooms and dining rooms.  The 
affected living room would experience an actual percentage reduction in 
daylight of 4.5% and a percentage loss of 31%.  Notwithstanding, even 
as a result of the development the living room would retain an NSL of 
over 50% therefore the majority of the room would still have a view of the 
sky. 

277. When comparing the NSL results for the RTG and revised scheme, the 
impact on the NSL result for the affected living room would be the same 
under the RTG and revised scheme.  The transgressions to the three 
affected bedrooms would be marginally increased under the revised 
scheme when compared to the RTG scheme but the change is not 
considered such that it would be material (actual percentage changes of 
0.1% to 0.3%).  However, as set out above bedrooms are considered 
less important under the BRE guidance.        

Sunlight Impact 
278. When assessed against the Annual Sunlight Probable Hours (APSH), all 

the windows relevant for assessment would show full compliance with 
the BRE guidelines.  The same applies for the RTG scenario. 

Existing vs Cumulative Scenario 
279. Where the additional pending proposals at 55-56 Aldgate High Street are 

introduced alongside the proposals, there would be no additional 
windows or rooms that would transgress the BRE Guidelines in VSC and 
NSL for daylight and APSH for sunlight. 

Page 91



 
 

47 Aldgate High Street 
280. 47 Aldgate High Street is the Hoop and Grapes pub to the east of the 

application site.  The applicant has assessed 47 Aldgate High Street for 
the avoidance of doubt as it is thought it could contain ancillary 
residential accommodation on its upper levels, all be it the City’s 
mapping system does not show the property as having a residential 
element.  The applicant’s analysis does not distinguish between 
habitable and non-habitable rooms as the applicant was unable to obtain 
detailed floor plans. 

VSC Analysis 
281. Seven of the 12 assessed windows would be BRE compliant.  Of the five 

transgressions two show transgressions between 20 – 30% (minor 
adverse) and three show transgressions of over 40% (major adverse).  
The actual percentage changes to these windows ranges from 3.1% to 
9.9%, with three of the windows maintaining a VSC in the region of 10 % 
to 14.7%.  These VSC results are considered to be acceptable given the 
inner City location of the development and that there is not thought to be 
permanent residential accommodation on the site. 

282. When comparing the RTG and revised scheme, the revised scheme 
would result in marginally higher daylight losses to 47 Aldgate High 
Street, all be it the difference between the two schemes is not 
considered to be material (actual change ranging from 0.4% to 1.2%).  

NSL Analysis 
283. Of the nine rooms that were tested, four would be BRE compliant.  Four 

rooms would experience transgressions in the region of 20 – 30% (minor 
adverse) and one room would experience a transgression greater than 
40% (major adverse).  One of the rooms that would experience a minor 
adverse impact would maintain a window that would be VSC compliant 
in BRE terms and one of the rooms that would experience a major 
adverse impact would maintain a window with a VSC in the mid teens, 
which is considered to be reasonable for an inner city location.  The 
resultant NSLs would range from 48.5% to 60.9% which are also 
considered to be reasonable for a high density urban location. 

284. When comparing the RTG and revised scheme, the NSL results are 
either the same (upper levels of the building) or similar with an actual 
change of 0.1 % - 0.2%.   The difference between the two schemes is 
not material. 

 
Sunlight Impact 
285. Three out of the eleven relevant tested windows would comply with the 

BRE criteria.  Of the windows that show transgressions seven show 
transgressions over 40% annually, one shows a transgression between 
30 – 40% in winter and five show transgressions over 40% in winter. 

286. The retained level of sunlight for three out of the eight impacted windows 
that see transgressions is at or just below the suggested values noted 

Page 92



 
 

within the BRE Guide for example, one of the windows at second floor 
level would experience transgressions of 40% annually and in winter but 
would retain 24% APSH and 6% WPSH which is just short of the BRE 
suggested value for APSH and over the suggested value for WPSH. 

287. The remaining sunlight transgressions are considered acceptable given 
the site is not in permanent residential use. 

288. The RTG scheme would be broadly comparable in APSH terms.  There 
are two windows that would experience an absolute change of 3% from 
the RTG scheme but in both instances the two windows would remain 
BRE compliant and remain above the minimum 25%. 

Existing vs. Cumulative Scenario 
289. In consideration of the pending proposal at 55-56 Aldgate High Street 

alongside the application scheme, one additional room would transgress 
the BRE guidelines in NSL only.  Notwithstanding, the impacted room 
would still maintain an NSL of 61% which is considered reasonable for a 
high density urban area.  

73 – 75 Aldgate High Street 
290. 73 – 75 Aldgate High Street is to the west of the site.  The layouts of this 

property have been assumed due to a lack of available floor plans. The 
applicant has advised that this property is owned by TfL, the upper parts 
comprise five House in Multiple Occupation units that are currently 
vacant.  The units are vacant as they do not comply with HMO 
regulations and as such TfL are exploring sale or refurbishment.  By way 
of further background, a Certificate of Lawful Development application is 
currently under consideration for the use of the upper floors of this 
building as an office (ref. 22/00117/CLOPD). 

291. This property would not be affected by the cumulative scenario as the 
impact of the proposed scheme at 55 – 56 Aldgate High Street would be 
blocked by the massing of the proposed office development. 

VSC analysis 
292. Of the 34 windows that were assessed, all would experience 

transgressions as a result of the proposed development.  24 would show 
transgressions between 20 – 30 % (minor adverse), seven would show 
transgressions between 30 – 40% (moderate adverse) and three would 
show transgressions of over 40% (major adverse).  Notwithstanding, 31 
of the windows would retain a VSC in the range of 15% - 21.9% which is 
considered reasonable for a high-density urban area. The resultant three 
windows would experience VSCs in the range of 7.1% to 13.1% and 
would serve NSL compliant rooms.  

293. When comparing the RTG and revised scheme the difference in VSC 
impact between the two schemes is not considered to be material with 
absolute changes in VSC ranging from 0.5% to 0.7% between the two 
schemes.   

 

Page 93



 
 

NSL analysis 
294. Of the 19 rooms that were assessed, 18 would comply with the BRE 

guidance.  The single room that shows a transgression would 
experience a transgression between 30 – 40% (moderate adverse).  
This room would still retain an NSL of over 50% and a VSC of 15% 
which is considered reasonable for an urban area. 

295. When comparing the RTG and revised scheme the difference in NSL 
impact between the two schemes is not considered to be material with 
the absolute change in the above NSL result being 0.8 % greater in the 
revised scheme. 

Sunlight Impact 
296. All of the relevant tested windows show full compliance with the BRE 

guidelines.   
297. The impacts of the RTG scheme are not materially different to the 

revised scheme in terms of sunlight available to relevant rooms in 73-75 
Aldgate High Street. 

Existing vs. Cumulative Scenario 
298. In this scenario no additional windows or rooms would transgress the 

BRE guidance in VSC and NSL for daylight and APSH for sunlight. 

55-56 Aldgate High Street/3 Little Somerset Street – Existing Scenario 
299. 55 – 56 Aldgate High Street is immediately adjacent to the east side of 

the application site.  The analysis does not distinguish between habitable 
and non-habitable rooms as the applicant was unable to obtain detailed 
layouts. 

VSC Analysis 
300. Of the 30 windows that were tested 15 would be BRE compliant.  Of the 

15 windows that show transgressions – seven would be between 20% - 
30% (minor adverse) and eight would be between 30 % - 40% 
(moderate adverse).  The resultant VSC for all of the affected rooms 
would be in the mid-teens or above (17% - 23.3%) which is considered 
to be reasonable for a high density urban area. 

NSL Analysis 
301. All ten rooms would be BRE compliant. 
 
Sunlight Impact 
302. Of the 19 windows considered for APSH, 17 would meet the BRE 

guidance for APSH.  The two windows only transgress due to not seeing 
the minimum 5% Winter Probable Sunlight Hours (WPSH).  The 
impacted windows would see 4% WPSH and reasonable levels of APSH 
(32% and 33%) for an urban area.   

303. The impacts of the revised proposal on sunlight to 55-56 Aldgate High 
Street are comparable to the RTG scheme. 

Page 94



 
 

55-56 Aldgate High Street – Proposed Scenario (as currently under 
consideration as part of application 21/00312/FULMAJ) 
304. The impact of the proposal has been assessed on the proposed 

residential development at the adjoining site to the east.   
VSC Analysis 
305. Of the 87 windows that were tested, 67 would be BRE compliant.  Of the 

20 windows that show transgressions – three would be between 20% - 
30% (minor adverse), 12 would be between 30%-40% (moderate 
adverse) and five would be over 40% (major adverse).   

NSL Analysis 
306. Notwithstanding, the VSC transgressions all rooms in the new 

development at 55-56 Aldgate High Street would be NSL compliant with 
the proposed office development in situ.   

Sunlight Impact 
307. Of the 30 windows considered for Annual Probably Sunlight Hours 

(APSH), 15 would meet the BRE guidance for APSH. 

53 – 54 Aldgate High Street Cumulative Scenario 
308. In the existing vs revised scheme scenario, the residential 

accommodation in this building complies with the BRE Guidelines.  
However, in the cumulative scenario, taking account potential 
development at 55 – 56 Aldgate High Street, 2 out of the 6 originally 
compliant windows would transgress VSC and experience minor 
adverse effects of between 20 – 30%.  This is as a result of the 
introduction of the cumulative scheme at 55 – 56 Aldgate high Street as 
opposed to the impact of the proposed scheme. 

Daylight and Sunlight Conclusion 
309. The proposed development would result in some daylight and sunlight 

transgressions to neighbouring residential occupiers and to the rooms to 
the proposed development at 55-56 Aldgate High Street.  Taking into 
account BRE Guidance, the nature of the results (including some low 
existing values), the site’s location within a dense urban environment 
and the types of residential accommodation (i.e. 47 Aldgate High Street 
does not contain permanent residential accommodation, it has been 
tested as there is a possibility it could contain ancillary accommodation), 
it is not considered that the proposal would result in an unacceptable 
impact on the existing properties and would not reduce the daylight and 
sunlight to nearby dwellings to unacceptable levels such that it would 
warrant a refusal of planning permission.  As such, the impact on 
daylight and sunlight as a result of the proposed development is 
considered to be in accordance with development plan policies. In 
designing the development the applicant has sought to protect the 
daylight and sunlight levels to adjacent residential properties and this is 
considered to have been achieved as far as possible. 

Page 95



 
 

Radiance Assessment 
310. A Radiance Assessment has been submitted by the applicant to 

supplement the daylight analysis contained in the submitted daylight and 
sunlight assessment for the development. 

311. A Radiance Assessment is a lighting simulation tool that measures the 
individual ‘daylight factors’ at a number of given points (usually based on 
a grid) within a room (or defined space). This method of assessment 
takes into account the total glazed area to a room, the transmittance 
quality of the glazing, the total area of the room’s internal surfaces, 
including ceilings and floors, and their reflectance values (which may be 
actual or reasonably assumed). The radiance method of assessment 
also takes into account the quantum of light reflected off external 
surfaces, including the ground and nearby buildings.  

312. Whilst there is currently no established guidance regarding what 
constitutes a ‘noticeable’ or ‘significant’ change in daylight when using 
the Radiance methodology, radiance-based assessments can draw 
upon the BRE’s recommended Average Daylight Factor (ADF) target 
values, which recommend an ADF of 5% or more if no supplementary 
electric lighting is to be used within a room, or 2% or more if 
supplementary electric lighting is provided. The BRE guidelines 
recommend the following minimum ADF values for residential properties: 
1% for bedrooms, 1.5% for living rooms and 2% for kitchens. 

313. Radiance assessment results are presented as either floor plans / 3D 
room diagrams colour rendered to illustrate the individual daylight factors 
within a room, which range between 0% and 5%. The colour rendering 
can be supplemented by grey-scale images which represent a Human 
Visual Response (HVR) that correlates with a person’s subjective 
impression of light within a room. In addition, the average value of the 
individual daylight factors within a room can be expressed as an ADF 
percentage for the room as a whole.  

314. It should be noted that the Radiance Assessment undertaken is not 
meant to replace the submitted daylight and sunlight assessment, but to 
provide a further way to illustrate daylight changes within habitable 
rooms in the neighbouring residential properties. 

315. The submitted radiance analysis examines all tested rooms for existing 
vs revised scheme vs RTG scheme scenarios.  The images demonstrate 
that there would be a reduction in daylight to some properties when 
considering the existing versus revised scheme scenario, which 
corroborates with the daylight assessment.  The images demonstrate 
that the impacts of the RTG scheme and revised scheme are 
comparable.  

316. It is however, considered unlikely that the changes illustrated by the 
radiance assessment would lead to any different use of the habitable 
rooms tested, or any meaningful increase in the use of supplementary 
artificial lighting. 

 

Page 96



 
 

Overshadowing  
317. The BRE guidelines suggest that the availability of sunlight should be 

checked for open spaces including public amenity spaces, stating that, 
for a garden or amenity area to appear adequately sunlit throughout the 
year, no more than half (50%) of the area should be prevented by 
buildings from receiving two hours of sunlight on the 21st March.  If as a 
result of the proposed development an existing amenity area does not 
meet the guidance, or the area which can receive the sun is less than 
0.8 times its former value (i.e. more than 20% reduction) then the loss of 
sunlight is likely to be noticeable. 

318. The potential overshadowing impacts of the proposed development have 
been assessed for open spaces in the vicinity including the proposed 
landscaped area to the south of the site, Aldgate Square and Gardens of 
St. Botolph Without Aldgate. 

319. The results show that the development would be fully BRE compliant in 
this respect and would not cause significant alteration to levels of 
overshadowing experienced by the neighbouring amenity areas 
assessed. The proposal would accord with policies D6(d) of the London 
Plan and policy DM10.7 of the Local Plan which seek to ensure that 
development does not reduce sunlight to nearby open spaces to 
unacceptable levels. 

Wind Microclimate 
320. Policies DM10.1 of the Local Plan 2015, policy S8 of the draft City Plan 

2036 and policy D8 of the London Plan seek to optimise wind conditions 
in and around development sites. The design of developments should 
avoid unacceptable wind impacts. 

321. Wind tunnel testing has taken place to predict the local wind 
environment associated with the revised proposal and the resulting 
pedestrian comfort within and immediately surrounding the site.  CFD 
simulation analysis has also been carried out in accordance with the 
City’s Planning Advice Note, Wind Microclimate Guidelines for 
Developments in the City of London.  It should be noted that only CFD 
analysis was carried out in conjunction with the RTG scheme. 

322. Wind conditions are compared with the intended pedestrian use of the 
various locations including carriageways, footways and building 
entrances.  The assessment uses the wind comfort criteria, referred to 
as the City Lawson Criteria in the Wind Microclimate Guidelines, being 5 
Comfort Categories defining conditions suitable for frequent 
sitting/occasional sitting/standing/walking/uncomfortable. 

323. A separate safety criterion is also applied to ascertain if there would be 
any safety risks to pedestrians or cyclists.  

324. If resulting conditions are identified as being unsafe or unsuitable in 
terms of the intended use, then mitigation is required.  If wind conditions 
become windier but remain in a category suitable for intended use, or if 
there is a negligible or beneficial effect, wind mitigation is not required. 

Page 97



 
 

325. Assessments have been carried out for both the Windiest Season and 
the Summer Season. 

326. There are some differences between the CFD and wind tunnel analysis.  
In all tested scenarios the CFD analysis identifies most areas around the 
site as being suitable for frequent or occasional sitting where as in the 
wind model test scenarios the majority of areas around the site are 
identified as being suitable for standing or occasional sitting. Variance 
occurs as the two methods use different tools to predict the wind 
microclimate; the purpose of the two assessments is to give the broadest 
picture and to ensure that in either test the conditions are acceptable.  
The analysis below focuses on the wind tunnel results as the worst case 
scenario. 

327. The following configurations have been assessed: 
- Existing site with existing surrounding buildings 
- Proposed scheme with existing surrounding buildings 
- Proposed scheme with consented cumulative schemes 
- Proposed scheme with existing surrounding buildings and wind 

mitigation 
- Proposed scheme with cumulative surrounds and wind mitigation 

 

Existing Baseline Conditions 
328. In winter conditions are suitable for standing or occasional sitting, except 

for the area at the junction between Aldgate High Street and Middlesex 
Street where wind conditions are only suitable for walking.  During the 
summer months wind conditions across the site and wider surrounds are 
generally suitable for occasional sitting. 

329. The only locations which are too windy for their use were receptors in an 
outdoor seating area in Aldgate Square and an outdoor seating area 
immediately to the south of 2 Leman Street (both suitable for standing). 

Proposed Scheme with Existing Surrounds 
330. There would be no exceedances of the pedestrian safety criteria. 
331. Wind conditions around the site would become windier than the baseline 

as a result of the revised development, especially on the norther 
pavement of Aldgate High Street between Aldgate Square and 
Middlesex Street.  In the winter and summer scenarios this area would 
include areas suitable for occasional sitting, standing and walking. 

332. Areas would be suitable for their intended use with exception of one bus 
stop on Aldgate High Street which would become too windy for its 
intended use.    Within the site the northwest corner would be the 
windiest spot (suitable for walking in winter and largely standing in 
summer).  As such the proposed pass door and one of the entrances to 
the retail units at the southern end of the development would be too 
windy for their intended use (categorised in the winter scenario as 
suitable for walking).  An outdoor seating area would potentially be 
located on the south west corner of the development, this would be too 

Page 98



 
 

windy (standing) for its intended use during the summer and winter 
months. 

333. At terrace level conditions would range from standing to occasional 
sitting. 

Proposed scheme with cumulative surrounds 
334. There would be no exceedances of the pedestrian safety criteria. 
335. Wind conditions would be comparable to the scenario with the proposed 

scheme and existing surrounds, with the exception of wind conditions 
along the northern part of Minories which would be a fraction calmer 
during the summer months. 

Proposed scheme with existing surroundings and wind mitigation 
336. Landscaping measures and potential wind mitigation were modelled.  

These measures would address the exceedance of comfort criteria to 
the bus stop on Aldgate High Street.  Wind conditions at the outdoor 
seating area within the site would now meet occasional sitting criteria 
during the summer months. 

337. The issue with the pass door and retail entrance would remain in this 
scenario.  

338. At terrace level conditions would remain suitable for standing to 
occasional sitting. 

Proposed scheme with cumulative surrounds and wind mitigation 
339. This scenario would be comparable to the proposed scenario with wind 

mitigation as set out above.  This is with the exception of the wind 
conditions along the northern part of Minories which would be a fraction 
calmer during the summer months. 

Wind Microclimate Conclusion 
340. Wind conditions within and in the vicinity of the revised proposal would 

be safe.  With the introduction of landscaping measures the 
development would not have a major adverse impact on the surrounding 
area.  Details of landscaping and wind mitigation measures would be 
secured by condition along with the requirement for the pass door and 
retail entrance to be relocated.  Subject to these conditions it is not 
considered that the proposal would have a detrimental impact on the 
amenities of surrounding buildings in accordance with policy CS10 of the 
Local Plan.   

Thermal Comfort  
341. London Plan Policy D8 and D9 and Draft City Plan 2036 Policy S8 

indicates that development proposals should ensure that microclimatic 
considerations, including temperature and wind, should be taken into 
account in order to encourage people to spend time in a place and that 
the environmental impacts of tall buildings - wind, daylight, sunlight 
penetration and temperature conditions around the building and 
neighbourhood- must be carefully considered and not compromise 
comfort and the enjoyment of open spaces and seeks to optimise 

Page 99



 
 

microclimatic conditions, addressing solar glare, daylight and sunlight, 
wind conditions and thermal comfort and delivering improvements in air 
quality and open space. Draft City Plan Strategic Policy S12 requires 
developers to take account of the potential microclimate and thermal 
comfort impacts from tall building development at an early stage in the 
design process. Draft City Plan Strategic Policy S15 indicates that 
buildings and the public realm must be designed to be adaptable to 
future climate conditions and resilient to more frequent extreme weather 
events. The Thermal Comfort Guidelines for Developments in the City of 
London was published in December 2020 which sets out how the 
thermal comfort assessment should be carried out.  

342. In accordance with the City of London Thermal Comfort Guidelines an 
outdoor thermal comfort assessment has been prepared. The technique 
involves merging wind, sunlight, temperature and humidity microclimate 
data at a seasonal level to gain a holistic understanding of Thermal 
Comfort and how a microclimatic character of a place actually feels to 
the public. The assessment quantifies the thermal comfort conditions 
within and around the Site, by comparing the predicted felt temperature 
values and frequency of occurrence. 

343. The Universal Thermal Climate Index (UTCI) metric will be utilized for 
predicting thermal comfort. The usage categories for thermal comfort are 
set out below and is used to define the categorization of a given location. 

 
Usage 
Category 

% of hours with 
Acceptable UTCI 

Description  

All Season ≥90% in each season Appropriate for use all 
year round (e.g., parks) 

Seasonal ≥90% spring-autumn 
AND ≥70% winter 

Appropriate for use 
during most of the year 
(e.g., outdoor dining) 

Short Term ≥50% in all seasons Appropriate for short 
duration and/or 
infrequent sedentary 
uses (e.g., unsheltered 
bus stops or entrances) 
year-round 

Short Term 
Seasonal 

≥50% spring-autumn 
AND ≥25% winter 

Appropriate for short 
duration and/or 
infrequent sedentary 
uses during most of the 
year. 

Transient ≤25% in winter OR ≤50% 
in any other season 

Appropriate for public 
spaces where people 
are not expected to 
linger for extended 
periods (e.g., 
pavements, cycle 
paths).  

Page 100



 
 

344. The following scenarios were tested: baseline, proposed and cumulative.   
345. In all three scenarios the majority of area around the site is determined 

to be either all season or seasonal.  All season is appropriate for year 
round use and seasonal is deemed appropriate for use during most of 
the year.   

346. The report identifies that there are outdoor seating areas to the north of 
the site, at the junction of Middlesex Street and St Botolph Street and to 
the east of the site, along Braham Street.  In all three scenarios these 
areas do not meet the desired comfort category of all season and 
instead are classified as seasonal which means that they may not be 
suitable for outdoor seating in winter. 

347. Comparing the proposed against the baseline scenario there is a 
variation to the north of the site along Aldgate High Street and to the 
south west of the site.  In these areas the category changes from all 
season in the baseline to seasonal in the proposed scenario.  The areas 
would remain suitable for their intended use despite this change in 
category.  There is little difference in the results between the proposed 
and baseline scenarios. 

348. With regard to the terraces on the upper levels of the revised proposal 
conditions would range from all season to short term use.  It is still 
considered that terraces even if suitable for short term use would provide 
valuable outdoor space for office occupiers.   

349. In conclusion it is considered that the thermal impacts of the proposal 
are acceptable and would not have a detrimental impact on conditions 
around the site in accordance with London Plan Policies D8 and D9 and 
Draft City Plan 2036 Policy S8. 

Solar Glare 
350. The BRE Guidelines recommend that solar glare analysis be carried out 

to assess the impact of glazed facades on road users in the 
vicinity.  Policy DM10.1 of the Local Plan and policies S8 and DE8 of the 
draft City Plan seek to ensure that developments address and do not 
have any intrusive solar glare impacts on the surrounding townscape 
and public realm. 

351. The applicant has submitted a solar glare assessment which takes into 
consideration the impact of the revised development on drivers travelling 
eastbound and westbound along Aldgate High Street and drivers 
travelling southbound along Middlesex Street.  

352. The assessment concludes that while the building may give off some 
reflections they would not be significant or detrimental to road users.  
This conclusion is agreed. In the light of the information provided it is not 
considered that the development would result in any undue solar glare 
issues and would therefore accord with policy DM10.1 of the Local Plan 
and policies S8 and DE8 of the draft City Plan. 

 
 

Page 101



 
 

Light Pollution 
353. Local Plan Policy DM15.7 and draft City Plan 2036 policy DE9 requires 

that development should incorporate measures to reduce light spillage 
particularly where it would impact adversely on neighbouring occupiers, 
the wider public realm and biodiversity. 

354. New lighting is proposed in internal and external parts of the 
development. A condition is recommended requiring a lighting strategy 
for internal, external and semi external lighting, which would include 
details of levels and how the lighting has been designed together with 
management measures to reduce glare and light trespass.  

355. Subject to the recommended condition, the proposed development 
would comply with the Local Plan Policy DM15.7 and draft City Plan 
2036 policy DE9. 

Environmental Impacts Conclusion 
356. Subject to conditions requiring further details of wind mitigation, it is 

considered that the revised proposal would accord with policy DM10.7 of 
the Local Plan and policies S8 and DE2 of the emerging City Plan in that 
solar glare, daylight and sunlight, wind conditions and thermal comfort 
have been addressed in the design of the scheme. 

Noise and Vibration 
357. Local Plan policy DM15.7 and London Plan policies D13 and D14 

require developers to consider the impact of their developments on the 
noise environment.  Policy CS10 of the Local Plan requires buildings that 
are appropriate to the amenities of surrounding buildings.  

358. A noise report addendum has been submitted in conjunction with the 
revised proposal in order to assess the revisions to the scheme in terms 
of impact of noise and vibration from the mechanical plant on the 
surrounding area.  

359. The proposed development includes mechanical plant which would be 
located at both roof and basement levels. To ensure that noise from 
plant is adequately controlled and minimised, conditions are 
recommended relating to plant noise and vibration. 

360. Generally, in City redevelopment schemes, most noise and vibration 
issues occur during demolition and the early construction phases. Noise 
and vibration mitigation, including control over working hours and types 
of equipment to be used, would be included in a Demolition 
Management Plan and Construction Management Plan to be approved 
by condition. 

361. All deliveries would take place within a dedicated servicing/loading bay 
within the building during controlled hours, and would therefore have a 
negligible impact in terms of noise associated with unloading. 

362. In order to minimise any disturbance from the amenity terraces, 
conditions are recommended restricting the hours of use of the terraces 
and the playing of music. 

Page 102



 
 

363. Subject to the recommended noise related conditions it is considered 
that the proposal would accord with London Plan policies D13 and D14 
and Local Plan policy DM15.7 and CS10. 

Fire Safety 
364. Policy D12 of the London Plan and policy S2 of the draft City Plan seek 

to ensure that major developments are accompanied by a Fire 
Statement setting out how the development would address fire safety in 
the design, construction and operation of the building.   

365. In accordance with this policy requirement, the revised scheme is 
accompanied by a fire statement which details the construction methods 
and materials that would be used, escape strategy, active and passive 
fire safety measures and access and facilities for the fire and rescue 
service.  The details are satisfactory for this stage of the design process 
and demonstrate that fire safety has been embedded into the 
development from an early stage.  

Health Impact Assessment 
366. Policy HL9 of the Proposed Submission City Plan 2036 advises 

applicants of major developments to assess the potential impacts their 
development may have on the health and well-being of the City’s 
communities. The applicants have submitted a HIA in conjunction with 
the revised scheme which has been based on the NHS Healthy Urban 
Development Unit criteria, with adaptions to take into account the 
particular circumstances of the City. Policy GG3 of the London Plan, and 
TfL’s Healthy Streets Indicators are also relevant. The Assessment 
concludes that the development would contribute towards positive health 
outcomes. 

367. Positive impacts include:  

• Provision of new jobs associated with the uplift in commercial 
floorspace, supporting access to employment through the 
operational and construction phases of development;  

• Provision outdoor amenity spaces for office users;  
• Provision of a high-quality public realm areas; 
• A car free development (with the exception of blue badge parking) 

with an excellent PTAL rating; 
• Increased greening. 

368. Potential impacts (noise, pollution including dust during construction) 
identified would need to be mitigated during the construction and 
operational phases, for example through:  

• Implementation of a travel plan to maximise uptake of active travel 
options;  

• Implementation of a Construction Environmental Management Plan 
(CEMP) including dust, noise and vibration and hours of construction 
works;  

Page 103



 
 

• Implementation of a Construction Logistics Plan (CLP) to minimise 
the environmental and road traffic related impacts of the demolition 
and construction;  

• An Air Quality and Management Plan to minimise the impact of dust 
and particulates during the construction phase; and  

 

369. Any potential negative impacts identified in the Assessment would be 
mitigated by the requirements of relevant conditions and S106 
obligations.  

Equality Impact 
The Public Sector Equality Duty (section 149 of the Equality Act 2010)  
370. In consideration of the proposed development, the Public Sector Equality 

Duty (PSED) requires the City of London to consider how the 
determination of the application would affect people who are protected 
under the Equality Act 2010, including having due regard to the effects of 
the proposed development and any potential disadvantages suffered by 
people because of their protected characteristics.  

371. Under the Act, a public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, 
have due regard to the need to:  

• Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation, and any other 
conduct that is prohibited by or under this Act;  

• Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a 
relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it;  

• Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

372. The relevant protected characteristics are age, disability, gender 
reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or beliefs, sex, 
and sexual orientation. Public authorities also need to have due regard 
to the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination against someone 
because of their marriage or civil partnership status.  

373. This application has been assessed against the Equality Act 2010 and 
any equality impacts identified.  The assessment has taken into 
consideration the Equality Statement produced by the applicants.  The 
assessment identifies that the revised proposal could affect vulnerable 
groups through the construction process by temporary closures, 
diversions and changes to existing roads and footways and through the 
noise and environmental impacts of construction.   

374. It would need to be ensured that the construction process is controlled 
through demolition and construction logistics plans and environmental 
management plans which would be secured by condition. 

375. The applicants Equality Impact Screening also identifies that people may 
use the open space and informal seating adjacent to Aldgate High Street 

Page 104



 
 

which would be largely stopped up as part of the development.  The loss 
of this area would be offset by the new public realm enhancements.   

376. Subject to conditions, it is not considered that the proposal would result 
in disadvantages or have a material impact on any persons who share a 
relevant protected characteristic as identified in the Equalities Act 2010. 

Update on objection from 55/56 Aldgate High Street 
377. An objection was received to the RTG scheme from the owner of the 

adjoining site, 55/56 Aldgate High Street.  The following concerns were 
raised: 
- the fenestration in the wall of the RSG scheme adjacent to the 
boundary would result in overlooking of the objection site and numbers 
54 Aldgate High Street and 50 – 53 Aldgate High Street; and 
- that at fifth floor level the development footprint of the RSG scheme 
would be set off the boundary by 1 metre and should the objection site 
be developed this could create a narrow wind tunnel between the two 
sites. 

378. The objector considered that these matters could impede future 
development potential of the objection site. 

379. The applicant has engaged with the adjoining owner and the revised 
scheme addresses the concerns that were raised.  The massing 
revisions close the gap between the proposed office building and the 
adjoining site boundary and fire rated opaque glazing is now proposed in 
the northeast section of party wall to address concerns about 
overlooking.  A conditional letter of support has been submitted in 
conjunction with the revised proposal.  The adjoining owners request 
that conditions and S.106 clauses are secured relating to the design, 
maintenance, cleaning and restriction of the insertion of clear glazing 
into the flank façade of the new office building.  Furthermore, they 
request that the demolition and construction works are discussed with 
them prior to commencement and should not impede access to the 
adjoining site. The requested details would be secured by condition (3 
(scheme of works demolition), 18 (scheme of works construction), 46 
(flank wall design and restriction on clear glazing) and 47 (cleaning, 
maintenance and access to the flank wall) and the S.106 agreement. 

380. The owner of 55-56 Aldgate High Street currently has an application 
pending with the Local Planning Authority for: 
Demolition of existing building at 55-56 Aldgate High Street and erection 
of replacement ground plus 13-storey mixed-use building comprising; 
287 sqm (GIA) of office floorspace (Use Class E) at basement, ground 
and first floor levels; 41no. residential units (Class C3); office terrace at 
first floor level; residential balconies, landscaping and cycle parking, and 
associated works (ref. 21/00313/FULMAJ). 

381. As set out in the Daylight/Sunlight section of the report an assessment 
has been made as to the impact of the revised scheme on the 
daylight/sunlight available to windows and rooms in the residential 

Page 105



 
 

development proposed at 55 – 56 Aldgate High Street.  The assessment 
shows that while there would be some VSC transgressions, all rooms 
would be BRE compliant in respect of the NSL test.   

382. In the light of the above design revisions and the outcome of the 
daylight/sunlight assessment, it is not considered that the revised 
scheme would prejudice the development potential of the adjoining site 
for the proposed scheme.  Similarly, it is not considered that the 
proposal would prejudice the future development of the site for office use 
should it come forward as part of a larger redevelopment in the future, in 
accordance with policy DM1.2 of the Local Plan.  

CIL and Planning Obligations 
383. The proposed development would require planning obligations to be 

secured in a Section 106 agreement to mitigate the impact of the 
development to make it acceptable in planning terms. Contributions 
would be used to improve the City’s environment and facilities. The 
proposal would also result in payment of the Community Infrastructure 
Levy (CIL) to help fund the provision of infrastructure in the City of 
London. 

384. These contributions would be in accordance with Supplementary 
Planning Documents (SPDs) adopted by the Mayor of London and the 
City. 

385. From 1st April 2019 Mayoral CIL 2 (MCIL2) supersedes the Mayor of 
London’s CIL and associated section 106 planning obligations charging 
schedule. This change removes the Mayors planning obligations for 
Crossrail contributions. Therefore, the Mayor will be collecting funding 
for Crossrail 1 and Crossrail 2 under the provisions of the Community 
Infrastructure Levy regulations 2010 (as amended). 

386. The office building (including the relocation of the Still and Star Public 
House) being proposed through this application measures 33,284sqm 
(GIA) total, consisting of 32,613sqm of Office (Class E) floorspace, 
402sqm of Retail (Class E) floorspace, 269sqm of (Still and Star Public 
House, sui generis). 

387. The CIL and Planning Obligations are applicable and have been 
calculated on the increased floorspace over that approved by the RTG 
scheme. 

388. CIL contributions and City of London Planning obligations are set out 
below. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 106



 
 

MCIL2 

Liability in 
accordance with 
the Mayor of 
London’s policies 

Contribution 

(Excluding 
Indexation) 

Forwarded to 
the Mayor 

City’s charge 
for 
administration 
and monitoring 

MCIL2 
payable 

 

£2,781,337 

 

£2,670,084 £111,253 

 
City CIL and S106 Planning Obligations 

Liability in 
accordance with the 
City of London’s 
policies 

Contribution 
(Excluding 
Indexation) 

Available for 
allocation 

Retained for 
administration 
and 
monitoring 

City CIL  £1,128,375 £1,071,956 £56,419 

City Planning 
Obligations    

Affordable Housing £752,250 £744,727 £7,523 

Local, Training, 
Skills and Job 
Brokerage 

£451,350 £446,836 £4,514 

Monitoring Charge £4,750  £4,750 

Section 278 
Agreement 
(Evaluation & 
Design) 

£50,000 £50,000 £0 

Total liability in 
accordance with the 
City of London’s 
policies 

£2,537,175 £2,462,466 £74,709 

 

City’s Planning Obligations 
389. In addition to the above, the following obligations will also be secured 

through the S106 Agreement: 

• Contribution of £15,500 for early life skills in the Portsoken Ward, in 
particular in the Aldgate School (formerly the Sir John Cass's 
Foundation) to fund a new Speech and language room (£12,500) 
and Chromebooks costing £3,000. 

Page 107



 
 

• Legible London Contribution TBC 
• Section 278 Agreement (Little Somerset Street, Harrow Alley and 

Hostile Vehicle Measures for new pedestrian routes) 
• Removal and relocation of bronze sculpture (‘Ridirich’ by Keith 

McCarter) as part of the Cultural Plan 
• Travel Plan (including Cycling Promotion Plan) 
• Section 278 or Section 106 Agreement with Transport for London 

(New pedestrian crossing at the junction of Mansell Street with Alie 
Street and improvements to other crossings forming part of the 
Transport for London Road Network). 

• Dedication of Public Highway or City Walkway (Arcade between 
Aldgate High Street to Little Somerset Street) 

• Pedestrian Routes (Specification and Access) 
• Retention of the current Architect in respect of detailed design for the 

new Still and Star. 
• Securing of the party wall detail with 55 – 56 Aldgate High Street. 

 

390. Planning Obligations in relation to the original permission (ref: 
13/01055/FULMAJ) were secured through the Section 106 Agreement 
dated 30 June 2014. The Section 106 Agreement was subsequently 
amended by two Deeds of Modification dated 18 March 2016 and 20 
March 2018. A further deed of modification is currently being negotiated 
to separate the buildings on the site as set out in the main body of the 
report. This proposal for a standalone office building will have a separate 
planning agreement which would include covenants relating to the 
shared areas on the site such as the basement servicing area and the 
open spaces around the site.  

391. The matters below would be secured in the agreement. 

• Highway Reparation and other Highways Obligations 
• Local Procurement Strategy 
• Local Training, Skills and Job Brokerage Strategy (Demolition & 

Construction) 
• Delivery and Servicing Management Plan (including Consolidation) 
• Carbon Offsetting 
• Utility Connections 
• Open Space Phasing Plan & Maintained Land 
• Development Phasing and Basement Access 

 

392. I request that I be given delegated authority to continue to negotiate and 
agree the terms of the proposed obligations and enter into the S278 
agreement. 

Monitoring and Administrative Costs 
393. A 10 year repayment period would be required whereby any unallocated 

sums would be returned to the developer 10 years after practical 

Page 108



 
 

completion of the development. Some funds may be set aside for future 
maintenance purposes.  

394. The applicant will pay the City of London’s legal costs and the City 
Planning Officer’s administration costs incurred in the negotiation, 
execution and monitoring of the legal agreement and strategies. 

 

Site Specific Mitigation 
395. The City will use CIL to mitigate the impact of development and provide 

the infrastructure necessary for the area. In some circumstances, it may 
be necessary additionally to seek site specific mitigation to ensure that a 
development is acceptable in planning terms. Other matters requiring 
mitigation are yet to be fully scoped. 

Conclusion 
396. The proposal has been assessed in accordance with the relevant 

statutory duties and having regard to the development plan and other 
relevant policies and guidance including SPDs and SPGs, the NPPF, the 
emerging Local Plan and considering all other material considerations. 

397. Virtually no major development proposal is in complete compliance with 
all policies and in arriving at a decision it is necessary to assess all the 
policies and proposals in the plan and come to a view as to whether in 
the light of the whole plan the proposal does or does not accord with it. 
The Local Planning Authority must determine the application in 
accordance with the development plan unless other material 
considerations indicate otherwise. 

398. In this case the proposals are considered to comply with a number of 
policies in the development plan in particular those which relate to the 
provision of office development in the City, high quality accessible public 
realm and sustainable development. 

399. The revised scheme would achieve the regeneration of an underutilised 
site in a pivotal location off Aldgate High Street.  The proposal would 
deliver office space with logical floor plates, a new social and cultural 
facility for the City through the provision of a uniquely reimagined historic 
pub and an improved contribution to the townscape forming a bookend 
to the smaller Aldgate High Street frontages. 

400. The proposed quantum of office floorspace is welcomed and would 
contribute to the City’s role as a leading centre for business and 
employment in line with the London Plan and the Local Plan.  The retail 
floorspace would enliven the area and would provide facilities for 
neighbouring communities.  The pedestrian routes and public realm 
improvements would enhance the area.  The scheme would align with 
the aspirations for the Aldgate area as set out in the Local Plan. 

401. When the RTG scheme was considered by Members in December 2020 
the Still and Star public house was an Asset of Community value.  The 
Asset of Community Value designation lasts for five years.  As such this 
status expired on the 15th November 2021.  To date there has been no 

Page 109



 
 

request to renew or amend the listing and therefore the Still and Star’s 
Asset of Community Value status has now ceased.  

402. Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990 has been applied and great weight has been given to the need 
to the need to preserve the setting of the surrounding listed buildings St 
Botolph’s Church (Grade I listed), Aldgate School (Grade II* listed), 48 
and 49 Aldgate High Street (Grade II listed), 47 Aldgate High Street 
(Grade II* listed) and 46 Aldgate High Street (Grade II* listed). It is not 
considered that the proposal would detract from the significance of the 
settings of the relevant listed buildings and their special architectural and 
historic interest would be preserved. 

403. The proposed scheme would not harm the setting, integrity or 
authenticity of the Tower of London World Heritage site in accordance 
with policy HC2 of the London Plan, policy CS12 of the Local Plan 2015 
and policy S11 of the emerging City Plan 2036.  

404. The proposal would not harm the characteristics of composition of the 
strategic LVMF Townscape View 25A.1-3 (Queen’s Walk), or that of a 
landmark element, and would preserve the viewer’s ability to recognise 
and appreciate the Strategically Important Landmark, the Tower of 
London World Heritage Site, in accordance with London Plan policy HC4 
and Local Plan policy CS13 (1).  

405. The proposal would preserve views of St Botolph’s Church, a Skyline 
Feature, and the Tower of London World Heritage Site, a City Landmark, 
in accordance with Local Plan Policy CS12 (2) and associated guidance 
in the Protected Views SPD.  

406. Through the revisions to the scheme the applicant has enhanced the 
environmental performance of the building.  As such an ‘excellent’ 
BREEAM rating is now being targeted compared to a ‘very good’ rating 
under the RTG scheme. Subject to conditions requiring wind mitigation 
the proposal would have an acceptable impact on the microclimate 
around the site and the quantum of proposed greening is welcomed. 

407. Transport matters have been satisfactorily addressed.  The proposal 
would result in the loss of some public highway but this would be offset 
by the provision of attractive and logical new pedestrian routes and 
through the provision of enhanced public realm. 

408. The proposal would result in some daylight and sunlight transgressions 
to surrounding residential dwellings.  However, taking into account BRE 
Guidance, the nature of the results (including some low existing daylight 
values), the site’s location within a dense urban environment and the 
types of residential accommodation, it is not considered that the 
proposal would result in an unacceptable impact on the existing 
properties and would not noticeably reduce the daylight to nearby 
dwellings to unacceptable levels such that it would warrant a refusal of 
planning permission.   

409. The concerns raised under the RTG scheme by the owner of 55/56 
Aldgate High Street regarding the design of the party wall of the office 
development prejudicing development potential of the adjoining site, 

Page 110



 
 

have been addressed by the proposed design revisions and would be 
secured by condition and the S.106 agreement.  An assessment has 
also been made as to the daylight/sunlight impacts of this revised office 
development on the proposed residential scheme currently pending 
consideration at 55/56 Aldgate High Street in order to ensure that the 
office development would not prejudice the delivery of the adjacent 
scheme should planning permission be granted for the adjacent 
development. 

410. Overall it is considered that the proposal represents high quality 
commercial led development that would have a positive impact on the 
Aldgate area. 

411. It is acknowledged that the proposal would be contrary to policies CS12 
and DM12.1 of the Local Plan and policy HC1 of the London Plan in 
respect of the total loss of the Still and Star as a non-designated heritage 
asset.   

412. The heritage policies in the London Plan (in particular HC1) and in the 
Local Plan (in particular CS12) do not incorporate a balancing exercise 
as found in paragraph 203 of the NPPF (relating to non-designated 
heritage assets). As a result, if a proposal results in any harm to the 
significance of a heritage asset, even if at the lower end of the scale, it 
will result in conflict with heritage policies. As set out above the 
application proposals conflict with policies CS12, DM12.1 and London 
Plan policy HC1 in respect of heritage matters. 

413. In respect of non-designated heritage assets, NPPF paragraph 203 
requires that in weighing applications that directly or indirectly affect non 
– designated heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be required 
having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of the 
heritage asset. The paragraph 203 weighing exercise is to be considered 
in respect of the total loss of the Still and Star. 

414. It is considered that the proposed level of loss would be outweighed by 
the merits of the proposal which include the provision of a re-imagined 
Still and Star public house which would embody elements of significance 
from the existing public house.  

415. The scheme would provide benefits through CIL for improvements to the 
public realm, housing and other local facilities and measures. That 
payment of CIL is a local finance consideration which weighs in favour of 
the scheme. In addition to the general planning obligations there would 
be site specific measures secured in the S106 Agreement. Together 
these would go some way to mitigate the impact of the proposal 

416. It is the view of officers that the proposal complies with the development 
plan when considered as a whole and that other material considerations 
also indicate that planning permission should be granted as set out in 
the recommendation and the schedules attached. 

  

Page 111



 
 

Appendix A 

Background Papers - Revised Scheme 

Application Documentation 

Daylight and Sunlight Cumulative Impact 55 – 56 Aldgate High Street, GIA, 
April 2022 

Daylight and Sunlight Report, Appendices, Window Maps, GIA, March 2022 

Daylight and Sunlight, Radiance Based Assessments, March 2022 

Archaeological Desk-Based Assessment, Museum of London Archaeology, 
November 2021 

Wind Microclimate, CFD Pedestrian Comfort Assessment Revision 01, Hoare 
Lea, January 2022 

Cover Letter, DP9, 8 December 2021 

Statement of Community Involvement, Four, October 2021 

Air Quality Assessment/Air Quality Assessment Addendum, WSP, November 
2021 

Biodiversity Net Gain Assessment, WSP, November 2021 

BREEAM Statement, Hoare Lea, November 2021 

Circular Economy Statement, Hoare Lea, November 2021 

Construction Logistics Plan, MACE, November 2021 

Cultural Plan Addendum, acme, November 2021 

Delivery and Servicing Plan, WSP, November 2021 

Energy Statement Addendum, Hoare Lea, November 2021 

Equalities Impact Screening, WSP, November 2021 

Flood Risk Assessment, WSP, November 2021 

Health Impact Assessment, WSP, November 2021 

Landscape and Public Realm Strategy, Spacehub, November 2021 

Light Pollution Assessment, GIA, November 2021 

Outdoor Thermal Comfort Assessment, WSP, November 2021 

Outline Construction Environmental Management Plan, MACE, November 
2021 

Preliminary Ecological Appraisal, WSP, November 2021 

Preliminary Risk Assessment, WSP, November 2021 

Page 112



 
 

Drainage Strategy Addendum, WSP, November 2021 

Smart Infrastructure, Hoare Lea, November 2021 

Solar Glare Assessment, GIA, November 2021 

Sustainability Assessment, WSP, November 2021 

Townscape and Visual Impact Assessment Addendum, City Designer & Miller 
Hare, November 2021 

Utilities Statement, Hoare Lea, November 2021 

Whole Life Carbon Statement, Hoare Lea, November 2021 

Wind Microclimate Study, WSP, November 2021 

Noise Assessment Addendum, Hoare Lea, November 2021 

Design and Access Addendum, ACME and David Bonnett Associates, 
November 2021 

Planning Statement Update, DP9, November 2021 

Operational Waste Management Plan, WSP, November 2021 

Transport Assessment, WSP, November 2021 

Travel Plan, WSP, November 2021 

 

Consultation Responses 

06.04.2022 Memo CoL, Department of Markets and Consumer Protection 

31.03.2022 Memo Lead Local Flood Authority 

24.03.2022 Transport for London, London Underground 

21.03.2022 Transport for London, City Planning 

17.03.2022 Thames Water 

26.02.2022 London and Middlesex Archaeological Society  

16.02.2022 London Borough Tower Hamlets 

14.02.2022 London Borough Southwark 

10.02.2022 Transport for London, London Underground 

01.02.2022 Lead Local Flood Authority 

28.01.2022 Memo CoL, Environment Department 

28.01.2022 Thames Water 

27.01.2022 Transport for London, London Underground 

Page 113



 
 

20.01.2022 Thames Water 

18.01.2022 Memo, CoL, Department of Markets and Consumer Protection 

16.01.2022 CAMRA 

06.01.2022 Memo CoL, Department of Markets and Consumer Protection 

 

Representations 

Revised Scheme 

11.04.2022 H Company 3 Limited 

30.03.2022 Roger Jones 

30.03.2022 Celine Lutzu 

29.03.2022 Duncan Gates 

20.03.2022 Jess Cooper 

19.03.2022 Emma Cornish 

17.03.2022 Angela Wood 

17.01.2022 Damien Errington 

05.01.2022 Peter Bkair 

 

  

Page 114



 
 

Background Papers – RTG scheme (full details and copies of 
representations are available to view at 
https://democracy.cityoflondon.gov.uk/mgChooseDocPack.aspx?ID=205
97  

Representations  

27.07.2016 Comment Chris Smith 

27.07.2016 Comment Richard Williamson 

27.07.2016 Comment Adair Halliday 

27.07.2016 Comment James Manning 

27.07.2016 Comment John Evans 

04.08.2016 Comment Glen Leeder 

04.08.2016 Comment John Evans 

04.08.2016 Comment Jane Jewell 

04.08.2016 Comment C Pertwee 

04.08.2016 Comment Douglas Haywood 

04.08.2016 Comment Andrew Altmann 

04.08.2016 Comment Caroline Bottomley 

04.08.2016 Comment Jonathan Taylor 

04.08.2016 Comment Lyndy Jacquot 

04.08.2016 Comment Carlos Hood 

04.08.2016 Comment Christina Pullam 

04.08.2016 Comment Harriet Connides 

04.08.2016 Comment Ian Dicks 

04.08.2016 Comment Shawdian Uttley 

04.08.2016 Comment Elizabeth Burling 

04.08.2016 Comment David Milne 

04.08.2016 Comment Adele Schlazer-Lester 

04.08.2016 Comment Tristan O’Dwyer 

04.08.2016 Comment Howard Clark 

04.08.2016 Comment James Bramble 

04.08.2016 Comment Kate Bowgett 

Page 115

https://democracy.cityoflondon.gov.uk/mgChooseDocPack.aspx?ID=20597
https://democracy.cityoflondon.gov.uk/mgChooseDocPack.aspx?ID=20597


 
 

04.08.2016 Comment Patrick Nicholas 

04.08.2016 Comment Matt Nicholls 

04.08.2016 Comment Richard Pascoe 

04.08.2016 Comment Michael Collard 

04.08.2016 Comment Elizabeth Waight 

04.08.2016 Comment Chris Ashby 

04.08.2016 Comment Chris Berthohd 

05.08.2016 Comment Colin Toogood 

05.08.2016 Comment Peter Dray 

05.08.2016 Comment Andrew Brown 

05.08.2016 Comment Kris O’Kane 

05.08.2016 Comment Kenneth Orr 

05.08.2016 Comment Max Goldman 

05.08.2016 Comment James Ford 

05.08.2016 Comment Sarah-Jayne Bray 

05.08.2016 Comment Daniel Couzens 

05.08.2016 Comment Vicky Stewart 

05.08.2016 Comment Craig Thomas 

05.08.2016 Comment Iain Chambers 

05.08.2016 Comment Zena Sullivan 

05.08.2016 Comment Su O’Brien 

05.08.2016 Comment Jane Jephcote 

08.08.2016 Comment R Taylor 

08.08.2016 Comment Marian Monas 

08.08.2016 Comment Jacqui Brazil 

08.08.2016 Comment Patricia Ashby 

08.08.2016 Comment Denise Whitington 

08.08.2016 Comment Betsy Barker 

08.08.2016 Comment Mandy Hunt 

08.08.2016 Comment Nick Pope 

Page 116



 
 

08.08.2016 Comment Frances Jagodzinska 

08.08.2016 Comment Adrian Amos 

08.08.2016 Comment Evan Skuthorpe 

08.08.2016 Comment D Davies 

08.08.2016 Comment Barry Jackson 

08.08.2016 Comment Sue Godsell 

08.08.2016 Comment William Amos 

08.08.2016 Comment Gemma Wade 

08.08.2016 Comment Thomas Jones 

08.08.2016 Comment Jess Cooper 

08.08.2016 Comment Matthew Dench 

08.08.2016 Comment Matt Brookland 

08.08.2016 Comment Charles Andrew Rose 

08.08.2016 Comment Mark Taliana 

08.08.2016 Comment Katherine Bannom 

08.08.2016 Comment Samuel Stuart Arthur Walker 

08.08.2016 Comment Peter Kent 

08.08.2016 Comment Anne Mullane 

08.08.2016 Comment Keith Barker-Main 

08.08.2016 Comment Janet Wickings 

08.08.2016 Comment Annie Appleby 

08.08.2016 Comment Kate Saint 

08.08.2016 Comment Sue Spiller 

08.08.2016 Comment Victoria Young 

08.08.2020 Comment Veronica Hunt-Lewis 

08.08.2016 Comment Michael Bundy 

08.08.2016 Comment Martin Cook 

08.08.2016 Comment Katy Chapman 

08.08.2016 Comment Stuart Mackay 

08.08.2016 Comment Nicola Lovick 

Page 117



 
 

08.08.2016 Comment Alex Templieton 

08.08.2016 Comment James Lovick 

08.08.2016 Comment David Bridgwater 

08.08.2016 Comment Matt Fazal 

08/08.2016 Comment Andrew Burgess 

08.08.2016 Comment Joanna Moncrieff 

09.08.2016 Comment Edmund O Brien 

09.08.2016 Comment Mark Ellis 

09.08.2016 Comment Simon Holland 

09.08.2016 Comment Oscar Rocklin 

09.08.2016 Comment Adrienne Roche 

09.08.2016 Comment Roger Carr 

09.08.2016 Comment Ellis Leeper 

09.08.2016 Comment Scott Wagstaff 

09.08.2016 Comment Andrew Brister 

09.08.2016 Comment Emma Cornish 

09.08.2016 Comment Colin West 

09.08.2016 Comment Andrew Large 

09.08.2016 Comment Gillian-Claire Pearman 

09.08.2016 Comment Denise D’Armi 

09.08.2016 Comment Delianne Forget 

10.08.2016 Comment Philip Whittington 

10.08.2016 Comment Joanne Gourlay 

10.08.2016 Comment John Cryne 

10.08.2016 Comment Frank Jeffs 

10.08.2016 Comment Matthew Stimpson 

10.08.2016 Comment David Bull 

10.08.2016 Comment Alastair Catto 

11.08.2016 Comment Tim Matthews 

11.08.2016 Comment Anna Gud 

Page 118



 
 

11.08.2018 Comment Peta Bridle 

11.08.2016 Comment Anna Simons 

11.08.2016 Comment Tom Wilkinson 

12.08.2016 Comment Peter Milton 

12.08.2016 Comment Mark Amies 

12.08.2016 Comment Simon Kirwin 

12.08.2016 Comment Deborah Brown 

12.08.2016 Comment Peter Milton 

12.08.2016 Comment Yvonne Caffrey 

12.08.2016 Comment Chris Jones 

12.08.2016 Comment Pat Taylor 

12.08.2016 Comment Vicky Lloyd 

12.08.2016 Comment Simon Paul 

12.08.2016 Comment Anita Amies 

12.08.2016 Comment James White 

13.08.2016 Comment Lisa Millward 

13.08.2016 Comment Chauney Dunford 

13.08.2016 Comment Perry Gowler 

13.08.2016 Comment Simon Carroll 

13.08.2016 Comment Christopher Stimpson 

14.08.2016 Comment Rex Ward 

14.08.2016 Comment Katharine Raymond 

14.08.2016 Comment Roy Tunstall 

14.08.2016 Comment Robert Frsdick 

14.08.2016 Comment Stephen Wood 

14.08.2016 Comment Victoria Hardy 

14.08.2016 Comment Chris Cochran 

14.08.2016 Comment Trevor Crook 

14.08.2016 Comment Callum Frackelton-Cooper 

14.08.2016 Comment Michele Gates 

Page 119



 
 

14.08.2016 Comment Simon Gates 

14.08.2016 Comment Louise Meddings 

14.08.2016 Comment Grant McIntosh 

14.08.2016 Comment Peter Cole 

14.08.2016 Comment Kenneth Towne 

14.08.2016 Comment Ian Hardie 

15.08.2016 Comment Ruth Murray 

15.08.2016 Comment David Brown 

15.08.2016 Comment Steve Doggett 

15.08.2016 Comment Terence Frisch 

15.08.2016 Comment Julian Kirkby 

15.08.2016 Comment Adam Sharpe 

15.08.2016 Comment Tony Wright 

15.08.2016 Comment James Watson (East London & City branch of CAMRA) 

15.08.2016 Comment James Young 

15.08.2016 Comment Gary Alton 

15.08.2016 Comment David Roderick 

15.08.2016 Comment Marina Wrixon 

15.08.2016 Comment Alistair FitzPatrick 

15.08.2016 Comment Paul Woodley 

15.08.2016 Comment Ali Twidaale 

15.08.2016 Comment Jack Brooks 

15.08.2016 Comment Gavin Gibb 

15.08.2016 Comment Philip Renshaw 

15.08.2016 Comment Donal Fitzsimons 

15.08.2016 Comment George Hanna 

15.08.2016 Comment Tracey Bates 

15.08.2016 Comment Dominic Pinto 

16.08.2016 Comment Lee Hickman 

16.08.2016 Comment Brian Dawton 

Page 120



 
 

16.08.2016 Comment Ben Wykes 

16.08.2016 Comment Paul Grove 

16.08.2016 Comment Brian Blagbrough 

16.08.2016 Comment Alex Burke 

16.08.2016 Comment Matthew Gascoigne 

16.08.2016 Comment Seb Brennan 

16.08.2016 Comment Graham Burgess 

16.08.2016 Comment Paul Bracegirdle 

16.08.2016 Comment Matthew O’Leary 

16.08.2016 Comment Candida DaFonseca 

16.08.2016 Comment Ian Charles-Jones 

16.08.2016 Comment Angela Wood 

16.08.2016 Comment Martin Goldsworthy 

16.08.2016 Comment Christopher Frost 

16.08.2016 Comment Tara Quinn 

16.08.2016 Comment Lin Dadd 

16.08.2016 Comment Catherine Trevethan 

16.08.2016 Comment Richard Arnopp 

16.08.2016 Comment Lucy Saint-Smith 

16.08.2016 Comment Jane Harrington 

16.08.2016 Comment Gillian Tindall 

16.08.2016 Comment Simon Law 

17.08.2016 Comment Karen Golanski 

17.08.2016 Comment Ryan Emmett 

17.08.2016 Comment Gerry Hahlo 

17.08.2016 Comment Vicky Halliday 

17.08.2016 Comment Gabriella Herrick 

17.08.2016 Comment Ed Perridge 

17.08.2016 Comment Peter Caseley 

17.08.2016 Comment Julian Shute 

Page 121



 
 

17.08.2016 Comment Joanna Eley 

17.08.2016 Comment Claire Morley 

17.08.2016 Comment Richard Cohen 

17.08.2016 Comment Anthony Paul 

18.08.2016 Email Richard Lewis 

18.08.2016 Comment Peter Walker 

18.08.2016 Comment Mick Williamson  

18.08.2016 Comment Roland Jeffery 

18.08.2016 Comment Richard Hickey 

18.08.2016 Comment Christine Gordon 

18.08.2016 Comment Harry Shawyer 

18.08.2016 Comment Ken Hodgson 

18.08.2016 Comment Alison Beardwood 

19.08.2016 Comment Michael O’Rorke 

19.08.2016 Comment Jan Savage 

20.08.2016 Comment Emma Grace Aldons 

20.08.2016 Comment Ann George 

21.08.2016 Comment Mary Eileen Heaslip 

21.08.2016 Comment John Folkard 

21.08.2018 Comment Philip Suggitt 

21.08.2016 Comment Joshua Mardell 

22.08.2016 Comment Nick Blake 

22.08.2016 Comment Polly Murphy 

22.08.2016 Comment Samuel Warshaw 

22.08.2016 Comment Philip Houldershaw 

22.08.2016 Comment Wanda Ashman 

23.08.2016 Comment Steve Orpin 

23.08.2016 Comment James Champness 

24.08.2016 Comment Martin Cummins 

25.08.2016 Comment Simon Williams 

Page 122



 
 

26.08.2016 Letter William Campbell-Taylor 

26.08.2016 Comment John Sinha 

27.08.2016 Comment Johanna Marshall 

28.08.2016 Comment Michael Beavan 

29.08.2016 Comment Helen Walasek 

31.08.2016 Comment Stephen Gray 

05.09.2016 Comment Peter Hampshire 

08.09.2016 Comment Daniel McHarg 

08.09.2016 Comment Sarah Witney 

09.09.2016 Comment Patricia Habberjam 

13.09.2016 Comment Adam Shipway 

13.09.2016Comment David Gill 

14.09.2016 Comment Philip Thrush 

15.09.2016 Comment John Cant 

19.08.2016 Comment Camilla Ford 

22.09.2016 Comment Bryan Munday 

22.09.2016 Comment Elaine Edge 

23.09.2016 Comment Nicholas Bailey 

29.09.2016 Comment Peter Filcek 

01.10.2016 Comment Matthew Orton 

27.10.2016 Comment Stefany Reich-Silber 

27.10.2016 Comment Giles Latcham 

27.10.2016 Comment Chris Harris 

04.11.2016 Comment Louise Reedl 

07.11.2016 Comment Gary Meaton 

08.11.2016 Comment Jonathan Smith 

20.11.2016 Comment Ruth Richardson 

28.11.2016 Comment Del Campbell 

12.12.2016 Comment Mathew Chambers 

12.12.2016 Comment Steven Hanscomb 

Page 123



 
 

17.12.2016 Comment Robert Picking 

09.01.2017 Letter Desmond Fitzpatrick 

15.11.2017 Comment Marc Haynes 

15.01.2018 Email Steve Hanscomb 

11.01.2019 Comment Seb Brennan 

11.01.2019 Comment Richard Williamson 

11.01.2019 Comment Peter Caseley 

11.01.2019 Comment Pat Taylor 

12.01.2019 Comment James White (Comment) 

12.01.2019 Comment Ruth Murray 

13.01.2019 Comment A McEvoy 

15.01.2019 Comment Stuart MacKay 

19.01.2019 Comment Anthony Taylor 

19.01.2019 Comment Emma Nagle 

19.01.2019 Comment Susan Drees 

19.01.2019 Comment William Wilkes-Wood 

19.01.2019 Comment Caroline Murray 

19.01.2019 Comment Nick Small 

19.01.2019 Comment Wanda Ashman 

19.01.2019 Comment Robin Greeley 

20.01.2019 Comment L Benevicius 

23.01.2019 Comment David Anderson 

29.01.2019 Letter J Cooper 

30.01.2019 Comment Emily Lane 

30.01.2019 Comment Theresa Pine 

30.01.2019Comment Harry Boggis-Rolfe 

30.01.2019 Comment Peter Thomas 

30.01.2019 Comment Wendy Forrest 

31.01.2019 Comment Tom Killick 

31.01.2019 Comment Angela Wood 

Page 124



 
 

04.02.2019 Comment Peter Dragonetti 

05.02.2019 Comment Duncan Gates 

06.02.2019 Comment Lee Christensen 

19.02.2019 Comment Sebastian Enser-Wight (support) 

22.02.2019 Comment M O’Rorke 

13.03.2019 Comment Nicola Barker 

08.05.2019 Comment Alexander Williams 

21.08.2019 Comment Peter Blair 

21.08.2019 Comment Wyn Morgan 

22.08.2019 Comment Bridget Furst 

22.08.2019 Comment Chris Connor 

25.08.2019 Comment Mike Watts 

30.08.2019 Comment Jo Cottle 

30.08.2019 Comment Adam Glisson 

30.08.2019 Comment John Gallinari 

31.08.2019 Comment Manuel Rodrigues 

17.11.2019 Comment Barry Klein 

01.12.2020 Comment H Company Ltd 

092-O-ACME-ST1-00-0008-E Existing Public Highway 

092-O-ACME-ST1-00-0009-C Building over existing Public Highway 

092-O-ACME-ST1-00-0010-B Projection over Public Highway 

092-O-ACME-ST1-00-0011-C Projection below Public Highway 

092-O-ACME-ST1-00-0016-B Public Highway After Completion 

092-O-ACME-ST1-00-0017-B Stopping up – Dedication 

Planning Statement March 2016 and March 2019 Gerald Eve 

Design and Access Statement March 2016 ACME 

Demolition management Plan March 2016 Coleman Group 

Energy and Sustainability Statement March 2016 RED 

Historic Environment Statement March 2016 MOLA 

Noise Assessment November 2015 Cole Jarman 

Page 125



 
 

Preliminary Ecological Assessment March 2016 The Ecology Consultancy 

Statement of Community Involvement March 2016 4 Communications 

Townscape and Visual Impact Assessment March 2016 Peter Steward 

Consultancy and Miller Hare 

Transport Assessment March 2016 Grontmij 

Air Quality Assessment June 2016 and September 2016 Air Quality 

Consultants 

Drainage Assessment Report June 2016 AKT Ltd 

E mail 15.07.2016 Environment Agency 

Letter 27.07.2016 Historic England 

Letter 03.08.2016 LB Tower Hamlets 

E mail 04.08.2016 Transport for London 

Letter 05.08.2016 The Victorian Society 

E mail 08.08.2016 Thames Water 

E mail 15.08.2016 D Pinto on behalf of CAMRA West London 

Letter 17.08.2016, 16.12.2016, London Underground 

D Bonnett responses 17.08.2016 

E mail 19.08.2016, 02.12.2016 Lead Local Flood Authority 

E mail Gerald Eve 08.09.2016 

E mail Lead Local Flood Authority 21.09.2016 

E mail Gerald Eve 26.10.2016 

BREEAM New Construction 2014 Pre-Assessment September 2016 RED 

Energy Statement October 2016 RED 

Letter 06.12.2016 Historic England 

Letter 09.12.2016 City Heritage Society 

Letter 18.01.2017 London Borough of Tower Hamlets 

Transport Assessment January 2019 SWECO 

Energy Sustainability Statement January 2019 RED 

Townscape and Visual Impact Assessment January 2019 Peter Stewart 

Consultancy and Miller Hare 

Page 126



 
 

Design and Access Statement January 2019 ACME 

Letter 20.02.2019 Historic England 

Memo 20.02.2019 Department of Markets and Consumer Protection 

(Pollution team) 

Letter 25.02.2019 London and Middlesex Archaeological Society (LAMAS) 

E mail 01.03.2019 Thames Water 

E mail 08.03.2019 Lead Local Flood Authority 

E mail 08.03.2019 Transport for London 

Letter 08.03.2019 London Borough of Southwark 

E mail 12.03 2019 Historic Royal Palaces 

E mail 19.03.2020 TfL Engineering 

Memo 25.03.2019 Department of Markets and Consumer Protection (Air 

Quality) 

Planning Statement April 2019 Gerald Eve 

Letter 15.07.2019 CAMRA (Greater London Region) 

CFD – Pedestrian Wind Comfort Assessment 

Letter 03.07.2020 London Borough of Tower Hamlets 

RED Energy Statement 18 June 2019 

Four – Statement of Community Involvement October 2020 

ACME Urban Greening Factor November 2020 

Air Quality Consultants – Air Quality Neutral Assessment October 2020 

GIA Daylight and Sunlight report March 2019 

Temple Rapid Health Impact Assessment November 2020 

Hoare Lea BREEAM comparison 2014 to 2018 

Akt II Circular Economy Statement November 2020 

BB7 Fire Strategy Report November 2020 

ACME Cultural Plan November 2020 

E mail 01.12.2020 Transport for London   

Page 127



 
 

Appendix B 

Policy GG1 (Building strong and inclusive communities) encourages early and 
inclusive engagement with stakeholders, including local communities, in the 
development of proposals, seeking to ensure positive changes to the physical 
environment and provide access to good quality community spaces, services, 
amenities and infrastructure. In addition, it supports London continuing to 
generate a wide range of economic and other opportunities promoting 
fairness, inclusivity and equality.  

Policy GG2 (Making the best use of land) supports the prioritisation of well 
connected sites for development including intensifying the use of land to 
support, amongst other things, workspaces, and promoting higher density 
development, particularly in locations that are well-connected to jobs, 
services, infrastructure and amenities by public transport, walking and cycling.  

Policy GG3 (Creating a healthy city) seeks to "ensure that new buildings are 
well-insulated and sufficiently ventilated to avoid the health problems 
associated with damp, heat and cold" and to "promote more active and 
healthy lives for all Londoners and enable them to make healthy choices."  

Policy GGS (Growing a good economy) recognises the strategic aim to 
"promote the strength and potential of the wider city region", including the 
support and promotion of "sufficient employment and industrial space in the 
right locations to support economic development and regeneration."  

Policy SD4 (The Central Activities Zone (CAZ)) states that "the nationally and 
internationally significant office functions of the CAZ should be supported and 
enhanced by all stakeholders, including the intensification and provision of 
sufficient space to meet demand for a range of types and sizes of occupier 
and rental values".  

Policy SD5 (Offices, other strategic functions and residential development in 
the CAZ) states that "offices and other CAZ strategic functions are to be given 
greater weight relative to new residential development."  

Policy D4 states that "design and access statements submitted with 
development proposals should demonstrate that the proposal meets the 
design requirements of the London Plan."  

Policy D5 (Inclusive Design) seeks to achieve the highest standard of 
accessible and inclusive design across new developments. 

Policy D8 (Public Realm) establishes criteria for proposals which include 
public realm space. These criteria include making public realm "well-designed, 
safe, accessible, inclusive, attractive, well-connected, related to the local and 
historic context, and easy to understand, service and maintain. Landscape 
treatment, planting, street furniture and surface materials should be of good 
quality, fit-for purpose, durable and sustainable. Lighting, including for 
advertisements, should be carefully considered and well-designed in order to 
minimise intrusive lighting infrastructure and reduce light pollution."  

Page 128



 
 

Policy D11 (Safety, security and resilience to emergency) states that 
"development proposals should maximise building resilience and minimise 
potential physical risks, including those arising as a result of extreme weather, 
fire, flood and related hazards. Development should include measures to 
design out crime that - in proportion to the risk - deter terrorism, assist in the 
detection of terrorist activity and help mitigate its effects. These measures 
should be considered at the start of the design process to ensure they are 
inclusive and aesthetically integrated into the development and the wider 
area."  

Policy D12 (Fire Safety) encourages proposals to achieve the highest 
standards of fire safety and ensure that they: "1) identify suitably positioned 
unobstructed outside space for fire appliances to be positioned on and which 
is appropriate for use as an evacuation assembly point; 2) are designed to 
incorporate appropriate features which reduce the risk to life and the risk of 
serious injury in the event of a fire."  

Policy D14 (Noise) seeks to avoid significant adverse noise impacts on health 
and quality of life, and mitigating and minimising the existing and potential 
adverse impacts of noise on, from, within, as a result of, or in the vicinity of 
new development.  

Policy S1 (Developing London's social infrastructure) states that development 
proposals should provide high quality, inclusive social infrastructure that 
addresses a local or strategic need and supports service delivery strategies. 
New facilities should be easily accessible by public transport, cycling and 
walking and should be encouraged in high streets and town centres.  

Policy El (Offices) explicitly supports increases in the current office stock, 
noting that "improvements to the quality, flexibility and adaptability of office 
space of different sizes (for micro, small, medium-sized and larger 
enterprises) should be supported by new office provision, refurbishment and 
mixed-use development."  

Policy E2 (Providing suitable business space) states that Boroughs should 
seek to "support the provision, and where appropriate, protection of a range of 
B Use Class business space, in terms of type, use and size, at an appropriate 
range of rents, to meet the needs of micro, small and medium-sized 
enterprises and to support firms wishing to start-up or expand." The policy 
also states that "development proposals for new B Use Class business 
floorspace greater than 2,500 sqm (gross external area), or a locally 
determined lower threshold in a local Development Plan Document, should 
consider the scope to provide a proportion of flexible workspace or smaller 
units suitable for micro, small and medium-sized enterprises."  

Policy E9 (Retail, markets and hot food takeaways) states that development 
proposals should enhance local and neighbourhood shopping facilities and 
prevent the loss of retail. Proposals should also bring forward capacity for 

Page 129



 
 

additional comparison goods retailing particularly in International, Metropolitan 
and Major town centres.  

Policy HC1 (Heritage conservation and growth) requires development 
proposals "should demonstrate a clear understanding of the historic 
environment and the heritage values of sites or areas and their relationship 
with their surroundings."  

Policy HC3 (Strategic and Local Views) states that development proposals 
must be assessed for their impact on a designated view if they fall within the 
foreground, middle ground or background of that view.  

Policy HC4 (London View Management Framework) states that "development 
proposals should not harm, and should seek to make a positive contribution 
to, the characteristics and composition of Strategic Views and their landmark 
elements. They should also preserve and, where possible, enhance viewers' 
ability to recognise and to appreciate Strategically-Important Landmarks in 
these views and, where appropriate, protect the silhouette of landmark 
elements of World Heritage Sites as seen from designated viewing places."  

Policy G1 (Green infrastructure) states that "development proposals should 
incorporate appropriate elements of green infrastructure that are integrated 
into London's wider green infrastructure network."  

Policy G4 (Open space) identifies that "development proposals should 1) not 
result in the loss of protected open space; 2) where possible create areas of 
publicly accessible open space, particularly in areas of deficiency."  

Policy GS (Urban greening) states that "major development proposals should 
contribute to the greening of London by including urban greening as a 
fundamental element of site and building design, and by incorporating 
measures such as high quality landscaping (including trees), green roofs, 
green walIs and nature-based sustainable drainage."  

Policy G6 (Biodiversity and access to nature) states that "development 
proposals should manage impacts on biodiversity and aim to secure net 
biodiversity gain. This should be informed by the best available ecological 
information and addressed from the start of the development process."  

Policy SI1 (Improving air quality) states that "development proposals should 
not: a) lead to further deterioration of existing poor air quality; b) create any 
new areas that exceed air quality limits, or delay the date at which compliance 
wilI be achieved in areas that are currently in exceedance of legal limits; c) 
create unacceptable risk of high levels of exposure to poor air quality."  

Policy SI2 (Minimising greenhouse gas emissions) requires that all new major 
development should be net zero-carbon. Major development proposals should 
also include a detailed energy strategy to demonstrate how the zero-carbon 
target will be met within the framework of the energy hierarchy.  

Page 130



 
 

Policy SI3 (Energy infrastructure) states that "development proposals should: 
1) identify the need for, and suitable sites for, any necessary energy 
infrastructure requirements including energy centres, energy storage and 
upgrades to existing infrastructure; 2) identify existing heating and cooling 
networks, identify proposed locations for future heating and cooling networks 
and identify opportunities for expanding and inter- connecting existing 
networks as we!! as establishing new networks."  

Policy SI4 (Managing heat risk) identifies that "development proposals should 
minimise adverse impacts on the urban heat island through design, layout, 
orientation, materials and the incorporation of green infrastructure." The policy 
also states that "major development proposals should demonstrate through an 
energy strategy how they will reduce the potential for internal overheating and 
reliance on air conditioning systems."  

Policy SI7 (Reducing waste and supporting the circular economy) identifies 
that "referable applications should promote circular economy outcomes and 
aim to be net zero-waste."  

Policy SI12 (Flood risk management) requires development proposals to 
"ensure that flood risk is minimised and mitigated, and that residual risk is 
addressed. This should include, where possible, making space for water and 
aiming for development to be set back from the banks of watercourses."  

Policy SI13 (Sustainable drainage) states that "development proposals should 
aim to achieve greenfield run-off rates and ensure that surface water run-off is 
managed as close to its source as possible."  

Policy Tl (Strategic approach to transport) highlights that development "should 
make the most effective use of land, reflecting its connectivity and 
accessibility by existing and future public transport, walking and cycling 
routes, and ensure that any impacts on London's transport networks and 
supporting infrastructure are mitigated." Development that promotes walking 
through improved public realm is also supported.  

Policy T2 (Healthy streets) encourages development proposals to deliver 
patterns of land use that facilitate residents making shorter, regular trips by 
walking or cycling. Proposals should "1) demonstrate how they will deliver 
improvements that support the ten Healthy Streets Indicators in line with 
Transport for London guidance; 2) reduce the dominance of vehicles on 
London's streets whether stationary or moving; 3) be permeable by foot and 
cycle and connect to local walking and cycling networks as well as public 
transport."  

Policy T3 (Transport capacity, connectivity and safeguarding) states that 
"development proposals should support capacity, connectivity and other 
improvements to the bus network and ensure it can operate efficiently to, from 
and within developments, giving priority to buses and supporting infrastructure 
as needed."  

Page 131



 
 

Policy T4 (Assessing and mitigating transport impacts) notes that "where 
appropriate, mitigation, either through direct provision of public transport, 
walking and cycling facilities and highways improvements or through financial 
contributions, will be required to address adverse transport impacts that are 
identified."  

Policy TS (Cycling) supports increases in cycling across London through the 
provision of secure, integrated, convenient and accessible cycle parking 
facilities as well as associated changing and facilities and showers.  

Policy T6 (Car parking) sets out parking standards which need to be complied 
with and that "car- free development should be the starting point for all 
development proposals in places that are (or are planned to be) well 
connected by public transport."  

Policy T7 (Deliveries, servicing and construction) states that "development 
proposals should facilitate safe, clean, and efficient deliveries and servicing. 
Provision of adequate space for servicing, storage and deliveries should be 
made off-street, with on-street loading bays only used where this is not 
possible. Construction Logistics Plans and Delivery and Servicing Plans will 
be required and should be developed in accordance with Transport for 
London guidance and in a way which reflects the scale and complexities of 
developments. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 132



 
 

Relevant Draft City Plan 2036 Policies 

S1 Healthy and inclusive city 

HL1 Inclusive buildings and spaces 

HL2 Air quality 

HL3 Noise and light pollution 

HL4 Contaminated land and water quality 

HL9 Health Impact Assessments 

S2 Safe and Secure City 

SA1 Crowded Places 

SA3 Designing in security 

HS3 Residential environment 

S4 Offices 

OF1 Office development 

S5 Retailing 

RE2 Retail links 

S6 Culture, Visitors and the Night -time Economy 

CV5 Public Art 

S7 Smart Infrastructure and Utilities 

S8 Design 

DE1 Sustainability requirements 

DE2 New development 

DE3 Public realm 

DE4 Pedestrian permeability 

DE8 Daylight and sunlight 

DE9 Lighting 

S9 Vehicular transport and servicing 

VT1 The impacts of development on transport 

VT2 Freight and servicing 

VT3 Vehicle Parking 

S10 Active travel and healthy streets 

Page 133



 
 

AT1 Pedestrian movement 

AT2 Active travel including cycling 

AT3 Cycle parking 

S11 Historic environment 

HE1 Managing change to heritage assets 

HE2 Ancient monuments and archaeology 

S13 Protected Views 

S14 Open spaces and green infrastructure 

OS2 City greening 

OS3 Biodiversity 

OS4 Trees 

S15 Climate resilience and flood risk 

CR1 Overheating and Urban Heat Island effect 

CR2 Flood Risk 

CR3 Sustainable drainage systems (SuDS) 

S16 Circular economy and waste 

CE1 Zero Waste City 

S20 Aldgate, Tower and Portsoken 

S27 Planning contributions  

Page 134



 
 

Relevant Local Plan Policies 
 
CS1 Provide additional  offices 

 
To ensure the City of London provides additional office development of 
the highest quality to meet demand from long term employment growth 
and strengthen the beneficial cluster of activities found in and near the 
City that contribute to London's role as the world's leading international 
financial and business centre. 

 
CS2 Facilitate utilities infrastructure 

 
To co-ordinate and facilitate infrastructure planning and delivery to 
ensure that the functioning and growth of the City's business, resident, 
student and visitor communities is not limited by provision of utilities and 
telecommunications infrastructure. 

 
CS3 Ensure security from crime/terrorism 

 
To ensure that the City is secure from crime, disorder and terrorism, has 
safety systems of transport and is designed and managed to 
satisfactorily accommodate large numbers of people, thereby increasing 
public and corporate confidence in the City's role as the world's leading 
international financial and business centre. 

 
CS4 Seek planning contributions 

 
To manage the impact of development, seeking appropriate developer 
contributions. 

 
CS8 Meet challenges facing Aldgate area 

 
To regenerate the amenities and environment of the Aldgate area for 
businesses, residents, workers, visitors and students, promoting 
development and investment. 

 
CS10 Promote high quality environment 

 
To promote a high standard and sustainable design of buildings, streets 
and spaces, having regard to their surroundings and the character of the 
City and creating an inclusive and attractive environment. 

 
CS12 Conserve or enhance heritage assets 

 
To conserve or enhance the significance of the City's heritage assets 
and their settings, and provide an attractive environment for the City's 
communities and visitors. 

 
 
 

Page 135



 
 

CS13 Protect/enhance significant views 
 
To protect and enhance significant City and London views of important 
buildings, townscape and skylines, making a substantial contribution to 
protecting the overall heritage of the City's landmarks. 

 
CS15 Creation of sustainable development 

 
To enable City businesses and residents to make sustainable choices in 
their daily activities creating a more sustainable City, adapted to the 
changing climate. 

 
CS16 Improving transport and travel 

 
To build on the City's strategic central London position and good 
transport infrastructure to further improve the sustainability and efficiency 
of travel in, to, from and through the City. 

 
CS17 Minimising and managing waste 

 
To support City businesses, residents and visitors in making sustainable 
choices regarding the minimisation, transport and management of their 
waste, capitalising on the City's riverside location for sustainable waste 
transfer and eliminating reliance on landfill for municipal solid waste 
(MSW). 

 
CS18 Minimise flood risk 

 
To ensure that the City remains at low risk from all types of flooding. 

 
CS19 Improve open space and biodiversity 

 
To encourage healthy lifestyles for all the City's communities through 
improved access to open space and facilities, increasing the amount and 
quality of open spaces and green infrastructure, while enhancing 
biodiversity. 

 
CS20 Improve retail facilities 

 
To improve the quantity and quality of retailing and the retail 
environment, promoting the development of the five Principal Shopping 
Centres and the linkages between them. 

 
DM1.1 Protection of office accommodation 

 
To refuse the loss of existing (B1) office accommodation to other uses 
where the building or its site is considered to be suitable for long-term 
viable office use and there are strong economic reasons why the loss 
would be inappropriate. Losses would be inappropriate for any of the 
following reasons:  

Page 136



 
 

 
a) prejudicing the primary business function of the City;   
b) jeopardising the future assembly and delivery of large office 
development sites;   
c) removing existing stock for which there is demand in the office 
market or long term viable need;    
d) introducing uses that adversely affect the existing beneficial mix 
of commercial uses. 

 
DM1.2 Protection of large office sites 

 
To promote the assembly and development of sites for large office 
schemes in appropriate locations. The City Corporation will:   
 
a) assist developers in identifying large sites where large floorplate 
buildings may be appropriate;   
b) invoke compulsory purchase powers, where appropriate and 
necessary, to assemble large sites;   
c) ensure that where large sites are developed with smaller 
buildings, the design and mix of uses provides flexibility for potential 
future site re-amalgamation;   
d) resist development and land uses in and around potential large 
sites that would jeopardise their future assembly, development and 
operation, unless there is no realistic prospect of the site coming forward 
for redevelopment during the Plan period. 

 
DM1.3 Small and medium business units 

 
To promote small and medium sized businesses in the City by 
encouraging:  
 
a) new accommodation suitable for small and medium sized 
businesses or occupiers;   
b) office designs which are flexible and adaptable to allow for sub-
division to create small and medium sized business units;  
c) continued use of existing small and medium sized units which 
meet occupier needs. 

 
DM1.5 Mixed uses in commercial areas 

 
To encourage a mix of commercial uses within office developments 
which contribute to the City's economy and character and provide 
support services for its businesses, workers and residents. 

 
DM2.1  Infrastructure provision 

 
1) Developers will be required to demonstrate, in conjunction with 
utility providers, that there will be adequate utility infrastructure capacity, 
both on and off the site, to serve the development during construction 
and operation. Development should not lead to capacity or reliability 

Page 137



 
 

problems in the surrounding area. Capacity projections must take 
account of climate change impacts which may influence future 
infrastructure demand. 
 
2) Utility infrastructure and connections must be designed into and 
integrated with the development wherever possible. As a minimum, 
developers should identify and plan for: 
 
a) electricity supply to serve the construction phase and the 
intended use for the site, and identify, in conjunction with electricity 
providers, Temporary Building Supply(TBS) for the construction phase 
and the estimated load capacity of the building and the substations and 
routes for supply; 
b) reasonable gas and water supply considering the need to 
conserve natural resources; 
c) heating and cooling demand and the viability of its provision via 
decentralised energy (DE) networks.  Designs must incorporate access 
to existing DE networks where feasible and viable; 
d) telecommunications network demand, including wired and 
wireless infrastructure, planning for dual entry provision, where possible, 
through communal entry chambers and flexibility to address future 
technological improvements; 
e) separate surface water and foul drainage requirements within 
the proposed building or site, including provision of Sustainable 
Drainage Systems (SuDS), rainwater harvesting and grey-water 
recycling, minimising discharge to the combined sewer network. 
 
3) In planning for utility infrastructure developers and utility 
providers must provide entry and connection points within the 
development which relate to the City's established utility infrastructure 
networks, utilising pipe subway routes wherever feasible. Sharing of 
routes with other nearby developments and the provision of new pipe 
subway facilities adjacent to buildings will be encouraged. 
 
4) Infrastructure provision must be completed prior to occupation of 
the development. Where potential capacity problems are identified and 
no improvements are programmed by the utility company, the City 
Corporation will require the developer to facilitate appropriate 
improvements, which may require the provision of space within new 
developments for on-site infrastructure or off-site infrastructure 
upgrades. 

 
DM3.2 Security measures 

 
To ensure that security measures are included in new developments, 
applied to existing buildings and their curtilage, by requiring: 
 
a) building-related security measures, including those related to the 
servicing of the building, to be located within the development's 
boundaries; 

Page 138



 
 

b) measures to be integrated with those of adjacent buildings and 
the public realm; 
c) that security is considered at the concept design or early 
developed design phases of all development proposals to avoid the 
need to retro-fit measures that impact on the public realm;  
d) developers to seek recommendations from the City of London 
Police Architectural Liaison Officer at the design stage. New 
development should meet Secured by Design principles;  
e) the provision of service management plans for all large 
development, demonstrating that vehicles seeking access to the building 
can do so without waiting on the public highway; 
f) an assessment of the environmental impact of security measures, 
particularly addressing visual impact and impact on pedestrian flows. 

 
DM3.3 Crowded places 

 
On all major developments, applicants will be required to satisfy 
principles and standards that address the issues of crowded places and 
counter-terrorism, by: 
 
a) conducting a full risk assessment; 
b) keeping access points to the development to a minimum; 
c) ensuring that public realm and pedestrian permeability 
associated with a building or site is not adversely impacted, and that 
design considers the application of Hostile Vehicle Mitigation measures 
at an early stage; 
d) ensuring early consultation with the City of London Police on risk 
mitigation measures; 
e) providing necessary measures that relate to the appropriate 
level of crowding in a site, place or wider area. 

 
DM10.1 New development 

 
To require all developments, including alterations and extensions to 
existing buildings, to be of a high standard of design and to avoid harm 
to the townscape and public realm, by ensuring that: 
 
a) the bulk and massing of schemes are appropriate in relation to 
their surroundings and have due regard to the general scale, height, 
building lines, character, historic interest and significance, urban grain 
and materials of the locality and relate well to the character of streets, 
squares, lanes, alleys and passageways;  
b) all development is of a high standard of design and architectural 
detail with elevations that have an appropriate depth and quality of 
modelling; 
c) appropriate, high quality and durable materials are used; 
d) the design and materials avoid unacceptable wind impacts at 
street level or intrusive solar glare impacts on the surrounding 
townscape and public realm; 

Page 139



 
 

e) development has attractive and visually interesting street level 
elevations, providing active frontages wherever possible to maintain or 
enhance the vitality of the City's streets; 
f) the design of the roof is visually integrated into the overall design of the 
building when seen from both street level views and higher level 
viewpoints; 
g) plant and building services equipment are fully screened from 
view and integrated in to the design of the building.  Installations that 
would adversely affect the character, appearance or amenities of the 
buildings or area will be resisted; 
h) servicing entrances are designed to minimise their effects on the 
appearance of the building and street scene and are fully integrated into 
the building's design; 
i) there is provision of appropriate hard and soft landscaping, including 
appropriate boundary treatments; 
j) the external illumination of buildings is carefully designed to ensure 
visual sensitivity, minimal energy use and light pollution, and the discreet 
integration of light fittings into the building design; 
k) there is provision of amenity space, where appropriate; 
l) there is the highest standard of accessible and inclusive design. 

 
DM10.2 Design of green roofs and walls 

 
1) To encourage the installation of green roofs on all appropriate 
developments. On each building the maximum practicable coverage of 
green roof should be achieved. Extensive green roofs are preferred and 
their design should aim to maximise the roof's environmental benefits, 
including biodiversity, run-off attenuation and building insulation. 
 
2) To encourage the installation of green walls in appropriate 
locations, and to ensure that they are satisfactorily maintained. 

 
DM10.3 Roof gardens and terraces 

 
1) To encourage high quality roof gardens and terraces where they 
do not: 
 
a) immediately overlook residential premises; 
b) adversely affect rooflines or roof profiles; 
c) result in the loss of historic or locally distinctive roof forms, 
features or coverings; 
d) impact on identified views. 
 
2) Public access will be sought where feasible in new development. 

 
DM10.4 Environmental enhancement 

 
The City Corporation will work in partnership with developers, Transport 
for London and other organisations to design and implement schemes 
for the enhancement of highways, the public realm and other spaces. 

Page 140



 
 

Enhancement schemes should be of a high standard of design, 
sustainability, surface treatment and landscaping, having regard to:  
 
a) the predominant use of the space, surrounding buildings and 
adjacent spaces; 
b) connections between spaces and the provision of pleasant 
walking routes;  
c) the use of natural materials, avoiding an excessive range and 
harmonising with the surroundings of the scheme and materials used 
throughout the City; 
d) the inclusion of trees and soft landscaping and the promotion of 
biodiversity, where feasible linking up existing green spaces and routes 
to provide green corridors; 
e) the City's heritage, retaining and identifying features that 
contribute positively to the character and appearance of the City; 
f) sustainable drainage, where feasible, co-ordinating the design with 
adjacent buildings in order to implement rainwater recycling; 
g) the need to provide accessible and inclusive design, ensuring 
that streets and walkways remain uncluttered; 
h) the need for pedestrian priority and enhanced permeability, 
minimising the conflict between pedestrians and cyclists; 
i) the need to resist the loss of routes and spaces that enhance the City's 
function, character and historic interest; 
j) the use of high quality street furniture to enhance and delineate the 
public realm; 
k) lighting which should be sensitively co-ordinated with the design 
of the scheme. 

 
DM10.8 Access and inclusive design 

 
To achieve an environment that meets the highest standards of 
accessibility and inclusive design in all developments (both new and 
refurbished), open spaces and streets, ensuring that the City of London 
is: 
 
a) inclusive and safe for of all who wish to use it, regardless of 
disability, age, gender, ethnicity, faith or economic circumstance;  
b) convenient and welcoming with no disabling barriers, ensuring 
that everyone can experience independence without undue effort, 
separation or special treatment; 
c) responsive to the needs of all users who visit, work or live in the 
City, whilst recognising that one solution might not work for all. 

 
DM12.1 Change affecting heritage assets 

 
1. To sustain and enhance heritage assets, their settings and 
significance. 
 
2. Development proposals, including proposals for 
telecommunications infrastructure, that have an effect upon heritage 

Page 141



 
 

assets, including their settings, should be accompanied by supporting 
information to assess and evaluate the significance of heritage assets 
and the degree of impact caused by the development.  
 
3. The loss of routes and spaces that contribute to the character 
and historic interest of the City will be resisted. 
 
4. Development will be required to respect the significance, 
character, scale and amenities of surrounding heritage assets and 
spaces and their settings. 
 
5. Proposals for sustainable development, including the 
incorporation of climate change adaptation measures, must be sensitive 
to heritage assets. 

 
DM12.4 Archaeology 

 
1. To require planning applications which involve excavation or 
ground works on sites of archaeological potential to be accompanied by 
an archaeological assessment and evaluation of the site, including the 
impact of the proposed development. 
 
2. To preserve, protect, safeguard and enhance archaeological 
monuments, remains and their settings in development, and to seek a 
public display and interpretation, where appropriate.  
 
3. To require proper investigation and recording of archaeological 
remains as an integral part of a development programme, and 
publication and archiving of results to advance understanding. 

 
DM15.1 Sustainability requirements 

 
1. Sustainability Statements must be submitted with all planning 
applications in order to ensure that sustainability is integrated into 
designs for all development. 
 
2. For major development (including new development and 
refurbishment) the Sustainability Statement should include as a 
minimum: 
 
a) BREEAM or Code for Sustainable Homes pre-assessment; 
b) an energy statement in line with London Plan requirements; 
c) demonstration of climate change resilience measures. 
 
3. BREEAM or Code for Sustainable Homes assessments should 
demonstrate sustainability in aspects which are of particular significance 
in the City's high density urban environment. Developers should aim to 
achieve the maximum possible credits to address the City's priorities. 
 

Page 142



 
 

4. Innovative sustainability solutions will be encouraged to ensure 
that the City's buildings remain at the forefront of sustainable building 
design. Details should be included in the Sustainability Statement. 
 
5. Planning conditions will be used to ensure that Local Plan 
assessment targets are met. 

 
DM15.2 Energy and CO2 emissions 

 
1. Development design must take account of location, building 
orientation, internal layouts and landscaping to reduce likely energy 
consumption. 
 
2. For all major development energy assessments must be 
submitted with the application demonstrating: 
 
a) energy efficiency - showing the maximum improvement over 
current Building Regulations to achieve the required Fabric Energy 
Efficiency Standards; 
b) carbon compliance levels required to meet national targets for 
zero carbon development using low and zero carbon technologies, 
where feasible;  
c) where on-site carbon emission reduction is unviable, offsetting 
of residual CO2 emissions through "allowable solutions" for the lifetime 
of the building to achieve national targets for zero-carbon homes and 
non-domestic buildings. Achievement of zero carbon buildings in 
advance of national target dates will be encouraged;  
d) anticipated residual power loads and routes for supply. 

 
DM15.3 Low and zero carbon technologies 

 
1. For development with a peak heat demand of 100 kilowatts or 
more developers should investigate the feasibility and viability of 
connecting to existing decentralised energy networks. This should 
include investigation of the potential for extensions of existing heating 
and cooling networks to serve the development and development of new 
networks where existing networks are not available. Connection routes 
should be designed into the development where feasible and connection 
infrastructure should be incorporated wherever it is viable. 
 
2. Where connection to offsite decentralised energy networks is not 
feasible, installation of on-site CCHP and the potential to create new 
localised decentralised energy infrastructure through the export of 
excess heat must be considered 
 
3. Where connection is not feasible or viable, all development with 
a peak heat demand of 100 kilowatts or more should be designed to 
enable connection to potential future decentralised energy networks. 
 

Page 143



 
 

4. Other low and zero carbon technologies must be evaluated. Non 
combustion based technologies should be prioritised in order to avoid 
adverse impacts on air quality. 

 
DM15.4 Offsetting carbon emissions 

 
1. All feasible and viable on-site or near-site options for carbon 
emission reduction must be applied before consideration of offsetting. 
Any remaining carbon emissions calculated for the lifetime of the 
building that cannot be mitigated on-site will need to be offset using 
"allowable solutions". 
 
2. Where carbon targets cannot be met on-site the City 
Corporation will require carbon abatement elsewhere or a financial 
contribution, negotiated through a S106 planning obligation to be made 
to an approved carbon offsetting scheme.  
 
3. Offsetting may also be applied to other resources including 
water resources and rainwater run-off to meet sustainability targets off-
site where on-site compliance is not feasible. 

 
DM15.5 Climate change resilience 

 
1. Developers will be required to demonstrate through 
Sustainability Statements that all major developments are resilient to the 
predicted climate conditions during the building's lifetime.  
 
2. Building designs should minimise any contribution to the urban 
heat island effect caused by heat retention and waste heat expulsion in 
the built environment. 

 
DM15.6 Air quality 

 
1. Developers will be required to consider the impact of their 
proposals on air quality and, where appropriate, provide an Air Quality 
Impact Assessment. 
  
2. Development that would result in deterioration of the City's 
nitrogen dioxide or PM10 pollution levels will be resisted.    
 
3. Major developments will be required to maximise credits for the 
pollution section of the BREEAM or Code for Sustainable Homes 
assessment relating to on-site emissions of oxides of nitrogen (NOx). 
 
4. Developers will be encouraged to install non-combustion low 
and zero carbon energy technology. A detailed air quality impact 
assessment will be required for combustion based low and zero carbon 
technologies, such as CHP plant and biomass or biofuel boilers, and 
necessary mitigation must be approved by the City Corporation. 
 

Page 144



 
 

5. Construction and deconstruction and the transport of 
construction materials and waste must be carried out in such a way as to 
minimise air quality impacts. 
 
6. Air intake points should be located away from existing and 
potential pollution sources (e.g. busy roads and combustion flues). All 
combustion flues should terminate above the roof height of the tallest 
building in the development in order to ensure maximum dispersion of 
pollutants. 

 
DM15.7 Noise and light pollution 

 
1. Developers will be required to consider the impact of their 
developments on the noise environment and where appropriate provide 
a noise assessment. The layout, orientation, design and use of buildings 
should ensure that operational noise does not adversely affect 
neighbours, particularly noise-sensitive land uses such as housing, 
hospitals, schools and quiet open spaces.  
 
2. Any potential noise conflict between existing activities and new 
development should be minimised. Where the avoidance of noise 
conflicts is impractical, mitigation measures such as noise attenuation 
and restrictions on operating hours will be implemented through 
appropriate planning conditions. 
 
3. Noise and vibration from deconstruction and construction 
activities must be minimised and mitigation measures put in place to limit 
noise disturbance in the vicinity of the development. 
 
4. Developers will be required to demonstrate that there will be no 
increase in background noise levels associated with new plant and 
equipment.  
 
5. Internal and external lighting should be designed to reduce 
energy consumption, avoid spillage of light beyond where it is needed 
and protect the amenity of light-sensitive uses such as housing, 
hospitals and areas of importance for nature conservation. 

 
DM16.1 Transport impacts of development 

 
1. Development proposals that are likely to have effects on 
transport must be accompanied by an assessment of the transport 
implications during both construction and operation, in particular 
addressing impacts on: 
 
a) road dangers; 
b) pedestrian environment and movement; 
c) cycling infrastructure provision; 
d) public transport; 
e) the street network.  

Page 145



 
 

 
2. Transport Assessments and Travel Plans should be used to 
demonstrate adherence to the City Corporation's transportation 
standards. 

 
DM16.2 Pedestrian movement 

 
1. Pedestrian movement must be facilitated by provision of suitable 
pedestrian routes through and around new developments, by 
maintaining pedestrian routes at ground level, and the upper level 
walkway network around the Barbican and London Wall. 
 
2. The loss of a pedestrian route will normally only be permitted 
where an alternative public pedestrian route of at least an equivalent 
standard is provided having regard to: 
 
a) the extent to which the route provides for current and all 
reasonably foreseeable future demands placed upon it, including at peak 
periods;  
b) the shortest practicable routes between relevant points. 
 
3. Routes of historic importance should be safeguarded as part of 
the City's characteristic pattern of lanes, alleys and courts, including the 
route's historic alignment and width. 
 
4. The replacement of a route over which pedestrians have rights, 
with one to which the public have access only with permission will not 
normally be acceptable. 
 
5. Public access across private land will be encouraged where it 
enhances the connectivity, legibility and capacity of the City's street 
network. Spaces should be designed so that signage is not necessary 
and it is clear to the public that access is allowed. 
 
6. The creation of new pedestrian rights of way will be encouraged 
where this would improve movement and contribute to the character of 
an area, taking into consideration pedestrian routes and movement in 
neighbouring areas and boroughs, where relevant. 

 
DM16.3 Cycle parking 

 
1. On-site cycle parking must be provided in accordance with the 
local standards set out in Table 16.2 or, for other land uses, with the 
standards of the London Plan. Applicants will be encouraged to exceed 
the standards set out in Table 16.2. 
 
2. On-street cycle parking in suitable locations will be encouraged 
to meet the needs of cyclists. 

 
 

Page 146



 
 

DM17.1 Provision for waste 
 
1. Waste facilities must be integrated into the design of buildings, 
wherever feasible, and allow for the separate storage and collection of 
recyclable materials, including compostable material.    
 
2. On-site waste management, through techniques such as 
recyclate sorting or energy recovery, which minimises the need for waste 
transfer, should be incorporated wherever possible. 

 
DM18.2 Sustainable drainage systems 

 
1. The design of the surface water drainage system should be 
integrated into the design of proposed buildings or landscaping, where 
feasible and practical, and should follow the SuDS management train 
(Fig T) and London Plan drainage hierarchy. 
 
2. SuDS designs must take account of the City's archaeological 
heritage, complex underground utilities, transport infrastructure and 
other underground structures, incorporating suitable SuDS elements for 
the City's high density urban situation. 
 
3. SuDS should be designed, where possible, to maximise 
contributions to water resource efficiency, biodiversity enhancement and 
the provision of multifunctional open spaces. 

 
DM19.2 Biodiversity and urban greening 

 
Developments should promote biodiversity and contribute to urban 
greening by incorporating:  
 
a) green roofs and walls, soft landscaping and trees; 
b) features for wildlife, such as nesting boxes and beehives; 
c) a planting mix which encourages biodiversity; 
d) planting which will be resilient to a range of climate conditions; 
e) maintenance of habitats within Sites of Importance for Nature 
Conservation. 

 
DM21.3 Residential environment 

 
1. The amenity of existing residents within identified residential 
areas will be protected by: 
 
a) resisting other uses which would cause undue noise 
disturbance, fumes and smells and vehicle or pedestrian movements 
likely to cause disturbance;  
b) requiring new development near existing dwellings to 
demonstrate adequate mitigation measures to address detrimental 
impact. 
 

Page 147



 
 

2. Noise-generating uses should be sited away from residential 
uses, where possible. Where residential and other uses are located 
within the same development or area, adequate noise mitigation 
measures must be provided and, where required, planning conditions 
will be imposed to protect residential amenity.  
 
3. All development proposals should be designed to avoid 
overlooking and seek to protect the privacy, day lighting and sun lighting 
levels to adjacent residential accommodation.  
 
4. All new residential development proposals must demonstrate 
how potential adverse noise impacts on and between dwellings will be 
mitigated by housing layout, design and materials. 
 
5. The cumulative impact of individual developments on the 
amenity of existing residents will be considered. 

 

Page 148



 
 

SCHEDULE 
 
APPLICATION: 16/00406/FULMAJ 
 
15 Minories, 57-60 & 62 Aldgate High Street And 1 Little Somerset Street 
London EC3  
 
Demolition of existing structures, and erection of a mixed use office 
building, including ground floor flexible retail/cafe/commercial uses 
(Class E) and a public house (sui generis) (35,672 sqm GEA). 
 
 

CONDITIONS 
 
 1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the 

expiration of five years from the date of this permission.  
 REASON: To ensure compliance with the terms of Section 91 of the 

Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
 2 No part of the Still and Star public house shall be demolished before a 

contract or series of contracts have been made for the carrying out of 
substantial works of redevelopment and planning permission has been 
granted for the development for which the contracts provide. Such 
contracts shall include the construction of all foundations, above 
ground framework and floor structures.  

 REASON: To ensure the protection of the public house as a cultural 
facility and non-designated heritage asset, until a replacement has 
been secured in accordance with the following policies of the Local 
Plan: DM11.1, DM12.1. 

 
 3 There shall be no demolition on the site until a scheme for protecting 

nearby residents and commercial occupiers from noise, dust and other 
environmental effects has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall be based on the 
Department of Markets and Consumer Protection's Code of Practice for 
Deconstruction and Construction Sites and arrangements for liaison 
and monitoring (including any agreed monitoring contribution)  set out 
therein. The applicant shall consult the owners and occupiers of 55-56 
Aldgate High Street no less than one month prior to the submission of 
the approval of details for this condition. A staged scheme of protective 
works may be submitted in respect of individual stages of the 
demolition process but no works in any individual stage shall be 
commenced until the related scheme of protective works has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The demolition shall not be carried out other than in accordance with 
the approved scheme (including payment of any agreed monitoring 
contribution)  

 REASON: In the interests of public safety and to ensure a minimal 
effect on the amenities of neighbouring premises and the transport 
network in accordance with the following policies of the Local Plan: 

Page 149



 
 

DM15.6, DM15.7, DM21.3. These details are required prior to 
demolition in order that the impact on amenities is minimised from the 
time that development starts. 

 
 4 Prior to the commencement of the development a detailed Circular 

Economy Statement shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority, that demonstrates that the Statement has 
been prepared in accordance with the GLA Circular Economy 
Guidance and that the development is designed to meet the relevant 
targets set out in the GLA Circular Economy Guidance. The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details and operated & managed in accordance with the approved 
details throughout the lifecycle of the development.  

 REASON : To ensure that the Local Planning Authority may be 
satisfied with the detail of the proposed development so that it reduces 
the demand for redevelopment, encourages re-use and reduces waste 
in accordance with the following policies in the Development Plan and 
draft Development Plans: London Plan; D3, SI 7, SI 8 - Local Plan; 
CS17, DM 17.2 - Draft City Plan 2036; S16, CEW 1. These details are 
required prior to demolition and construction work commencing in order 
to establish the extent of recycling and minimised waste from the time 
that demolition and construction starts. 

 
 5 Details of facilities and methods to accommodate and manage all 

freight vehicle movements to and from the site during the demolition 
and construction of the building(s) hereby approved shall be submitted 
to and approved by the Local Planning Authority in writing prior to the 
commencement of work. The details shall be completed in accordance 
with the Mayor of London's Construction Logistics Plan Guidance dated 
July 2017, and shall specifically address the safety of vulnerable road 
users through compliance with the Construction Logistics and 
Community Safety (CLOCS) Standard. The Plan must demonstrate 
how Work Related Road Risk is to be managed. No demolition or 
construction shall be carried out other than in accordance with the 
approved details and methods.  

 REASON: To ensure that demolition and construction works do not 
have an adverse impact on public safety and the transport network in 
accordance with London Plan Policy T4 and the following policies of 
the Local Plan: DM15.6, DM16.1. These details are required prior to 
demolition and construction work commencing in order that the impact 
on the transport network is minimised from the time that demolition and 
construction starts. 

 
 6 Prior to the commencement of the development a detailed Whole Life 

Cycle Carbon assessment shall be submitted to and approved in  
 writing by the Local Planning Authority, demonstrating that the Whole 

Life Cycle Carbon emissions savings of the development achieve at 
least the GLA benchmarks and setting out further opportunities to 
achieve the GLA's aspirational benchmarks set out in the GLA's Whole 
Life-Cycle Assessment Guidance. The assessment should include 

Page 150



 
 

details of measures to reduce carbon emissions throughout the whole 
life cycle of the development and provide calculations in line with the 
Mayor of London's guidance on Whole Life Cycle Carbon 
Assessments, and the development shall be carried out in accordance 
with the approved details and operated and managed in accordance 
with the approved assessment for the life cycle of the development.  

 REASON: To ensure that the Local Planning Authority may be satisfied 
with the detail of the proposed development so that it maximises the 
reduction of carbon emissions of the development throughout the 
whole life cycle of the development in accordance with the following 
policies in the Development Plan and draft Development Plans: London 
Plan: D3, SI 2, SI 7 - Local Plan: CS 17, DM 15.2, DM 17.2 - Draft City 
Plan 2036: CE 1. These details are required prior to demolition and 
construction work commencing in order to be able to account for 
embodied carbon emissions resulting from the demolition and 
construction phase (including recycling and reuse of materials) of the 
development. 

 
 7 The development hereby permitted shall not be commenced until 

detailed design and method statements (in consultation with London 
 Underground) for the proposed demolition and excavation works and 

all of the foundations, basement and ground floor structures, or for any 
other structures below ground level, including piling (temporary and 
permanent), have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority which:  

   
 . provide details on all structures;  
  . provide details of tall plant and scaffolding;  
 . accommodate the location of the existing London Underground 

structures;   
 . demonstrate that there will at no time be any potential security risk to 

the railway, property or structures;  
 . accommodate ground movement arising from the construction 

thereof; and  
 . mitigate the effects of noise and vibration arising from the adjoining 

operations within the structures.  
   
  The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the 

details so approved and no change therefrom shall take place without 
the prior written consent of the Local Planning Authority and London 
Underground.  

 REASON: To enable the Local Planning Authority and Transport for 
London to ensure that works during demolition, construction and  

 operation will not have adverse impacts on existing London 
Underground tunnels, in accordance with London Plan policy T7. 

 
 8 Before any works including demolition are begun a site survey and 

survey of highway and other land at the perimeter of the site shall be 
carried out and details must be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the local planning authority indicating the proposed finished floor levels 

Page 151



 
 

at basement and ground floor levels in relation to the existing Ordnance 
Datum levels of the adjoining streets and open spaces. The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
survey unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning 
authority.  

 REASON: To ensure continuity between the level of existing streets 
and the finished floor levels in the proposed building and to ensure a 
satisfactory treatment at ground level in accordance with the following 
policies of the Local Plan: DM10.8, DM16.2. These details are required 
prior to commencement in order that a record is made of the conditions 
prior to changes caused by the development and that any changes to 
satisfy this condition are incorporated into the development before the 
design is too advanced to make changes. 

 
 9 No demolition shall take place until the developer has secured a 

standing building survey and recording of the Still and Star Public 
House to be carried out in accordance with a written scheme of 
recording which has been submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority. All works must be carried out and completed as 
approved, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  

 REASON: To ensure that a record of the building is made, and 
incorporated in the publication and archiving of the archaeological 
record of the site in accordance with the following policies of the Local 
Plan: CS12, DM12.1. 

 
10 Prior to the commencement of demolition works the 

developer/construction contractor shall sign up to the Non-Road Mobile 
Machinery Register. The development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the NRMM Regulations and the inventory of all NRMM 
used on site shall be maintained and provided to the Local Planning 
Authority upon request to demonstrate compliance with the regulations. 

 REASON: To reduce the emissions of construction and demolition in 
accordance with the Mayor of London Control of Dust and Emissions 
during Construction and Demolition SPG July 2014. Compliance is 
required to be prior to commencement due to the potential impact at 
the beginning of the construction. 

 
11 No work except demolition to basement slab level shall take place until 

an investigation and risk assessment has been undertaken to establish 
if the site is contaminated and to determine the potential for pollution in 
accordance with the requirements of DEFRA and the Environment 
Agency's 'Model Procedures for the Management of Land 
Contamination, CLR 11'.  

 Where remediation is necessary a detailed remediation scheme to 
bring the site to a condition suitable for the intended use by removing 
unacceptable risks to human health, buildings and other property and 
to the natural and historical environment must be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority the remediation 

Page 152



 
 

scheme must ensure that the site will not qualify as contaminated land 
under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 in relation to 
the intended use of the land after remediation.   

 Following completion of measures identified in the approved 
remediation scheme a verification report must be submitted to and 
approved in writing of the Local Planning Authority.  

 REASON: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future 
users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with 
those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to 
ensure that the development can be carried out safely without 
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors in 
accordance with the Local Plan DM15.8. These details are required 
prior to commencement in order that any changes to satisfy this 
condition are incorporated into the development before the design is 
too advanced to make changes. 

 
12 Within five working days of any site contamination being found when 

carrying out the development hereby approved the contamination must 
be reported in writing to the Local Planning Authority and an 
investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken in accordance 
with the requirements of DEFRA and the Environment Agency's 'Model 
Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11'.  

 Where remediation is necessary a detailed remediation scheme to 
bring the site to a condition suitable for the intended use must be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority the 
remediation scheme must ensure that the site will not qualify as 
contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 
1990 in relation to the intended use of the land after remediation.   

 Following completion of measures identified in the approved 
remediation scheme a verification report must be submitted to and 
approved in writing of the Local Planning Authority.  

 REASON: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future 
users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with 
those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to 
ensure that the development can be carried out safely without 
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors in 
accordance with the Local Plan DM15.8. These details are required 
prior to commencement in order that any changes to satisfy this 
condition are incorporated into the development before the design is 
too advanced to make changes. 

 
13 Archaeological evaluation shall be carried out in order to compile 

archaeological records in accordance with a timetable and scheme of 
such archaeological work submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority before any commencement of archaeological 
evaluation work.  

 REASON: To ensure that an opportunity is provided for the 
archaeology of the site to be considered and recorded in accordance 
with the following policy of the Local Plan: DM12.4. 

Page 153



 
 

 
14 No works except demolition to basement slab level shall take place 

until the developer has secured the implementation of a programme of 
archaeological work to be carried out in accordance with a written 
scheme of investigation which has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. This shall include all on site 
work, including details of any temporary works which may have an 
impact on the archaeology of the site and all off site work such as the 
analysis, publication and archiving of the results. All works shall be 
carried out and completed as approved, unless otherwise agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

 REASON: In order to allow an opportunity for investigations to be made 
in an area where remains of archaeological interest are understood to 
exist in accordance with the following policy of the Local Plan: DM12.4. 

 
15 No works except demolition to basement slab level shall take place 

before details of the foundations and piling configuration, to include a 
detailed design and method statement, have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, such details to 
show the preservation of surviving archaeological remains which are to 
remain in situ.  

 REASON: To ensure the preservation of archaeological remains 
following archaeological investigation in accordance with the following 
policy of the Local Plan: DM12.4. 

 
16 Before any piling or construction of basements is commenced a 

scheme for the provision of sewer vents within the building shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. 
Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority the 
agreed scheme for the provision of sewer vents shall be implemented 
and brought into operation before the development is occupied and 
shall be so maintained for the life of the building.  

 REASON: To vent sewerage odour from (or substantially from) the 
development hereby permitted and mitigate any adverse air pollution or 
environmental conditions in order to protect the amenity of the area in 
accordance with the following policy of the Local Plan: DM10.1. These 
details are required prior to piling or construction work commencing in 
order that any changes to satisfy this condition are incorporated into 
the development before the design is too advanced to make changes. 

 
17 No development other than demolition shall take place until the detailed 

design of all wind mitigation measures including the proposed 
landscaping and details of the revised location of the pass door and 
retail entrances have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. These details shall include the size and 
appearance of any features, the size and appearance of any planting 
containers, trees species, planting medium and irrigation systems. No 
part of the building shall be occupied until an updated wind assessment 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority to demonstrate that the revised pass door and retail 

Page 154



 
 

entrances would be suitable for their intended purpose and the 
approved wind mitigation measures have been implemented in 
accordance with the approved details unless the Local Planning 
Authority agrees otherwise in writing. The said wind mitigation 
measures shall be retained in place for the life of the building unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.   

 REASON: In order to ensure that the proposed development does not 
have a detrimental impact on the amenities of the area in accordance 
with the following policies of the Local Plan: DM10.1, DM16.1, DM16.2. 
These details are required prior to construction in order that any 
changes to satisfy this condition are incorporated into the development 
before the design is too advanced to make changes. 

 
18 There shall be no construction on the site until a scheme for protecting 

nearby residents and commercial occupiers from noise, dust and other 
environmental effects during construction has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall 
be based on the Department of Markets and Consumer Protection's 
Code of Practice for Deconstruction and Construction Sites and 
arrangements for liaison and monitoring (including any agreed 
monitoring contribution)  set out therein. The applicant shall consult the 
owners and occupiers of 55-56 Aldgate High Street no less than one 
month prior to the submission of the approval of details for this 
conditionA staged scheme of protective works may be submitted in 
respect of individual stages of the construction process but no works in 
any individual stage shall be commenced until the related scheme of 
protective works has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The development shall not be carried out 
other than in accordance with the approved scheme (including payment 
of any agreed monitoring contribution)                

 REASON: In the interests of public safety and to ensure a minimal 
effect on the amenities of neighbouring premises and the transport 
network in accordance with the following policies of the Local Plan: 
DM15.6, DM15.7, DM21.3. These details are required prior to 
demolition in order that the impact on amenities is minimised from the 
time that the construction starts. 

 
19 Prior to the commencement of the development (other than demolition) 

a Climate Change Resilience Sustainability Statement (CCRSS) shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority, that demonstrates that the development is resilient and  

 adaptable to predicted climate conditions during the lifetime of the 
development. The CCRSS shall include details of the climate risks that 
the development faces (including flood, heat stress, water stress, 
natural capital, pests and diseases) and the climate resilience solutions 

 for addressing such risks. The CCRSS will demonstrate that the 
potential for resilience and adaptation measures (including but not 
limited to solar shading to prevent solar gain; high thermal mass of 
building fabric to moderate temperature fluctuations; cool roofs to 
prevent overheating; urban greening; rainwater attenuation and 

Page 155



 
 

drainage; flood risk mitigation; biodiversity protection; passive 
ventilation and heat recovery and air quality assessment to ensure 
building services do not contribute to worsening photochemical smog) 
has been considered and appropriate measures incorporated in the 
design of the building. The CCRSS shall also demonstrate how the  

 development will be operated and managed to ensure the identified 
measures are maintained for the life of the development. The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
CCRSS and operated & managed in accordance with the approved  

 CCRSS for the life of the development.  
 REASON: To comply with Local Plan Policy DM 15.5 Climate change 

resilience and adaptation. 
 
20 Construction works shall not begin until a Construction Logistics Plan to 

manage all freight vehicle movements to and from the site during 
construction of the development has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Construction Logistics 
Plan shall be completed in accordance with the Mayor of London's 
Construction Logistics Plan Guidance dated July 2017, and shall 
specifically address the safety of vulnerable road users through 
compliance with the Construction Logistics and Community Safety 
(CLOCS) Standard. The Plan must demonstrate how Work Related 
Road Risk is to be managed. The development shall not be carried out 
otherwise than in accordance with the approved Construction Logistics 
Plan or any approved amendments thereto as may be agreed in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority.  

 REASON: To ensure that construction works do not have an adverse 
impact on public safety and the transport network in accordance with 
London Plan Policy T7 and the following policies of the Local Plan: 
DM15.6, DM16.1. These details are required prior to construction work 
commencing in order that the impact on the transport network is 
minimised from the time that construction starts. 

 
21 The development shall incorporate such measures as are necessary 

within the site to resist structural damage arising from an attack with a 
road vehicle or road vehicle borne explosive device, details of which 
must be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority before any construction works hereby permitted are begun.  
The measures shall be implemented in accordance with the approved 
details.  

 REASON: To ensure that the premises are protected from road vehicle 
borne damage within the site in accordance with the following policy of 
the Local Plan: DM3.2. These details are required prior to construction 
work commencing in order that any changes to satisfy this condition 
are incorporated into the development before the design is too 
advanced to make changes. 

 
22 Before any construction works hereby permitted are begun the 

following details shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority in conjunction with the Lead Local Flood 

Page 156



 
 

Authority and all development pursuant to this permission shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details:  

 (a) Fully detailed design and layout drawings for the proposed SuDS 
components (as described by the Drainage Assessment Report 
Revision A 03/06/2016 and updated by subsequent emails 08/09/2016 
-27/10/2016) including but not limited to: attenuation systems, pumps, 
design for system exceedance, construction plan, cost etc. The surface 
water discharge rates should not exceed the values proposed and the 
actual attenuation volume capacity should be no less than 250m3; 
unless otherwise agreed with the Lead Local Flood Authority;  

 (b) Full details of measures to be taken to prevent flooding (of the site 
or caused by the site) during the course of the construction works.  

 (c) Evidence that Thames Water have been consulted and consider the 
proposed discharged rate to be satisfactory.  

 REASON: To improve sustainability, reduce flood risk and reduce 
water run off rates in accordance with the following policy of the Local 
Plan: DM18.1, DM18.2 and DM18.3. 

 
23 Before the shell and core is complete the following details shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in 
conjunction with the Lead Local Flood Authority and all development 
pursuant to this permission shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details:  

 (a) A Lifetime Maintenance Plan for the SuDS system to include:  
 - A full description of how the system would work, it's aims and 

objectives and the flow control arrangements;  
 - A Maintenance Inspection Checklist/Log;  
 - A Maintenance Schedule of Work itemising the tasks to be 

undertaken, such as the frequency required and the costs incurred to 
maintain the system.  

 REASON: To improve sustainability, reduce flood risk and reduce 
water run off rates in accordance with the following policy of the Local 
Plan: DM18.1, DM18.2 and DM18.3. 

 
24 Details of the construction, planting irrigation and maintenance regime 

for the proposed green wall(s)/roof(s) shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority before any works 
thereby affected are begun. The development shall be carried out in 
accordance with those approved details and maintained as approved 
for the life of the development unless otherwise approved by the local 
planning authority.   

 REASON: To assist the environmental sustainability of the 
development and provide a habitat that will encourage biodiversity in 
accordance with the following policies of the Local Plan: DM18.2, 
DM19.2. 

 
25 Before any works thereby affected are begun the following details shall 

be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
and all development pursuant to this permission shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details:  

Page 157



 
 

 (a) particulars and samples of the materials to be used on all external 
faces of the development including external ground and upper level 
surfaces;  

 (b) details of a typical bay of the development;  
 (c) details of the vaulted arcade around the base of the building;   
 (d) details of the proposed roof terraces;  
 (e) details of the ground floor office entrances including details of a 

replacement entrance arrangement for the revolving doors and a 
revised location for the pass door;  

 (f) details of soffits, hand rails and balustrades;  
 (g) details of junctions with adjoining premises;  
 (h) details of the integration of window cleaning equipment and the 

garaging thereof, plant, flues, fire escapes and other excrescences at 
roof level;  

 (i) details of external surfaces within the site boundary including hard 
and soft landscaping;  

 (j) details of the shopfronts;   
 (k) details of the facades to the public house;  
 (j) details of the artwork to be incorporated into the exterior of the public 

house;   
 (m) details of the design and location of an interpretation board that 

would be incorporated into the design of the scheme and contain 
information about the history of the existing Still and Star public house;  

 (n) details of the boundary to the adjacent bus station site;  
 (o) details of the manoeuvring space on the terraces.  
 REASON: To ensure that the Local Planning Authority may be satisfied 

with the detail of the proposed development and to ensure a 
satisfactory external appearance in accordance with the following 
policies of the Local Plan: CS10, DM10.1, DM10.5. 

 
26 Unless otherwise approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, 

before any works thereby affected are begun, details of the provision to 
be made in the building's design to enable the discreet installation of 
street lighting on the development, including details of the location of 
light fittings, cable runs and other necessary apparatus, shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, 
and the development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details.  

 REASON: To ensure provision for street lighting is discreetly integrated 
into the design of the building in accordance with the following policy of 
the City of London Local Plan: DM10.1. 

 
27 Before any works thereby affected are begun, a scheme shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
which specifies the fume extract arrangements, materials and 
construction methods to be used to avoid noise and/or odour 
penetration to the upper floors from the retail use. Flues must terminate 
at roof level or an agreed high level location which will not give rise to 
nuisance to other occupiers of the building or adjacent buildings. The 

Page 158



 
 

details approved must be implemented before the retail use takes 
place.  

 REASON: In order to protect residential/commercial amenities in the 
building in accordance with the following policies of the Local Plan: 
DM15.6, DM15.7, DM21.3. 

 
28 Before any works thereby affected are begun, a scheme shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
which specifies the fume extract arrangements, materials and 
construction methods to be used to avoid noise and/or odour 
penetration to the upper floors from the Class A use. Flues must 
terminate at roof level or an agreed high level location which will not 
give rise to nuisance to other occupiers of the building or adjacent 
buildings. The details approved must be implemented before the Class 
A use takes place.  

 REASON: In order to protect residential/commercial amenities in the 
building in accordance with the following policies of the Local Plan: 
DM15.6, DM15.7, DM21.3. 

 
29 Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority all 

combustion flues must terminate at least 1m above the highest roof in 
the development in order to ensure maximum dispersion of pollutants, 
and must be located away from ventilation intakes and accessible roof 
gardens and terraces.  

 Reason: In order to ensure that the proposed development does not 
have a detrimental impact on occupiers of residential premises in the 
area and to maintain local air quality and ensure that exhaust does not 
contribute to local air pollution, particularly nitrogen dioxide and 
particulates PM10 and PM2.5, in accordance with the City of London 
Air Quality Strategy 2019, Local Plan Policy DM15.6 and London Plan 
policy SI1. 

 
30 All parts of the ventilation and extraction equipment including the odour 

control systems installed shall be cleaned, serviced and maintained in 
accordance with Section 5 of 'Control of Odour & Noise from 
Commercial Kitchen Extract Systems' dated September 2018 by 
EMAQ+ (or any subsequent updated version). A record of all such 
cleaning, servicing and maintenance shall be maintained and kept on 
site and upon request provided to the Local Planning Authority to 
demonstrate compliance.  

 REASON: To protect the occupiers of existing and adjoining premises 
and public amenity in accordance with Policies DM 10.1, DM 15.7 and 
DM 21.3 

 
31 Details of the rainwater harvesting and greywater collection systems, to 

include the location of tanks and areas/locations of use for the collected 
water, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  The harvesting and collection systems shall be 
implemented in accordance with the approved details.  

Page 159



 
 

 REASON: To assist the environmental sustainability of the 
development and its resilience and adaptation to climate change in  

 accordance with the following policies of the Local Plan: CS15, 
DM15.1, DM15.5. 

 
32 All unbuilt surfaces, forming part of the development including the 

ground floor public realm, pedestrian route through and rooftop terrace, 
shall be treated in accordance with a landscaping scheme to be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
before any landscaping works are commenced. All hard and soft 
landscaping works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details not later than the end of the first planting season following 
completion of the development. Trees and shrubs which die or are 
removed, uprooted or destroyed or become in the opinion of the Local 
Planning Authority seriously damaged or defective within 5 years of 
completion of the development shall be replaced with trees and shrubs 
of similar size and species to those originally approved, or such 
alternatives as may be agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  

 REASON: In the interests of visual amenity in accordance with the 
following policies of the Local Plan: DM10.1, DM19.2. 

 
33 Details of the position and size of the green/blue roof(s), the type of 

planting and the contribution of the green/blue roof(s) to biodiversity 
and rainwater attenuation shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the local planning authority before any works thereby affected are 
begun. The development shall be carried out in accordance with those 
approved details and maintained as approved for the life of the  

 development unless otherwise approved by the local planning 
authority.  

 REASON: To assist the environmental sustainability of the 
development and provide a habitat that will encourage biodiversity in 
accordance with the following policies of the Local Plan: DM18.2, 
DM19.2. 

 
34 Once the building construction is completed and prior to the 

development being occupied (or, if earlier, prior to the development  
 being handed over to a new owner or proposed occupier) a post 

completion Circular Economy report shall be submitted to and  
 approved in writing by the local planning authority to demonstrate that 

the targets and actual outcomes achieved are in compliance with or 
exceed the proposed targets stated in the approved Circular Economy 
Statement for the development.  

 REASON: To ensure that circular economy principles have been 
applied and Circular Economy targets and commitments have been  

 achieved to demonstrate compliance with Policy SI 7 of the London 
Plan. 

 
 

Page 160



 
 

35 The proposed office development sharing a party element with non-
office   premises shall be designed and constructed to provide 
resistance to the transmission of sound. The sound insulation shall be 
sufficient to ensure that NR40 is not exceeded in the proposed office 
premises due to noise from the neighbouring non-office premises and 
shall be permanently maintained thereafter.  

 A test shall be carried out after completion but prior to occupation to 
show the criterion above have been met and the results shall submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

 REASON: To protect the amenities of occupiers of the building in 
accordance with the following policy of the Local Plan: DM15.7. 

 
36 Prior to the commencement of the relevant works, a full Lighting 

Strategy for external lighting and the proposed controlled internal 
system shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority, which shall include full details of all luminaires, 
associated infrastructure, and the lighting intensity, uniformity, colour 
and associated management measures to reduce the impact on light 
pollution and residential amenity. The development shall be carried out 
and maintained in accordance with the details of the approved lighting 
strategy.  

 REASON: To ensure that the Local Planning Authority may be satisfied 
with the detail of the proposed development and to ensure a  

 satisfactory external appearance in accordance with the following 
policies of the  Local Plan: DM10.1, DM 15.7 and emerging policy DE2 
of the Draft City Plan 2036. 

 
37 Prior to any plant being commissioned and installed in or on the 

building an Air Quality Report shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The report shall detail how the 
finished development will minimise emissions and exposure to air 
pollution during its operational phase and will comply with the City of 
London Air Quality Supplementary Planning Document and any 
submitted and approved Air Quality Assessment. The measures 
detailed in the report shall thereafter be maintained in accordance with 
the approved report(s) for the life of the installation on the building.  

 REASONS: In order to ensure the proposed development does not 
have a detrimental impact on air quality, reduces exposure to poor air 
quality and in accordance with the following policies: Local Plan policy 
DM15.6 and London Plan policy 7.14B. 

 
38 Once the as-built design has been completed (upon commencement of 

RIBA Stage 6) and prior to the development being occupied (or if  
 earlier, prior to the development being handed over to a new owner or 

proposed occupier,) the post-construction Whole Life-Cycle Carbon 
(WLC) Assessment (to be completed in accordance with and in line 
with the criteria set out in in the GLA's WLC Assessment Guidance) 
shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority . The 
postconstruction assessment should provide an update of the 
information submitted at planning submission stage (RIBA Stage 2/3), 

Page 161



 
 

including the WLC carbon emission figures for all life-cycle modules 
based on the actual materials, products and systems used. The 
assessment should be submitted along with any supporting evidence 
as per the guidance and should be received three months post as-built 
design completion, unless otherwise agreed.  

 Reason: To ensure whole life-cycle carbon emissions are calculated 
and reduced and to demonstrate compliance with Policy SI 2 of the 
London Plan. 

 
39 No development shall be occupied until confirmation has been provided 

that either:- all water network upgrades required to accommodate the 
additional demand to serve the development have been completed; or - 
a development and infrastructure phasing plan has been agreed with 
Thames Water to allow development to be occupied. Where a 
development and infrastructure phasing plan is agreed no occupation 
shall take place other than in accordance with the agreed development 
and infrastructure phasing plan.   

 Reason - The development may lead to no / low water pressure and 
network reinforcement works are anticipated to be necessary to ensure 
that sufficient capacity is made available to accommodate additional 
demand anticipated from the new development. 

 
40 No development shall be occupied until confirmation has been provided 

that either:- 1. Surface water capacity exists off site to serve the 
development or 2. A development and infrastructure phasing plan has 
been agreed with the Local Authority in consultation with Thames 
Water. Where a development and infrastructure phasing plan is 
agreed, no occupation shall take place other than in accordance with 
the agreed development and infrastructure phasing plan. Or 3.  All 
Surface water network upgrades required to accommodate the 
additional flows from the development have been completed.   

 Reason - Network reinforcement works may be required to 
accommodate the proposed development. Any reinforcement works 
identified will be necessary in order to avoid flooding and/or potential 
pollution incidents. The developer can request information to support 
the discharge of this condition by visiting the Thames Water website at 
thameswater.co.uk/preplanning. Should the Local Planning Authority 
consider the above recommendation inappropriate or are unable to 
include it in the decision notice, it is important that the Local Planning 
Authority liaises with Thames Water Development Planning 
Department (telephone 0203 577 9998) prior to the planning 
application approval. 

 
41 Within 6 months of completion details must be submitted to the Local 
 Planning Authority demonstrating the measures that have been  
 incorporated to ensure that the development is resilient to the predicted 
 weather patterns during the lifetime of the building. This should include 
 details of the climate risks that the site faces (flood, heat stress, water

  
 stress, natural capital, pests and diseases) and the climate resilience 

Page 162



 
 

 solutions that have been implemented.  
 REASON: To comply with Local Plan Policy DM 15.5 Climate change 
 resilience and adaptation. 
 
42 The roof terraces hereby permitted shall not be used or accessed 

between the hours of 21.00 on one day and 8.00 on the following day 
and not at any time on Sundays or Bank Holidays, other than in the 
case of emergency.  

 REASON: To safeguard the amenity of the adjoining premises and the 
area generally in accordance with the following policies of the Local 
Plan: DM15.7 and DM21.3. 

 
43 Prior to the installation of any generator. A report shall be submitted to 

show what alternatives have been considered including a secondary 
electrical power supply, battery backup or alternatively fuelled 
generators such as gas fired or hydrogen. The details of the proposed 
generator shall be submitted for approval. The generator shall be used 
solely on brief intermittent and exceptional occasions when required in 
response to a life-threatening emergency and for the testing necessary 
to meet that purpose and shall not be used at any other time.  

 Reason: In accordance with the following policy of the Local Plan: 
DM15.6 and to maintain local air quality and ensure that exhaust does 
not contribute to local air pollution, particularly nitrogen dioxide and 
particulates PM10, in accordance with the City of London Air Quality 
Strategy 2019 and the London Plan Policies SI1 and SD4 D. 

 
44 No amplified or other music shall be played on the roof terraces.  
 REASON: To safeguard the amenity of the adjoining premises and the 

area generally in accordance with the following policies of the Local 
Plan: DM15.7, DM21.3. 

 
45 The refuse collection and storage facilities shown on the drawings 

hereby approved shall be provided and maintained throughout the life
  

 of the building for the use of all the occupiers.  
 REASON: To ensure the satisfactory servicing of the building in 

accordance with the following policy of the Local Plan: DM17.1. 
 
46 Before any works thereby affected are begun all exposed flank or party 

walls must be faced or treated in accordance with details to be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
All development pursuant to this condition shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details and implemented prior to first 
occupation.  The approved party wall treatment (to include obscure 
glazing) shall be maintained as such for the life of the building.  No 
clear glazing shall be installed on the east facing flank elevation of the 
office building adjoining 55-56 Aldgate High Street for the life of the 
building.    

 REASON: In the interests of visual amenity in accordance with the 
following policy of the Local Plan: DM10.1, DM1.2. 

Page 163



 
 

 
47 Before any works thereby affected are begun a scheme which specifies 

the strategy for cleaning, maintenance, repair and access of the east 
facing flank elevation of the office building shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The cleaning, 
maintenance, repair and access arrangements shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details.  

 REASON: To safeguard the amenity of the adjoing premises in 
accordance with the following policies of the Local Plan: DM15.7, 
DM21.3, CS10. 

 
48 The development shall be designed to allow for the retro-fit of heat 

exchanger rooms to connect into a district heating network if this 
becomes available during the lifetime of the development.  

 REASON: To minimise carbon emissions by enabling the building to be 
connected to a district heating and cooling network if one becomes 
available during the life of the building in accordance with the following 
policies of the Local Plan: DM15.1, DM15.2, DM15.3, DM15.3, DM15.4. 

 
49 The office development shall not be occupied until the Still and Star 

public house has been completed and is ready for occupation in 
accordance with the terms of this permission and any approved details 
pursuant to conditions of the permission.  

 REASON: To ensure that the whole development is satisfactorily 
completed in accordance with the following policies of the Local Plan: 
DM11.1. 

 
50 No doors, gates or windows at ground floor level shall open over the 

public highway.  
 REASON: In the interests of public safety 
 
51 Permanently installed pedal cycle racks shall be provided and 

maintained on the site throughout the life of the building sufficient to 
accommodate a minimum of 544 pedal cycles (488 long stay spaces 
and 56 short stay spaces and 5% shall be accessible). The cycle 
parking provided on the site must remain ancillary to the use of the 
building and must be available at all times throughout the life of the 
building for the sole use of the occupiers thereof and their visitors 
without charge to the individual end users of the parking.  

 REASON: To ensure provision is made for cycle parking and that the 
cycle parking remains ancillary to the use of the building and to assist 
in reducing demand for public cycle parking in accordance with the 
following policy of the Local Plan: DM16.3. 

 
52 Changing facilities and showers shall be provided in conjunction with 

the bicycle parking areas and maintained throughout the life of the 
building for the use of occupiers of the building in accordance with the 
approved plans.  

Page 164



 
 

 REASON: To make travel by bicycle more convenient in order to 
encourage greater use of bicycles by commuters in accordance with 
the following policy of the Local Plan: DM16.4. 

 
53 No servicing of the premises shall be carried out between the hours of 

23:00 on one day and 07:00 on the following day from Monday to 
Saturday and between 23:00 on Saturday and 07:00 on the following 
Monday and on Bank Holidays. Servicing includes the loading and 
unloading of goods from vehicles and putting rubbish outside the 
building.  

 REASON: To avoid obstruction of the surrounding streets and to 
safeguard the amenity of the occupiers of adjacent premises, in 
accordance with the following policies of the Local Plan: DM15.7, 
DM16.2, DM21.3. 

 
54 (a) The level of noise emitted from any new plant shall be lower than 

the existing background level by at least 10 dBA. Noise levels shall be 
determined at one metre from the window of the nearest noise 
sensitive premises. The background noise level shall be expressed as 
the lowest LA90 (10 minutes) during which plant is or may be in 
operation.   

 (b) Following installation but before the new plant comes into operation 
measurements of noise from the new plant must be taken and a report 
demonstrating that the plant as installed meets the design 
requirements shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  

 (c) All constituent parts of the new plant shall be maintained and 
replaced in whole or in part as often is required to ensure compliance 
with the noise levels approved by the Local Planning Authority.  

 REASON: To protect the amenities of neighbouring 
residential/commercial occupiers in accordance with the following 
policies of the Local Plan: DM15.7, DM21.3. 

 
55 Before any mechanical plant is used on the premises it shall be 

mounted in a way which will minimise transmission of structure borne 
sound or vibration to any other part of the building in accordance with a 
scheme to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  

 REASON: In order to protect the amenities of commercial occupiers in 
the building in accordance following policy of the Local Plan: DM15.7. 

 
56 The areas of public highway on the site shall remain fully open and 

unobstructed until such time as the necessary Stopping-up Order has 
come into effect.  

 REASON: To ensure compliance with the terms of Section 247 and 
257 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

 
57 A post construction BREEAM assessment demonstrating that a target 

rating of 'Excellent' has been achieved (or such other target rating as 
the local planning authority may agree provided that it is satisfied all 

Page 165



 
 

reasonable endeavours have been used to achieve an 'Excellent' 
rating) shall be submitted as soon as practicable after practical 
completion.  

 REASON: To demonstrate that carbon emissions have been minimised 
and that the development is sustainable in accordance with the 
following policy of the Local Plan: CS15, DM15.1, DM15.2. 

 
58 There shall be no promoted events on the premises. A promoted event 

for this purpose, is an event involving music and dancing where the 
musical entertainment is provided at any time between 23:00 and 07:00 
by a disc jockey or disc jockeys one or some of whom are not 
employees of the premises licence holder and the event is promoted to 
the general public.  

 REASON: To safeguard the amenity of the adjoining premises and the 
area generally in accordance with the following policies of the Local 
Plan: DM15.7, DM21.3. 

 
59 The pass door shown adjacent to or near to the main entrance on the 

drawings hereby approved shall remain unlocked and available for use 
at all times when the adjacent revolving doors are unlocked.  

 REASON: In order to ensure that people with mobility disabilities are 
not discriminated against and to comply with the following policy of the 
Local Plan: DM10.8. 

 
60 The areas within the development marked as retail on the floorplans at 

ground level hereby approved, shall be used for retail purposes within 
Class E (shop, financial, Leisure and professional services and cafe or 
restaurant) and the area marked as Still and Star shall be used for sui 
generis purposes (pub and drinking establishment) and for no other 
purpose (including any other purpose in Class E of the Schedule to the 
Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended 
by the Town and Country Planning (Use 
Classes)(Amendment)(England)Regulations 2020) or in any provision 
equivalent to that Class in any statutory instrument revoking and re-
enacting that Order with or without modification.  

 REASON: To ensure that a varied mix of retail types is provided within 
the development in accordance with the following policies of the Local 
Plan: CS20 and CS9. 

 
61 The development shall not be carried out other than in accordance with 

the following approved drawings and particulars or as approved under 
conditions of this planning permission:   

 092-O-ACME- ST1-00-0001 rev. D  
 092-O-ACME- ST1-00-0002 rev. D  
 092-O-ACME- ST1-00-0003 rev. D  
 092-O-ACME- ST1-00-0004 rev. E  
 092-O-ACME- ST1-00-0005 rev. E  
 092-O-ACME- ST1-00-0006 rev. D  
 092-O-ACME- ST1-00-0007 rev. D  
 092-O-ACME- ST1-00-0011 rev. D  

Page 166



 
 

 092-O-ACME- ST1-00-0017 rev. C  
 092-O-ACME- GA1-00-1100 rev. F  
 092-O-ACME- GA1-01-1101 rev. B  
 092-O-ACME- GA1-02-1102 rev. B  
 092-O-ACME- GA1-03-1103 rev. B  
 092-O-ACME- GA1-04-1104 rev. B  
 092-O-ACME- GA1-05-1105 rev. B  
 092-O-ACME- GA1-06-1106 rev. B  
 092-O-ACME- GA1-07-1107 rev. B  
 092-O-ACME- GA1-08-1108 rev. B  
 092-O-ACME- GA1-09-1109 rev. C  
 092-O-ACME- GA1-10-1110 rev. B  
 092-O-ACME- GA1-11-1111 rev. C  
 092-O-ACME- GA1-12-1114   
 092-O-ACME- GA1-13-1115   
 092-O-ACME- GA1-14-1116   
 092-O-ACME- GA1-RF-1117   
 092-O-ACME- GA1-MZ-1118   
 092-O-ACME- GA1-B1-1119 rev. C  
 092-O-ACME- GA1-B2-1120 rev. B  
 092-O-ACME- GA1-B3-1121   
 092-O-ACME- GA1-00-1150 rev. D  
 092-O-ACME- GA1-B1-1152 rev. A  
 092-O-ACME- GA2-XX-1200 rev. C  
 092-O-ACME- GA2-XX-1201 rev. C  
 092-O-ACME- GA2-XX-1202 rev. C  
 092-O-ACME- GA3-XX-1300 rev. C  
 092-O-ACME- GA3-XX-1301 rev. C  
 092-O-ACME- GA3-XX-1302 rev. C  
 092-O-ACME- GA3-XX-1303 rev. C  
 092-O-ACME- BC1-XX-2100 rev. A  
 092-O-ACME- BC1-XX-2101 rev. A  
 092-O-ACME- BC1-XX-2102 rev. A  
 092-O-ACME- BC1-XX-2103 rev. A  
 092-O-ACME- BC1-XX-2104 rev. A  
 REASON: To ensure that the development of this site is in compliance 

with details and particulars which have been approved by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

 
 

INFORMATIVES 
 
 1 A Groundwater Risk Management Permit from Thames Water will be 

required for discharging groundwater into a public sewer. Any 
discharge made without a permit is deemed illegal and may result in 
prosecution under the provisions of the Water Industry Act 1991. We 
would expect the developer to demonstrate what measures he will 
undertake to minimise groundwater discharges into the public sewer. 
Permit enquiries should be directed to Thames Water's Risk 
Management Team by telephoning 02035779483 or by emailing 

Page 167



 
 

wwqriskmanagement@thameswater.co.uk. Application forms should 
be completed online via www.thameswater.co.uk/wastewaterquality.
  

 2 The Director of Markets and Consumer Protection states that any 
building proposal that will include catering facilities will be required to 
be constructed with adequate grease traps to the satisfaction of the 
Sewerage Undertaker, Thames Water Utilities Ltd, or their contractors. 

 
 3 There are water mains crossing or close to your development. Thames 

Water do NOT permit the building over or construction within 3m of 
water mains. If you're planning significant works near our mains (within 
3m) we'll need to check that your development doesn't reduce capacity, 
limit repair or maintenance activities during and after construction, or 
inhibit the services we provide in any other way. The applicant is 
advised to read our guide working near or diverting our pipes.   

   
 The proposed development is located within 15m of Thames Waters 

underground assets, as such the development could cause the assets 
to fail if appropriate measures are not taken. Please read our guide 
'working near our assets' to ensure your workings are in line with the
  

 necessary processes you need to follow if you're considering working 
above or near our pipes or other structures. Should you require further 
information please contact Thames Water. Email: 
developer.services@thameswater.co.uk  

   
 Wastewater: For a site which is roughly 0.3ha and going through a full 

demolition process, the expectation is for SW to discharge at 
Greenfield rates of 5l/s/ha and at max 2l/s for the site proposed. This 
has been achieved all across London and with various developments 
with the current technology at hand and the expectation is for this to 
continue. Hence, 2l/s max. discharge rate should be achievable for this 
development at current level of technology which will be acceptable.
  

   
 Foul capacity - (discharge to the combined public sewer in Little 

Somerset Street 1219mm sewer); Capacity ok within sewer threshold 
as per previous Consultation back in 2019. If there are changes to Foul 
drainage system then please let us know directly and specifically of any 
changes which we can then review swiftly and efficiently. 

 
 4 The developer should be aware that, in creating a roof terrace, and 

therefore access to the roof, users of the roof could be exposed to 
emissions of air pollutants from any chimneys that extract on the roof 
e.g. from gas boilers / generators / CHP.   

 In order to minimise risk, as a rule of thumb, we would suggest a 
design that places a minimum of 3 metres from the point of efflux of 
any chimney serving combustion plant, to any person using the roof 
terrace. This distance should allow the gases to disperse adequately at 
that height, minimising the risk to health. 

Page 168



 
 

 
 5 In dealing with this application the City has implemented the 

requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework to work with 
the applicant in a positive and proactive manner based on seeking 
solutions to problems arising in dealing with planning applications in the 
following ways:  

 - detailed advice in the form of statutory policies in the Local Plan, 
Supplementary Planning documents, and other written guidance has 
been made available;  

 - a full pre application advice service has been offered;  
 - where appropriate the City has been available to provide guidance on 

how outstanding planning concerns may be addressed. 
 
 6 This approval relates only to the details listed above and must not be 

construed as approval of any other details shown on the approved 
drawings. 

 

Page 169



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 170



Relevant background Papers 

Page 171



Memo 
To Assistant Director (Development Management) 
Department of the Built Environment 
Email plncomments@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

From Kyri Eleftheriou-Vaus  
         Air Quality Officer 
Telephone 
Email 

Date 06/04/2022 
Your Ref 16/00406/FULMAJ 

Subject: 15 Minories, 57-60 & 62 Aldgate High Street and 1 Little Somerset Street 
London EC3 

Demolition of existing structures, and erection of a mixed use office building, including ground floor 
flexible retail/cafe/commercial uses (Class E) and a public house (sui generis) (35,672 sqm GEA). 
(FURTHER RE‐CONSULTATION: Submission of revised and updated information including Daylight 
Sunlight Survey, Radiance Analysis, Fire Statement, further sustainability details and high resolution 
images) 

An energy addendum has been submitted which proposes a high efficiency air source 
heat pump system for heating, cooling and hot water as well as solar PV panels.  While 
the air source heat pumps will replace the need for input from combined heat and 
power (CHP) or gas-fired boilers, life-safety and backup diesel generators are still 
proposed.  The exhaust from the diesel generators will be discharged above the roof 
level of the development, however, no drawings have been provided.  It is important 
that the emissions from flues are not impeded by screens to allow pollutants to be 
dispersed. 

Air Quality Neutral Assessment   

Both the building emissions and transport emissions benchmarks are met.   However the 
calculation for the building emissions benchmark assumes reduced emission rates for the 
generators and that after treatment will be applied to the generators, therefore if diesel 
generators are installed after treatment of the plant will be necessary to minimise NOx 
and particulate matter emissions. 

Should the development be approved, please apply the following conditions: 

Condition M28C amended Generators 
Prior to the installation of any generator. A report shall be submitted to show what 
alternatives have been considered including a secondary electrical power supply, 

Page 172



 

 

battery backup or alternatively fuelled generators such as gas fired or hydrogen. The 
details of the proposed generator shall be submitted for approval. The generator shall be 
used solely on brief intermittent and exceptional occasions when required in response to 
a life-threatening emergency and for the testing necessary to meet that purpose and 
shall not be used at any other time. 
 
Reason 
In accordance with the following policy of the Local Plan: DM15.6 and to maintain local 
air quality and ensure that exhaust does not contribute to local air pollution, particularly 
nitrogen dioxide and particulates PM10, in accordance with the City of London Air 
Quality Strategy 2019 and the London Plan Policies SI1 and SD4 D. 
 
Condition M29 Flue Height 
Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority all combustion flues 
must terminate at least 1m above the highest roof in the development in order to ensure 
maximum dispersion of pollutants, and must be located away from ventilation intakes 
and accessible roof gardens and terraces. 
 
Reason 
In order to ensure that the proposed development does not have a detrimental impact 
on occupiers of residential premises in the area and to maintain local air quality and 
ensure that exhaust does not contribute to local air pollution, particularly nitrogen dioxide 
and particulates PM10 and PM2.5, in accordance with the City of London Air Quality 
Strategy 2019, Local Plan Policy DM15.6 and London Plan policy SI1. 
 
Condition M32 NRMM 
Prior to the commencement of development, the developer/ construction contractor 
shall sign up to the Non-Road Mobile Machinery Register. The development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the Mayor of London Control of Dust and Emissions during 
Construction and Demolition SPG July 2014 (Or any subsequent iterations) to ensure 
appropriate plant is used and that the emissions standards detailed in the SPG are met. 
An inventory of all NRMM used on site shall be maintained and provided to the Local 
Planning Authority upon request to demonstrate compliance with the regulations.  
 
Reason 
To reduce the emissions of construction and demolition in accordance with the Mayor of 
London Control of Dust and Emissions during Construction and Demolition SPG July 2014 
(or any updates thereof), Local Plan Policy DM15.6 and London Plan Policy SI1D. 
Compliance is required to be prior to commencement due to the potential impact at 
the beginning of the construction. 
 
Informatives 
 
Roof gardens 

Page 173



 

 

The developer should be aware that, in creating a roof terrace, and therefore access to 
the roof, users of the roof could be exposed to emissions of air pollutants from any 
chimneys that extract on the roof e.g. from gas boilers / generators / CHP.  
In order to minimise risk, as a rule of thumb, we would suggest a design that places a 
minimum of 3 metres from the point of efflux of any chimney serving combustion plant, to 
any person using the roof terrace. This distance should allow the gases to disperse 
adequately at that height, minimising the risk to health. 
 

Page 174



1 
 

 

 

 

To whom it may concern 

 

Planning Application 16/00406/FULMAJ -15 Minories, 57-60 & 62 Aldgate High Street and 
1 Little Somerset Street London EC3 

Demolition of existing structures, and erection of a mixed-use office building Class B1(a), 
including ground floor Class A1, Class A3 and Class A4 uses. 

We refer to our previous letter of objection to this scheme in which we raised the loss of 
historic significance of the Still and Star public house, a listed asset of community value, and 
the loss of Little Somerset Street, an historic thoroughfare first mentioned in 1722. 

The Still & Star is believed to be unique in the City of London as the sole example of what is 
sometimes described as a ‘slum pub.’ The proposed development includes for the relocation 
of the building to fit under the arcade of a new office building. This copy of an historic 
building constructed of sections cast in coloured concrete from moulds of the existing pub. 
This proposed scheme continues to fail to address the nature of the pub’s historic 
significance as a building or mitigate the harm that will be caused by its destruction. The 
overhang of the proposed office building would dominate the pub, resulting in the loss of all 
perspective. 

Little Somerset Street is a small urban alleyway characterised by its width and environment. 
The proposal as presented will replace this with a wide plaza, again losing all perspective of 
the original thoroughfare. 

We would also draw your attention to the original consented scheme 13/01055/FULMAJ, 
which included for the retention of the unaltered Still and Star building and Little Somerset 
Street both retained in their original location. 

We consider that the Still and Star pub and associated Little Somerset Street represent an 
important and significant example of the surviving historic fabric of the City of London. The 
revised development continues to fail to appreciate the importance of the environment that 
this represents. The relocation of the pub as a proposed facsimile and the loss of Little 
Somerset Street will result in the loss of all historic context. 

Page 175



2 
 

The Committee therefore continue to urge The City of London Corporation to reject the 
amendments to the original consented scheme. 
 
 
 
 
Vicki Fox (Hon. Secretary) 
LAMAS – Historic Buildings & Conservation Committee   26 February 2022 

 

 

Page 176



Page 177



The Council has previously set out its concerns regarding the impact on the Tower
of London World Heritage Site.

It is noted from the submitted TVIA that the proposed design changes mean that the
scheme is less visible in LVMF 25A.3 than under the previously proposed scheme.
This is welcome.

However, it is also appears to be the case that the visibility of the proposal has
increased in LVMF 25A.1. This is an incremental impact on a highly sensitive
receptor. 

The Council reiterates its serious concerns regarding development lying behind the
Tower of London WHS and respectfully does not support this element of the
proposal, impacting LVMF 25A.1. 

If you require any further information please contact the officer named at the top of this letter.

Yours sincerely,

Jennifer Peters, Divisional Director, Planning and Building Control

Page 178



SOUTHWARK COUNCIL

LBS Registered Number: 22/OB/0004

Date of issue of this decision: 14/02/2022

www.southwark.gov.uk

LBS Reg. No.: 22/OB/0004 Date of Issue of Decision: 14/02/2022
Your Ref No.:

1

Southwark Council, PO BOX 64529, London SE1P 5LX • southwark.gov.uk • facebook.com/southwarkcouncil • twitter.com/lb_southwark

Applicant Ms G Delves
City of London

NO COMMENTS made in reference to your consultation on the
following development:

Demolition of existing structures, and erection of a mixed use office
building, including
ground floor flexible retail/cafe/commercial uses (Class E) and a public
house (sui generis)
(35,672 sqm GEA).
(RE-CONSULTATION: AMENDED DESCRIPTION OF
DEVELOPMENT. REVISED
AND UPDATED INFORMATION RECEIVED. The proposed scheme
has been amended.
Revisions include: minor alterations to the extent of the site boundary,
provision of a new
landscaping scheme and alterations to the design of the office building
comprising the
addition of two extra storeys and one additional basement level,
provision of upper level
terraces, amendments to the building massing, a reconfigured ground
floor design and
internal alterations. An additional 4,771 sq.m (GEA) of floorspace is
proposed when
compared to the previously proposed scheme.)

At 15 Minories, 57-60 & 62 Aldgate High Street And 1 Little Somerset
Street London EC3

In accordance with your letter received on 17 January 2022 and supporting
documents.

Signed: Stephen Platts Director of Planning and Growth

Page 179



DECISION NOTICE

LBS Registered Number: 22/OB/0004

Date of issue of this decision: 14/02/2022

www.southwark.gov.uk

2

Southwark Council, PO BOX 64529, London SE1P 5LX • southwark.gov.uk • facebook.com/southwarkcouncil • twitter.com/lb_southwarkPage 180



THIS IS AN EXTERNAL EMAIL

From:
To: Pln - CC - Development Dc
Cc:
Subject: 16/00406/FULMAJ, 15 Minories, 57-60 & 62 Aldgate High Street And 1 Little Somerset Street - TfL

comments
Date: 10 February 2022 15:26:58

TfL reference: CITY/22/3
Borough reference: 16/00406/FULMAJ
Location: 15 Minories, 57-60 & 62 Aldgate High Street And 1 Little Somerset Street London
Proposal: Demolition of existing structures, and erection of a mixed-use office building, including
ground floor flexible retail/cafe/commercial uses (Class E) and a public house (sui generis)
(35,672 sqm GEA).
(RE-CONSULTATION: AMENDED DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT. REVISED AND UPDATED
INFORMATION RECEIVED. The proposed scheme has been amended. Revisions include: minor
alterations to the extent of the site boundary, provision of a new landscaping scheme and
alterations to the design of the office building comprising the addition of two extra storeys and
one additional basement level, provision of upper level terraces, amendments to the building
massing, a reconfigured ground floor design and internal alterations. An additional 4,771 sq.m
(GEA) of floorspace is proposed when compared to the previously proposed scheme.)
Dear Sir/Madam,
Thank you for consulting TfL. With regards to the above application, TfL have the following
comments:

The site of the proposed development is on Aldgate High Street and Minories Road which
forms part of the Strategic Road Network (SRN). TfL has a duty under the Traffic
Management Act 2004 to ensure that any development does not have an adverse impact
on the SRN.
The footway and carriageway on Aldgate High Street and Minories Road must not be
blocked during the construction of the development. Temporary obstructions during must
be kept to a minimum and should not encroach on the clear space needed to provide safe
passage for pedestrians or obstruct the flow of traffic on Aldgate Highstreet and Minories
Road.
All vehicles associated with the development must only park/ stop at permitted locations
and within the time periods permitted by existing on-street restrictions to mitigate impact
on the surrounding road network. In accordance with the London Plan policy T4 part E,
the cumulative impacts of development on public transport and the road network
capacity including walking and cycling, as well as associated effects on public health,
should be considered and mitigated.
No skips or construction materials shall be kept on the footway or carriageway on the SRN
at any time. Should the applicant wish to install scaffolding or a hoarding on the footway
whilst undertaking this work, separate licences may be required with TfL, please see,
https://www.tfl.gov.uk/info-for/urban-planning-and-construction/highway-licences
The proposed additional long and short stay cycle parking provided to accommodate the
additional floorspace, are in line with London Plan policy T5 (cycling) and London Cycling
Design Standards (LCDS). TfL support the additional end of user facilities.
The applicant is in communication with London Underground engineers. Infrastructure
protection have made a response as Railway Infrastructure Manager under the “Town and
Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) Order 2015". The applicant
should therefore work in accordance with that agreement.
The position of any cranes should not oversail the bus station unless the applicant has
agreed that with TfL and compensation has been agreed.

The alterations to the ground floor design and the space around the building to increase
the public realm are in line with London Plan Policy T2 (Heathy Streets). To maintain good
accessibility and permeability, footways should be a 2m minimum width to comply with
TfL’s Chapter 11.2 (Footway Zones) Streetscape Guidance.

Page 181



Page 182



 

  

Memo 

To Assistant Director (Development Management) 

Environment Department 

From Lead Local Flood Authority 

Environment Department 

Telephone  

Email  

Date 1st February 2022 

Our Ref DS/SUDS22/0002 

Your Ref PT_GD/16/00406/FULMAJ 

Subject 15 Minories, 57-60 & 62 Aldgate High Street And 1 Little Somerset Street 

London EC3 
 

 

 

 

 
 

  

In response to your request for comments in relation to SUDS/drainage the Lead Local Flood 
Authority has the following comments to make: 
 
The Lead Local Flood Authority has reviewed the relevant information including the revised 
drawings and documents for the above application. No further Drainage Strategy or update to it 
has been submitted and the revisions appear not to materially impact the previously proposed 
drainage strategy. This being the case the LLFA continues to recommend the conditions in our 
previous memo dated 2nd December 2016. 
 
I would however draw your attention to the concerns raised by Thames Water in their memo dated 
20th January 2022 in relation to the inability of the existing combined water infrastructure to 
accommodate the needs of this development proposal. You should note that the LLFA’s consent 
following detailed design of the drainage strategy is predicated on Thames Water being satisfied 
with the proposed discharge rates and that alterations may be required to secure this. 
 

 

Page 183



Memo 

To Assistant Director (Development Management)  

Environment Department 

From Access Advisor 

Environment Department 

Telephone  

Email  

Date 28 January 2022 

Our Ref 16/00406/FULMAJ 

Subject 15 Minories, 57-60 & 62 Aldgate High Street and 1 Little Somerset 

Street London EC3 
 
 

The Access Team has assessed the planning application to ensure that the 

proposal meets the highest standards of accessibility and inclusive design 

required by London Plan 2021 Policy D5, Local Plan 2015 Policy DM 10.8 and 

Draft City Plan 2036 Policy HL1.   

1. The comprehensive Access Statement by David Bonnett Associates is 

welcomed.  

2. Revolving doors are inaccessible to people with ambulant mobility 

impairments, people who are blind or partially sighted and many 

others. It is therefore recommended that more inclusive designs are 

considered such as automated curved sliding doors.  

3. Pass doors are required immediately adjacent to revolving doors to 

provide an accessible entrance (Approved Document M Volume 2 

2.20). It is unsatisfactory that a single pass door is proposed 

approximately 4-8m from the two revolving doors.  

4. External outward opening doors would require hazard protection unless 

its sole use is not for fire escape (Approved Document K 10.2).  Rock 

boulders are proposed by most outward opening doors but some of the 

door swings project more than 100mm beyond the boulder. 

5. The internal doors should have a minimum 800mm effective clear width 

(single leaf or one leaf of a double leaf door), refer to Approved 

Document M Volume 2 Table 2 and 3.10b for details.  Some doors 

appear to be too narrow, for example the doors to the terraces and 

northern core refuges. 

6. The proposal of two wheelchair-accessible WC and shower facilities 

and two wheelchair-accessible WC facilities in Basement -1 is 

welcomed.  However, there are concerns with the substantial length of 

Page 184



the step-free access route between these facilities and the passenger 

lifts and drying room.  

7. It is recommended that any door to a cycle parking area should be 

automated with push button or pressure pad operated (London Cycling 

Design Standards 8.2.1).  

8. It is recommended that 5% of cycle spaces should be suitable for 

larger cycles in order to meet London Plan 2021 Policy T5B and London 

Cycling Design Standards 8.2.1 guidance.  Although the number of 

proposed spaces meets the required 5%, there is concern that the 

900mm wide and approximately 1985mm long spaces would not cater 

for the broad range of larger cycles, such as tricycles, handcycles and 

recumbent cycles, which can be up to 1.2m wide and 2.8m long 

(Department for Transport Cycle Infrastructure Design LTN 1/20 5.4.1). 

9. The size of some of the terraces are constrained and lack 

1500x1500mm wheelchair manoeuvring spaces.  It is also disappointing 

that only pebble seating is proposed for the terraces.  It is however 

noted within the Access Statement that details of terraces will be 

developed, including circulation, manoeuvring spaces and variety of 

seating. 

10. Bold surface patterns can be disorientating or misleading for people 

who are blind or partially sighted, and people with 

sensory/neurological processing difficulties (BS8300-1:2018 8.4.1).  

Subsequently there is concern with the proposed concentric paving 

design, particularly on Harrow Alley due to the contrasting Yorkstone 

and Red Porphyry. 

11. The Still & Star entrance on Harrow Alley opens outwards and no hazard 

protection is proposed.  Also, when the door is open a narrow pinch 

point is created with the nearby rock boulder. 

12. Within the 2019 proposal, pedestrians could move along Little Somerset 

Street and Harrow Alley without needing to pass through the defensive 

line and enter the shared space.  Whereas within the amended design, 

pedestrians would need to navigate through the numerous bollards 

and rock boulders and travel across the shared space.  This is 

perceived to be less pedestrian friendly. 

 

The Access Team promotes good practice standards of inclusive design and 

encourages early consideration of accessibility in the design process so that 

a truly inclusive environment can be achieved that everyone will be able to 

visit, use and enjoy.   

 

Page 185



Yours sincerely 

 

Lydia Morley 

Access Advisor 

Page 186



From: BCTAdmin@thameswater.co.uk
To: PLN - Comments
Subject: 3rd Party Planning Application - 16/00406/FULMAJ - Amended
Date: 28 January 2022 08:26:50

THIS IS AN EXTERNAL EMAIL

Corporation of London                                                 Our DTS Ref: 60795
Department of Planning & Transportation                               Your Ref: 16/00406/FULMAJ - Amended
PO Box 270
Guildhall
London
EC2P 2EJ

28 January 2022

Dear Sir/Madam

Re: RENNIE HOUSE 57-60, ALDGATE HIGH STREET, LONDON, GREATER LONDON , EC3N 1AL

Waste Comments
With the information provided Thames Water has been unable to determine the waste water infrastructure needs of this application. Thames Water has contacted the developer in an attempt to obtain this information and agree a position for SURFACE WATER drainage, but have been unable to do so in the time available and as such Thames Water request that the following condition be added to any planning permission.  "No development
shall be occupied until confirmation has been provided that either:- 1.  Surface water capacity exists off site to serve the development or 2.  A development and infrastructure phasing plan has been agreed with the Local Authority in consultation with Thames Water.  Where a development and infrastructure phasing plan is agreed, no occupation shall take place other than in accordance with the agreed development and infrastructure phasing
plan. Or 3.  All Surface water network upgrades required to accommodate the additional flows from the development have been completed.  Reason - Network reinforcement works may be required to accommodate the proposed development.  Any reinforcement works identified will be necessary in order to avoid flooding and/or potential pollution incidents.  The developer can request information to support the discharge of this condition by
visiting the Thames Water website at thameswater.co.uk/preplanning.  Should the Local Planning Authority consider the above recommendation inappropriate or are unable to include it in the decision notice, it is important that the Local Planning Authority liaises with Thames Water Development Planning Department (telephone 0203 577 9998) prior to the planning application approval.

Water Comments
Following initial investigations, Thames Water has identified an inability of the existing water network infrastructure to accommodate the needs of this development proposal. Thames Water have contacted the developer in an attempt to agree a position on water networks but have been unable to do so in the time available and as such Thames Water request that the following condition be added to any planning permission. No development
shall be occupied until confirmation has been provided that either:- all water network upgrades required to accommodate the additional demand to serve the development have been completed; or - a development and infrastructure phasing plan has been agreed with Thames Water to allow development to be occupied. Where a development and infrastructure phasing plan is agreed no occupation shall take place other than in accordance with
the agreed development and infrastructure phasing plan. Reason - The development may lead to no / low water pressure and network reinforcement works are anticipated to be necessary to ensure that sufficient capacity is made available to accommodate additional demand anticipated from the new development" The developer can request information to support the discharge of this condition by visiting the Thames Water website at
thameswater.co.uk/preplanning. Should the Local Planning Authority consider the above recommendation inappropriate or are unable to include it in the decision notice, it is important that the Local Planning Authority liaises with Thames Water Development Planning Department (telephone 0203 577 9998) prior to the planning application approval.

There are water mains crossing or close to your development. Thames Water do NOT permit the building over or construction within 3m of water mains. If you're planning significant works near our mains (within 3m) we'll need to check that your development doesn't reduce capacity, limit repair or maintenance activities during and after construction, or inhibit the services we provide in any other way. The applicant is advised to read our
guide working near or diverting our pipes. https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fdevelopers.thameswater.co.uk%2FDeveloping-a-large-site%2FPlanning-your-development%2FWorking-near-or-diverting-our-
pipes&amp;data=04%7C01%7C%7Cfdb36bf4cb1b434d1e2308d9e237ed4f%7C9fe658cdb3cd405685193222ffa96be8%7C1%7C0%7C637789552101099844%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&amp;sdata=nVQtDdBcZesrCuZ2Rt%2FkKc0Z4ZmyVKoJJS%2FocgVVM8k%3D&amp;reserved=0

The proposed development is located within 15m of our underground water assets and as such we would like the following informative attached to any approval granted. The proposed development is located within 15m of Thames Waters underground assets, as such the development could cause the assets to fail if appropriate measures are not taken. Please read our guide 'working near our assets' to ensure your workings are in line with the
necessary processes you need to follow if you're considering working above or near our pipes or other structures. https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fdevelopers.thameswater.co.uk%2FDeveloping-a-large-site%2FPlanning-your-development%2FWorking-near-or-diverting-our-
pipes&amp;data=04%7C01%7C%7Cfdb36bf4cb1b434d1e2308d9e237ed4f%7C9fe658cdb3cd405685193222ffa96be8%7C1%7C0%7C637789552101099844%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&amp;sdata=nVQtDdBcZesrCuZ2Rt%2FkKc0Z4ZmyVKoJJS%2FocgVVM8k%3D&amp;reserved=0. Should you require further information
please contact Thames Water. Email: developer.services@thameswater.co.uk

Supplementary Comments

Wastewater: For a site which is roughly 0.3ha and going through a full demolition process, the expectation is for SW to discharge at Greenfield rates of 5l/s/ha and at max 2l/s for the site proposed. This has been achieved all across London and with various developments with the current technology at hand and the expectation is for this to continue. Hence, 2l/s max. discharge rate should be achievable for this development at current level of
technology which will be acceptable.
Foul capacity - (discharge to the combined public sewer in Little Somerset Street 1219mm sewer); Capacity ok within sewer threshold as per previous Consultation back in 2019. If there are changes to Foul drainage system then please let us know directly and specifically of any changes which we can then review swiftly and efficiently.

Yours faithfully
Development Planning Department

Development Planning,
Thames Water,
Maple Lodge STW,
Denham Way,
Rickmansworth,
WD3 9SQ
Tel:020 3577 9998
Email: devcon.team@thameswater.co.uk

This is an automated email, please do not reply to the sender. If you wish to reply to this email, send to
devcon.team@thameswater.co.uk
Visit us online https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?
url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.thameswater.co.uk%2F&amp;data=04%7C01%7C%7Cfdb36bf4cb1b434d1e2308d9e237ed4f%7C9fe658cdb3cd405685193222ffa96be8%7C1%7C0%7C637789552101099844%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&amp;sdata=J3koixAcmNMfUssxDCBtRspMf0W30JLU8ynt8QC1Lzo%3D&amp;reserved=0 ,
follow us on twitter https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?
url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.twitter.com%2Fthameswater&amp;data=04%7C01%7C%7Cfdb36bf4cb1b434d1e2308d9e237ed4f%7C9fe658cdb3cd405685193222ffa96be8%7C1%7C0%7C637789552101099844%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&amp;sdata=7rK0XeEqN3MOEGACNd2AT6KontgdNsYLhICh6UT8j7o%3D&amp;reserved=0
or find us on https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?
url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.facebook.com%2Fthameswater&amp;data=04%7C01%7C%7Cfdb36bf4cb1b434d1e2308d9e237ed4f%7C9fe658cdb3cd405685193222ffa96be8%7C1%7C0%7C637789552101109843%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&amp;sdata=csVE9FabC79T1xm7UICl0upbqVGtmJo4v8ZgwfFS9Gw%3D&amp;reserved=0.
We’re happy to help you 24/7.

Thames Water Limited (company number 2366623) and Thames Water Utilities Limited (company number 2366661) are companies registered in England and Wales, both are registered at Clearwater Court, Vastern Road, Reading, Berkshire RG1 8DB. This email is confidential and is intended only for the use of the person it was sent to. Any views or opinions in this email are those of the author and don’t necessarily represent those of
Thames Water Limited or its subsidiaries. If you aren’t the intended recipient of this email, please don’t copy, use, forward or disclose its contents to any other person – please destroy and delete the message and any attachments from your system.

Page 187

mailto:BCTAdmin@thameswater.co.uk
mailto:PLNComments@cityoflondon.gov.uk


THIS IS AN EXTERNAL EMAIL

From: Location Enquiries
To: PLN - Comments
Subject: RE: Planning Application Consultation: 16/00406/FULMAJ
Date: 27 January 2022 13:17:24

FAO Gemma Delves
 
Location: 15 Minories, 57-60 & 62 Aldgate High Street And 1 Little Somerset Street London
EC3
Demolition of existing structures, and erection of a mixed use office building, including
ground floor flexible retail/cafe/commercial uses (Class E) and a public house (sui generis)
(35,672 sqm GEA).
(RE-CONSULTATION: AMENDED DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT. REVISED
AND UPDATED INFORMATION RECEIVED. The proposed scheme has been amended.
Revisions include: minor alterations to the extent of the site boundary, provision of a new
landscaping scheme and alterations to the design of the office building comprising the
addition of two extra storeys and one additional basement level, provision of upper level
terraces, amendments to the building massing, a reconfigured ground floor design and
internal alterations. An additional 4,771 sq.m (GEA) of floorspace is proposed when
compared to the previously proposed scheme.)
 
 
Thank you for your consultation.
 
I can confirm that the planning applicant is in communication with London Underground
engineers with regard to the development above. Subject to the applicant fulfilling their
obligations to London Underground and Transport for London under the legal
requirements between ourselves and the promoter of the development we have no
objection to make on this planning application.
 
This response is made as Railway Infrastructure Manager under the “Town and Country Planning
(Development Management Procedure) Order 2015". It therefore relates only to railway
engineering and safety matters. Other parts of TfL may have other comments in line with their
own statutory responsibilities.
 
Kind regards
 
Shahina Inayathusein MAPM MIAM
Safeguarding Engineer (LU+DLR)
Infrastructure Protection
Email: SMBLocationEnquiries@tfl.gov.uk

TfL Engineering | 5 Endeavour Square, Stratford, London E20 1JN
 

 
Find out more about Infrastructure Protection - https://youtu.be/0hGoJMTBOEg
 
 

Page 188



 
 
 
-----Original Message-----
From: PLNComments@cityoflondon.gov.uk <PLNComments@cityoflondon.gov.uk> 
Sent: 05 January 2022 10:38
To: Location Enquiries <SMBLocationEnquiries@tfl.gov.uk>
Subject: Planning Application Consultation: 16/00406/FULMAJ
 
Dear Sir/Madam
 
Please see attached consultation under Article 16 of the Town and Country Planning
(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 for 15 Minories, 57-60 & 62
Aldgate High Street And 1 Little Somerset Street London EC3   .
Reply with your comments to PLNComments@cityoflondon.gov.uk.
 
Kind Regards
 
Planning Administration
 
On behalf of
 
Gemma Delves
Environment Department
City of London
THIS E-MAIL AND ANY ATTACHED FILES ARE CONFIDENTIAL AND MAY BE LEGALLY PRIVILEGED. If
you are not the addressee, any disclosure, reproduction, copying, distribution or other
dissemination or use of this communication is strictly prohibited. If you have received this
transmission in error please notify the sender immediately and then delete this e-mail. Opinions,
advice or facts included in this message are given without any warranties or intention to enter
into a contractual relationship with the City of London unless specifically indicated otherwise by
agreement, letter or facsimile signed by a City of London authorised signatory. Any part of this e-
mail which is purely personal in nature is not authorised by the City of London. All e-mail through
the City of London's gateway is potentially the subject of monitoring. All liability for errors and
viruses is excluded. Please note that in so far as the City of London falls within the scope of the
Freedom of Information Act 2000 or the Environmental Information Regulations 2004, it may
need to disclose this e-mail. Website: http://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk

This message has been scanned for malware by Forcepoint. www.forcepoint.com

Page 189



 

  

Memo 

To Assistant Director (Development Management) 

Department of the Built Environment 

Email: plncomments@cityoflondon.gov.uk  

From Mrs Claire Callan-Day 

Environmental Health Technician 

Department of Markets and Consumer Protection 

Telephone  

Email    

Date 18 January 2022 

Our Ref WK/202200045 

Your Ref  16/00406/FULMAJ 

Subject 15 Minories, 57-60 & 62 Aldgate High Street And 1 Little Somerset Street 

London EC3 
 

 

City of London PO Box 270, Guildhall, London EC2P 2EJ 

Switchboard 020 7606 3030 

www.cityoflondon.gov.uk 
 

RE: Demolition of existing structures, and erection of a mixed use office building, 
including ground floor flexible retail/cafe/commercial uses (Class E) and a public 
house (sui generis) (35,672 sqm GEA). 

This department acknowledges receipt for the above pre application and has the following 
comments and observations to make: 

I4C No part of the roof areas except those shown as roof terraces on the 
drawings hereby approved shall be used or accessed by occupiers of the 
building, other than in the case of emergency or for maintenance purposes. 

 REASON: To safeguard the amenity of the adjoining premises and the 
area generally in accordance with the following policies of the 
Local Plan: DM15.7, DM21.3. 
 

I12C No live or recorded music shall be played that it can be heard outside the 
premises or within any residential or other premises in the building. 

 REASON: To safeguard the amenity of the adjoining premises and the 
area generally in accordance with the following policies of the 
Local Plan: DM15.7, DM21.3. 

I18C No servicing of the premises shall be carried out between the hours of 23:00 
on one day and 07:00 on the following day from Monday to Saturday and 
between 23:00 on Saturday and 07:00 on the following Monday and on 

Page 190



Page 2 of 7 

Bank Holidays. Servicing includes the loading and unloading of goods from 
vehicles and putting rubbish outside the building. 

 REASON: To avoid obstruction of the surrounding streets and to 
safeguard the amenity of the occupiers of adjacent premises, 
in accordance with the following policies of the Local Plan: 
DM15.7, DM16.2, DM21.3. 
 

I26 All roof terraces hereby permitted shall not be used or accessed between 
the hours of 21:00 on one day and 07:00 on the following day and not at any 
time on Sundays or Bank Holidays, other than in the case of emergency. 

 REASON: To safeguard the amenity of the adjoining premises and the 
area generally in accordance with the following policies of the 
Local Plan: DM15.7, DM21.3. 

  
I27 No amplified or other music shall be played on the roof terraces. 
 REASON: To safeguard the amenity of the adjoining premises and the 

area generally in accordance with the following policies of the 
Local Plan: DM15.7, DM21.3. 
 

I28 There shall be no promoted events on the premises. A promoted event for 
this purpose, is an event involving music and dancing where the musical 
entertainment is provided at any time between 23:00 and 07:00 by a disc 
jockey or disc jockeys one or some of whom are not employees of the 
premises licence holder and the event is promoted to the general public. 

 REASON: To safeguard the amenity of the adjoining premises and the 
area generally in accordance with the following policies of the 
Local Plan: DM15.7, DM21.3. 
 

M7D (a) The level of noise emitted from any new plant shall be lower than the 
existing background level by at least 10 dBA. Noise levels shall be determined 
at one metre from the window of the nearest noise sensitive premises. The 
background noise level shall be expressed as the lowest LA90 (10 minutes) 
during which plant is or may be in operation.  
(b) Following installation but before the new plant comes into operation 
measurements of noise from the new plant must be taken and a report 
demonstrating that the plant as installed meets the design requirements shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
(c) All constituent parts of the new plant shall be maintained and replaced in 
whole or in part as often is required to ensure compliance with the noise levels 
approved by the Local Planning Authority. 

 REASON: To protect the amenities of neighbouring 
residential/commercial occupiers in accordance with the 
following policies of the Local Plan: DM15.7, DM21.3. 

 

M10F There shall be no demolition on the site until a scheme for protecting nearby 
residents and commercial occupiers from noise, dust and other environmental 

Page 191



Page 3 of 7 

effects has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The scheme shall be based on the Department of Markets and 
Consumer Protection's Code of Practice for Deconstruction and Construction 
Sites and arrangements for liaison and monitoring (including any agreed 
monitoring contribution) set out therein. A staged scheme of protective works 
may be submitted in respect of individual stages of the demolition process but 
no works in any individual stage shall be commenced until the related scheme 
of protective works has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The demolition shall not be carried out other than in 
accordance with the approved scheme (including payment of any agreed 
monitoring contribution).            

 REASON: In the interests of public safety and to ensure a minimal 
effect on the amenities of neighbouring premises and the 
transport network in accordance with the following 
policies of the Local Plan: DM15.6, DM15.7, DM21.3. 
These details are required prior to demolition in order that 
the impact on amenities is minimised from the time that 
development starts. 

 

M11G There shall be no construction on the site until a scheme for protecting nearby 
residents and commercial occupiers from noise, dust and other environmental 
effects during construction has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall be based on the Department of 
Markets and Consumer Protection's Code of Practice for Deconstruction and 
Construction Sites and arrangements for liaison and monitoring (including any 
agreed monitoring contribution) set out therein. A staged scheme of protective 
works may be submitted in respect of individual stages of the construction 
process but no works in any individual stage shall be commenced until the 
related scheme of protective works has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall not be carried 
out other than in accordance with the approved scheme (including payment of 
any agreed monitoring contribution). 

 REASON: In the interests of public safety and to ensure a minimal 
effect on the amenities of neighbouring premises and the 
transport network in accordance with the following 
policies of the Local Plan: DM15.6, DM15.7, DM21.3. 
These details are required prior to demolition in order that 
the impact on amenities is minimised from the time that 
the construction starts. 
 

M16D The proposed office development sharing a party element with non-office   
premises shall be designed and constructed to provide resistance to the 
transmission of sound. The sound insulation shall be sufficient to ensure that 
NR40 is not exceeded in the proposed office premises due to noise from the 
neighbouring non-office premises and shall be permanently maintained 
thereafter. 

Page 192



Page 4 of 7 

A test shall be carried out after completion but prior to occupation to show the 
criterion above have been met and the results shall submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 REASON: To protect the amenities of occupiers of the building in 
accordance with the following policy of the Local Plan: 
DM15.7. 
 

M18D Before any works thereby affected are begun, a scheme shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority which specifies the 
fume extract arrangements, materials and construction methods to be used to 
avoid noise and/or odour penetration to the upper floors from the Class E use. 
Flues must terminate at roof level or an agreed high level location which will 
not give rise to nuisance to other occupiers of the building or adjacent 
buildings. The details approved must be implemented before the Class E use 
takes place. 

 REASON: In order to protect residential/commercial amenities in the 
building in accordance with the following policies of the 
Local Plan: DM15.6, DM15.7, DM21.3. 
 

M19C Before any mechanical plant is used on the premises it shall be mounted in a 
way which will minimise transmission of structure borne sound or vibration to 
any other part of the building in accordance with a scheme to be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 REASON: In order to protect the amenities of commercial occupiers 
in the building in accordance following policy of the Local 
Plan: DM15.7. 
 

M20D Before the development hereby permitted is begun a detailed site investigation 
shall be carried out to establish if the site is contaminated and to determine the 
potential for pollution of the water environment. The method and extent of this 
site investigation shall be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority 
prior to commencement of the work. Details of measures to prevent pollution of 
ground and surface water, including provisions for monitoring, shall then be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before the 
development commences. The development shall proceed in strict accordance 
with the measures approved. 

 REASON: To prevent pollution of the water environment in 
accordance with the following policy of the Local Plan: 
DM15.8. These details are required prior to 
commencement in order that any changes to satisfy this 
condition are incorporated into the development before 
the design is too advanced to make changes. 

  
M21D No work except demolition to basement slab level shall take place until an 

investigation and risk assessment has been undertaken to establish if the site 
is contaminated and to determine the potential for pollution in accordance with 
the requirements of DEFRA and the Environment Agency's 'Model Procedures 
for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11'. 

Page 193



Page 5 of 7 

Where remediation is necessary a detailed remediation scheme to bring the 
site to a condition suitable for the intended use by removing unacceptable risks 
to human health, buildings and other property and to the natural and historical 
environment must be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority the remediation scheme must ensure that the site will not qualify as 
contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 in 
relation to the intended use of the land after remediation.  
Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation 
scheme a verification report must be submitted to and approved in writing of 
the Local Planning Authority. 

 REASON: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future 
users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, 
together with those to controlled waters, property and 
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development 
can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to 
workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors in 
accordance with the Local Plan DM15.8. These details 
are required prior to commencement in order that any 
changes to satisfy this condition are incorporated into the 
development before the design is too advanced to make 
changes. 

  
M22D Within five working days of any site contamination being found when carrying 

out the development hereby approved the contamination must be reported in 
writing to the Local Planning Authority and an investigation and risk 
assessment must be undertaken in accordance with the requirements of 
DEFRA and the Environment Agency’s ‘Model Procedures for the 
Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11’. 
Where remediation is necessary a detailed remediation scheme to bring the 
site to a condition suitable for the intended use must be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Unless otherwise agreed 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority the remediation scheme must ensure 
that the site will not qualify as contaminated land under Part 2A of the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990 in relation to the intended use of the land 
after remediation.  
Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation 
scheme a verification report must be submitted to and approved in writing of 
the Local Planning Authority. 

 REASON: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future 
users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, 
together with those to controlled waters, property and 
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can 
be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, 
neighbours and other offsite receptors in accordance with the 
Local Plan DM15.8. These details are required prior to 
commencement in order that any changes to satisfy this 
condition are incorporated into the development before the 

Page 194



Page 6 of 7 

design is too advanced to make changes. 

 

M23D Before any piling or construction of basements is commenced a scheme for the 
provision of sewer vents within the building shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the local planning authority. Unless otherwise agreed in writing by 
the local planning authority the agreed scheme for the provision of sewer vents 
shall be implemented and brought into operation before the development is 
occupied and shall be so maintained for the life of the building. 

 REASON: To vent sewerage odour from (or substantially from) the 
development hereby permitted and mitigate any adverse 
air pollution or environmental conditions in order to 
protect the amenity of the area in accordance with the 
following policy of the Local Plan: DM10.1. These details 
are required prior to piling or construction work 
commencing in order that any changes to satisfy this 
condition are incorporated into the development before 
the design is too advanced to make changes. 
 

M27B No cooking shall take place within any Class E/Sui Generis unit hereby 
approved until fume extract arrangements and ventilation have been installed 
to serve that unit in accordance with a scheme approved by the Local Planning 
Authority. Flues must terminate at roof level or an agreed high level location 
which will not give rise to nuisance to other occupiers of the building or 
adjacent buildings. Any works that would materially affect the external 
appearance of the building will require a separate planning permission. 

 REASON: In order to protect the amenity of the area in accordance 
with the following policies of the Local Plan: DM15.6, 
DM21.3. 
 

 

M32 Prior to the commencement of development the developer/construction 

contractor shall sign up to the Non-Road Mobile Machinery Register. The 

development shall be carried out in accordance with the NRMM Regulations 

and the inventory of all NRMM used on site shall be maintained and provided to 

the Local Planning Authority upon request to demonstrate compliance with the 

regulations.  
 REASON: To reduce the emissions of construction and demolition in 

accordance with the Mayor of London Control of Dust and 
Emissions during Construction and Demolition SPG July 
2014. Compliance is required to be prior to 
commencement due to the potential impact at the 
beginning of the construction. 

 

Page 195



Page 7 of 7 

M33 
All parts of the ventilation and extraction equipment including the odour control 

systems installed shall be cleaned, serviced and maintained in accordance with 

Section 5 of ‘Control of Odour & Noise from Commercial Kitchen Extract 

Systems’ dated September 2018 by EMAQ+ (or any subsequent updated 

version). A record of all such cleaning, servicing and maintenance shall be 

maintained and kept on site and upon request provided to the Local Planning 

Authority to demonstrate compliance. 

REASON: To protect the occupiers of existing and adjoining 
premises and public amenity in accordance with Policies 
DM 10.1, DM 15.7 and DM 21.3 

Prior to the commencement of the relevant works, a full Lighting Strategy shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, which should 
include full details of all luminaires,  both decorative, functional or ambient (including 
associated infrastructure), alongside details of the impact of lighting on the public realm, 
including intensity, uniformity, colour, timings and associated management measures to 
reduce the impact on light pollution and residential amenity. Detail should be provided for 
all external, semi-external and public-facing parts of the building and of internal lighting 
levels and how this has been designed to reduce glare and light trespass. All works 
pursuant to this consent shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and 
lighting strategy. 
REASON: To ensure that the Local Planning Authority may be satisfied with the detail of 
the proposed development and to ensure a satisfactory external appearance in 
accordance with the following policies of the Local Plan: DM10.1, 15.7 and emerging 
policy DE2 of the Draft City Plan 2036 

Regards 

Claire Callan-Day  
Environmental Health Technician 
Pollution Team  
Environment Department 
City of London, PO Box 270,  
Guildhall, London, EC2V 7HH 

Page 196



THIS IS AN EXTERNAL EMAIL

From:
To: PLN - Comments
Subject: Re: Application Consultation (16/00406/FULMAJ)
Date: 16 January 2022 10:49:09

Hi City Planners,

There is such a huge amount of additional material on the website to wade through here,
including dozens of revised drawings and reports. 

Are you able to confirm, do the revised proposals materially affect the design, size and
provision of the replacement Still & Star pub as previously commented on with the design
team?

If the answer is no and the plans for the new pub remain the same in size, scale and design,
then CAMRA London has no further comment to make on this scheme. 

Best regards,

James Watson
Regional Pub Protection Advisor 

On Wed, 5 Jan 2022 at 12:08, <PLNComments@cityoflondon.gov.uk> wrote:
Dear Sir/Madam

Please see attached consultation letter for planning application 16/00406/FULMAJ (15
Minories, 57-60 & 62 Aldgate High Street And 1 Little Somerset Street London EC3   ).

Kind Regards

Planning Administration
Environment Department
City of London
THIS E-MAIL AND ANY ATTACHED FILES ARE CONFIDENTIAL AND MAY BE
LEGALLY PRIVILEGED. If you are not the addressee, any disclosure, reproduction,
copying, distribution or other dissemination or use of this communication is strictly
prohibited. If you have received this transmission in error please notify the sender
immediately and then delete this e-mail. Opinions, advice or facts included in this
message are given without any warranties or intention to enter into a contractual
relationship with the City of London unless specifically indicated otherwise by
agreement, letter or facsimile signed by a City of London authorised signatory. Any part
of this e-mail which is purely personal in nature is not authorised by the City of London.
All e-mail through the City of London's gateway is potentially the subject of monitoring.
All liability for errors and viruses is excluded. Please note that in so far as the City of
London falls within the scope of the Freedom of Information Act 2000 or the
Environmental Information Regulations 2004, it may need to disclose this e-mail.
Website: http://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk

Page 197



Page 198



Page 199



Page 200



Comments for Planning Application 16/00406/FULMAJ

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 16/00406/FULMAJ

Address: 15 Minories, 57-60 & 62 Aldgate High Street And 1 Little Somerset Street London EC3

Proposal: Demolition of existing structures, and erection of a mixed use office building, including

ground floor flexible retail/cafe/commercial uses (Class E) and a public house (sui generis)

(35,672 sqm GEA).|cr||cr|(FURTHER RE-CONSULTATION: Submission of revised and updated

information including Daylight Sunlight Survey, Radiance Analysis, Fire Statement, further

sustainability details and high resolution images).

Case Officer: Gemma Delves

 

Customer Details

Name: Mr Roger Jones

Address: 105 Guinness Court Mansell Street LONDON

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Neighbour

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

  - Other

Comment:I object to the demolition of the Still & Star and the adjoining the alleyway portion of

Little Somerset Street.

 

The Still & Star is really the only building of historical or architectural merit of the proposed

demolition area. It is a unique record of the working class history of the area.

 

Other developments in the City have been more sensitive to historical buildings, but perhaps this

happens only when those buildings reflect the pomp and wealth of the City.

 

Portsoken, as its name implies (a 'Soke' is an area of jurisdiction outside of the main boundaries)

is 'without' the old city wall, and historically was an area of the more noxious trades, such as

butchery: This pub, and the adjoining alleyway, are a reminder of the history of this part of the City.

 

So I guess this objection is really a plea to value the history of this extreme eastern part of the

City, as a reminder that the City was once a place of many trades, and that from a historical

perspective these trades and the way of life that went with them are every bit as important to the

story of the City as those buildings celebrating the great men and institutions of the past.

Page 201



Comments for Planning Application 16/00406/FULMAJ

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 16/00406/FULMAJ

Address: 15 Minories, 57-60 & 62 Aldgate High Street And 1 Little Somerset Street London EC3

Proposal: Demolition of existing structures, and erection of a mixed use office building, including

ground floor flexible retail/cafe/commercial uses (Class E) and a public house (sui generis)

(35,672 sqm GEA).|cr||cr|(FURTHER RE-CONSULTATION: Submission of revised and updated

information including Daylight Sunlight Survey, Radiance Analysis, Fire Statement, further

sustainability details and high resolution images).

Case Officer: Gemma Delves

 

Customer Details

Name: Mrs Celine LUTZU

Address: Flat 66 Guinness Court Mansell Street London

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Neighbour

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

  - Other

Comment:The pub Still & Star is maybe the only building of any interest in that area.

Other developments in the City have been sensitive to historical buildings, i.e. they have been

persevered and incorporated into the design.

I wish the same for this pub.

 

The new units that are proposed seem to me to be generic offices, or no particular merit, at a time

when office space is not really needed (post covid).

 

Thank you.

KR

Page 202



Comments for Planning Application 16/00406/FULMAJ

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 16/00406/FULMAJ

Address: 15 Minories, 57-60 & 62 Aldgate High Street And 1 Little Somerset Street London EC3

Proposal: Demolition of existing structures, and erection of a mixed use office building, including

ground floor flexible retail/cafe/commercial uses (Class E) and a public house (sui generis)

(35,672 sqm GEA).|cr||cr|(FURTHER RE-CONSULTATION: Submission of revised and updated

information including Daylight Sunlight Survey, Radiance Analysis, Fire Statement, further

sustainability details and high resolution images).

Case Officer: Gemma Delves

 

Customer Details

Name: Mr Duncan Gates

Address: Flat 7, 90 Stroud Green Road London

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Member of the Public

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

  - Other

Comment:I reiterate my objection to this application per my comments in my letter of 6th February

2019.

Page 203



Comments for Planning Application 16/00406/FULMAJ

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 16/00406/FULMAJ

Address: 15 Minories, 57-60 & 62 Aldgate High Street And 1 Little Somerset Street London EC3

Proposal: Demolition of existing structures, and erection of a mixed use office building, including

ground floor flexible retail/cafe/commercial uses (Class E) and a public house (sui generis)

(35,672 sqm GEA).|cr||cr|(FURTHER RE-CONSULTATION: Submission of revised and updated

information including Daylight Sunlight Survey, Radiance Analysis, Fire Statement, further

sustainability details and high resolution images).

Case Officer: Gemma Delves

 

Customer Details

Name: Ms Jess Cooper

Address: 27 Northway Rd London

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Member of the Public

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

  - Other

Comment:No amendments to this application touch the heart of the matter, which is the

indefensible demolition of the Still and Star public house. The relentless erasure of historical sites

such as this is leaving the City purged of character and interest. A proposed facsimile adds insult

to injury. Why is it that we, members of the public, have to explain the value of this cherished

Asset of Community Value to you?

Page 204



Comments for Planning Application 16/00406/FULMAJ

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 16/00406/FULMAJ

Address: 15 Minories, 57-60 & 62 Aldgate High Street And 1 Little Somerset Street London EC3

Proposal: Demolition of existing structures, and erection of a mixed use office building, including

ground floor flexible retail/cafe/commercial uses (Class E) and a public house (sui generis)

(35,672 sqm GEA).|cr||cr|(FURTHER RE-CONSULTATION: Submission of revised and updated

information including Daylight Sunlight Survey, Radiance Analysis, Fire Statement, further

sustainability details and high resolution images).

Case Officer: Gemma Delves

 

Customer Details

Name: Mrs Emma Cornish

Address: 1 Fernham Farm Cottages Fernham Faringdon

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Member of the Public

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

  - Residential Amenity

Comment:As a Londoner I would be incredibly sad to see the destruction of yet another part of

London's historical fabric, in order to build yet another characterless office development. Once lost

these buildings are gone forever. For them to have survived so long, survived WW II , the

demolition frenzy of the 60's , only to be pulled down would be an atrocious act of vandalism. If

more offices have to be built (and I doubt that they are currently), then a better scheme preserving

our history should be devised.

Page 205



Comments for Planning Application 16/00406/FULMAJ

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 16/00406/FULMAJ

Address: 15 Minories, 57-60 & 62 Aldgate High Street And 1 Little Somerset Street London EC3

Proposal: Demolition of existing structures, and erection of a mixed use office building, including

ground floor flexible retail/cafe/commercial uses (Class E) and a public house (sui generis)

(35,672 sqm GEA).|cr||cr|(FURTHER RE-CONSULTATION: Submission of revised and updated

information including Daylight Sunlight Survey, Radiance Analysis, Fire Statement, further

sustainability details and high resolution images).

Case Officer: Gemma Delves

 

Customer Details

Name: Ms Angela Wood

Address: 68 Prebend Street, , Islington LONDON

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Member of the Public

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

  - Other

Comment:This proposal would, if agreed, result in the loss of Little Somerset Street and the Still &

Star Public House.

 

Little Somerset Street is one of the City's few remaining alleys and the Still & Star is a historic pub;

the loss of which would be detrimental to the area.

 

Also, many more people are working from home [post-Covid and there is a large amount of empty

office space, why is this aesthetically ugly development even needed?

Page 206



Comments for Planning Application 16/00406/FULMAJ

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 16/00406/FULMAJ

Address: 15 Minories, 57-60 & 62 Aldgate High Street And 1 Little Somerset Street London EC3

Proposal: Demolition of existing structures, and erection of a mixed use office building, including

ground floor flexible retail/cafe/commercial uses (Class E) and a public house (sui generis)

(35,672 sqm GEA).|cr||cr|(RE-CONSULTATION: AMENDED DESCRIPTION OF

DEVELOPMENT. REVISED AND UPDATED INFORMATION RECEIVED. The proposed scheme

has been amended. Revisions include: minor alterations to the extent of the site boundary,

provision of a new landscaping scheme and alterations to the design of the office building

comprising the addition of two extra storeys and one additional basement level, provision of upper

level terraces, amendments to the building massing, a reconfigured ground floor design and

internal alterations. An additional 4,771 sq.m (GEA) of floorspace is proposed when compared to

the previously proposed scheme.)

Case Officer: Gemma Delves

 

Customer Details

Name: Mr Damien  ERRINGTON 

Address: 2 Westminster Drive Westcliff on Sea

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Other

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

Comment:The Still and Star Public House, is place of continuity with the City of Londons history,

where previously ordinance would have protected its future against the corporate interests. It

offers a traditional London public house built to a human scale. It's demolition would be such a

shame.

Page 207



Comments for Planning Application 16/00406/FULMAJ

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 16/00406/FULMAJ

Address: 15 Minories, 57-60 & 62 Aldgate High Street And 1 Little Somerset Street London EC3

Proposal: Demolition of existing structures, and erection of a mixed use office building, including

ground floor flexible retail/cafe/commercial uses (Class E) and a public house (sui generis)

(35,672 sqm GEA).|cr||cr|(RE-CONSULTATION: AMENDED DESCRIPTION OF

DEVELOPMENT. REVISED AND UPDATED INFORMATION RECEIVED. The proposed scheme

has been amended. Revisions include: minor alterations to the extent of the site boundary,

provision of a new landscaping scheme and alterations to the design of the office building

comprising the addition of two extra storeys and one additional basement level, provision of upper

level terraces, amendments to the building massing, a reconfigured ground floor design and

internal alterations. An additional 4,771 sq.m (GEA) of floorspace is proposed when compared to

the previously proposed scheme.)

Case Officer: Gemma Delves

 

Customer Details

Name: Dr Peter Bkair

Address: 23 Danecroft Road London

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Member of the Public

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

Comment:The revised plans make the floor space of the building even larger! The development,

which entails the loss in entirely of the historic Little Somerset Street and Still and Star Public

House (an Asset of Community Value in 2016), is disastrous.

 

The proposed building itself is monumentally ugly and offers nothing in the way of aesthetics.

 

Post-COVID and pro climate, does London really need this amount of new office space and the

embodied carbon it will take to build this monster?

Page 208



Committee(s) 
 

Dated: 
 

Planning and Transportation Committee 
 

26 April 2022 
 

Subject: Planning Advice Note: Preventing suicides in 
high rise buildings and structures 

Planning and Transportation 
Committee  
 

Which outcomes in the City Corporation’s Corporate 
Plan does this proposal aim to impact directly?  

1,2,3,4,5,6,11,12 

Does this proposal require extra revenue and/or 
capital spending? 

No 

If so, how much? N/A 

What is the source of Funding? N/A 

Has this Funding Source been agreed with the 
Chamberlain’s Department? 

N/A 

Report of:  
Director of Environment Department 

For decision  

Report author: 
Lisa Russell, Environment Department 
 

 
 

Summary 
 

This report presents a guidance note advising developers how to minimise the 
risk of suicide attempts in their proposed high-rise buildings and structures. As 
this is a Planning Advice Note, the decision to approve and publish it will be 
taken by the Planning and Transportation Committee. Health and Wellbeing 
Board Members were consulted on the guidance note in Appendix 1 and did not 
suggest any changes for consideration by the Planning and Transportation 
Committee. 
 

Recommendation(s) 

 
Planning and Transportation Committee is asked to: 

• Approve the Preventing Suicides in High Rise Buildings and Structures 
Planning Advice Note attached at Appendix 1 as a material planning 
consideration. 

 

 

   
Main Report 

Background 
 

1. This Planning Advice Note provides general guidelines about suicide 
prevention methods which are required as part of planning applications from 
designers, developers, and owners of buildings to help prevent suicides in 

Page 209

Agenda Item 9



both public and private high rise buildings and structures. Vehicles and other 
forms of transport which are outside the scope of planning control, and other 
structures, are not included within these guidelines.  
  

2. Recognisation of suicide risks, and how to mitigate them is encouraged as 
part of the planning application process where new developments or 
refurbishments are proposed in the City of London. These guidelines can also 
be of use to owners and occupiers of existing high rise buildings and 
structures in reducing suicide risks.  
 

3. National and regional guidance seeks to reduce the number of suicides. The 
Mayor of London’s Health Inequalities Strategy 2018 contains an objective 
that requires local authorities to take action to reduce suicides across London. 
The Mayor wants London to be a zero-suicide City and aims to reduce 
suicides by 10% in line with the Five Year Forward View national target. The 
City Corporation has established a multi-agency Suicide Prevention Steering 
Group and published a joint Suicide Prevention Action Plan 2017-2024 with 
the City of London Police. 
 

4. Developers are encouraged to address potential suicide risks at an early 
stage before their designs are finalised. Using these guidelines, appointing 
experienced consultants, having a dialogue with officers of the City of London 
Corporation and commissioning early stage studies to assess the suicide risks 
will help maximise the effectiveness of both preventative and mitigative 
strategies on proposed development sites.  
 

5. Subject to approval by the Planning and Transportation Committee, the 
Planning Advice Note attached at Appendix 1 will be published on the City 
Corporation’s website. While not having the same weight as policies in the 
statutory development plan which have been through public consultation and 
examination, the Planning Advice Note will nevertheless be a material 
consideration in the determination of planning applications.  

 

 
Corporate & Strategic Implications 
  

6. Strategic implications-This Guidance Note will support the delivery of the 
Corporate Plan by ensuring that land-use decisions fully incorporate 
measures to improve the health of the City’s communities through the 
planning system (Corporate Plan, Outcome 2: People enjoy good health and 
wellbeing). 

 
7. Financial implications- There are no financial implications arising from this 

report.  
 

8. Resource implication- There are no resource implications arising from this 
report. 

 
9. Equalities implications- Preventing Suicides in High Rise Buildings and 

Structures Planning Advice Note will contribute to the delivery of the City 

Page 210



Corporation’s Public Sector Equality Duty 2010 by improving health and 
wellbeing outcomes for all people who are protected by existing equalities 
legislation. 

 
10. Climate implications- There are no climate implications arising from this 

report. 
 

11. Legal implications -There are no legal implications arising from this report. 
 

12. Risk implications - There are no additional new risks arising from this report. 
 

13. Security implications - There are no security implications arising from this 
report. 
 

 
  
Conclusion 

14. This report presents the draft Preventing Suicides in High Rise Buildings and 
Structures Planning Advice Note. Once approved by the Planning and 
Transportation Committee, the Planning Advice Note will be published and will 
become a material consideration in the determination of planning applications. 

 

 

Appendices 
  

• Appendix 1- Preventing Suicides in High Rise Buildings and Structures 
Planning Advice Note. 

 
 

Report author 
Lisa Russell, Environment Department, Planning Officer 
 
E: lisa.russell@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
T: 0207 332 1857 

 

Page 211

mailto:lisa.russell@cityoflondon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 212



1 
 

Preventing Suicides in High Rise 

Buildings and Structures 
 Planning Advice Note 

 

 

 

 

Published by the City of London Corporation 

 Environment Department and Public Health Team 

April 2022  
 

 

                                                            

  

Page 213



2 
 

Contents 

 

1. Introduction ................................................................................................ 3 

2. Context ......................................................................................................... 4 

3. Risk Asessment and management ........................................................... 5 

4. Methods of preventing suicides………………….……………...……….6 

a) Restricting access to the site ................................................................... 6 

b) Increase opportunity and capacity for human intervention ............. 11 

c). Increase opportunities for help sought by a suicidal individual ..... 12 

5. Postvention ............................................................................................... 13 

6. Summary…………………………….………………………….………….14 

7. References  ................................................................................................ 15 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 214



3 
 

1. Introduction  

This Planning Advice Note provides general guidelines about suicide prevention 

methods which are required as part of planning applications from designers, 

developers, and owners of buildings to help prevent suicides in both public and 

private high rise buildings and structures. Vehicles and other forms of transport, 

which are outside the scope of planning control, and other structures, are not included 

within these guidelines.  

Consideration of suicide risks and how to mitigate them is encouraged as part of the 

planning application process where new developments or refurbishments are 

proposed in the City of London. These guidelines can also be of use to owners and 

occupiers of existing high rise buildings and structures in reducing suicide risks.  

The Government published a suicide prevention strategy in 2012 Preventing Suicide in 

England: A cross government outcomes strategy to save lives.  In 2016 the NHS produced 

a Five Year Forward View for Mental Health plan which set a target to reduce the number 

of suicides in England by 10% by 2020/2021. The Mayor of London’s Health Inequalities 

Strategy 2018 contains an objective that requires local authorities to take action to 

reduce suicides across London. The Mayor wants London to be a zero-suicide City 

and aims to reduce suicides by 10% in line with the Five Year Forward View national 

target.  The City of London Corporation has responded to national and regional 

guidance on reducing suicides by setting up a multi-agency Suicide Prevention 

Steering Group and producing a joint Suicide Prevention Action Plan 2017-2024 with the 

City of London Police.  

This Preventing suicides in high rise buildings and structures Planning Advice Note seeks 

to reduce the risk of suicide in the City through the planning process, by advising 

applicants intending to develop high rise buildings and structures how they can 

recognise, and mitigate suicide risks. 

The guidelines in this document cannot cover every eventuality that may arise, 

therefore professional judgement from suicide prevention experts and experienced 

engineers may be required. It should be noted that no measure is a guaranteed 

solution when it comes to preventing suicide. A proactive approach that seeks to 

design out suicide should be encouraged, rather than a reactive one, when faced with 

the possibility of such a tragic and traumatic event.  

Developers are encouraged to address potential suicide risks at an early stage before 

their designs are finalised. Using these guidelines, appointing experienced 

consultants, having a dialogue with officers of the City of London Corporation and 

commissioning early stage studies to assess the suicide risks will help maximise the 

effectiveness of both preventative and mitigative strategies on proposed development 

sites.  

Page 215



4 
 

2. Context  

Suicide is one of the top twenty leading causes of death for all ages worldwide. Suicide 

is a significant social inequality and public health issue, with more than 6,000 people 

across the United Kingdom and Republic of Ireland taking their own lives each year. 

Tens of thousands more attempt suicide each year.  

The City of London is a unique area. It has the highest daytime population of any local 

authority area in the UK, with hundreds of thousands of workers, together with 

residents, students, and visitors packed into just over a square mile of densely 

developed space. The City has three population groups who are potentially at risk of 

suicide: residents who live in the City; those who work in the City; and those who 

travel to the City with the intention of completing suicide from a City site. 

Suicide is not inevitable; suicide in public places may be more preventable than when 

it occurs in the privacy of the home and potentially even more so in places with higher 

footfall. Suicide prevention focuses on tackling the methods that are most often used, 

this encompasses frequently used locations and areas of high probability. Limiting 

access to these locations can interrupt the suicidal intention, buying time and 

providing an opportunity for the individual to re-consider, as well as increasing the 

chances for a bystander to intervene. By doing so, it increases the chance that help can 

reach them.  

Around a third of all suicides take place outside the home, in a public location. This 

may be indoors, for example: a hotel, public building or shopping centre, or outdoors 

on a rooftop garden or in a carpark. Public spaces are not necessarily busy places and 

the term ‘public’ does not always mean highly visible. As a result, public spaces are 

often used as sites for suicides.  

Buildings of 4 storeys or higher with roof access, balconies or ledges present sites of 

increased suicide potential, along with multi-storey carparks and internal atria. Such 

places often provide easy access and a means of suicide by jumping from a height.   

Buildings near rivers pose an increased risk of potential suicides and are subject to 

particular regulations to ensure the safety of people. Riparian landowners are subject 

to various acts of Parliament and statutory instruments to ensure adequate safety 

measures are implemented. 

However, if a location offers the means and opportunity for suicide, it also offers the 

means and opportunity for prevention. While some places will present more of a risk, 

e.g. tall buildings with viewing platforms, any place may potentially appeal to a 

suicidal individual.  No amount of assessing potential hazard locations will provide a 

completely risk-free location. However, putting in place physical barriers and staffing 

arrangements may deter, delay and allow detection, thus increasing the opportunity 

to help save lives.  

 

Page 216



5 
 

3. Risk Assessment and Management  

The principles of risk management and controlling risks underpins the guidance in 

this Planning Advice Note. The process of preventing suicides in high rise buildings 

and structures has four main steps, the desired effect of which is to deter individuals 

from attempting suicide at the site.  The results of this process should be incorporated 

in Construction, Design and Management Reviews or other relevant documents. 

 

1) Conduct a risk assessment to identify potential building features/locations 

which could be used for suicide;  

- Any access point located 10 metres above ground level 

- Popularity as a visitor destination i.e a specific pass is not required to 

access the specific location 

- Easy access routes to the site 

- Methods of transport to the site 

- Location in an area known for suicide attempts 

 

2) Plan and find solutions at your specific location;  

- Evaluate if the identified risk can be removed  

- If the risk cannot be removed, decide how to mitigate the identified 

potential risk by using design solutions and/or management strategies 

- Consider the risk of suicide when producing Health Impact Assessments 

 

3) Apply these processes and solutions to the specific location; 

- Incorporate design solutions into building plans and outline how 

management strategies could mitigate suicide risk 

- Liaise with planning staff to ensure mitigation is adequate 

 

4) Consult, evaluate, and review; 

- Engage with the local authority, relevant charities and local groups 

regarding suicide mitigation measures as part of the consultation process 

for the proposal  

- Consider mitigation measures in response to consultation 

- Review design solutions and/or management strategies 

 

Page 217



6 
 

4. Methods of preventing suicides 

a) Restricting access to the site 

Restricting access to the sites of potential sucides does not address an individual’s 

personal difficulties or relieve their mental distress, but it can interrupt the suicidal 

thought process. It can buy time, thwarting impulsive acts and allowing individuals a 

chance to reconsider. It can also increase the chance of help reaching them.  

The following examples provide evidence-based suggestions to be considered.  

Wholly or partly restricting access to the site – this is the most radical solution, and 

should only be implemented in extreme cases given the City of London Corporation’s 

policies on promoting wider public accessibility. Access to unauthorised areas should 

be monitored and restricted. It is important to remember that the vulnerable 

individual does not need to be a visitor, and could potentially be an employee of the 

building.  

Installing physical barriers to prevent / delay jumping – this restricts access to the 

drop and increases the chances of intervention by delaying the jump. It can take the 

form of fencing or netting.  Many evidence-based studies around the world have 

shown the cost-effectiveness of erecting barriers to prevent jumping1 and this is 

recommended by survivors of suicidal jumps.  

Balustrades can act as physical barriers, separating visitors and employees from the 

edge of the building.  

        Balustrade on roof terrace at 120 Fenchurch Street 

                                                           
1 UK Health Security Agency, ‘Preventing Suicides in Public Places’, A practical resource, p. 27  

[In 2021 Public Health England ceased to exist and it’s functions were incorporated into the UK Health Security 
Agency (UKHSA)] 

Page 218



7 
 

 

Art installation/ suicide prevention barrier, Canada 

 

Urban greening not only serves a decorative purpose but both acts to increase the 

building’s open space and as a deterrent from accessing the edge of the building, as 

shown in the examples below.  

  Planting on roof terrace at 120 Fenchurch Street 

Page 219



8 
 

             

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   Planting at restaurant courtyard, No 1 Poultry 

 

In terms of current legislation, Building Regulation K2 states the following:  

K2 – (A) Any stairs, ramps, floors and balconies and any roof to which people have access, 

and  

 (B) any lightwell, basement area or similar sunken area connected to a building,  

Shall be provided with barriers where it is necessary to protect people in or about a building 

from falling.  

The guidance within the rest of the Approved Document K and the British Standard 

has a minimum height of 1.1m. The Regulation states that people need to be 

protected, and the designer should do a risk assessment and design the edge barrier 

accordingly, but with a minimum 1.1m height. Barriers and edge protection need to 

be appropriately designed and should take into consideration British Standard BS 

6180: Barriers in and around buildings. 

If the risk assessment considers there is a significant risk of people attempting suicide, 

then the barrier height should be higher. A height of 1.4m (where there is cycle access 

adjacent to a drop) or 1.6m are used elsewhere and for railway bridges the height is 

2.1m. Designers therefore need to consider the suicide risk and design edge protection 

to an appropriate height.  

UK Health Security Agency (UKHSA) main design recommendations for fencing on 

high rise buildings and structures advises a barrier height of at least 2.5 metres high, 

no toe or foot holds, and an inwardly curving top is recommended as it is difficult 

to climb from the inside. The barrier should be easier to scale from the outside in case 

an individual wishes to climb back to safety.  

 

Developers must, as a minimum, comply with Building Regulation standards and, 

where feasible and practical, consider providing a barrier in line with UKHSA 

guidance. 

 

Page 220



9 
 

Where a barrier is installed, consideration should be given to its ongoing maintenance. 

Appropriate servicing, testing and maintenance arrangements must be provided to 

confirm its ongoing effectiveness. This should include consideration of the material 

(potential failure mechanisms, installation by approved contractor), the potential for 

wind loading (fences must be resistant to adverse weather), the weight load and anti-

climbing requirements.  

There are many options regarding the design and materials of these barriers; choices 

will be determined by the nature of the existing structure and its surroundings. For 

example, the viewing platform at the top of the Great Fire of London Monument is 

encompassed by a mesh cage (cover photo). This was added in the 19th century to 

prevent people jumping, however does not detract from the views of London. 

Consideration should be given to any object placed against a wall or edge at a high 

level that can be used as a step by a vulnerable individual.   

Examples of designs for barriers in high places can be found in Appendix Two of 

UKHSA’s Preventing Suicides in Public Places guidance2. However, please note that 

these examples primarily focus on bridges and carparks rather than buildings.  

 

 

Floor to ceiling screens in internal atria, New York University Library 

 

 

                                                           
2 UK Health Security Agency, Preventing Suicides in Public Places – A practical resource, p.42  

Page 221



10 
 

Bird Spiking and Control - bird spikes and other physical means of bird control can 

have a detrimental impact on the appearance of a building but can also be successful 

in interrupting the suicidal thought processes, thus ensuring individuals can stop and 

think about their actions. Spiking should not be routinely used on City buildings, but 

where it is, it should be safely screwed onto the surface, not glued.  

 

 Bird spikes 

 

Horizontal Safety Nets - Installing safety nets below jumping areas can be less 

obtrusive than upright barriers, however rescue and cleaning can be difficult. It 

should be noted that both netting, and barriers have an aesthetic impact and may not 

be an appropriate solution for structures or buildings with a listed status.  

Hostile Planting – strategically placed thorny or prickly plants will delay and deter 

an individual trying to gain access to a dangerous location. This may be more 

aesthetically acceptable than a fence or other barrier but may not be as effective owing 

to ongoing maintenance issues associated with the growth and control of a biological 

element. The type of plant, its appearance and practical deterrent capability across all 

seasons should be considered within any assessment. The site arrangements should 

also consider what steps will be taken if the plants die or wither, so as to remove or 

significantly reduce the deterrent effect. 

 

    

   Prickly Berberis hedging  

Page 222



11 
 

Lighting – A site where suicidal individuals can enter and linger unobserved is 

dangerous; installing constant or motion-activated lighting can act as a deterrent and 

may improve the chance of someone intervening / alerting staff who are monitoring 

the area. There needs, however, to be consideration towards residents who live in the 

area with the amount of light pollution this method of prevention might produce.  

Boundary Markings – Where physical barriers are not appropriate, or access to the 

site cannot be denied, other measures may be needed to deter individuals from 

entering a dangerous zone as well as eliminating hiding places. Painted lines and 

cross-hatching are already routinely used on the roads and rail networks to delineate 

the boundaries of unsafe areas. Someone entering the danger zone marked out in this 

way would be conspicuous and it may be enough to deter them from attempting to 

take their own lives.  

Riverside - Developments near rivers are particularly vulnerable to suicide attempts 

due to the attraction of flowing water for people considering suicide. Developments 

near rivers must have an appropriate risk assessment carried out which includes a 

review of marine hazards, evaluation of risks and an assessment of measures that 

could be taken to minimise the risk of people attempting suicide. Measures could 

include edge protection as discussed above as well as fencing, lighting, signage and 

netting. Signage may mention the need to call 999 and ask for the Coastguard if 

someone is seen entering the water, thereby quickly alerting the relevant authorities. 

Planning applications for developments must ensure early engagement is undertaken 

with the Port of London Authority (PLA) and other relevant organisations as 

appropriate, regarding new developments and the provision and maintenance of 

Public Rescue Equipment (PRE).  PRE could include lifebuoy rings, flotation bags and 

defibrillators. Signage to help people find and operate PRE should be installed and 

consideration given to maintenance of equipment.  Consideration should also be 

given to training staff to use the equipment. 

 

b) Increase opportunity and capacity for human intervention  

Approaches to reducing risks of suicide at particular locations can complement and 

mirror efforts to deter hostile activity; often implementing measures to address one 

issue can benefit the other.  

One suggestion is to improve surveillance around the building. Despite being one of 

the more expensive options, using 24/7 monitored and recorded CCTV with motion 

detection, thermal imaging and random sweep patterns will ensure all areas are 

covered. This, alongside increasing staffing and regular foot patrols are actions which 

may help when tackling suicide risk. It is the risk of being seen which may deter 

vulnerable individuals from choosing a location, increasing the chances for human 

intervention and reducing response time.   

Page 223



12 
 

CCTV is helpful for spotting a vulnerable individual, but it is not a solution nor a 

substitute for trained staff. It can only be effective if it is permanently monitored, and 

a member of staff manages to reach the individual quickly with the knowledge, skills 

and confidence to intervene. Human intervention is always pivotal in suicide 

prevention.     

Providing suicide awareness or intervention training for staff working at or near the 

site increases their ability to recognise warning signs and to intervene where they feel 

able to do so. By educating people about suicide they will be more confident and 

prepared should the occasion ever arise. As a result, public fear of intervening 

decreases, and people have the confidence to connect with the individual and keep 

them safe until emergency services arrive.  While people may not be qualified in 

mental health, they can be equipped with basic knowledge and confidence to react 

appropriately. It has been proven that talking to people in suicidal distress is the most 

helpful method when preventing suicide, as it distracts vulnerable people from 

making an attempt on their lives.  

There are numerous training programmes around mental health and suicide 

prevention including comprehensive face-to-face sessions provided by Mental Health 

First Aid, Suicide Awareness and First Aid, Safe Talk, Difficult Conversations or 

specific sessions tailored for individual organisations. The City of London 

Corporation’s Business Healthy offers regular short Suicide Prevention Awareness 

sessions for the City’s business community (www.businesshealthy.org/events). Many 

training programs can be tailored to the specific employee needs of organisations. 

Communication skills are a necessity in suicide prevention; thus, staff training should 

be supported and implemented, reviewed, and renewed regularly.   

c). Increase opportunities for help sought by a suicidal individual  

Clear Signage – Installing clear signage in predetermined areas is another action 

which can be undertaken when preventing suicide. The City of London Corporation 

recommends using approved and evidenced-based messaging, as inappropriate 

imaging or messaging could be counterproductive. A disadvantage of signage is that 

it relies on the individual to make the call and decide within themselves to seek help. 

These signs may also advertise the potential of a site to attempt suicide.  

Free Emergency Telephones – Installing free emergency telephones can bypass the 

issue of an individual running out of credit / battery when seeking help. Having a 

phone which directly connects to a helpline is an established solution in sites popular 

with suicidal individuals. It enables someone without a phone to seek help, as well as 

those intervening to easily call the emergency services.  

Providing a sanctuary – Consideration could be given to providing a calm and safe 

location which is staffed (or sign posting to one nearby) to take distressed individuals,  

prior to the emergency services arriving. This initiative is new and has not yet been 

evaluated, but it offers potential for sites where vulnerable people return to often.  

Page 224

http://www.businesshealthy.org/events


13 
 

5. Postvention  

Postvention is the process of reducing the risk of suicide and providing support for 

those who witness a public suicide. Addressing the needs of those who 

intervene/witness a public suicide or discover a body through proper referral and 

signposting to appropriate support services is paramount. Witnessing a suicide or 

attempted suicide is a traumatic event and people must be supported accordingly. 

Postvention processes should be addressed within management plans that address 

reducing the risk of suicide from high rise buildings and structures.  

In order to improve suicide risk mitigation, it is important to collect data in order to 

audit and mitigate risk factors. The owner or operators of the building or structure 

should conduct regular reviews of the suicide risk assessment, subsequent response 

processes and periodically monitor performance, as it is paramount to preventing 

suicide. Resources should be available for the implementation of suicide mitigation 

measures, effective communication, adequate information and training and record 

keeping and maintenance.  

Many variables are needed to identify frequently used sites for suicide attempts and 

analyse the patterns of use in order to better plan, evaluate and review suicide 

prevention actions (e.g. information relating to how many times the site has been used, 

what method of suicide was utilised or attempted, how large the site is, how far the 

individuals travelled to the site, whether they share characteristics, particular 

days/time of day). Moreover, the collection of data helps establish profiles of users of 

specific locations and how best to help them. 

Mapping locations accurately is also paramount to quick and efficient intervention by 

the emergency services.  

Organisations should ensure there are arrangements in place to support employee 

welfare such as an Employee Assistance Programme or bringing in specialist 

counselling support staff. There are several organisations that provide postvention 

support, the Samaritans being one. Business in the community has developed a guide 

with UKHSA to help organisations support the mental and physical health and 

wellbeing of their employees.   

A list of the variables to be included in data collection can be found in Appendix One 

of UKHSA’s “Preventing suicide in public places” guidance3.  

 

 

 

                                                           
3 UKHSA, Preventing Suicides in Public Places, A practical resource, p.39   

Page 225



14 
 

6. Summary 

It is advised that a combination of physical barriers, staff training and surveillance is 

implemented in buildings and on structures, to maximise the effectiveness of 

preventative measures.  Measures that increase the potential for human intervention 

will increase opportunities for the suicidal individual to find help, and thereby 

potentially securing longer lasting assistance and preventing a return to this or 

another location.  

 

 

 

Samaritans sign, Gloucestershire 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 226



15 
 

7. References and case studies 

 

Reference documents 

- Building Regulations 2010 (Update 2021) - HM Government 

- Preventing Suicide in England; A cross government outcomes strategy to save lives    

   2012 - HM Government 

- Preventing Suicides in Public Places: A practice resource 2015 – UK Health Security 

  Agency 

- The Five Year Forward View for Mental Health 2016 - NHS England  

- Suicide Prevention Action Plan 2017-2024 - City of London Corporation 

- Health Inequalities Strategy 2018 – Mayor of London 

- Identifying and Responding to Suicide Cluster and Contagion – A practice resource  

   2019 – GOV.UK 

- Local Suicide Prevention Planning: A practice resource 2020 – UK Health Security  

  Agency 

 

 

Case Studies 

Links to relevant City of London, and other case studies will be added when 

available. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 227



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 228



Committee(s): 
Planning and Transportation 

Dated: 
26/04/2022 

Subject:  
Building Control Charges Report 2022/23 
 

Public 
 

Which outcomes in the City Corporation’s Corporate 
Plan does this proposal aim to impact directly?  

1 & 2. 

Does this proposal require extra revenue and/or 
capital spending? 

N 

If so, how much? N/A 

What is the source of Funding? N/A 

Has this Funding Source been agreed with the 
Chamberlain’s Department? 

N/A 

Report of:  
Executive Director of Environment Department. 
 

For Decision 

Report author: 
Gordon Roy 
District Surveyor  

 
 

 
Summary 

 
The propose of this report is to advise the Committee of the findings of the Building 
Control’s review into their previous fees and charges increases and to recommend 
revised fees for 2022/23. 
 
The District Surveyor’s Building Control Division amended their charges in April 2020 
as agreed by this Committee, with charges being set for the service through a “cost 
recovery” Charges Schemes. These charges are known as the “City of London 
Building Regulations Charging Scheme No 4”, for work associated with applications 
under the Building Regulations 2010, and the “Building Control Miscellaneous 
Charges No 3” for work associated with Notices under the London Building Act 
(Amendment) Act 1939, and the Building Act 1984. This report informs the 
Committee of the results of the charges schemes and to recommend changes        to 
the City of London Building Regulation Charging Scheme and the Building Control 
Miscellaneous Charges scheme, which are aimed at improving income on these 
activities, as part of the Divisions requirements to maintain full cost recovery.  
 

 
 
 
 

Recommendation(s) 

 
Members are asked to: 
 

Page 229

Agenda Item 10



• Approve the new “City of London Building Regulations Charges Scheme No 
5: 2022”, the “Building Control Miscellaneous Charges No 4: 2022” and 
amend the charge relating to the Hourly rate from £112 to £115 per hour. 

 
Main Report 

 

Background 
 

1. The District Surveyors Building Control division raises income through two 
approved charges schemes. CIPFA guidance on the allocation and 
apportionment of reporting requires the division’s budget to be split into three 
defined categories of:  

• Chargeable Building Regulations 

• Non-Chargeable Building Regulations 

• Other Building Control Activities 
 

The two current charges schemes are: 
 

• The City of London Charges Scheme No 4; 2021, which applies charges for 
“Chargeable Building Regulation” activities, (See Appendix A) and 

• The Miscellaneous Building Control Charges No 3:2020, (See Appendix B) 
which applies charges for “Other Building Control Activities”. 
 

Both of these schemes were previously approved by this Committee in April 2021 
and March 2020, respectfully. 

 
2. CIPFA guidance lists a wide range of activities associated with Building 

Regulations which are chargeable and non-chargeable for the purposes of these 
schemes. Chargeable activities include checking of plans, site inspections, 
building notice charges, reversion charges and chargeable advice. Non-
chargeable activities include the control of unauthorised works, general advice 
to the public and other departments, the first hour of any Building Regulation 
advice and carrying out Building Regulation functions in relation to work 
providing facilities for disabled people. 

 
3. Originally Building Regulation fees, for the approval or rejection of building plans 

and for the inspection of building works were prescribed by central government 
and as a result standardised fees were applied to every local authority in 
England and Wales. 
 

4. In 2010, the government introduced The Building (Local Authority Charges) 
Regulations 2010, being the legal framework for setting a Building Regulation 
charging scheme and a new scheme was implemented on the 1st October 2010, 
known as the City of London Charges Scheme No1, 2010.  These charges were 
reviewed in 2018, 2020 and 2021 and a revised Charges scheme, known as 
City of London Charges Scheme No 4, 2021, was approved and implemented. 
 

5. The City of London Building Regulation Charges Scheme No4, 2021, Annex A, 
comprises of a range of fixed charges for small scale works with a construction 

Page 230



cost up to £1million, and for larger projects over £1million, fees are individually 
assessed based on the average hourly rate of building control services. Current 
charges are set out in Appendix A. 
 

 
6. Other Building Control activities include dealing with temporary structures 

applications, dealing with dangerous structures, and responding to Demolition 
Notices.  Existing charges are set out in “Building Control Miscellaneous 
Charges No 3” in Appendix B. 

 
 
 
Current Position 
 

7. It was anticipated in 2010 that chargeable works should break even ideally over 
a 3-year period, however a 5-year period maybe more appropriate where 
unusually high deficits/surpluses have accrued. The income and expenditure 
derived from Building Regulation applications has been shown below in Table 
1. Over the course of the period covered by Table 1, the District Surveyor has 
strived for efficiencies in all areas of his divisions work, particularly around 
staffing costs. 
 

TABLE 1 

Budgetary Performance 2015-16 to 2022-23 

  Chargeable 
Non- 

Chargeable 

Total 
(Expenditure)/ 

Income 

  Expenditure Income (Deficit)/surplus     

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

2022-23 Budget * (1,135) 950 (185) (881) (1,066) 

2021-22 Forecast * (1,038) 1,000 (38) (804) (842) 

2021-22 Budget * (1,122) 950 (172) (869) (1,041)  

2020-21 Actual * (1,089) 981** (108) (912) (1,020)  

2019-20 Actual (1,032) 1,058 26 (821) (795) 

2018-19 Actual (1,221) 957 (264) (669) (933) 

2017-18 Actual (1,204) 874 (330) (603) (933) 

2016-17 Actual (1,192) 1,296 104 (515) (411) 

2015-16 Actual (1,169) 1,355 186 (514) (328) 

            

* Split 56% Chargeable and 44% Non-Chargeable 
**Income includes £170k received from MHCLG due to COVID loss of fee income 

 
8. Unfortunately, since early 2020 the world has been affected by the Covid-19 

pandemic, and construction work within the City, was substantially reduced, with 
application numbers from March 2020 until December 2020, approximately 50% 
of their normal levels. This reduction in construction activity, decreased income 
in both the Building Regulation fee charges and the non-Building Regulation fee 
charges, therefore having a negative effect on the budget performance. 
However, this deficit position on the chargeable account in recent years has 

Page 231



been largely negated in 2021/22 by holding staff posts vacant and income 
showing slight signs of improvement.  
 

9. Since April 2021 there has been a steady increase in applications and by the 
end of the year, a total of 210 applications had been received. The application 
numbers and their associated generated fees are shown in Table 2. From the 
amount of fees being generated by these applications, it can be seen that 
there have been a number of significant development applications received. 
 
 

 
Table 2 
Building Control Applications 2012-2020 

Year  Number of Application Fees Generated 

2015 280 £1,210,007 

2016 228 £847,099 

2017 236 £778,279 

2018 246 £778,279 

2019 266 £1,091,256 

2020 191 £810,680 

2021 210 £1,391,757 

 
 

10. A review was also undertaken of the applications which were completed during 
2021. During this time 158 projects were completed and as all time associated 
with projects is recording against the District Surveyors corporate Timemaster 
software and the CAPS Uniform software, all projects can be checked to 
ensure that the correct fees were being charged. 
 

11.  Each completed project was checked and cross referenced to similar projects 
dating back to 2015 and placed into bands that matched the Estimated Cost of 
Works within the fee scales. Average time taken to administer those projects 
within each band was then calculated using the 2021 agreed hourly rate, to 
establish a benchmark of appropriate cost for each band. A similar procedure 
was also carried out for just year 2021 to ensure that officer time on projects 
was equivalent to previous years. The results are shown in Table 3.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 232



Table 3. Average time and costs per application 2015-2021 
 
 

Estimated 
Cost of 
Woks 

Average hrs 
taken 
2015-2021 

Average 
cost to 
service 
2015-21 

Current Fit 
Out Fee 

Current 
Refurb 
Fee 

£0-£10,000 3.93 hrs £440 £448 £728 

£10k-£20k 5.8 hrs £660 £672 £728 

£20k-£30k 10 hrs £1,121 £896 £952 

£40k-£70k  9.86hrs £1,104 £1232 £1288 

£70k-£100K  11.66hrs £1297 £1232 £1512 

£100-£150k 12.13hrs £1,358 £1400 £1736 

£150k-£200 13.72 hrs £1,537 £1624 £1960 

£200k-£300k 18.29 hrs £2,048 £1848 £2408 

£300k-£500k 19.33 hrs £2,165 £2464 £3248 

£500k-£700K 25.25 hrs £2,828 £3192 £4144 

£700k-£999k 19.68 hrs £2,203 £4032 £5376 

     
 
Note: Costs calculated at £112 per hour as per the agreed hourly rate. 

 
12. As can be seen in Table 2, there are a number of fees (shown in BOLD) which 

on average time over the last 6 years, did not on average provide a “cost 
recovery” fee. Although the time/cost against fee income is only being checked 
against the lowest possible fee within this band, it is recommended that the fee 
schedule is increased. to ensure applications received in 2022/23 are sufficient 
to balance the budget. A revised fee schedule is shown in Appendix D 
 

 
Proposals 
 
 

13.  It is the proposal of this report to request the Committee agree that to ensure 
applications received in 2022/23 are sufficient to balance the budget for 
chargeable works, as currently the budgeted position on the chargeable 
account for 2022/23 is a forecast deficit position of £185k (Table 1), a revised 
fee schedule as shown in Appendix F, be agreed for the “The City of London 
Charges Scheme No 5:2022”. 
 

14. Using the financial statements from previous years, the costs associated with 
the divisions hourly rate has been recalculated and amended accordingly from 

Page 233



£112 to £115 per hour. This charge will be applied to general work associated 
with Building Control. 
 

15. Fees and charges associated with other Building Control activities have also 
been similarly reviewed and benchmarked against similar charges with those of 
surrounding authorities, and a number of the standard charges are required to 
be amended, due to changes in the hourly rate. All other charges remain 
appropriate for cost recovery. 
 
 

 
Corporate & Strategic Implications  
 

16. There are no equal opportunity implications arising from this report save that 
Regulation 4 of the Building Regulations (Local Authority Charges) 
Regulations 2010 outlines the principles of the charging scheme in relation to 
building work solely required for disabled persons. No building regulation 
charge can be authorised in relation to providing means of access solely to an 
existing dwelling occupied as a permanent residence by a disabled person or 
for the provision of facilities and accommodation (including the provision or 
extension of a room in limited circumstances) designed to secure the greater 
health, safety, welfare or convenience of such a disabled person. Similarly, no 
building regulation charge can be authorised in relation to an existing building 
to which members of the public are admitted in similar circumstances as stated 
above 

 
Legal implications 

 

17. The Building (Local Authority Charges) Regulations 2010 impose a legal obligation on 
the City of London to have a Building Regulation charging scheme in place, to ensure 
that the overriding objective of the charges being set at a level that equates to cover 
the costs of providing the service, and to annually review and publish figures to ensure 
that this objective is been maintained. These changes will maintain this objective being 
obtained. 

 

Climate implications 

18. None 
 
 

Security implications 

19. None 

 
Conclusion 
 

20. The report identifies the measures being taken by the District Surveyors Building     
Control Division to set a revised charging scheme which accurately reflect actual 
time employed against individual projects. 

Page 234



 
 
Gordon Roy 
District Surveyor. 
 
 
T:  020 7332 1962 
E: gordon.roy@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
Appendices 
 

• Appendix A- Current “City of London Building Regulations Charges Scheme No 
4, 2021, Annex A & Annex B”. 

 

• Appendix B- Current “Building Control Miscellaneous Charges No3:2020 
 

• Appendix C- Proposed “City of London Building Regulations Charges Scheme 
No 5, 2022”. 
 

• Appendix D- Proposed “City of London Building Regulations Charges Scheme 
No 5, 2022, Annex A, Charges 

 

• Appendix E- Proposed “City of London Building Regulations Charges Scheme 
No 5, 2022, Annex B,  
 

• Appendix F- Proposed City of London Building Control Miscellaneous Charges 
Scheme No 4;2022.”  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

Page 235



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 236



Appendix A- Building Regulation Charges Scheme No 4:2021 
 

Note: "All Other Work" (final column) should be used for the installation of a service or fitting and for work involving the 

underpinning of a building. 
 

 CITY OF LONDON 

  

*Derivation 

(see footnote) 

The Building (Local Authority Charges) Regulations 2010 

  

Regulation No BUILDING REGULATIONS CHARGES SCHEME No. 4, 2021 

1 1. This scheme may be cited as the Building Regulations Charges Scheme No. 

4, 2021 of the City of London Corporation (the Charges Scheme) and shall 

come into force on 3rd May 2021.  

 

 INTRODUCTION 

 

 2. The Charges Scheme is made under the Building (Local Authority Charges) 

Regulations, 2010 (the Charges Regulations).  The Charges Scheme includes 

following paragraphs, the definitions in paragraph 5 below and the tables of 

charges set out in Annex A.  Where clarification of the Charges Scheme is 

required reference should be made to the Charges Regulations. The numbers 

in the margin represent the relevant regulation. 

 

3(1) 3. The City of London Corporation is authorised, subject to and in accordance 

with the Charges Regulations, to fix charges by means of the Charges 

Scheme and to recover such charges as it determines for or in connection 

with the performance of its functions relating to building regulations, as 

provided by the Charges Regulations. 

 

 4. The City of London Corporation is authorised, subject to and in accordance 

with the provisions of the Charges Regulations, to amend and to revoke and 

replace any scheme which has been made by it. 

  

DEFINITIONS 

 

2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5. The following definitions apply to the Charges Scheme: 

 

"building" means any permanent or temporary building but not any other 

kind of structure or erection, and a reference to a building includes a 

reference to part of a building; 

"building notice" means a notice given in accordance with regulations 

12(2)(a) and 13 of the Principal Regulations; 

"building work" means: 

a) the erection or extension of a building; 

b) the provision or extension of a controlled service or fitting in or in 

connection with a building; 

c) the material alteration of a building, or a controlled service or fitting; 

d) work required by Building Regulation 6 of the principal regulations 

(requirements relating to material change of use); 

e) the insertion of insulating material into the cavity wall of a building; 

f) work involving the underpinning of a building; 

g) work required by building regulation 23 (requirements relating to 

thermal elements); 

h) work required by building regulation 22 (requirements relating to 

a change of energy status); 
i) work required by building regulation 28 (consequential improvements 

to energy performance); 

Page 237



Appendix A- Building Regulation Charges Scheme No 4:2021 
 

Note: "All Other Work" (final column) should be used for the installation of a service or fitting and for work involving the 

underpinning of a building. 
 

 

Regulation No 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

"chargeable function" means a function relating to the following – 

a) the passing or rejection of plans of proposed building work which has 

been deposited in accordance with section 16 of the Building Act 

1984 (as amended) - (Plan Charge) 

b) the inspection of building work for which plans have been deposited 

in accordance with the Principal Regulations and with section 16 of 

the Building Act 1984 (as amended) – Inspection Charge 

c) the consideration of a building notice which has been given in 

accordance with the Principal Regulations – Building Notice Charge) 

d) the consideration of building work reverting to the Council under the 

Building (Approved Inspectors etc.) Regulations 2010 (as amended) – 

(Reversion Charge) 

e) the consideration of a regularisation application submitted under 

regulation 18 of the Principal Regulations – (Regularisation Charge). 

"chargeable advice" is a charge made in relation to a request for building 

regulation advice as regards any particular case where such a charge is 

made in anticipation of the future exercise of their chargeable functions in 

relation to that case, save that no charge is made for the first hour of time 

spent in providing such chargeable advice. 

"cost" does not include any professional fees paid to an architect, quantity 

surveyor or any other person; 

"dwelling" includes a dwelling-house and a flat; 

"estimate" in relation to the cost of carrying out building work, means an 

estimate, accepted by the local authority, of such reasonable amount as 

would be charged for the carrying out of that building work by a person in 

business to carry out such building work (excluding the amount of any 

value added tax chargeable);  

"estimated cost of building work" means the estimated cost of that work 

which requires approval for building regulations by the City of London 

Corporation.  If appropriate the City of London Corporation may require 

estimates to be aggregated or disaggregated to establish the appropriate 

charge; 

"extension" means an extension which has no more than three storeys, 

each basement level (if any) counting as one storey; 

"floor area" of a building or extension’ is the total floor area calculated 

by reference to the finished internal faces of the walls enclosing the area, 

or, if at any point there is no enclosing wall, by reference to the outermost 

edge of the floor. 

"the Principal Regulations" means the Building Regulations 2010 as 

amended from time to time; 

"relevant person" means: 

a) in relation to a plan charge, inspection charge, reversion charge or 

building notice charge, the person who carries out the building work 

or on whose behalf the building work is carried out; 

b) in relation to a regularisation charge, the owner of the building; and 

c) in relation to chargeable advice, any person requesting advice for 

which a charge may be made pursuant to the definition of ‘chargeable 

advice’ 

"total floor area of a building" is the total of the floor area of all the 

storeys which comprise that building. 

"total floor area of an extension" is the total of the floor areas of all the 

storeys in the extension. 

Page 238



Appendix A- Building Regulation Charges Scheme No 4:2021 
 

Note: "All Other Work" (final column) should be used for the installation of a service or fitting and for work involving the 

underpinning of a building. 
 

 

 

 

 

Regulation No 

 

SUMMARY OF BUILDING REGULATIONS FUNCTIONS AND 

CHARGES 

 

5(1) 

 

 

 

 

6. The City of London Corporation has determined: 

 

a) plan charges for or in connection with the passing or rejection of plans 

of proposed building work deposited with them in accordance with 

Section 16 of the Building Act 1984; 

b) inspection charges for or in connection with the inspection of building 

work for which plans have been deposited in accordance with the 

Principal Regulations and with Section 16 of the Building Act 1984; 

c) building notice charges for or in connection with the consideration of a 

building notice which has been given to the City of London 

Corporation in accordance with the Principal Regulations. 

The charges for the foregoing functions are as set out in the attached tables 

in Annex A. 

 

5(2) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

6(3) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

6(2) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

6(4-6) 

 

 

 

 

7. The City of London Corporation is also authorised within its Charges 

Scheme to make a charge in relation to a request for advice as regards any 

particular case where such a charge is made in anticipation of the future 

exercise of its chargeable functions in relation to that case (referred to as 

“chargeable advice”); save that no charge is to be made for the first hour of 

time spent by an officer in providing such chargeable advice. 

 

8. This Charges Scheme has been fixed such that its objective is to ensure that, 

taking one financial year with another, the income to be derived by the City 

of London Corporation from performing chargeable functions and providing 

chargeable advice (referred to as “chargeable income”) as nearly as possible 

equates to the costs incurred by the City of London Corporation in 

performing chargeable functions and providing chargeable advice (referred 

to as “chargeable costs”).  At the end of the financial year within which the 

City of London Corporation first made this Charges Scheme and of each 

subsequent financial year, the City of London Corporation will conduct a 

review of the level of charges set out under this Charges Scheme for the 

purpose of achieving the Charges Scheme’s objective above. 

 

9. Immediately following the review of the level of charges, the City of 

London Corporation will prepare a “building control statement” setting out 

as regards the financial year to which it relates, the chargeable costs, the 

chargeable income and the amount of any surplus or deficit.  Such “building 

control statement” will be approved by the City of London Corporation’s 

Section 6 Officer and will be published not more than six months after the 

end of the financial year to which the statement relates. 

 

10. Each charge determined within the Charges Scheme has been related to the 

costs of providing building regulation services in relation to particular 

building work or building work of particular descriptions having regard to 

the objective outlined in clause 8 above.  Where this Charges Scheme is first 

made and takes effect at any time other than the beginning of a financial 

Page 239



Appendix A- Building Regulation Charges Scheme No 4:2021 
 

Note: "All Other Work" (final column) should be used for the installation of a service or fitting and for work involving the 

underpinning of a building. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Regulation No 

 

 

 

6(7-8) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

7(1-2) 

 

 

7(4) 

 

 

 

 

7(3) 

 

 

 

 

 

7(5) 

 

 

year, the City of London Corporation will have regard to any estimated 

surplus or deficit arising for that part of the financial year for which its 

existing scheme made under the Building (Local Authority Charges) 

Regulations 2010 continues to have effect. 

 
11. The costs of providing City of London Corporation building regulation 

services in relation to chargeable functions or chargeable advice has been 

calculated using the hourly rate at which the time of its officers will be 

charged and the factors which have been taken into account in estimating the 

time required by its officers for performing a chargeable function or 

providing chargeable advice (in relation to particular building work or 

building work of particular descriptions). 

 

12. The hourly rate of the City of London Corporation building regulation 

officers is set out herewith: £112.    

 

13. Where the City of London Corporation consider it necessary to engage and 

incur the costs of a consultant to provide specialist advice or services in 

relation to a particular aspect of building work, those costs will be included 

in the determination of the charges referred to in this Charges Scheme. 

 

14. In calculating the costs and in estimating the time required by its officers for 

performing a chargeable function or providing chargeable advice (in relation 

to particular building work or building work of particular descriptions), both 

in relation to standard and assessed charges, the City of London Corporation 

has taken some or all of the following factors into account: 

 

a) the existing use of a building, or the proposed use of the building after 

completion of the building work; 

b) the different kinds of building work described in regulation 3(1)(a) to 

(i) of the Principal Regulations. (see definition of ‘building work’ in 

clause 5 above); 

c) the floor area of the building or extension. (see definitions of ‘floor 

area of a building or extension’, ‘total floor area of a building’ and 

‘total floor area of an extension’ in clause 5 above); 

d) the estimated duration of the building work and the anticipated 

number of inspections to be carried out. 

e) the estimated cost of the building work.  

 

7(5) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

15. In calculating the costs and in estimating the time required by its 

officers for performing a chargeable function or providing chargeable 

advice (in relation to particular building work or building work of 

particular descriptions), in relation to assessed charges for individual 

projects, the City of London Corporation will take some or all of the 

following additional factors into account in assessing the charges  
 

f) the nature of the design of the building work and whether innovative 

or high-risk construction techniques are to be used; 

g) whether the person who intends to carry out part of the building work 

is a person named in a self-certification scheme or list of exemptions 

under schedule 3 of the Principal Regulations; or is carrying out the 

descriptions of work where no building notice or deposit of full plans 

is required under schedule 4 of the Principal Regulations both as 

Page 240



Appendix A- Building Regulation Charges Scheme No 4:2021 
 

Note: "All Other Work" (final column) should be used for the installation of a service or fitting and for work involving the 

underpinning of a building. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Regulation No 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5(2) 

 

mentioned in building regulation 12(6); 

h) whether in respect of the building work a notification has been made 

that design details approved by Robust Details Limited are to be used; 

i) whether an application or building notice is in respect of two or more 

buildings or building works all of which are substantially the same as 

each other. 

j) whether an application or building notice is in respect of building work 

which is substantially the same as building work in respect of which 

plans have previously been deposited or building works inspected by 

the City of London Corporation. 

k) whether chargeable advice has been given which is likely to result in 

less time being taken by the City of London Corporation to perform 

the chargeable function; and 

l) whether it is necessary to engage and to incur the costs of a consultant 

to provide specialist advice or services in relation to a particular aspect 

of the building work. 

 

16. On receipt of an application or notice relating to particular building work or 

building work of particular descriptions, the City of London Corporation in 

determining its building regulation charges by reference to a standard charge 

published in the scheme (see schedule of standard charges listed in Annex 

A), has taken into account the factors listed in clause 14 above 

 

17. On receipt of a request for advice, an application or notice relating to 

particular building work or building work of particular descriptions, the City 

of London Corporation in determining its building regulation charges by 

reference to an individual assessment of the charge to be made (see guidance 

on assessed charges in Annex B), will take into account the factors listed in 

clauses 14 and 15 above and such individually determined charges will be 

confirmed in writing specifying the amount of the charge and the factors 

which have been taken into account. 

 

18. No charge will be made for the first hour of an officer’s time in respect of 

chargeable building regulation advice given by such officer.  

 

19. The sum of the plan charge and the inspection charge is equal to the 

building notice charge. With the exception of those circumstances 

detailed in paragraphs 21 and 22 below, the plan charge is 40% of the 

building notice charge and the inspection charge is 60% of the building 

notice charge. 

 

 20. The preceding paragraphs 6, 8, 9 and 10 are subject to paragraph 21 below. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

21. Where: 

a) one application or building notice is in respect of two or more 

buildings or building works all of which are substantially the same as 

each other; or 

b) an application or building notice is in respect of building work which 

is substantially the same as building work in respect of which plans 

have previously been approved or building works inspected by the City 

of London Corporation and where the City of London Corporation is 

satisfied that the owner of the plans who deposits them or who gives a 

building notice in respect of them is the same person who originally 

Page 241



Appendix A- Building Regulation Charges Scheme No 4:2021 
 

Note: "All Other Work" (final column) should be used for the installation of a service or fitting and for work involving the 

underpinning of a building. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Regulation No 

 

 

 

 

 

deposited the plans or gave a building notice in respect of them, a  

reduction not exceeding 30% in the plan charge or building notice 

charge payable may be applied and a reduction not exceeding 30% in 

the inspection charge payable may also be applied, but only at the 

absolute discretion of the City of London Corporation. 

 

 22. Where the appropriate total charge is £800 or below a plan charge is 

payable, which incorporates that charge which would be made for an 

inspection of building work, although no separate inspection charge is 

made. 

 

23. Standard charges set in accordance with clause 14 above are shown on 

Table 1 in annex A. 

 

24. The following applications may be dealt with by individually assessed 

charges in accordance with clauses 14 & 15 above. 

a) Full Plans (both the passing or rejection of plans and the 

associated inspections) where the cost of the work exceeds £1m. 

b) Building Notice where the cost of the work exceeds £1m. 

c) All stand alone new buildings.  

d) Reversion for or in connection with the consideration of building 

work reverting to the control of the City of London Corporation. 

e) Regularisation submitted under regulation 18 of the Principal 

Regulations (unauthorised building work). 

For these applications, the plan charge and the inspection charge will 

be advised on an individual basis. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

25. Where building work comprises - 

a) the installation of cavity fill insulation in accordance with Part D of  

Schedule 1 to the Principal Regulations where the installation is not 

certified to an approved standard or is not installed by an approved 

installer or is not part of a larger project comprising other building 

work; or 

b) the installation of an unvented hot water system in accordance with 

Part G of Schedule 1 to the Principal Regulations where the 

installation is not part of a larger project comprising other building 

work, 

the City of London Corporation has fixed its charges by reference to the 

estimated cost of the building work only, and no plan charge will be made 

in respect of such building work. 

 

 26. Where building work comprises: 

a) the installation of cavity fill insulation in accordance with Part D of 

Schedule 1 to the Principal Regulations where the installation is 

Page 242



Appendix A- Building Regulation Charges Scheme No 4:2021 
 

Note: "All Other Work" (final column) should be used for the installation of a service or fitting and for work involving the 

underpinning of a building. 
 

certified to an approved standard, or is installed by an approved 

installer or is part of a larger project comprising other building work; 

or 

b) the installation of an unvented hot water system in accordance with 

Part G of Schedule 1 to the Principal Regulations where the 

installation is part of a larger project comprising other building work, 

no charges will be made in respect of such building work. 

 

4(1) 

 

 

 

 

 

Regulation No 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4(2) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

27. The City of London Corporation has not fixed by means of its scheme, nor 

intends to recover a charge in relation to an existing dwelling which is, or 

is to be, occupied by a disabled person as a permanent residence; and 

where the whole of the building work in question is solely- 

 

 

a) for the purpose of providing means of access for the disabled person 

by way of entrance or exit to or from the dwelling or any part of it, or  

b) for the purpose of providing accommodation or facilities designed to 

secure the greater health, safety, welfare or convenience of the 

disabled person.  

 

28. The City of London Corporation has not fixed by means of its scheme, nor 

intends to recover a charge for the purpose of providing accommodation or 

facilities designed to secure the greater health, safety, welfare or 

convenience of a disabled person in relation to an existing dwelling, which 

is, or is to be, occupied by that disabled person as a permanent residence 

and as outlined in clause 6 (b) above, where such work consists of- 

 

a) the adaptation or extension of existing accommodation or an existing 

facility or the provision of alternative accommodation or an alternative 

facility where the existing accommodation or facility could not be used 

by the disabled person or could be used by the disabled person only 

with assistance; or  

b) the provision of extension of a room which is or will be used solely- 

(i)  for the carrying out for the benefit of the disabled person of 

medical treatment which cannot reasonably be carried out in 

any other room in the dwelling, or 

(ii) for the storage of medical equipment for the use of the disabled 

person, or 

(iii) to provide sleeping accommodation for a carer where the 

disabled person requires 24-hour care. 

 

4(3) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4(4) 

29. The City of London Corporation has not fixed by means of its scheme, nor 

intends to recover a charge in relation to an existing building to which 

members of the public are admitted (whether on payment or otherwise); 

and where the whole of the building work in question is solely- 

 

a) for the purpose of providing means of access for disabled persons by 

way of entrance or exit to or from the building or any part of it; or  

b) for the provision of facilities designed to secure the greater health, 

safety, welfare or disabled persons. 

 

Note: ‘disabled person’ means a person who is within any of the 

descriptions of persons to whom Section 29(1) of the National Assistance 

Page 243



Appendix A- Building Regulation Charges Scheme No 4:2021 
 

Note: "All Other Work" (final column) should be used for the installation of a service or fitting and for work involving the 

underpinning of a building. 
 

Act 1948, as extended by virtue of Section 8(2) of the Mental Health Act 

1959, applied but disregarding the amendments made by paragraph 11 of 

Schedule 13 to the Children Act 1989. 

 

 PAYMENT OF CHARGES 

 

8(1)a 30. Any plan charge shall be payable when the plans of the building work are 

deposited with the City of London Corporation but see also clause 40 

below. 

 

8(1)b 

 

Regulation No 

 

31. Any inspection charge shall be payable on demand made after the City of 

London Corporation carries out the first inspection in respect of which the 

charge is payable but see also clause 40 below. 

 

8(1)c 32. Any building notice charge shall be payable when the building notice is 

given to the City of London Corporation. 

 

8(1)d 33. Any reversion charge shall be payable for building work in relation to a 

building: 

i) which has been substantially completed before plans are first 

deposited in accordance with regulation 19(2)(a)(i) of the Building 

(Approved Inspectors etc.) Regulations 2010 as amended; or 

ii) in respect of which plans for further building work have been 

deposited with the City of London Corporation in accordance with 

regulation 19(3) of the Building (Approved Inspectors etc.) 

Regulations 2010 as amended, 

on the first occasion on which those plans are deposited. 

 

8(1)e 

 

 

 

8(1)f 

 

 

 

 

8(1)g 

34. Any regularisation charge shall be payable at the time of the application to 

the City of London Corporation in accordance with regulation 18 of the 

Principal Regulations (unauthorised building work). 

 

35. Any charge for chargeable advice shall be payable on demand after the City 

of London Corporation has given notice to the relevant person in writing 

specifying the amount to be charged and the factors which have been taken 

into account as listed in clauses 14 and 15 above. 

 

36. Any plan charge, inspection charge, building notice charge, reversion 

charge, regularisation charge and charge for chargeable advice is to be 

payable by the relevant person (see definition, clause 5 above). 

 

Regulation No 

8(1)h 

 

39. Any plan charge, inspection charge, building notice charge which is 

payable to the City of London Corporation shall be paid together with an 

amount equal to any value added tax payable in respect of that charge. 

 

8(1)i 40. Part of any charge which is payable to the City of London Corporation, 

may, at its absolute discretion, be paid in instalments of such amounts 

payable on such dates as the City of London Corporation shall specify. 

 

8(1)j 41. There is no entitlement to a complete refund of any regularisation charge 

paid, if the City of London Corporation, after incurring costs, subsequently 

cannot determine what work is required to comply with the relevant 

requirements. 

Page 244



Appendix A- Building Regulation Charges Scheme No 4:2021 
 

Note: "All Other Work" (final column) should be used for the installation of a service or fitting and for work involving the 

underpinning of a building. 
 

 

8(1)h 42. Where a plan charge has been paid and not refunded, the City of London 

Corporation may in any case they consider reasonable, decide not to make 

a further plan charge in respect of plans subsequently deposited for 

substantially the same building work. 

 

11(1) 

 

 

 

 

 

Regulation No 

 

11(2) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

11(3) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

11(4) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

11(5) 

 

 

 

11(6) 

 

 

 

 

11(7) 

43. Where for any reason the City of London Corporation do not give notice of 

passing or rejection of plans within the period required by Section 16 of the 

Building Act 1984 (as amended), any plan charge paid will be refunded. 

 

 

 

 

 

44. No refund will be given by the City of London Corporation where the 

reason for not giving notice of passing or rejection of plans within the 

period required by section 16 of the Building Act, 1984 is due to the failure 

by the person by whom or on whose behalf the plans were deposited to 

supply information within a reasonable time, necessary to meet the City of 

London Corporation duty under that section. 

 

45. Where the City of London Corporation has determined a charge in relation 

to a chargeable function or chargeable advice, payment of the charge has 

been made to the City of London Corporation and the actual amount of 

work required of an officer of the City of London Corporation is less than 

that which was originally assessed, the City of London Corporation 

(subject to clause 49 below) will make a refund in respect of the proportion 

of the charge relating to the excess payment. 
 

46. Where the City of London Corporation has determined a charge in relation 

to a chargeable function or chargeable advice, payment of the charge has 

been made to the City of London Corporation and the actual amount of 

work required of an officer of the City of London Corporation is more than 

that which was originally estimated in the assessment, the City of London 

Corporation (subject to clause 49 below) may raise a supplementary charge 

in respect of any additional work carried out its officer. 

 

47. In relation to the assessment of a refund or supplementary charge, the City 

of London Corporation may discount one hour of an officer’s time from the 

calculation of the refund or, as the case may be, the supplementary charge. 

 

48. Where in respect of plans deposited with the City of London Corporation 

under section 16 of the Building Act, 1984, the plan charge and inspection 

charge are to be aggregated for the purposes of calculating any refund or 

supplementary charge. 

 

49. The payment of any refund or request for a supplementary charge will be 

accompanied by a statement setting out the reason for the assessment and 

the calculation of the refund or supplementary charge. 

 

 50. Plans which are deposited otherwise than in accordance with the 

requirement imposed under paragraph 24 above or an agreement under 

paragraph 30 above are not deposited in accordance with building 

Page 245



Appendix A- Building Regulation Charges Scheme No 4:2021 
 

Note: "All Other Work" (final column) should be used for the installation of a service or fitting and for work involving the 

underpinning of a building. 
 

regulations for the purposes of section 16 of the Act; and a building notice 

given otherwise than in accordance with a requirement imposed under 

paragraph 26 above or an agreement under paragraph 30 above is not 

validly given for the purposes of the Principal Regulations. 

 

 51. Where an individual assessment of a plan charge or building notice charge 

has been made, (other than a standard charge) any individually assessed 

plan charge or building notice charge shall not be payable until such plan 

charge or building notice charge has been specified by the City of London 

Corporation and confirmed in writing if such confirmation is provided later 

than the deposit of the plan or (as the case may be) the giving of the 

building notice. 

 

 

52. The City of London Corporation is authorised to require the supply of any 

information where such information is necessary to determine any building 

regulation charge listed in clause 9 above. 

 

 

 

53. The City of London Corporation operates, maintains and makes available 

on request, to any interested party, an appropriate complaints procedure 

regarding its building regulations services.  If a person is dissatisfied with 

the decision made relating to the determination of charges for building 

work and wishes to make a complaint, such complaint will be dealt with 

within the Council’s agreed complaint’s procedure.  In the first instance, 

such complaints should be addressed at a local level to: 

 

The District Surveyor & Environmental Resilience Director 

Department of the Built Environment 

Guildhall 

London EC2P 2EJ 

 

Telephone: 020 7332 1000 

Fax: 020 7332 1968 

email: district.surveyor@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

 

 

11(2) 54. Where building work reverts to the control of the City of London 

Corporation any plans relating to that building work given to the City of 

London Corporation in accordance with regulation 19 of the Building 

(Approved Inspector etc) Regulations 2010 as amended, shall be 

accompanied by a current estimate in writing of the cost of that building 

work. 

 

13 55. Contravention of the Building (Local Authority Charges) Regulations 2010 

and or the non- payment of any charge which becomes payable are not 

treated as offences under Section 35 of the Building Act 1984 (penalty for 

contravening building regulations). 

 

 

 

Regulation No TRANSITIONAL PROVISIONS AND REVOCATION 

Page 246



Appendix A- Building Regulation Charges Scheme No 4:2021 
 

Note: "All Other Work" (final column) should be used for the installation of a service or fitting and for work involving the 

underpinning of a building. 
 

 

15(2-3) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

56. The Building Regulations Charges Scheme No. 3. 2020 of the City of 

London Corporation made under the Building (Local Authority 

Charges) Regulations, 2010   will continue to apply to building work 

within the City of London Corporation area for which plans were first 

deposited or a building notice was given or a reversion charge became 

payable, or a regularisation certificate was made, before 3rd May 2021. 

 INFORMATIVE 

 

12(3) 57. Further information and advice concerning building regulation charges and 

the Building Regulations Charges Scheme, can be obtained from: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The District Surveyor & Environmental Resilience Director 

Department of the Built Environment 

Guildhall 

London EC2P 2EJ 

 

Telephone: 020 7332 1000 

Fax: 020 7332 1968 

email: district.surveyor@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

 

  

 

Signed:   

  

 ............................................................................ 

 (The officer appointed for this purpose) 

 

 Dated:    

  

  

 

* Derivation = Building (Local Authority Charges) Regulations 2010. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 247



Appendix A- Building Regulation Charges Scheme No 4:2021 
 

Note: "All Other Work" (final column) should be used for the installation of a service or fitting and for work involving the 

underpinning of a building. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Cost of 
Works 

 Annex A- Charges from 3rd May 2021 

  Work Categories 

£1,000’s 
Refurbishments 

& Extensions 
Fit out and 
alterations  

Material 
Change 
of Use 

* 

Small 
Residential 
Alterations 

*  

Other 
  

             

£10 

£728 

£448 

£1,008 

£698 
Fo

r 
w

o
rk

s 
n

o
t 

d
es

cr
ib

ed
 o

n
 t

h
e 

ta
b

le
 a

 s
p

ec
if

ic
 in

d
iv

id
u

al
ly

 

as
se

ss
ed

 c
h

ar
ge

 w
ill

 b
e 

p
ro

vi
d

ed
.  

      

£20 £672 £922 

          

£40 £952 £896 £1,176 £1,259 

          

£70 £1,288 

£1,232 £1,512 

£1,594 

      

£100 £1,512 £1,706 

          

£150 £1,736 £1,400 £2,128 
SEE 

'OTHER' 

    
     

£200 £1,960 £1624 £2,240   

          

£300 £2,408 £1,848 

£3,248 

  

        

£400 £2,800 £2,240   

        

£500 £3,248 £2,464   

          

Page 248



Appendix A- Building Regulation Charges Scheme No 4:2021 
 

Note: "All Other Work" (final column) should be used for the installation of a service or fitting and for work involving the 

underpinning of a building. 
 

£600 £3,696 £2,744 

£4,704 

  

        

£700 £4,144 £3,192   

        

£800 £4,536 £3,472   

          

£900 £4,928 £3,864 

£6,272 

  

        

£1,000 £5,376 £4,032   
Plan & Insp charge due immediately if £800 or less (excl VAT) 

For all other applications Plan Charge is 40% of total fee, and Inspection Charge is 60% of 
total fee. 

For works over £1.0 million a specific individually assessed charge will be 
provided 

* If Part P electrics are not applicable or if they are dealt with under the 
Competent Persons Scheme - Deduct £250 per unit/flat 

Building Regulation Charges Scheme No 4, 2021 Annex B: 

Factors to be taken into Account When Determining Assessed 

Charges. 
 

The factors to be taken into account in determining Assessed Charges as per 

clauses 14 & 15 of the Building Regulations Charges Scheme No. 4, 2021 of 

the City of London Corporation. 
 

1. the existing use of a building, or the proposed use of the building after 
completion of the building work. 

2. the different kinds of building work described in regulation 3(1)(a) to (i) 
of the Principal Regulations. (see definition of ‘building work’ in clause 
5 above). 

3. the floor area of the building or extension. (see definitions of ‘floor area 
of a building or extension’, ‘total floor area of a building’ and ‘total floor 
area of an extension’ in clause 5 above). 

4. the estimated duration of the building work and the anticipated number 
of inspections to be carried out. 

5. the estimated cost of the building work.  
6. the nature of the design of the building work and whether innovative or 

high-risk construction techniques are to be used; and 
7. whether the person who intends to carry out part of the building work is 

a person named in a self-certification scheme or list of exemptions 
under schedule 3 of the Principal Regulations; or is carrying out the 
descriptions of work where no building notice or deposit of full plans is 
required under schedule 4 of the Principal Regulations both as 
mentioned in building regulation 12(6) 

8. whether in respect of the building work a notification has been made 
that design details approved by Robust Details Limited are to be. 

Page 249



Appendix A- Building Regulation Charges Scheme No 4:2021 
 

Note: "All Other Work" (final column) should be used for the installation of a service or fitting and for work involving the 

underpinning of a building. 
 

9. whether an application or building notice is in respect of two or more 
buildings or building works all of which are substantially the same as 
each other. 

10. whether an application or building notice is in respect of building work 
which is substantially the same as building work in respect of which 
plans have previously been deposited or building works inspected by 
the City of London Corporation. 

11. whether chargeable advice has been given which is likely to result in 
less time being taken by the City of London Corporation to perform the 
chargeable function; and 

12. whether it is necessary to engage and to incur the costs of a consultant 
to provide specialist advice or services in relation to a particular aspect 
of the building work. 

Page 250



Appendix A- Building Regulation Charges Scheme No 4:2021 
 

Note: "All Other Work" (final column) should be used for the installation of a service or fitting and for work involving the 

underpinning of a building. 
 

 

Type of work Refurbishment & Extensions, 
Simple office alterations, Cat A 
to B, Material change of use, 
retail 

Other or  
Notes / special factors 

Duration on site   

Number of floors above 

ground 

 

Anticipated inspection time hours and notes 

Routine visits  

Piling/foundation inspections  

Below ground drainage  

Below ground structural 
inspections 

 

Superstructure  

Above ground drains – 
routine  

 

M&E routine  

Drainage testing  

Site Q/A Audit time   

Routine/Finals prior to 
completion 

 

Other special factors +/-  

  

De-snag visits –drainage  

De-snag visits – M&E  

De-snag visits -general  

Off site inspection  

M&E Final Commission & 
tests  

 

Review a deduction for 
repetition/ 

 

Anticipated plans inspection time 

General  

As % of site time  

Structural Appraisal  

Fire engineering   

Design workshops  

 Total Hours  

Page 251



Appendix A- Building Regulation Charges Scheme No 4:2021 
 

Note: "All Other Work" (final column) should be used for the installation of a service or fitting and for work involving the 

underpinning of a building. 
 

Outside consultant required –  

 
 

Cost £ 

 

 

Page 252



February 2020 

Appendix B: Building Control Miscellaneous Charges Scheme No3: 2020 
 

 
Table of miscellaneous charges (from 6th April 2020) 

If you would like to discuss the charges or need any help with the application or this table, please phone us on 020 7332 1000. 

 

 
Miscellaneous Building Control Charges No 3:2020 

 
VAT should be added at the current rate as indicated and included in your payment. 

  
Work Categories (For works not described on the table a specific individually assessed charge will be provided.) 

   
VAT or 
No VAT 

Charge from 6th April 
2020 

 

1. 

Demolition Notice. 

Application 
submitted under 
section 80, Building 
Act 1984 

 No VAT Charge £450 
 

2 

Section 30 

Application 
submitted under 
Section 30, London 
Building Act (As 
Amended) 1939 

 No VAT 

As set out in the 
Section 30 London 
Building Act (As 
Amended) Act 1939 
Charges No 3. (See 
Below) 

 

3 

Approval In 
Principle 

Application 
submitted for 

Technical Approval 
of Highway 
Structures.  

 VAT £4000  

4 
Marriage Act 

surveys   
£500 for New 
registration 

 

Fee controlled by 
Community and 

Children’s Services. 

5 

Researching and 
Viewing Building 
Control Historical 

Records. 

 VAT 

Fee based at £112 per 
hour to cover officer 

time spent 
researching and 
providing advice 

 

6 
Dangerous 
Structures 

 Varies 
Charged at hourly 

rate 

Fees recoverable 
through Section 66, 

London Building 
Act (As Amended) 

Act 1939 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 253



February 2020 

 

Section 30 London Building Act (As Amended) Act 1939 Charges No 3: 2020 
 

No VAT is added at the current rate in your payment. 

  
Work Categories (For works not described on the table a specific individually assessed charge will be provided.) 

  Current Charge  
VAT or No 

VAT 
Charge from 

6th April 2020 

 

1. 

Erecting a special 
building or structure 
intended to be kept 
permanently. 

 No VAT 

To be agreed 
based on 
details of 
structure. 
Please 
contact 
department 
for a detailed 
quote.  

 

2 

Erecting a 
Grandstand to be 
used for a special 
event. 10-250 Seats 

 No VAT Removed. 
Removed and incorporated into fee 

No 3. 

3 

Erecting a 
Grandstand to be 
used for a special 

event up to 600 
Seats   

 No VAT £560  

4 

Erecting a 
Grandstand to be 
used for a special 

event over 600 
seats.   

 No VAT 

As To be 
agreed based 
on details of 

structure. 
Please 
contact 

department 
for a detailed 

quote.  

 

5 

Erecting a Framed 
tower for 

loudspeakers, 
lighting, Video 
screens, etc 

 No VAT £392  

     
 
 
     6 

Erecting a structure 
of a complex nature 

or an air inflated 
structure 

 No VAT To be agreed 
based on 

details of the 
structure. 

Please 
contact 

department 
for a detailed 

quote 

 

 
 
     7  

Erecting a marquee 
for a special event. 

 No VAT New fee for: 
Marquee up 
to 30m. sq. 
And Marquee 
over 30m.sq 

Fee for marquee up to 30m.sq £448 
 
 
Fee for marquee over 30m.sq £672 

 

Page 254



Appendix C- Building Regulation Charges Scheme No 5:2022 
 

Note: "All Other Work" (final column) should be used for the installation of a service or fitting and for work involving the 

underpinning of a building. 
 

 CITY OF LONDON 

  

*Derivation 

(see footnote) 

The Building (Local Authority Charges) Regulations 2010 

  

Regulation No BUILDING REGULATIONS CHARGES SCHEME No. 5, 2022 

1 1. This scheme may be cited as the Building Regulations Charges Scheme No. 

5, 2022 of the City of London Corporation (the Charges Scheme) and shall 

come into force on 1st May 2022.  

 

 INTRODUCTION 

 

 2. The Charges Scheme is made under the Building (Local Authority Charges) 

Regulations, 2010 (the Charges Regulations).  The Charges Scheme includes 

following paragraphs, the definitions in paragraph 5 below and the tables of 

charges set out in Annex A.  Where clarification of the Charges Scheme is 

required reference should be made to the Charges Regulations. The numbers 

in the margin represent the relevant regulation. 

 

3(1) 3. The City of London Corporation is authorised, subject to and in accordance 

with the Charges Regulations, to fix charges by means of the Charges 

Scheme and to recover such charges as it determines for or in connection 

with the performance of its functions relating to building regulations, as 

provided by the Charges Regulations. 

 

 4. The City of London Corporation is authorised, subject to and in accordance 

with the provisions of the Charges Regulations, to amend and to revoke and 

replace any scheme which has been made by it. 

  

DEFINITIONS 

 

2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5. The following definitions apply to the Charges Scheme: 

 

"building" means any permanent or temporary building but not any other 

kind of structure or erection, and a reference to a building includes a 

reference to part of a building; 

"building notice" means a notice given in accordance with regulations 

12(2)(a) and 13 of the Principal Regulations; 

"building work" means: 

a) the erection or extension of a building; 

b) the provision or extension of a controlled service or fitting in or in 

connection with a building; 

c) the material alteration of a building, or a controlled service or fitting; 

d) work required by Building Regulation 6 of the principal regulations 

(requirements relating to material change of use); 

e) the insertion of insulating material into the cavity wall of a building; 

f) work involving the underpinning of a building; 

g) work required by building regulation 23 (requirements relating to 

thermal elements); 

h) work required by building regulation 22 (requirements relating to 

a change of energy status); 
i) work required by building regulation 28 (consequential improvements 

to energy performance); 

Page 255



Appendix C- Building Regulation Charges Scheme No 5:2022 
 

Note: "All Other Work" (final column) should be used for the installation of a service or fitting and for work involving the 

underpinning of a building. 
 

 

Regulation No 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

"chargeable function" means a function relating to the following – 

a) the passing or rejection of plans of proposed building work which has 

been deposited in accordance with section 16 of the Building Act 

1984 (as amended) - (Plan Charge) 

b) the inspection of building work for which plans have been deposited 

in accordance with the Principal Regulations and with section 16 of 

the Building Act 1984 (as amended) – Inspection Charge 

c) the consideration of a building notice which has been given in 

accordance with the Principal Regulations – Building Notice Charge) 

d) the consideration of building work reverting to the Council under the 

Building (Approved Inspectors etc.) Regulations 2010 (as amended) – 

(Reversion Charge) 

e) the consideration of a regularisation application submitted under 

regulation 18 of the Principal Regulations – (Regularisation Charge). 

"chargeable advice" is a charge made in relation to a request for building 

regulation advice as regards any particular case where such a charge is 

made in anticipation of the future exercise of their chargeable functions in 

relation to that case, save that no charge is made for the first hour of time 

spent in providing such chargeable advice. 

"cost" does not include any professional fees paid to an architect, quantity 

surveyor or any other person; 

"dwelling" includes a dwelling-house and a flat; 

"estimate" in relation to the cost of carrying out building work, means an 

estimate, accepted by the local authority, of such reasonable amount as 

would be charged for the carrying out of that building work by a person in 

business to carry out such building work (excluding the amount of any 

value added tax chargeable);  

"estimated cost of building work" means the estimated cost of that work 

which requires approval for building regulations by the City of London 

Corporation.  If appropriate the City of London Corporation may require 

estimates to be aggregated or disaggregated to establish the appropriate 

charge; 

"extension" means an extension which has no more than three storeys, 

each basement level (if any) counting as one storey; 

"floor area" of a building or extension’ is the total floor area calculated 

by reference to the finished internal faces of the walls enclosing the area, 

or, if at any point there is no enclosing wall, by reference to the outermost 

edge of the floor. 

"the Principal Regulations" means the Building Regulations 2010 as 

amended from time to time; 

"relevant person" means: 

a) in relation to a plan charge, inspection charge, reversion charge or 

building notice charge, the person who carries out the building work 

or on whose behalf the building work is carried out; 

b) in relation to a regularisation charge, the owner of the building; and 

c) in relation to chargeable advice, any person requesting advice for 

which a charge may be made pursuant to the definition of ‘chargeable 

advice’ 

"total floor area of a building" is the total of the floor area of all the 

storeys which comprise that building. 

"total floor area of an extension" is the total of the floor areas of all the 

storeys in the extension. 

Page 256



Appendix C- Building Regulation Charges Scheme No 5:2022 
 

Note: "All Other Work" (final column) should be used for the installation of a service or fitting and for work involving the 

underpinning of a building. 
 

 

 

 

 

Regulation No 

 

SUMMARY OF BUILDING REGULATIONS FUNCTIONS AND 

CHARGES 

 

5(1) 

 

 

 

 

6. The City of London Corporation has determined: 

 

a) plan charges for or in connection with the passing or rejection of plans 

of proposed building work deposited with them in accordance with 

Section 16 of the Building Act 1984; 

b) inspection charges for or in connection with the inspection of building 

work for which plans have been deposited in accordance with the 

Principal Regulations and with Section 16 of the Building Act 1984; 

c) building notice charges for or in connection with the consideration of a 

building notice which has been given to the City of London 

Corporation in accordance with the Principal Regulations. 

The charges for the foregoing functions are as set out in the attached tables 

in Annex A. 

 

5(2) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

6(3) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

6(2) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

6(4-6) 

 

 

 

 

7. The City of London Corporation is also authorised within its Charges 

Scheme to make a charge in relation to a request for advice as regards any 

particular case where such a charge is made in anticipation of the future 

exercise of its chargeable functions in relation to that case (referred to as 

“chargeable advice”); save that no charge is to be made for the first hour of 

time spent by an officer in providing such chargeable advice. 

 

8. This Charges Scheme has been fixed such that its objective is to ensure that, 

taking one financial year with another, the income to be derived by the City 

of London Corporation from performing chargeable functions and providing 

chargeable advice (referred to as “chargeable income”) as nearly as possible 

equates to the costs incurred by the City of London Corporation in 

performing chargeable functions and providing chargeable advice (referred 

to as “chargeable costs”).  At the end of the financial year within which the 

City of London Corporation first made this Charges Scheme and of each 

subsequent financial year, the City of London Corporation will conduct a 

review of the level of charges set out under this Charges Scheme for the 

purpose of achieving the Charges Scheme’s objective above. 

 

9. Immediately following the review of the level of charges, the City of 

London Corporation will prepare a “building control statement” setting out 

as regards the financial year to which it relates, the chargeable costs, the 

chargeable income and the amount of any surplus or deficit.  Such “building 

control statement” will be approved by the City of London Corporation’s 

Section 6 Officer and will be published not more than six months after the 

end of the financial year to which the statement relates. 

 

10. Each charge determined within the Charges Scheme has been related to the 

costs of providing building regulation services in relation to particular 

building work or building work of particular descriptions having regard to 

the objective outlined in clause 8 above.  Where this Charges Scheme is first 

made and takes effect at any time other than the beginning of a financial 

Page 257



Appendix C- Building Regulation Charges Scheme No 5:2022 
 

Note: "All Other Work" (final column) should be used for the installation of a service or fitting and for work involving the 

underpinning of a building. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Regulation No 

 

 

 

6(7-8) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

7(1-2) 

 

 

7(4) 

 

 

 

 

7(3) 

 

 

 

 

 

7(5) 

 

 

year, the City of London Corporation will have regard to any estimated 

surplus or deficit arising for that part of the financial year for which its 

existing scheme made under the Building (Local Authority Charges) 

Regulations 2010 continues to have effect. 

 
11. The costs of providing City of London Corporation building regulation 

services in relation to chargeable functions or chargeable advice has been 

calculated using the hourly rate at which the time of its officers will be 

charged and the factors which have been taken into account in estimating the 

time required by its officers for performing a chargeable function or 

providing chargeable advice (in relation to particular building work or 

building work of particular descriptions). 

 

12. The hourly rate of the City of London Corporation building regulation 

officers is set out herewith: £115.    

 

13. Where the City of London Corporation consider it necessary to engage and 

incur the costs of a consultant to provide specialist advice or services in 

relation to a particular aspect of building work, those costs will be included 

in the determination of the charges referred to in this Charges Scheme. 

 

14. In calculating the costs and in estimating the time required by its officers for 

performing a chargeable function or providing chargeable advice (in relation 

to particular building work or building work of particular descriptions), both 

in relation to standard and assessed charges, the City of London Corporation 

has taken some or all of the following factors into account: 

 

a) the existing use of a building, or the proposed use of the building after 

completion of the building work; 

b) the different kinds of building work described in regulation 3(1)(a) to 

(i) of the Principal Regulations. (see definition of ‘building work’ in 

clause 5 above); 

c) the floor area of the building or extension. (see definitions of ‘floor 

area of a building or extension’, ‘total floor area of a building’ and 

‘total floor area of an extension’ in clause 5 above); 

d) the estimated duration of the building work and the anticipated 

number of inspections to be carried out. 

e) the estimated cost of the building work.  

 

7(5) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

15. In calculating the costs and in estimating the time required by its 

officers for performing a chargeable function or providing chargeable 

advice (in relation to particular building work or building work of 

particular descriptions), in relation to assessed charges for individual 

projects, the City of London Corporation will take some or all of the 

following additional factors into account in assessing the charges  
 

f) the nature of the design of the building work and whether innovative 

or high-risk construction techniques are to be used; 

g) whether the person who intends to carry out part of the building work 

is a person named in a self-certification scheme or list of exemptions 

under schedule 3 of the Principal Regulations; or is carrying out the 

descriptions of work where no building notice or deposit of full plans 

is required under schedule 4 of the Principal Regulations both as 

Page 258



Appendix C- Building Regulation Charges Scheme No 5:2022 
 

Note: "All Other Work" (final column) should be used for the installation of a service or fitting and for work involving the 

underpinning of a building. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Regulation No 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5(2) 

 

mentioned in building regulation 12(6); 

h) whether in respect of the building work a notification has been made 

that design details approved by Robust Details Limited are to be used; 

i) whether an application or building notice is in respect of two or more 

buildings or building works all of which are substantially the same as 

each other. 

j) whether an application or building notice is in respect of building work 

which is substantially the same as building work in respect of which 

plans have previously been deposited or building works inspected by 

the City of London Corporation. 

k) whether chargeable advice has been given which is likely to result in 

less time being taken by the City of London Corporation to perform 

the chargeable function; and 

l) whether it is necessary to engage and to incur the costs of a consultant 

to provide specialist advice or services in relation to a particular aspect 

of the building work. 

 

16. On receipt of an application or notice relating to particular building work or 

building work of particular descriptions, the City of London Corporation in 

determining its building regulation charges by reference to a standard charge 

published in the scheme (see schedule of standard charges listed in Annex 

A), has taken into account the factors listed in clause 14 above 

 

17. On receipt of a request for advice, an application or notice relating to 

particular building work or building work of particular descriptions, the City 

of London Corporation in determining its building regulation charges by 

reference to an individual assessment of the charge to be made (see guidance 

on assessed charges in Annex B), will take into account the factors listed in 

clauses 14 and 15 above and such individually determined charges will be 

confirmed in writing specifying the amount of the charge and the factors 

which have been taken into account. 

 

18. No charge will be made for the first hour of an officer’s time in respect of 

chargeable building regulation advice given by such officer.  

 

19. The sum of the plan charge and the inspection charge is equal to the building 

notice charge. With the exception of those circumstances detailed in 

paragraphs 21 and 22 below, the plan charge is 40% of the building notice 

charge and the inspection charge is 60% of the building notice charge. 

 

 20. The preceding paragraphs 6, 8, 9 and 10 are subject to paragraph 21 below. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

21. Where: 

a) one application or building notice is in respect of two or more 

buildings or building works all of which are substantially the same as 

each other; or 

b) an application or building notice is in respect of building work which 

is substantially the same as building work in respect of which plans 

have previously been approved or building works inspected by the City 

of London Corporation and where the City of London Corporation is 

satisfied that the owner of the plans who deposits them or who gives a 

building notice in respect of them is the same person who originally 

Page 259



Appendix C- Building Regulation Charges Scheme No 5:2022 
 

Note: "All Other Work" (final column) should be used for the installation of a service or fitting and for work involving the 

underpinning of a building. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Regulation No 

 

 

 

 

 

deposited the plans or gave a building notice in respect of them, a  

reduction not exceeding 30% in the plan charge or building notice 

charge payable may be applied and a reduction not exceeding 30% in 

the inspection charge payable may also be applied, but only at the 

absolute discretion of the City of London Corporation. 

 

 22. Where the appropriate total charge is £800 or below a plan charge is 

payable, which incorporates that charge which would be made for an 

inspection of building work, although no separate inspection charge is 

made. 

 

23. Standard charges set in accordance with clause 14 above are shown on 

Table 1 in annex A. 

 

24. The following applications may be dealt with by individually assessed 

charges in accordance with clauses 14 & 15 above. 

a) Full Plans (both the passing or rejection of plans and the 

associated inspections) where the cost of the work exceeds £1m. 

b) Building Notice where the cost of the work exceeds £1m. 

c) All stand alone new buildings.  

d) Reversion for or in connection with the consideration of building 

work reverting to the control of the City of London Corporation. 

e) Regularisation submitted under regulation 18 of the Principal 

Regulations (unauthorised building work). 

For these applications, the plan charge and the inspection charge will 

be advised on an individual basis. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

25. Where building work comprises - 

a) the installation of cavity fill insulation in accordance with Part D of  

Schedule 1 to the Principal Regulations where the installation is not 

certified to an approved standard or is not installed by an approved 

installer or is not part of a larger project comprising other building 

work; or 

b) the installation of an unvented hot water system in accordance with 

Part G of Schedule 1 to the Principal Regulations where the 

installation is not part of a larger project comprising other building 

work, 

the City of London Corporation has fixed its charges by reference to the 

estimated cost of the building work only, and no plan charge will be made 

in respect of such building work. 

 

 26. Where building work comprises: 

a) the installation of cavity fill insulation in accordance with Part D of 

Schedule 1 to the Principal Regulations where the installation is 

Page 260



Appendix C- Building Regulation Charges Scheme No 5:2022 
 

Note: "All Other Work" (final column) should be used for the installation of a service or fitting and for work involving the 

underpinning of a building. 
 

certified to an approved standard, or is installed by an approved 

installer or is part of a larger project comprising other building work; 

or 

b) the installation of an unvented hot water system in accordance with 

Part G of Schedule 1 to the Principal Regulations where the 

installation is part of a larger project comprising other building work, 

no charges will be made in respect of such building work. 

 

4(1) 

 

 

 

 

 

Regulation No 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4(2) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

27. The City of London Corporation has not fixed by means of its scheme, nor 

intends to recover a charge in relation to an existing dwelling which is, or 

is to be, occupied by a disabled person as a permanent residence; and 

where the whole of the building work in question is solely- 

 

 

a) for the purpose of providing means of access for the disabled person 

by way of entrance or exit to or from the dwelling or any part of it, or  

b) for the purpose of providing accommodation or facilities designed to 

secure the greater health, safety, welfare or convenience of the 

disabled person.  

 

28. The City of London Corporation has not fixed by means of its scheme, nor 

intends to recover a charge for the purpose of providing accommodation or 

facilities designed to secure the greater health, safety, welfare or 

convenience of a disabled person in relation to an existing dwelling, which 

is, or is to be, occupied by that disabled person as a permanent residence 

and as outlined in clause 6 (b) above, where such work consists of- 

 

a) the adaptation or extension of existing accommodation or an existing 

facility or the provision of alternative accommodation or an alternative 

facility where the existing accommodation or facility could not be used 

by the disabled person or could be used by the disabled person only 

with assistance; or  

b) the provision of extension of a room which is or will be used solely- 

(i)  for the carrying out for the benefit of the disabled person of 

medical treatment which cannot reasonably be carried out in 

any other room in the dwelling, or 

(ii) for the storage of medical equipment for the use of the disabled 

person, or 

(iii) to provide sleeping accommodation for a carer where the 

disabled person requires 24-hour care. 

 

4(3) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4(4) 

29. The City of London Corporation has not fixed by means of its scheme, nor 

intends to recover a charge in relation to an existing building to which 

members of the public are admitted (whether on payment or otherwise); 

and where the whole of the building work in question is solely- 

 

a) for the purpose of providing means of access for disabled persons by 

way of entrance or exit to or from the building or any part of it; or  

b) for the provision of facilities designed to secure the greater health, 

safety, welfare or disabled persons. 

 

Note: ‘disabled person’ means a person who is within any of the 

descriptions of persons to whom Section 29(1) of the National Assistance 

Page 261



Appendix C- Building Regulation Charges Scheme No 5:2022 
 

Note: "All Other Work" (final column) should be used for the installation of a service or fitting and for work involving the 

underpinning of a building. 
 

Act 1948, as extended by virtue of Section 8(2) of the Mental Health Act 

1959, applied but disregarding the amendments made by paragraph 11 of 

Schedule 13 to the Children Act 1989. 

 

 PAYMENT OF CHARGES 

 

8(1)a 30. Any plan charge shall be payable when the plans of the building work are 

deposited with the City of London Corporation but see also clause 40 

below. 

 

8(1)b 

 

Regulation No 

 

31. Any inspection charge shall be payable on demand made after the City of 

London Corporation carries out the first inspection in respect of which the 

charge is payable but see also clause 40 below. 

 

8(1)c 32. Any building notice charge shall be payable when the building notice is 

given to the City of London Corporation. 

 

8(1)d 33. Any reversion charge shall be payable for building work in relation to a 

building: 

i) which has been substantially completed before plans are first 

deposited in accordance with regulation 19(2)(a)(i) of the Building 

(Approved Inspectors etc.) Regulations 2010 as amended; or 

ii) in respect of which plans for further building work have been 

deposited with the City of London Corporation in accordance with 

regulation 19(3) of the Building (Approved Inspectors etc.) 

Regulations 2010 as amended, 

on the first occasion on which those plans are deposited. 

 

8(1)e 

 

 

 

8(1)f 

 

 

 

 

8(1)g 

34. Any regularisation charge shall be payable at the time of the application to 

the City of London Corporation in accordance with regulation 18 of the 

Principal Regulations (unauthorised building work). 

 

35. Any charge for chargeable advice shall be payable on demand after the City 

of London Corporation has given notice to the relevant person in writing 

specifying the amount to be charged and the factors which have been taken 

into account as listed in clauses 14 and 15 above. 

 

36. Any plan charge, inspection charge, building notice charge, reversion 

charge, regularisation charge and charge for chargeable advice is to be 

payable by the relevant person (see definition, clause 5 above). 

 

Regulation No 

8(1)h 

 

39. Any plan charge, inspection charge, building notice charge which is 

payable to the City of London Corporation shall be paid together with an 

amount equal to any value added tax payable in respect of that charge. 

 

8(1)i 40. Part of any charge which is payable to the City of London Corporation, 

may, at its absolute discretion, be paid in instalments of such amounts 

payable on such dates as the City of London Corporation shall specify. 

 

8(1)j 41. There is no entitlement to a complete refund of any regularisation charge 

paid, if the City of London Corporation, after incurring costs, subsequently 

cannot determine what work is required to comply with the relevant 

requirements. 

Page 262



Appendix C- Building Regulation Charges Scheme No 5:2022 
 

Note: "All Other Work" (final column) should be used for the installation of a service or fitting and for work involving the 

underpinning of a building. 
 

 

8(1)h 42. Where a plan charge has been paid and not refunded, the City of London 

Corporation may in any case they consider reasonable, decide not to make 

a further plan charge in respect of plans subsequently deposited for 

substantially the same building work. 

 

11(1) 

 

 

 

 

 

Regulation No 

 

11(2) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

11(3) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

11(4) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

11(5) 

 

 

 

11(6) 

 

 

 

 

11(7) 

43. Where for any reason the City of London Corporation do not give notice of 

passing or rejection of plans within the period required by Section 16 of the 

Building Act 1984 (as amended), any plan charge paid will be refunded. 

 

 

 

 

 

44. No refund will be given by the City of London Corporation where the 

reason for not giving notice of passing or rejection of plans within the 

period required by section 16 of the Building Act, 1984 is due to the failure 

by the person by whom or on whose behalf the plans were deposited to 

supply information within a reasonable time, necessary to meet the City of 

London Corporation duty under that section. 

 

45. Where the City of London Corporation has determined a charge in relation 

to a chargeable function or chargeable advice, payment of the charge has 

been made to the City of London Corporation and the actual amount of 

work required of an officer of the City of London Corporation is less than 

that which was originally assessed, the City of London Corporation 

(subject to clause 49 below) will make a refund in respect of the proportion 

of the charge relating to the excess payment. 
 

46. Where the City of London Corporation has determined a charge in relation 

to a chargeable function or chargeable advice, payment of the charge has 

been made to the City of London Corporation and the actual amount of 

work required of an officer of the City of London Corporation is more than 

that which was originally estimated in the assessment, the City of London 

Corporation (subject to clause 49 below) may raise a supplementary charge 

in respect of any additional work carried out its officer. 

 

47. In relation to the assessment of a refund or supplementary charge, the City 

of London Corporation may discount one hour of an officer’s time from the 

calculation of the refund or, as the case may be, the supplementary charge. 

 

48. Where in respect of plans deposited with the City of London Corporation 

under section 16 of the Building Act, 1984, the plan charge and inspection 

charge are to be aggregated for the purposes of calculating any refund or 

supplementary charge. 

 

49. The payment of any refund or request for a supplementary charge will be 

accompanied by a statement setting out the reason for the assessment and 

the calculation of the refund or supplementary charge. 

 

 50. Plans which are deposited otherwise than in accordance with the 

requirement imposed under paragraph 24 above or an agreement under 

paragraph 30 above are not deposited in accordance with building 

Page 263



Appendix C- Building Regulation Charges Scheme No 5:2022 
 

Note: "All Other Work" (final column) should be used for the installation of a service or fitting and for work involving the 

underpinning of a building. 
 

regulations for the purposes of section 16 of the Act; and a building notice 

given otherwise than in accordance with a requirement imposed under 

paragraph 26 above or an agreement under paragraph 30 above is not 

validly given for the purposes of the Principal Regulations. 

 

 51. Where an individual assessment of a plan charge or building notice charge 

has been made, (other than a standard charge) any individually assessed 

plan charge or building notice charge shall not be payable until such plan 

charge or building notice charge has been specified by the City of London 

Corporation and confirmed in writing if such confirmation is provided later 

than the deposit of the plan or (as the case may be) the giving of the 

building notice. 

 

 

52. The City of London Corporation is authorised to require the supply of any 

information where such information is necessary to determine any building 

regulation charge listed in clause 9 above. 

 

 

 

53. The City of London Corporation operates, maintains and makes available 

on request, to any interested party, an appropriate complaints procedure 

regarding its building regulations services.  If a person is dissatisfied with 

the decision made relating to the determination of charges for building 

work and wishes to make a complaint, such complaint will be dealt with 

within the Council’s agreed complaint’s procedure.  In the first instance, 

such complaints should be addressed at a local level to: 

 

The District Surveyor  

Environment Department 

Guildhall 

London EC2P 2EJ 

 

Telephone: 020 7332 1000 

Fax: 020 7332 1968 

email: district.surveyor@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

 

 

11(2) 54. Where building work reverts to the control of the City of London 

Corporation any plans relating to that building work given to the City of 

London Corporation in accordance with regulation 19 of the Building 

(Approved Inspector etc) Regulations 2010 as amended, shall be 

accompanied by a current estimate in writing of the cost of that building 

work. 

 

13 55. Contravention of the Building (Local Authority Charges) Regulations 2010 

and or the non- payment of any charge which becomes payable are not 

treated as offences under Section 35 of the Building Act 1984 (penalty for 

contravening building regulations). 

 

 

 

Regulation No TRANSITIONAL PROVISIONS AND REVOCATION 

Page 264



Appendix C- Building Regulation Charges Scheme No 5:2022 
 

Note: "All Other Work" (final column) should be used for the installation of a service or fitting and for work involving the 

underpinning of a building. 
 

 

15(2-3) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

56. The Building Regulations Charges Scheme No. 4. 2021 of the City of 

London Corporation made under the Building (Local Authority 

Charges) Regulations, 2010   will continue to apply to building work 

within the City of London Corporation area for which plans were first 

deposited or a building notice was given or a reversion charge became 

payable, or a regularisation certificate was made, before 1st May 2022. 

 INFORMATIVE 

 

12(3) 57. Further information and advice concerning building regulation charges and 

the Building Regulations Charges Scheme, can be obtained from: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The District Surveyor  

Environment Department 

Guildhall 

London EC2P 2EJ 

 

Telephone: 020 7332 1000 

Fax: 020 7332 1968 

email: district.surveyor@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

 

  

 

Signed:   

  

 ............................................................................ 

 (The officer appointed for this purpose) 

 

 Dated:    

  

  

 

* Derivation = Building (Local Authority Charges) Regulations 2010. 

 

 

Page 265



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 266



Appendix D- Building Regulation Charges Scheme No 5, 2022 

Annex A: Charges Schedule. 

 

Cost of 
Works 

Charges from 1st May 2022 

  Work Categories 

£1,000’s 
Refurbishments 

& Extensions 
Fit out and 
alterations  

Material 
Change 
of Use 

Small 
Residential 
Alterations 

*  

Other   

             

£10 

£748 

£460 

£1,035 

£710 

Fo
r 

w
o

rk
s 

n
o

t 
d

es
cr

ib
ed

 o
n

 t
h

e 
ta

b
le

 a
 s

p
ec

if
ic

 in
d

iv
id

u
al

ly
 a

ss
es

se
d

 c
h

ar
ge

 w
ill

 b
e 

p
ro

vi
d

ed
.  

      

£20 £690 £940 

          

£40 £978 £920 £1,208 £1,285 

          

£70 £1,323 

£1,265 £1,553 

£1,630 

      

£100 £1,553 £1,745 
 

  

          

£150 £1,783 £1,495 £2,185 SEE 'OTHER' 

         

£200 £2,013 £1,668 £2,300   

          

£300 £2,473 £1,955 

£3,335 

  

        

£400 £2,875 £2,300   

        

£500 £3,335 £2,530   

          

£600 £3,795 £2,818 

£4,945 

  

        

£700 £4,255 £3,278   

        

£800 £4,715 £3,528   

          

£900 £5,175 £4,025 

£6,440 

  

        

£1,000 £5,520 £4,140   
Plan & Insp charge due immediately if £800 or less (excl 
VAT) 

     

For works over £1.0 million a specific individually assessed charge will be provided 

* If Part P electrics are not applicable or if they are dealt with under the Competent 
Persons Scheme - Deduct £250 per unit/flat 

 

Page 267



Appendix D- Building Regulation Charges Scheme No 5, 2022 

Annex A: Charges Schedule. 

 
 

Page 268



March 2022 

Appendix E –  
 
Building Regulation Charges Scheme No 5, 2022 Annex B: 
Factors to be taken into Account When Determining Assessed 
Charges. 
 
The factors to be taken into account in determining Assessed Charges as per 
clauses 14 & 15 of the Building Regulations Charges Scheme No. 5, 2022 of 
the City of London Corporation. 
 

1. the existing use of a building, or the proposed use of the building after 
completion of the building work. 

2. the different kinds of building work described in regulation 3(1)(a) to (i) 
of the Principal Regulations. (see definition of ‘building work’ in clause 
5 above). 

3. the floor area of the building or extension. (see definitions of ‘floor area 
of a building or extension’, ‘total floor area of a building’ and ‘total floor 
area of an extension’ in clause 5 above). 

4. the estimated duration of the building work and the anticipated number 
of inspections to be carried out. 

5. the estimated cost of the building work.  
6. the nature of the design of the building work and whether innovative or 

high-risk construction techniques are to be used; and 
7. whether the person who intends to carry out part of the building work is 

a person named in a self-certification scheme or list of exemptions 
under schedule 3 of the Principal Regulations; or is carrying out the 
descriptions of work where no building notice or deposit of full plans is 
required under schedule 4 of the Principal Regulations both as 
mentioned in building regulation 12(6) 

8. whether in respect of the building work a notification has been made 
that design details approved by Robust Details Limited are to be. 

9. whether an application or building notice is in respect of two or more 
buildings or building works all of which are substantially the same as 
each other. 

10. whether an application or building notice is in respect of building work 
which is substantially the same as building work in respect of which 
plans have previously been deposited or building works inspected by 
the City of London Corporation. 

11. whether chargeable advice has been given which is likely to result in 
less time being taken by the City of London Corporation to perform the 
chargeable function; and 

12. whether it is necessary to engage and to incur the costs of a consultant 
to provide specialist advice or services in relation to a particular aspect 
of the building work. 

Page 269



March 2022 

 

Type of work Refurbishment & Extensions, 
Simple office alterations, Cat A 
to B, Material change of use, 
retail 

Other or  
Notes / special factors 

Duration on site   

Number of floors above 
ground 

 

Anticipated inspection time hours and notes 

Routine visits  

Piling/foundation inspections  

Below ground drainage  

Below ground structural 
inspections 

 

Superstructure  

Above ground drains – 
routine  

 

M&E routine  

Drainage testing  

Site Q/A Audit time   

Routine/Finals prior to 
completion 

 

Other special factors +/-  

  

De-snag visits –drainage  

De-snag visits – M&E  

De-snag visits -general  

Off site inspection  

M&E Final Commission & 
tests  

 

Review a deduction for 
repetition/ 

 

Anticipated plans inspection time 

General  

As % of site time  

Structural Appraisal  

Fire engineering   

Design workshops  

 Total Hours  

Outside consultant required –  
 

 
Cost £ 

 

Page 270



February 2020 

Appendix F: Building Control Miscellaneous Charges Scheme No 4: 2022 
 

 
Table of miscellaneous charges (from 1st May 2022) 

If you would like to discuss the charges or need any help with the application or this table, please phone us on 020 7332 1000. 

 

 
Miscellaneous Building Control Charges No 4:2022 

 
VAT should be added at the current rate as indicated and included in your payment. 

  
Work Categories (For works not described on the table a specific individually assessed charge will be provided.) 

   
VAT or 
No VAT 

Charge from 1st May 
2022 

 

1. 

Demolition Notice. 

Application 
submitted under 
section 80, Building 
Act 1984 

 No VAT Charge £450 

Fee adequately 
covers the cost of 
administration of 
this application. No 
increase required 

2 

Section 30 

Application 
submitted under 
Section 30, London 
Building Act (As 
Amended) 1939 

 No VAT 

As set out in the 
Section 30 London 
Building Act (As 
Amended) Act 1939 
Charges No 3. (See 
Below) 

 

3 

Approval In 
Principle 

Application 
submitted for 

Technical Approval 
of Highway 
Structures.  

 VAT £4000 

Fee adequately 
covers the cost of 
administration of 

this application. No 
increase required. 

4 
Marriage Act 

surveys   
£500 for New 
registration 

 

Fee controlled by 
Community and 

Children’s Services. 

5 

Researching and 
Viewing Building 
Control Historical 

Records. 

 VAT 

Fee based at £115 per 
hour to cover officer 

time spent 
researching and 
providing advice 

Revised fee in line 
with hourly rate 

6 
Dangerous 
Structures 

 Varies 
Charged at hourly 

rate 

Fees recoverable 
through Section 66, 

London Building 
Act (As Amended) 

Act 1939 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 271



February 2020 

 

Section 30 London Building Act (As Amended) Act 1939 Charges No 4: 2022 
 

No VAT is added at the current rate in your payment. 

  
Work Categories (For works not described on the table a specific individually assessed charge will be provided.) 

  Current Charge  
VAT or No 

VAT 
Charge from 
1st May 2022 

 

1. 

Erecting a special 
building or structure 
intended to be kept 
permanently. 

 No VAT 

To be agreed 
based on 
details of 
structure. 
Please 
contact 
department 
for a detailed 
quote.  

Fee covers the cost of 
administration of this application. No 
increase required. 

2 

Erecting a 
Grandstand to be 
used for a special 
event. 10-250 Seats 

 No VAT Removed. 
Removed and incorporated into fee 

No 3. 

3 

Erecting a 
Grandstand to be 
used for a special 

event up to 600 
Seats   

 No VAT £560 
Fee covers the cost of 

administration of this application. No 
increase required. 

4 

Erecting a 
Grandstand to be 
used for a special 

event over 600 
seats.   

 No VAT 

As To be 
agreed based 
on details of 

structure. 
Please 
contact 

department 
for a detailed 

quote.  

 

5 

Erecting a Framed 
tower for 

loudspeakers, 
lighting, Video 
screens, etc 

 No VAT £400 Increase £8 due to hourly rate. 

     
 
 
     6 

Erecting a structure 
of a complex nature 

or an air inflated 
structure 

 No VAT To be agreed 
based on 

details of the 
structure. 

Please 
contact 

department 
for a detailed 

quote 

 

 
 
     7  

Erecting a marquee 
for a special event. 

 No VAT Fee for 
marquee up 
to 30m.sq 
£460 
 
 
Fee for 
marquee over 
30m.sq £690 

Increase £12 due to change in hourly 
rate. 
 
 
 
 
Increase £18 due to change in hourly 
rate 

 Page 272


	Agenda
	6 APPOINTMENT OF SUB-COMMITTEES
	Appendix A

	7 Minutes
	8 15 MINORIES, 57-60 & 62 ALDGATE HIGHSTREET AND 1 LITTLE SOMERSET STREET LONDON EC3
	16-00406-FULMAJ Background Papers Revised Scheme

	9 Planning Advice Note: Preventing suicides in high rise buildings and structures
	Preventing suicides in high rise buildings and structures P&T 26.04.22

	10 Building Control Charges Report 2022/23
	Appendix A Building Regulations Charging Scheme in full No 4- 2021
	Appendix B  Charges Table for non building regulation works 2020
	Appendix C- Building Regulations Charging Scheme No 5- 2022
	Appendix D- Building Regulations Charging Scheme No 5. 2022 Annex A Fee Schedule.
	Appendix E- Building Regulation Charging Scheme No 5- Annex B 2022
	Appendix F- Charges Table for non building regulation works 2022




